Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors

D. Pooja Praveen Kumar Pardeep Singh Sandip Patil *Editors*

Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material



Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors

Series Editors

Shantanu Bhattacharya^(D), Department of Mechanical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India Avinash K. Agarwal, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India This book series publishes cutting edge monographs and professional books focused on all aspects of Advanced Functional Materials. Material systems and their design plays pivotal role today in both academia and the industry. This series aims to target cutting edge research and applications in the field. Additionally the series also focuses on various topics related to sensory systems that are widely used in various fields of engineering, especially as related to materials for development of sensors and sensory systems. The series is published in partnership with the International Society for Energy, Environment, and Sustainability. The books in these series are edited or authored by top researchers and professionals across the globe. The series aims at publishing state-of-the-art research and development with a strong emphasis on sustainability. The series accepts proposals in areas including, but not limited to:

- New and sustainable materials
- Meta-materials
- Microfluidic system
- Functional materials in healthcare applications
- Functional materials in water remediation
- Functional materials in aerospace applications
- Functional energetic materials
- Materials for Manufacturing
- Materials for energy storage devices
- Microfluidic devices and sensors
- Sensory systems and applications

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/16453

D. Pooja · Praveen Kumar · Pardeep Singh · Sandip Patil Editors

Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material



Editors D. Pooja Central Scientific Instruments Organisation Chandigarh, India

Pardeep Singh P.G.D.A.V. College University of Delhi New Delhi, Delhi, India Praveen Kumar School of Material Science Indian Association for Cultivation of Science Kolkata, West Bengal, India

Sandip Patil Indian Institute of Technology Kanpur Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

 ISSN 2662-558X
 ISSN 2662-5598 (electronic)

 Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors
 ISBN 978-981-15-0670-3 ISBN 978-981-15-0671-0 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0
 (eBook)

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Preface

Sensors have become an integral part of civic society to check on social, environmental, and strategic activities. The environmental sensors are required to ensure the safety and security of the ecological environment around us. Water being the key component for life existence on earth needs to be ensured for its quality as well as quantity to meet global demand. However, with increased intervention of humans, its quality is getting deteriorated, while ground water table is going down owing to over exhaustion of water resources. Thus development of sensors for field testing of these parameters is essential. The figure of merits associated with any sensor, such as sensitivity, selectivity, detection limit, reproducibility, accuracy, precision, reusability, etc., is mainly defined by the type of sensor material and the transduction mechanism used. Amongst various analytical techniques, colorimetry, absorbance, fluorescence, surface-enhanced Raman scattering, electrochemical, and electrical techniques are widely adopted to develop a water quality monitoring sensor. Various materials, beginning from organic ligands to the nanomaterials (nanoparticles, quantum dots, nanotubes, nanowires, thin films, nanofibers, etc.), are widely adopted to develop a sensitive sensor. For selectivity, various chemo linkers and bio receptors (antibodies, enzymes, aptamers, oligomers, etc.) are utilized for field usability of the developed sensor platform. This book provides a comprehensive overview of the above sensing techniques, materials, and receptors for water quality/pollutants monitoring, and it would be a handy guide for the students, researchers, engineer, etc., working in field of environmental engineering, material science and engineering, and water.

Chandigarh, India Kolkata, India New Delhi, India Kanpur, India D. Pooja Praveen Kumar Pardeep Singh Sandip Patil

Contents

Introduction: Role of Materials in Sensors for Water Pollutants Monitoring	1
D. Pooja, Pardeep Singh, Sandip Patil and Praveen Kumar	
Water Pollutants: Origin and Status Jyoti Singh, Priyanka Yadav, Ashok Kumar Pal and Vishal Mishra	5
Types of Water Pollutants: Conventional and Emerging Arif Ahamad, Sughosh Madhav, Amit K. Singh, Ashutosh Kumar and Pardeep Singh	21
Water Pollutants: Sources and Impact on the Environment	
and Human Health Sughosh Madhav, Arif Ahamad, Amit K. Singh, Jyoti Kushawaha, Joginder Singh Chauhan, Sanjeev Sharma and Pardeep Singh	43
Analytical Methods of Water Pollutants Detection	63
Plasmonic Nanoparticles Decorated Graphene Sheets for Detectionof Water PollutantsManash J. Deka, Punamshree Das, Purna K. Boruah,Priyakshree Barthakur, Abinash Gogoi and Manash R. Das	79
Materials for Electrical Detection of Water Pollutants Chhavi Sharma, Sauraj and Yuvraj Singh Negi	107
Materials in Colorimetric Detection of Water Pollutants Rishabh Jain, Anupma Thakur, Praveen Kumar and D. Pooja	125
Fluorescent Chemosensor for Detection of Water Pollutants Annasamy Gowri and Arunkumar Kathiravan	147
Materials in Electrochemical Detection of Water Pollutants Ankita Ojha	161

Materials in Bio-Sensing of Water Pollutants	187
Computational Design of Nucleic Acid-Based Bioreceptor for Contaminants of Emerging Concern Patrizio Arrigo and Debora Baroni	213
Immunochromatographic Strip Based Sensor for the Detection of Water Pollutants Megha Pant, Deepika Pancholi, Veena Pande and Anirban Dandapat	233
Materials in Emerging Water Pollutants Detection Razia Khan, Vipul Patel and Zeenat Khan	255
Emerging Techniques and Materials for Water Pollutants Detection	277
Nanofiber Based Sensors for Water Pollution Monitoring Alok Kumar Srivastava, Pragati Bajpai, Punam Awasthi, Alok Kumar and Namburi Eswara Prasad	299

About the Editors

D. Pooja is currently working as a senior scientist at CSIR-CSIO, Chandigarh. She has done her Ph.D. in Engineering from the AcSIR, New Delhi, M. Tech. in Nanotechnology from IIT Roorkee with Gold Medal, B. Tech in Biotechnology with the first rank from Kurukshetra University. She is a well-established young scientist in the field of nanomaterials, sensors, and energy harvesting devices. She has published 45 international high impact publications, 02 books and more than 50 conference papers . Her research interest is towards techniques and technologies design and development for water pollutants monitoring using opto/electrochemical techniques. She has mainly focused on materails design for above application. Besides, she is also working on materials engineering for solar hydrogen production. She is recipient of several prestigious awards and fellowships including Associateship, Indian Academy of Science, ISCA Young Scientist Award (2019) from Indian Science Congress Association, ISEES Young Scientist Award (2019) by International Society for Energy, Environment and Sustainability, BRICS Young Scientist Award (2018), DST, New Delhi, PITTCON- Travel Grant (2018) from American Chemical Society, Indo-US WARI fellowship (2017), New Delhi, Young Scientist Project Award (2017) from DST, New Delhi, Canadian Commonwealth Fellowship (2010), and MHRD GATE Fellowship (2008). She is also an Outreach Programs Coordinator: CSIR-JIGYASA and CSIR-FTAMP funded by the Gov. of India, Focal Point Member in Indigo projects (European Commission) (2016-2017), Member of Board of Studies, Kurukshetra University, Member of National Advisory Committee, ICAST-2018, Jaipur, India (2018).

Dr. Praveen Kumar is working as an Assistant Professor at Indian Association for Cultivation of Sciences (IACS), Kolkata and also a Chair of Marie Curie Alumni Association (MCAA) Indian Chapter funded by the European Commission. He received his Ph.D. from Department of Physics, Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi in 2011, followed by the postdoctoral studied at ISOM, UPM Madrid. He is recipient of several recognized awards and fellowships, few of them are BRICS Young Scientist Award (2017), Marie Curie Postdoctoral Fellowship from European Commission (2012), INSPIRE Faculty Award from Department of

Science and Technology Delhi (2013), 05 Best oral/poster award in various international conferences and Gold Medal in M. Sc. (Physics) From Rajasthan University (2003). He is elected as a sectional committee member for Materials Science in the Indian National Science Congress Association for the year 2019-20. Dr. Kumar's research contribution covers a broad spectrum of Materials Synthesis including III-V semiconductors, Oxides, Sulphides, Carbon Nanostructures, metal/semiconductor interfaces, etc, for LED emitters & solar cells, photoelectrodes, broad-band & self-powered photodetectors, and next-generation sensors applications. He has authored 02 books, 65 publications in peer-reviewed international journals, more than 45 in conference proceedings, and delivered around 32 invited/oral talks at various conferences/institutes around the globe.

Dr. Pardeep Singh is presently working as Assistant Professor (Department of Environmental Science, PGDAV College ,University of Delhi, New Delhi, India). He obtained his doctorate degree form Indian Institute of Technology (Banaras Hindu University) Varanasi. The area of his doctoral thesis is degradation of organic pollutants. He has published more than 55 research and review articles in the international journals. His research interest is towards materials design for water pollutants remediation, e-waste recycling, and photocatalyst design. He has also edited several books of reputed publishing houses including Springer and Elsevier.

Dr. Sandip Patil is the founder Director of E-Spin Nanotech Pvt. Ltd and Technorbital Advanced Materials Pvt Ltd. Dr. Patil has extensive experience in nanofiber membrane technologies and Ultra Hollow Fibre (UHF) membrane technology for senor and water purification applications. Dr. Sandip Patil received his Ph.D. from Indian Institute of Technology Kanpur, India. He research has been published in very prestigious journals such as Soft Matter, Macromolecules, Langmuir, ACS Omega, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, and other peer-review journals. Dr. Patil is also the inventor of US and Indian patent. He has awarded various prestigious awards which includes, Technopreneur Promotion Program (TePP) award, IIChE Shah-Schulman award for the best PhD thesis in the area of Colloid and Interface Sciences and IICHE M. P. Chary Memorial Medal award for being an outstanding young chemical engineer for the year, Spirit of Manufacturing Award for Most Promising International Business Leader, Indian Leadership award for industrial development by All India Achievers Foundation, Rajeev Motwani Young Entrepreneur award by Motwani foundation, Indian School of Business Hyderabad Scholarship award, UICT Jalgaon alumni award for Young Entrepreneur.

Introduction: Role of Materials in Sensors for Water Pollutants Monitoring



D. Pooja, Pardeep Singh, Sandip Patil and Praveen Kumar

Abstract Water is a vital for the existence of any form of life on earth. However, the current century is witnessing the declining groundwater level as well as increased pollution of water resources. Both these challenges require utmost global attention to ensure safe and enough water supply to every human being as a fundamental human right. Sensors has a critical say to monitor the quality of available water as well to prevent its contamination by anthropogenic activities. They can be used as a tool by regulatory bodies in policy making as well as decision for selection of necessary remedial systems for water pollutants. Most of the conventional as well as emerging organic, inorganic, and biological pollutants has a life-threatening impact on the ecosystem, which necessitates the serious and periodical water quality monitoring. This monogram at first introduces these pollutants and their health effect. We further discuss the various existing analytical tools for water pollutants detection. The transduction techniques as well as materials role to achieve desired sensitivity and selectivity of sensor are discussed in the chapter dedicated for plasmonic sensors, electrical sensors, colorimetric, fluorescent chemo-sensors, electrochemical sensors, biosensors, nucleic acid-based sensors, etc. Finally, we deliberate the futuristic development to be taken up for reliable and field level detection of these pollutants in reference to technique and material selection.

Keywords Sensors · Water · Pollutants · Organic · Inorganic · Biological · Optical · Electrical · Materials · Sensitivity

D. Pooja (🖂)

CSIR-CSIO, Sector 30C, Chandigarh 160030, India e-mail: poojaiitr@csio.res.in

P. Singh PGDAV College, University of Delhi, Delhi, India

S. Patil ESpin Nanotech, Kanpur, India

P. Kumar

School of Material Science, Indian Association for Cultivation of Science, Kolkata, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_1 Amongst the fundamental human right, safe and sufficient water for human consumption is on the topmost priority since water is the origin and sustenance of life. However, the increasing industrial growth, urbanization, and related geogenic disturbance have degraded the water resources. The sensor system has a critical role to play in assessing the type and level of water pollution. Besides, it has a critical role to play in monitoring the performance of water pollutants remedial system. Over the conventional method of analysis of water pollutants, the various other analytical approaches such as electrochemical, colorimetric, fluorescence, absorbance, electrical, etc., have found significant potential in the design of a portable sensor system. However, the sensitivity, selectivity, and response time of these techniques are highly dependent upon the sensor material characteristic. The present book aims to contain and discusses these aspects of water pollutants sensors to severe as handy information in the present context for the students, researchers, engineers and technologist working in this field to address various challenges. The emphasis has also been given to specific techniques, including electrochemical, colorimetric, fluorescence, and biosensing with respect to materials innovations. As to make the sensors, the required materials need to have specific, structural, optical, chemical, electrical properties; therefore, the selection of materials to make different sensors becomes very critical. The first chapter of the book starts by explaining the role of different materials to develop the sensors for water pollutant monitoring, followed by the origin of different pollutant in the second chapter. Detecting pollution timely and locating the pollution source is of great importance in environmental protection. Numerous water pollutants have been discovered, consequently, to differentiate we discuss the conventional and emerging water pollutants in Chapter "Types of Water Pollutants: Conventional and Emerging". Having known about the various pollutants, we further discuss their original sources and their impact on the environment and human health in Chapter "Water Pollutants: Sources and Impact on the Environment and Human Health". Up to now, we can establish the background which we require to understand the issue of the pollutant and their side-effects on our day-to-day life, and conceived that efficient and selective sensors are required to monitor the exact quantity of these pollutants in the water. Thereby, we discuss in detail the analytical methods available to monitor these pollutants in Chapter "Analytical Methods of Water Pollutants Detection".

As there are plentiful types of water pollutants are reported including the emerging pollutant and most of them are having different specifications and also a source of origin. Therefore, to detect them efficiently and selectively, different types of water quality monitoring sensors are needed. Most important parameters when we design and select the sensors types include the chemical nature of the pollutant, sensitivity, selectivity, response time, size and speed of the possible sensors. Based on these requirements sensors can be divided into categories depending on the type of sensor being used, and the environmental factors that an analyst is looking at. From Chapters Plasmonic Nanoparticles Decorated Graphene Sheets for Detection of Water Pollutants to Immunochromatographic Strip Based Sensor for the Detection of Water Pollutants, we discuss various sensors in details which include plasmonic sensors, electrical sensors, colorimetric, fluorescent chemo-sensors, electrochemical sensors, biosensors, nucleic acid-based sensors, and immune-chromatographic strip based

sensors. Further, we discuss the futuristic materials development for emerging water pollutants detection followed by the emerging advance sensing techniques, including nanofibres based sensors as sensor materials for their detection in Chapters "Materials in Emerging Water Pollutants Detection" to "Nanofiber Based Sensors for Water Pollution Monitoring".

Overall, this monograph presents a detailed, synergized and focused discussion on the various water pollutants, their origin, and possible sensors to detect them using the existing analytical methods, such as electrical, optical, colorimetric, electrochemical, nucleic acid, plasmonics, etc. The monograph further discusses the emerging techniques and materials for the advancement of the monitoring of conventional as well as emerging water pollutants in a holistic way. Specific topics covered in the monograph include:

- Role of Materials in Sensors for Water Pollutants Monitoring
- Water Pollutants: Origin and status
- Types of water Pollutants: Conventional and emerging
- Water pollutants: Sources and impact on the environment and human health
- Analytical methods of water pollutants detection
- Plasmonic nanoparticles decorated graphene sheets for detection of water pollutant
- Materials for electrical detection of water pollutants
- Materials in Colorimetric Detection of Water Pollutants
- · Fluorescent chemosensor for the detection of water pollutants
- · Materials in electrochemical detection of water pollutants
- Materials in biosensing of water pollutants
- Nucleic acid Technologies for Contaminants of Emerging Concern sensing
- Immunochromatographic strip based sensor for the detection of water pollutants
- Materials in emerging water pollutants detection
- Emerging techniques and materials for the detection of water pollutants
- Nanofiber-Based Sensors for Water Pollutant Monitoring.

Water Pollutants: Origin and Status



Jyoti Singh, Priyanka Yadav, Ashok Kumar Pal and Vishal Mishra

Abstract Water is the core of life that helps us to exist and also, the most vivacious that keeps us alive. It is essential for all to drink clean and pure water. Due to natural and anthropogenic sources, water becomes polluted that results in the origin of different water pollutants. These water pollutants need to be eliminated from the water for liveliness of people and protect them from various diseases. For instance, water pollution in Rajasthan is due to the indulgence of different industries. Likewise, in Rajasthan many states are affected by water pollution badly. Not only India, whole world suffers from the identical issues. The discharge of chemicals as well as heavy metals through industries and factories are the major sources of water pollution. It is reported that one of the largest sources for this is untreated sewage, discharge into rivers that ultimately affects environment and thus, finally human beings. Human beings contribute in an enormous way to pollute water. Education related to environment should be given to the students and common people so that this problem can be reduced to a certain level. This chapter focuses mainly on the origin of different water pollutants and their current status in the environment.

Keywords Water pollutants · Status · Origin · Diseases · Humans · Environment

1 Introduction

Water is the most vital component in the origin of life. Without water, life is not possible. But it got contaminated by various toxic, inorganic industrial pollutants that results in several problems such as unsafe for consumption for humans and irrigation activities. This leads to water scarcity because it limits its availability for humans and ecosystem.

J. Singh \cdot P. Yadav \cdot A. K. Pal \cdot V. Mishra (\boxtimes)

School of Biochemical Engineering, IIT (BHU) Varanasi, Varanasi 221005, India e-mail: vishal.bce@itbhu.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_2

The main reason behind water crisis is water pollution. It should not be polluted to a certain threshold value for being used in irrigation and drinking water purposes [1].

The issue of social justice is compounding the water crisis; poor people are more likely to lack clean water and hygiene in comparison to rich one in related areas. Worldwide, enriching water safety, hygiene and sanitation could evade up to 9% of all diseases and 6% of all deaths. Apart from the worldwide waterborne disease crisis, global water quality is threatened by chemical pollution from agricultural activities, industries, cities, and mining areas. Certain chemical pollutants have severe health effects, while many others have long-term that are poorly known. More than 40,000 water bodies in the U.S. currently suitable the EPA description of "impaired," that means they can't sustenance a healthy ecosystem or meet water quality standards. Water pollution is contamination of water by an excess of a substance that can cause impairment to the people and/or the ecosystem [1]. The water pollution level subject to pollutant's abundance, pollutant's ecological impact, and water use. Pollutants derive from chemical, biological, or physical actions. Whereas natural activities such as volcanic eruptions or evaporation can sometimes cause water pollution, the major pollution is a consequent of human activities based on land. As water progresses all the way through stages of the water cycle, water pollutants can move through different water reservoirs. Water residence time (the average time spent in a water reservoir by a water molecule) is extremely imperative for pollution problems as it have an impact on the potential for pollution. Water in rivers has a relatively short period of residence, so there is generally only pithy pollution. Naturally, river pollution can merely move to another reservoir, for instance the ocean, where it can be the reason for further problems. Groundwater is characteristically categorized by sluggish flow and extensive residence time, that can pose a particular problem to groundwater pollution [2]. Lastly, residence time of pollution is greater in comparison to water because a pollutant can be used in the ecosystem for a long time. Pollutants arrive in the water supplies from different kinds of point sources that are easily recognizable and comparatively small, or nonpoint sources that are larger and greater diffuse areas. Point pollution sources comprise of farms in the animal factory that produce huge number and high livestock densities such as cows, pigs and chickens. Collective sewer systems for bringing together street sewage and storm water runoff for treating wastewater can be major point pollutant sources. Storm water runoff may overdo sewer capacity during heavy rain, triggering it to back up and directly spill untreated sewage into surface waters [3]. Agricultural fields, cities and abandoned mines are nonpoint sources of pollution. Rainfall runs across the land and through the ground for collecting contaminants from agricultural fields and lawns such as herbicides, pesticides, and fertilizers; oil, animal waste, and urban road salt; and acid and toxic elements from abandoned mines. This pollution is then transferred to surface and groundwater [1].

2 History of Water Pollution

Ancient Times: Water forms like rivers, lakes and streams were in the ancient times the source of drinking water. However, human waste was deposited in the same water bodies. Therefore, in rivers became so polluted that in order to obtain clean drinking water, these ancient cultures needed to build aqueducts [4]. The main cause for polluted water was that its way to rivers and streams that were originate by human waste.

Medieval Times—1800s: During this time, people were unaware of what was good for them and what was bad. Mercury was frequently dumped into water and was allowable to run freely into lakes and streams from most of the humans and farm waste. Most people living in metropolises just dumped their waste and garbage onto the street that smelled very bad, probably.

Civilization made many great strides during the latter half of this period, frequently to the damage of the ecosystem. Individuals even consumed chemicals at that time



Fig. 1 Flow chart representing different studies on the water contamination at different sites

as they thought, it's good for their health. For the benefit of industry, the Industrial Revolution of the 1800s saw little care for the ecological impact. Many chemical substances have been dumped into the rivers. At that time, people were not concerned about the environmental impact of their inventions [5].

After World War-II: Besides contaminants such as human waste, composts, leather tanning and slaughtering waste, the development of industries and factories had also resulted in much water pollution problems. As waste from industries dumped into river freely without care about the environment were affecting ecology and humans, including flora and fauna [6].

1969: After a series of fires on the Cuyahoga River in 1969, it was realized that fires were triggered by oil slicks and dumped into it by flammable industrial waste. The government then began the studies that allowed the 1972 Clean Water Act to be enacted [4].

Present Day: Many people still do not know how to guard themselves against chemical toxins and waterborne diseases, even with this act. Many cleanups on a large scale have been going on for years [1] (Fig. 1 represents different studies that had done in different sites to check contamination of water).

3 Origin of Water Pollution

The origin of pollutants can be attributed to their fundamental occurrence on earth, the development of natural products by transformation, and their man-made synthesis. The particulates might well arise indeed very naturally to form part of the ecological background exposure levels Many of them are excreted by the organisms or detoxified. Examples of some pollutants that occur naturally are nitrogen oxides, heavy metals. Hydrocarbons and substances that are radioactive [7].

Some pollutants can be formed during their domestic, agricultural or industrial use by concentration and transformation of naturally occurring compounds. The generation of sewage and waste waters comprising agrochemicals, pesticides, petrochemicals hydrocarbons, heavy metals, and radio nuclides are some important examples of pollutants that have emerged from this.

Many of the chemicals do not occur in the nature and the pollution they cause is entirely manmade. For example, the synthesis of various pesticides, surfactants, plastics and petrochemicals has created a large number of chemicals in the environment that have created serious environmental problems [2].

Figure 2 represents how the release of toxic chemicals can be done and how humans and animals get affected with the contaminated water.



Fig. 2 A diagrammatic representation of release of toxic chemicals in various water bodies

4 Sources of Water Pollutants

The major sources of water pollution that result in contamination are direct and indirect ones, in addition to other sources.

Direct pollution is caused by releasing fluids directly into the water, such as a company that expels contaminated water or toxic solids mixed directly with water into the sea or river. This makes the water poisonous, every so often resulting in death, for fish and other aquatic creatures. Nevertheless, animals also drink this water, which also bring to them ill health or death. It can also affect to humans. In developed countries, people no longer depend on drinking water from the stream or river. There is still a risk for those who swim in or participate in activities such as canoeing on polluted water, as some of them can cause illness and even death [8].

Indirect water pollution is not caused by the introduction of contaminants directly into the water, but by those that end up there. An example includes fertilizer and pesticide chemicals that are washed slowly through the soil and find their way into groundwater and then into various watercourses. In addition, air pollution can cause acid rain to fall to the ground, which can be extremely harmful to wildlife, including polluting lakes, streams and shores, and make the water deadly for those creatures that leave in and near it [8].

Whether it's direct or indirect water pollution (Fig. 3), the results can still be the same, i.e. disease and possibly death to any living thing that lives in it or takes in



Fig. 3 Sources of water pollutants

water. Therefore, it is imperative that individuals and businesses take steps to reduce their levels of pollution and reduce their environmental impact [9].

The common sources of water pollution can vary from wholly natural to manmade sources such as release of domestic and industrial waste waters.

(a) Natural Sources and Runoff

The natural entry of pollutants in water reservoirs can be done through various activities as given below.

- 1. Rain water
- 2. Atmosphere (dust, storms)
- 3. Underground rocks and volcanoes
- 4. Natural run off
- 5. Surrounding vegetation

Rain water is an important natural source of water pollution, which dissolves the pollutants from air and brings down the entrained particulate matter with it. E.g. Occurrence of acid rain formed due to the dissolution of acid gases such as oxides of Sulphur and nitrogen in rainwater. The direct deposition of particulate by gravity is called dry deposition is another way of causing water pollution.

The falling of leaves, twigs and other parts of surrounding vegetation can also enrich waters. Presence of underground rocks and volcanoes beneath the water bodies may also be the source of certain kinds of salts [5].

(b) Domestic Sewage

Domestic Sewage comprises of waterborne wastes of the public and contains about 99% of water and 1% of solids. Of the solids existing in sewage, 70% are organic and 30% are inorganic in nature. Out of the organic constituents 65% are proteins, 25% carbohydrates and 10% fat. Inorganic fraction of sewage constitutes grit, salts and metals in varying proportions.

The major problems associated with sewage are production of odors and spread of enteric diseases besides organic pollution which leads to oxygen depletion and fish-kill. Sewage also contains huge quantities of nutrients in the form of N_2 and PO_4^{3-} even after secondary treatment that often result in the problem of eutrophication.

Another common way of sewage disposal is its land treatment or crop irrigation. However, disposal in this way, without scientific considerations, can lead to the severe health hazards and deterioration of land in the long run [10].

(c) Agricultural Wastes

Agricultural waste is the waste that originate generally from run-off from cultivated arenas and animal farms. In the recent time, for promoting the growth of fruits and vegetables, farmers add various kinds of agrochemicals that cause many kinds of pollution problems. It can cause toxicity to aquatic life also [11].

(d) Industrial Wastes

Industrial waste is a waste that possess the potential for polluting water reservoirs directly. Nature of industrial waste can vary from industry to industry and also on time as it depends on the usage and type of raw materials used, different processes and also operational factors. It is mentioned that industrial wastes are rich in organic matter [1].

A Table 1 described above to show different sources of pollutants. These pollutants have different components and their respective effects on humans. Thus, there is a need to control these pollutants so that it will not affect humans at a toxic level. That's why some solutions are given in table that needs to be consider.

Sources	Components/pollutants and their effects	Solutions
Agricultural run-offs and mill-waste	 NO₃⁻ and PO₄³⁻ (in fertilizers) Excess amount results to eutrophication 	Control its use by (a) using only when crops are growing (b) not using on bare fields (c) not applying when there is a prediction of rain (d) not disposing in river
	 Herbicide and pesticide residues Accretion of pesticides and herbicides have lethal effects on organisms in the water and also to the humans Level of pesticides start to build up as it passes over the food chain High dose of pesticides may collect in the tissues of 	 Use pesticides that are biodegradable Use methods to control biological pest Plant must be genetically modified so that it can resist attacks by pests as this may reduce the need of chemical insecticides

 Table 1
 Sources of water pollutants with their effects and corresponding solutions [28, 29]

(continued)

Sources	Components/pollutants and their effects	Solutions	
	ultimate consumers that are mostly carnivores		
Untreated sewage consisting mainly of human faeces and domestic waste	Suspended solids • Reduced penetration of light • If suspended solids are biodegradable, microorganisms can decompose them and their processes require a high oxygen requirement NO ₃ ⁻ and PO ₄ ³⁻	 Before entering rivers, treat sewage Help to stop the farm slurry (liquid manure) from entering into rivers and ponds 	
Domestic waste includes detergents and food waste	 Results into eutrophication Detergent 'Hard' detergents create foam that reduces oxygen supply to water-borne organisms Soft detergents are biodegradable but it may contain high phosphate levels that can sometimes give rise to eutrophication 	• Use low-phosphates biodegradable detergents	
Animal waste from farm	 Microorganisms such as bacteria and protozoa If water would be used to drink, perhaps it will cause waterborne diseases namely cholera to be properly treated 	• Drink water that is properly treated and boiled	
 Effluents from industries Electronic and electroplating plants Food and beverage processing industry Rubber product processing industry 	 Heavy metals such as Cu, Hg, Zn and Cr Highly toxic accumulation through the food chain in the organism Mercury can cause acute human nervous disorder. Waste water contains numerous contaminants, including sulphide of hydrogen 	 Treat effluent before discharging it into bodies of water File a law suit against hazardous waste dumping 	
Underground pipes	 Lead Lead is highly poisonous heavy metals that could build up in living organism tissues Lead may affect children's mental capability 	• Use copper pipes in plumbing rather than lead pipes	

Table 1 (continued)

5 Types of Water Pollutants

There are various types of pollutants categorized as:

- (a) Organic Pollutants
- (b) Inorganic Pollutants
- (c) Radioactive Pollutants
- (d) Suspended Solid
- (e) Pathogens
- (f) Nutrients and Agricultural Pollutants
- (g) Thermal Pollution.

These pollutants are described as follows:

(a) Organic Pollutants

Organic compound consists of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen and Sulphur. Organic compound emitted from sewage, urban waste water, industrial wastewater and agricultural waste. Example is Oleic acid, Palmitic acid, Dodecanoyl chloride and Docosanoic anhydride [12].

(b) Inorganic Pollutants

Developing countries are concerned about contamination of harmful chemicals such as nitrite, ammonium nitrate and heavy metals in drinking water. The high levels of inorganic nitrogen pollutants (nitrate, nitrite, ammonium) and inorganic phosphates in river water resulting from draining water from agricultural fields, releasing municipal/industrial sewage, etc. lead to many health problems. Nitrite is carcinogenic in nature, which increases the risk of stomach, liver and esophageal cancer and can lead to high levels of ammonium in the body [13].

(c) Radioactive Pollutants

Naturally radioactive material comes from earth crust and dissolves in surface drinking water. Anthropogenic radioactive material emitted from nuclear power plant, nuclear weapons testing and manufacture and application of radioactive material. Generally, radionuclide appeared in drinking water have series of uranium, thorium and aluminum and with naturally occurring materials of radium, uranium and the radioactive gas radon. These contaminants cause dangerous effect on human being. Radium causes bone cancer. Uranium also causes cancer in bone and toxic effect on kidney [7].

(d) Suspended Solid

Suspended solid are the pollutants municipal and industrial wastewater treatment plants and sewage treatment plants. There are three different types of suspended solid are found (a) sand and other material at washing steps (b) organic content that cannot used for final product (c) suspended solid in the wastewater [1].

(e) Pathogens

Pathogens are small microbes that cause disease, including bacteria, viruses, pillows, and certain parasites. Viruses generally present in wastewater are Hepatitis and Norwalk virus and a common fungus is Candida. A salmonella bacterium causes food poisoning whereas *Vibrio cholera* is the pathogen that causes cholera. Parasites such as Cryptosporidium and Schistosoma can cause diarrhea and all wastewater pathogens can lead to serious gastrointestinal illness [1].

(f) Nutrients and Agricultural Pollutants

As a result, the use of large quantities of chemical fertilizers in agriculture causes so many environmental problems as some fertilizers contain heavy metals (e.g. cadmium and chromium) and high radionuclide concentrations. Non-organic fertilizer contains salts of phosphate, nitrate, ammonium and potassium. Manufactured fertilizer industry contains excess heavy metals such as Hg, Cd, As, Pb, Cu, Ni, and Cu. Heavy metal fertilizer is deposited in the soil and plant system. Plants absorb fertilizers through the soil; they can enter the food chain that contaminates the water [11].

(g) Thermal Pollution

The temperature alteration in water bodies, as a result thermal pollution occurs. The thermal power plants discharge causes raise in temperature of aquatic system of 10 °C. Therefore, very serious effect on aquatic life due to global warms by thermal effect. Use of wind and solar energy in place of thermal energy. Thermal pollution decreases by plantation and reduce the emitting of carbon dioxide in environment [14].

6 Status of Ground Water

As we know that the groundwater is found beneath the surface water as it occupies fissures, pores, channels as well as other types of void spaces in the rock framework which are not filled with other materials like liquid hydrocarbons, solid mineral matters as well as various gases including air [2].

Globally the annual requirement of water is 6000–7000 km³ and the globally reserve groundwater is about 7,000,000 km³ [15]. Due to the pressure of the modern agriculture, urban lifestyle, industries the spread of contamination in water will doubles their speed and as a result cause many hazardous things like various types of diseases. In China's Northern provinces about 10 larger cities are using ground water which was a major concern in China [16]. Most of the sources of the private groundwater are located in the rural areas that are characterized by the ubiquity of animal as well as human contaminant sources with a lot of unregulated in the terms of treatment, design, location and maintenance and are associated with the low levels of institutional as well as consumer awareness [17].



Fig. 4 Problems dominant during regular usage of groundwater

Figure 4 depicts the use of groundwater that are problem dominant like the depletion which are caused by over drafting as well as waterlogging, and salinization which are caused due to insufficient conjunctive use as well as due to inadequate drainage, and the third one is the pollution that are caused because of industrial, agricultural as well as the human activities [18]. In 2004, it was also found that the in North China Plain a sustainable groundwater resources were used for agriculture and was focusing on the major groundwater problems but a more process has to be done to utilize their groundwater. Many groundwater pilot projects were carried in country level and out of which Guantao is one of them. From about last 25 years China's institutional as well as legal framework was carried on the utilization of water resources [19]. Unlike the water which are present on surface or can say the surface water the groundwater is hard to measure, conceptualize but further it was analyzed in terms of timescale much longer than those of the analysis process used for the management of surface water [20]. According to the recent report on IWMI, it was stated that about 1.4 billion people's lives in the region where they face severe water scarcity within the first quarter of the next century [21].

7 Status of Surface Water

As we know that water occupies about 71% of earth surface and water is considered to be one of the scarcest commodities mainly in the developing countries and is one of the most demanding of all rural as well as urban amenities [22].

Figure 5 shows the toxic chemical production in India during the period of 1950–1987. It is observed that most of the pollutant released are from organic chemicals and petrochemicals and the rate of pollutants increases from 1960 to 1987 onwards.

According to the Water Framework Directive of European Union (WFD 2000), the Timia-Bega watersheds were selected a lot of watercourses, used for the

Toxic chemical production in mula (burning 1960-1967)				
Industries	Pol	Pollutant released (Thousand tonnes)		
*	1960	1970	1980	1986-87
Fertilizers Pesticides Organic Chemicals Petrochemicals Non-ferrous metals Steel (Ingots) Caustic Soda Pharmaceuticals Dyes and Pigments	153 1.46 580 805 1500 101 1.23 1.15	1059 3.00 17100 34.6 3400 304 1.79 13.55	3005 40.68 24100 82.9 8000 457 5.07 30.85	7000 56.20 42500 123.4 9000 764
Dyes and Figments				

Toxic chemical production in india (During 1960-1987)

Fig. 5 Toxic Chemical production in India (1960–1987)

operational monitoring of the groundwater as well as for the surface water and are also responsible for the water quality determination and was found that 8 monitored ground water bodies, 3 surface reservoirs, 12 surface water bodies that are artificial as well as heavily modified and on the other side 14 surface water bodies found in natural status [23].

Figure 6 shows 7 models of the surface water with their versions and characteristics. The Streeter-Phelps provides the first S-P model in 1925. Mainly the S-P model focuses on the oxygen balance as well as the one-order decline of the demand for biological oxygen and is a one-dimensional stable-state model. USEPA





gave the model OUAL I in 1970. These models are suitable for both dendritic and non-point source pollution and are either a one-dimensional stable-state or dynamic model. USEPA developed a WASP model in 1983, and these models are appropriate for water simulation in lakes, rivers, coastal wetlands, estuaries, and reservoirs including one, two, and three-dimensional models. Whitehead provides model QUASAR in 1977 and is suitable for dissolving simulation of oxygen in larger rivers and is a one-dimensional dynamic model such as modes PC OUA SAR. QUESTOR and HERMES. The MIKE model has been developed by the Denmark Hydrology Institute that is suitable for simulating water quality in lakes, rivers, tidal wetlands, estuaries and is one, two or three-dimensional. In 1996, USEPA developed the BASINS model and these models are a multi-purpose environmental analysis system and are suitable for watershed-scale analysis of water quality and can also integrate non-point and point source pollution. Virginia Institute of Marine Science developed the EFDC model. USEPA listed this model as a water quality management tool in 1997 and these models are suitable for simulating water quality in estuaries, lakes, rivers, reservoirs and wetlands [24].

	Large dam reservoirs	Small surface water reservoirs	Groundwater storage
Key issues	 Sedimentation Dam safety Environmental impact Social impacts 	 Environmental impacts Adequate design Dam safety Sedimentation 	 Groundwater Salinization Rising water levels Groundwater pollution Management of access and use
Advantages	 Multipurpose Large Reliable yield Carryover capacity Low cost per m³ water stored Flood control hydropower Groundwater recharge 	 Groundwater recharge Multiple use Ease of operation Responsive to rainfall 	 Water quality Operational efficiency Little evaporation loss Ubiquitous distribution Available on demand
Limitations	 Sedimentation Environmental impacts Social impacts Dam safety 	 Environmental impacts Adequate design Dam safety Sedimentation 	 Groundwater salinization Rising water levels Management of access and use Declining water levels Groundwater pollution

 Table 2
 Key issues, limitations and advantages regarding Large dam reservoirs, Small surface water reservoirs as well as Groundwater storage [25]

Table 2 depicts the major advantages, issues as well as the limitations of large dam reservoirs, Small surface water reservoirs as well as Groundwater storage in which groundwater were used for further uses. In groundwater storage the water can be stored for a year and is also purified of biological pollutants due to the slowly percolations of water into aquifers. On the other side small reservoirs are considered to be operationally efficient and flexible in use. And the last one is the large reservoirs have great yield related to the small reservoirs [25]. Groundwater is a major source of drinking water for various rural communities as well as for cities communities [26]. In 1998, about 43.57 million hectare-meters per year is the estimated total replenishable groundwater resource in India [27].

8 Conclusion

Are we not aware of the various problems that occur in our nature, particularly in different water bodies? The causes of our undisciplined actions and irresponsibility are water pollution. We, humans, only create problems that we will bear the burden of these problems as well. We all know that water pollution can have a serious and serious impact on our health. It can cause such diseases and sicknesses that will have a serious impact on our health. We all know that water is so important. Water is our body's essential. Without water, neither we nor any living thing can survive. So, we should keep, protect, save, and help prevent pollution of our waters, we should act as early as now, we should save rivers, seas, and oceans, and other bodies of water, because we will bear the burden of this problem as well. We should not wait until people compete to get enough, fresh and clean water, the time when clean water is insufficient for humans and animals, and the time when our water sources are diminishing or when there are absolutely no water sources. And so, let's be disciplined and responsible enough to save, protect and preserve not only water sources but also our mother nature because our nature provides and helps us in our everyday lives. It's our only living source. Let's not destroy it or contaminate it. Let's take action for a change. We need and should help to save and preserve the nature of our mother, especially the various water bodies. Absolutely, in how we can help there are many simple ways. Change before we make changes in our nature.

References

- 1. Dwivedi, A. K. (2017). Researches in water pollution: A review. *International Research Journal of Natural and Applied Sciences*, 4, 118–142.
- 2. Tóth, J. (2009). Origin, distribution, formation, and effects. Groundwater-Volume I, 27.

- 3. Sophocleous, M. (2002). Interactions between groundwater and surface water: The state of the science. *Hydrogeology Journal*, *10*, 52–67.
- 4. Fuhrman, R. E. (1984). History of water pollution control. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 56, 306–313.
- 5. Helmer, R., Hespanhol, I., & Supply, W. (1997). Water pollution control: A guide to the use of water quality management principles. London: E & FN Spon.
- 6. Kidd, D. E. (1983). The history and definition of water pollution: A teaching unit. *Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society, 3,* 121–126.
- Bonavigo, L., Zucchetti, M., & Mankolli, H. (2009). Water radioactive pollution and related environmental aspects. *Journal of International Environmental Application & Science*, 4, 357–363.
- Barbera, A. J., & Mcconnell, V. D. (1990). The impact of environmental regulations on industry productivity: Direct and indirect effects. *Journal of environmental economics and* management, 18, 50–65.
- 9. Heath, A. G. (1987). Water pollution. In Fish physiology. Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press.
- Mahar, P. S., & Datta, B. (2001). Optimal identification of ground-water pollution sources and parameter estimation. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management*, 127, 20– 29.
- 11. Savci, S. (2012). An agricultural pollutant: Chemical fertilizer. International Journal of Environmental Science and Development, 3, 73.
- Ekevwe, A. E., Isaacl, A., Baertholomew, G., & Aroh, O. (2018). Review of organic pollutants in wastewater along the Course of River Gwagwarwa and River Rafin Malam in Kano State-Nigeria. *Journal of Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 2, 36–39.
- Rekha Kathal, V. C., Kumar, L., Puri, A., Baishya, R., & Uniyal, P. L. (2016). Pollution Status of Yamuna River, India—A national concern. *International Research Journal of Environment Sciences*, 5, 1–6.
- 14. Rao, D. S. (2015). Thermal pollution—Impact on living organisms. *International Journal of Engineering Research and Sports Science*, 2.
- Benaisa, S., Arhoun, B., El Mail, R., & Rodriguez-Maroto, J. M. (2018). Potential of brown algae biomass as new biosorbent of Iron: Kinetic, equilibrium and thermodynamic study. *Journal of Materials Environmental Sciences*, 9, 2131–2141.
- 16. Dikshit, A., & Choukiker, S. K. (2005). Global water scenario: The changing statistics.
- Andrade, L., O'dwyer, J., O'neill, E., & Hynds, P. (2018). Surface water flooding, groundwater contamination, and enteric disease in developed countries: A scoping review of connections and consequences. *Environmental Pollution*, 236, 540–549.
- 18. Shah, T. M., Molden, D., Sakthivadivel, R., & Seckler, D. (2000). The global groundwater situation: overview of opportunities and challenges. *IWMI Books, Reports H025885, International Water Management Institute*.
- 19. Foster, S., & Garduno, H. (2004). Towards sustainable groundwater use for irrigated agriculture on the North China Plain.
- 20. Giordano, M., & Villholth, K. (2007). The agricultural groundwater revolution: Setting the stage.
- 21. Seckler, D., Barker, R., & Amarasinghe, U. (1999). Water scarcity in the twenty-first century.
- 22. Igwe, P., Chukwudi, C., Ifenatuorah, F., Fagbeja, I., & Okeke, C. (2017). A review of environmental effects of surface water pollution. *International Journal of Advanced Engineering Research and Science*, 4.
- 23. Dunca, A.-M. (2018). Water pollution and water quality assessment of major transboundary rivers from Banat (Romania). *Journal of Chemistry*, 1–8.
- 24. Wang, Q., Li, S., Jia, P., Qi, C., & Ding, F. (2013). A review of surface water quality models. *The Scientific World Journal.*
- 25. Keller, A., Sakthivadivel, R., & Seckler, D. (2000). Water scarcity and the role of storage in *development*.
- 26. Moench, M. (1994). Approaches to ground water management-to control or enable.

- 27. Gandhi, V. P., & Namboodiri, N. V. (2009). Groundwater irrigation in India: Gains, costs and risks.
- Briggs, David. (2003). Environmental pollution and the global burden of disease. British Medical Bulletin, 68, 1–24.
- 29. Haseena, M., Malik, M. F., Javed, A., Arshad, S., Asif, N., Zulfiqar, S., et al. (2017). Water pollution and human health. *Environmental Risk Assessing Remediation*, 3(1), 16–19.

Types of Water Pollutants: Conventional and Emerging



Arif Ahamad, Sughosh Madhav, Amit K. Singh, Ashutosh Kumar and Pardeep Singh

Abstract Among all natural resources water is the most valuable resource existing on this planet. In present scenario, around the globe more than 0.78 billion people do not have access to safe and potable water which ultimately deteriorating their health. It is the right of every individual to have contamination free water but due to rampant urbanization, industrialization and uncontrolled population growth the pressure has been increased on existing available water resources (surface/ground water both) which leads to shrinkage of quantity and degradation of its quality. Various types of pollutants (organic and inorganic) released from different sources into the environment are increasing day by day. Conventional water pollutants include F⁻, NO₃⁻, and trace heavy metals (Pb, Cd, Cr, Ni, Zn, As, Hg, etc.), while emerging water pollutants include steroids and hormones, endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs), pharmaceuticals & personal care products, artificial sweetener, surfactants, etc. The existence of these cocktail of pollutants in the water resources is more dangerous, which could lead to undesirable synergistic consequences.

Keywords Water • Pollutants • Trace metals • Nitrate • Pharmaceuticals & personal care products

1 Introduction

Water is the key constituent of all the existing lives. Being an essential component the freshwater comprises 3% of the total water on our earth. Out of which only a little amount (0.01%) of this fresh water is available to us for all purposes [46, 55].

P. Singh PGDAV College, University of Delhi, New Delhi 110065, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

A. Ahamad (🖂) · S. Madhav · A. K. Singh

School of Environmental Sciences, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi 110067, India e-mail: evsarif786@gmail.com

A. Kumar

Department of Geology, Institute of Science, BHU, Varanasi 221005, India

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_3

Due to various reasons like rapid growth population, urbanization and unsustainable use of water in agriculture and industries, this small portion of freshwater is now under in serious stress [2]. Non polluted water is a fundamental need of community and public health. On the event of World waterday 2002, a press release of UNO Secretary General highlighted the significance of accessibility of high quality drinking water. According to their report- an estimated 1.1 billion people are unable to get safe water for drinking purpose, 2.5 billion people are not getting proper sanitation, and more than 5 million people lost their lives due to water borne as well as water-related diseases which is equal to ten times the number killed in wars, on average, every year. So far where sufficient or plentiful water supplies are available, they are growingly at risk from contamination and increasing demand. They also reported that two thirds of world's population is expected to live in countries with moderate or severe water crisis by 2025 [5].

Polluted water mainly bears various infectious pathogens (like bacteria, virus and protozoa) as well as carcinogenic organic anions and cations (NO₃, PO₄, SO₄, F, Ca and Mg) and inorganic pollutants (acids, salts and toxic metals). When these substances exceed the permissible limit can become very dangerous and can cause serious diseases in humans and other organisms of the ecosystem [5]. Natural activity like volcanic eruption can contribute a small part of the sources of water pollutants but basically the key sources of water contaminants are anthropogenic like poorly treated or untreated municipal wastes, discharges from individual septic tanks, agricultural wastes like fertilizers, pesticides, industrial chemical wastes, spilled petroleum products, mine drainage, spent solvents, etc. [3]. Pollutants can be added into water bodies (both surface and ground water) through various processes e.g., discharge processes, surface runoff, subsurface infiltration, or atmosphere precipitation etc. Once the mixing of pollutants with water bodies occurs they are immediately carried into the water cycle in a global context. Consumption of polluted water can cause various water borne diseases like gastrointestinal illness by pathogenic microbes and also affect liver, kidney, nervous system and immunity [119]. Such pollutants are familiar to the society since long back termed as conventional pollutants because various researchers have reported their sources and the adverse effects on ecosystem in detail.

In recent years, the study of so-called "emerging contaminants" gains more attention than from conventional pollutants. Harmful effects of these emerging contaminants on human health is so far not known and have been detected at very low concentration (ng L⁻¹ to μ g L⁻¹ levels) [33, 101] in the environment, particular in waters. With rise in population as well as globalization has not only increase the quantity of wastes but has also produced various emerging water pollutants which include pharmaceuticals, personal care products, pesticides, herbicides and endocrine disrupting compounds in last few decades [119]. Everyday emerging contaminants are added to our environment and the main source of formation of these is the byproducts of our modern lifestyle. We use chemical based products every day and these chemicals remain in wastewater due to lack of proper wastewater

treatment plants. Likewise the industrial processes having their own treatment plants cannot remove all these chemicals and finally such chemicals end up in lakes and rivers of our environment. Therefore we are worrying about the harmful effects caused by those chemicals that they might be having on organism including human. Yet various pollutants have been detected in drinking water supplies but their negative effects on human body are still unknown. The sources of both natural and anthropogenic emerging contaminants having the levels between ng L⁻¹ and μ g L⁻¹ (also called micropollutants) have been reported by various researchers in their publications including pesticides, industrial compounds, pharmaceuticals and personal care products [12, 57, 85–85].

There are several sources of these micropollutants in natural water. It is reported that industries and municipalities use about 30% of the world available renewable freshwater [19] resulting generation of vast quantity of wastewaters having various chemicals in varying concentrations. Some other remarkable sources of such pollutants are agricultural inputs [10] which use several million tons of pesticides each year; inputs from oil and gasoline spills; and from the human-driven mobilization of naturally occurring geogenic toxic chemicals [27]. Besides these, there are also enormous municipal and especially dangerous discarded industrial and earlier military waste sites from which poisonous compounds may enter into water body, mainly into the groundwater. As more than 100,000 chemicals are recorded and most of are used as daily basis [90], one can easily predict various probable ways of entering these chemicals into our aquatic environment [89]. Most compounds are mainly the resultant of urban waste water and can penetrate into drinking water via water cycle owing to their hydrophilic nature and poor elimination at drinking water and wastewater treatment plants [62, 71, 76, 122]. In several region of the world including rising economies like China, the wastewater having micropollutants are still untreated or undergo improper management which is unable to remove these kinds of pollutants [93]. Therefore, it was highly recommended to monitor the emerging compounds in the environment and basically in water because of their chances of open out via water and other unidentified eco-toxicological character [82, 83].

This book chapter deals with the various kinds of chemical pollutants in water resources including traditional as well as emerging.

2 Conventional Water Pollutants

People are aware about conventional pollutant like Fluoride, Nitrate and trace metals and metalloids because their desirable and permissible standard limit are known and also the causative effects on ecosystem and human health are also well described in the literature.

2.1 Fluoride

There are around 12 million tons of fluoride stores in the ground in India of the estimated 85 million tons present in the world [104]. The fluoride is highly scattered in our environment accounting for 0.3 g/kg of the earth's crust, resulting thirteenth in abundance. When fluorine reacts with other elements and forms ionic compounds like hydrogen fluoride and sodium fluoride in water and after dissociation it results into negatively charged fluoride ion [4]. Fluoride's chief natural source in soil is its parent rock itself [118]. In granitic rocks, fluoride, the only principal mineral of fluorine occurs chiefly as an extra mineral which contain sits concentrations of 20-3600 ppm [107, 112]. Apatite, amphiboles, biotite, hornblende, micas, muscovite, pegmatite, certain types of clays apart from villiaumite also contain fluorine [13, 34, 39]. There are other sources of fluoride into environment such as aluminum smelters, glass, enamel, textile dyeing, brick and tile works, plastics factories, phosphate fertilizer plants, industrial plants manufacturing hydrofluoric acid, along with the thermal power plants which consume high sulphur non-coking coal. At present high-tech industries like those involved in manufacturing semiconductors and integrated circuits generate large quantities of industrial effluents that contain fluoride [23, 25, 69, 73]. Though Fluoride with a very precise amount is an indispensable component for the normal mineralization of bones and development of teeth enamel, but its unnecessary intake could result into fluorosis [7, 59]. Low calcium and high bicarbonate alkalinity has been observed to favor high fluoride content in groundwater [15]. The water with high fluoride is normally soft, having high pH and high quantity of silica. In groundwater the amount of fluoride depends on various factors like aquifer's geological, chemical and physical characteristics, texture of soil and rocks, temperature, the action of other chemicals and the depth of wells [59]. The maximum limits of fluoride in drinking water as per WHO guidelines must not exceed 1.5 mg/L [116].

2.2 Nitrate

Nitrogen in the form of NO_3^- , NO_2^- , NH_3^+ and organic nitrogen could be groundwater's one of most common contaminants [66]. Besides, nitrate is also found naturally in very small concentrations in groundwater [28]. The nitrate exposure could occur from various environmental sources even as the drinking water remains the chief source. Though the ground and surface water normally have low concentrations of nitrates but because of issues like run off and leaching from agricultural lands, it could increase to high values [67]. In environments like oxygen-rich nitrate is generally a stable compound. It is highly water soluble and is easily leached from soils which have negative charges or with moderate to high pH, without being influenced by adsorption and precipitation reactions. For decades, the nitrate compound has the ability to remain in groundwater and get accumulated to higher levels since more and more of nitrogen is consistently used to the land surface on yearly basis. It has been observed that the water with greater than 50 mg/ l of nitrate concentration could create health problems in humans and animals [36, 115]. If the nitrate polluted groundwater is discharged to the low nitrate concentration water bodies, it may result in eutrophication [98]. Various researches have observed that the increased nitrate concentration in groundwater can serve as an indirect indicator of the existence of other pollutants that are derived from human activities [28, 77]. The NO₃⁻, component of nitrogen cycle in nature, signifies the most oxidized chemical form of nitrogen found in the natural systems and forms an important part of building blocks of living organism, i.e. DNA, RNA, hormones protein, vitamins, and enzymes [75]. Therefore human health consequences for humans because of high nitrate level exposure remain a great concern. The NO_3^{-1} binds itself to the hemoglobin and therefore its increased concentration levels decreases the oxygen-carrying capacity in the blood which causes methemoglobinemia or "blue baby syndrome", a condition that may result in the mortality due to asphyxiation especially in the new born babies [2]. The infants (of <6 months of age) remain at highest risk because their digestive systems have bacteria which speedup the binding process. It is reported that nitrate can be endogenously reduced to nitrate, undergo nitrosation reactions in stomach with amines and then amines to form a variety of N-nitroso compounds (NOC) and are mostly carcinogens [106, 100, 113].

2.3 Trace Metals and Metalloids

Natural water dissolves the impurities of trace elements/heavy metals which are already present in water while seeping downward as a part of hydrological cycle [48]. Additionally, several human activities including large scale use of agricultural pesticides, fertilizers, dyes and improper disposal of industrial and municipal wastes introduce these metals to both the surface as well as groundwater [56]. Though for human health many of these metals are considered essential [44], however, their increased concentrations result in water pollution and lead to acute health issues in humans and other organisms. The speciation or the form in which they exist in a given water system determines the fate and toxicity of these metals even as it is a metal's freely dissolved form which is normally the most toxic. The EPA has included metalloids, metals & organics under priority water pollutants [64]. The metals and metalloids include Sb, As, Be, Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, Ni, Se, Ag, Zn and Th. Most of them are transition elements, like Cd and Cu, or heavy metals like Pb and Ag and have tendency to form complexes with organic or inorganic ligands. In a solution ligands easily supply a pair of electrons to positively charged metal ions in solution and hence form complex ions with one to six ligands bound to the central metal atom. In fact, metal cations in water are hardly ever present as just the freely dissolved ions. If nothing else, water molecules can serve as ligands and tie to metal ions forming aquo-complexes. The ability of formation of various complex species is the fundamental feature of metals as the concentration of ligands in the water alters. The form of the dissolved metal can vary considerably as in an estuary transition of freshwater to seawater is caused by the metal [91].

Iron, one of the earth's most plentiful metals, occurs in various oxidation states while Fe (II) and Fe (III) are its two common forms in water. Fe $(OH)_3$ (oxidizing environment), Fe⁺² and FeHCO₃ (reducing environment) are the species observed in water at neutral pH [103]. For the normal functioning of living organisms, Iron is an vital element and its deficiency as well as overload could be very harmful for the plants and animals [108]. The WHO has set a standard limit of 0.3 mg/L for iron in the drinking water. So the increased concentration of iron in natural water reservoirs poses a potential risk for human health system as well as the surroundings. Though compared to iron insufficiency, the overload or the overexposure of iron occurs less commonly but poses several serious health issues related to heart and liver [60], diabetes [29], cancer [6, 68], along with neurodegenerative disorders [9].

Manganese (Mn) occurs naturally in surface water and groundwater; however, its addition to water is largely contributed by human activities also [110]. It is an indispensable micro nutrient for all forms of life [30] since it combines to and/or control a number of body enzymes [20]. Manganese, tenth most abundant element in earth's, crust is a redox sensitive and is found in different oxidation states. In the aqueous environment, Mn^{+2} (reducing environment), MnO_2 and Mn_2O_3 (oxidizing environment) are the most prominent species. The exposure to too much doses of Mn results in severe nervous disorders and prominently targets brain [20] and in worst case scenario may permanently lead to a neurological problem which shows similar symptoms like Parkinson's disease [49]. Moreover, it has been observed that the exposure to Mn from food is generally higher than the intake from drinking water [110].

Chromium forms one of the most frequent elements in both earth's crust as well as water. The WHO permits 0.05 mg/L value of chromium in drinking water. In water it is unable to occur as freely as cation and appears as polyatomic anions chromate and dichromate $(\text{CrO}_4^{2^-} \text{ and } \text{Cr}_2\text{O}_7^{2^-}, \text{ respectively})$ [105]. Though this is not poisonous in itself and holds an significant role in the carbohydrate metabolism in our body, however, certain compounds of chromium mainly in its hexavalent state-chromium (VI) (carcinogenic form) cause irritants and diseases related to the digestive, excretory, respiratory and reproductive system, skin diseases ultimately cancers [41].

Nickel is a broadly dispersed component present in air, water and soil, and was dubbed as the "Allergen of the Year 2008" [26]. It can naturally enter the environment through processes such as weathering of minerals and rocks as well as from anthropogenic sources. In the aquatic environment more than 90% of the nickel is linked with particulate matter of sediments [45]. In natural waters, nickel occurs in the +2 valence state. Ni⁺² form of nickel has been considered to be mainly responsible for evoking a toxic effect in aquatic organisms. The WHOs has put the limit of nickel concentration in water at 0.02 mg/L. Its compounds risk causing

number of adverse effects like skin disease in the form of dermatitis, kidney problems, various heart diseases, respiratory tract cancer and lung fibrosis [58, 92].

Lead (Pb) is a normal component of the earth's crust and occurs naturally in very low concentration in soil and water [74]. It exists in two oxidation states of 0 and 2 and the dominant species found in normal water pH are Pb⁺², PbOH⁺ and PbHCO₃⁺. Of these Pb⁺² is more common and reactive form. Lead is less mobile in soil and therefore usually found in minute quantities in deep aquifers in comparison to other heavy metals like Hg, As and Cd. Various sources contribute to the lead contamination in drinking water such as industrial wastes, vehicle exhausts and household paint. The WHO admissible limit for Pb concentration in drinking water is 0.01 mg/L. Lead usefulness in human physiology is unknown [74], but on contrary, its overdose exposure for longer times could affect major body organs and systems like neurological, gastric, haematopoietic, heart, reproductive system and immune system and also affects skeleton and kidneys [80, 111]. Lead has hazardous effects on pregnant women which can cause delay in development, under weight of fetus and cases of miscarriages are also recorded [8].

The naturally occurring compound Mercury (Hg) is considered as "persistent bio accumulative toxin" [114]. The WHO permissible limit for mercury in drinking water is 0.001 mg/L. Inorganic form of Mercury is less toxic than its organic forms owing to the differences in bioavailability [11]. In aquatic environments bacteria can transform mercury to methyl mercury which is highly toxic in nature [32] and can easily accumulated by fish and biomagnification takes place in the food chain. Coal fired power plants, smelting, alkali processing, apart from other industrial activities contribute to the mercury in environment. Historically, mercury was used in number of ways until its adverse effects became known. In the environment, the mercury cycles between air, water, soil, sediment, and biota. This causes difficulties in determination of its proper source. Occurrence of mercury in nature is also recorded in the sediments after the volcanic eruption which causes its mixing in atmosphere. Besides, the fly ash of power plants also contains mercury which directly mixes with atmosphere [91]. Only mercury has the property of biomagnification in the food chain and has serious detrimental effect on human health as well as the environment. Being a potential cellular toxin it has various harmful effects on our nerve cells, production of neurotransmitter even on the rate of production of thyroid and testosterone hormones [32].

Cadmium (Cd) exists in 0 and 2 oxidation states and is found in relatively low concentration in aquatic environment [61]. Its concentration could increase due to different activities like mining, seepage from hazardous waste site, wastewater disposal from industries or continuous use of Cd containing phosphate fertilizers. Cd is widely used in industrial applications including manufacture of batteries (NiCd), pigments, plastics etc. Its dominant form in pure water is Cd^{2+} (in fresh water the aquo-complexes are sticked to humic matters) and at high salinity, it forms a mixture of chloro-complexes, with $CdCl_3^-$ overriding in seawater [91].

Therefore the toxicity of same metal varies in different aquatic systems with diverse conditions. There are some metals and metalloids of polyatomic anions like
arsenic, which are basically found as either arsenite (contains As (III) or as arsenate (contains As (V) in the water. The metal speciation also depends upon the oxidation-reduction conditions. As (III) species are predominate under reducing conditions, while under oxidizing conditions, the As (V) species are more constant. A good example of wood preservative (generally insecticide) is the lead arsenate—a form of arsenic was widely used for many years. After the decomposition, the wood pieces release arsenic into soil which mixes with surface water and finally makes its way to groundwater. Another chief source of arsenic and lead is smelting operation by which these metals are added into water directly or transported atmospherically. Presently the arsenic poisonings are caused mainly due to the consumption of well water where the ground water is naturally enriched in inorganic arsenic. Its over-exposure may cause reduction in the production of WBC and RBC, damage blood vessels and cause "pins and needles" sensation in hands and feet [1]. Its elongated exposure could result in leuko-melanosis, melanosis, neuropathy, hyperkeratosis, black foot disease, and cancer [17].

Selenium (Se) is often found in association with sulfur containing minerals in the earth's crust. Selenium is a metalloid component, a naturally existing trace element, available in five oxidation states in the nature: -2, -1, 0, +4 and +6, under the forms of elemental selenium, selenide, selenite, selenate and organic selenium [86]. The most familiar forms of selenium in water are selenite (Se (IV), SeO_3^{2-}) and selenate (Se(VI), SeO₄²⁻). It is a slow process of emergence of selenate from selenite and both forms are found together in solution. Neither can be oxidized or reduced easily [97]. Selenium contamination of aquatic environment could happen due to mine drainage, agricultural drainage water, oil refineries, and sediments produced from fossil fuel thermoelectric power industries and metal ores [63]. The largest utilization of selenium compounds is in electronic and photocopier elements. A key nutrient at the level of low concentration, the permissible limits for selenium in drinking water has been set at 40 μ g/L [117]. However, EPA has found that selenium has the potential to cause a number of health issues in case people are unmasked to it beyond MCL levels for relatively short time periods: fatigue and irritability, damage to the peripheral nervous system; hair and fingernail changes. A longer period exposure at levels above MCL have harmful effect on hair and fingernail loss; kidney and liver tissue damage, and the nervous as well as circulatory systems (www.freedrinkingwater.com).

3 Emerging Water Pollutants

Although the risk of health hazardous are not yet understood, all the drinking water supplies around the world is under contamination of chemical pollutants at least at trace level. Such problems lack scientific research and as well as there is scarcity of literature. But this issue is an urgent one and should be considered as emergent issue. There are several ways to define emerging contaminants. The first one is the chemicals which are newly established into the ecosystem e.g. industrial chemicals which formed recently. The second one is regarding those compounds which have entered in environment in the past but are detected recently in the environment. The third one is same as the second one but they have caused harmful effects on ecosystems or humans [70].

Sources of ECs pollution may be point such as urban and industry or diffuse like agriculture. Point sources directly discharge the ECs into water bodies where their concluding fate is of primary concern as they may transport in the aqueous phase, degrade, adsorb into sediments [37]. However, in the case of diffused source of pollution, various properties of ECs such as their volatility, polarity, adsorption efficiency, persistence as well as interacting compartments determine their transport from source to the sink [31, 38]. Various types of emerging pollutants are displayed in Table 1.

3.1 Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (PPCPs)

Pharmaceuticals and personal care products or PPCPs broadly consolidates the products pertaining to healthcare or medical requirement of humans and/or animals. PPCPs have been lately recognized as emerging contaminant owing to their continual presence in the aquatic environment thereby increasing the interest in their safety PPCPs over past three decades [88]. PPCPs are released in the environment through various sources including domestic wastewater, water treatment plants (WTPs) and hospital discharge [52, 54]. Amongst these, hospital effluents often show high frequency and concentration of pharmaceuticals [51, 65]. It is possible that the contaminants released into the aqueous environment from the source may preserve their initial concentrations and/or change their structure and convert into active or inactive forms throughout their lifespan. Generally, PPCPs are found in surface water, groundwater, drinking water as well as sewage at concentrations ranging from ppt (ng/L) to ppb (μ g/L) [22]. It is likely that from the all the pharmaceuticals products sold approximately 65% are never ingested [84]. Additionally, enormous amounts of pharmaceutical products including inflammatory drugs and antibiotics do not even pass the sewage treatment. These are used by veterinarians for treating cattle feedlot and from there directly enter the surface water through run off during rainfall [14, 24].

PPCPs have been classified into multiple categories on the basis of their characteristics and usage. Pharmaceuticals classes include antibiotics, analgesics, steroid hormones, anti-inflammatory drugs, cytostatic drugs blood lipid regulators and β -blockers etc. [79] whereas types of Personal care products (PCPs) include fragrances, bactericides/disinfectants, insect repellents, preservatives and sunscreen ultraviolet (UV) filters [51, 54, 120]. Parabens are basically esters of para-hydroxybenzoic acid and may either contain an alkyl or benzyl group as side chain. These are mostly used in the form of preservatives in various products including food, cosmetics and pharmaceuticals [43, 53]. DEET is widely used

Distinctive classes	Representative compounds			
A. Pharmaceuticals				
A1. Broad-spectrum antibiotics				
1	Fluoroquinolone			
2	Sulfonamide			
3	Cephalosporin			
4	Nitroimidazole			
5	Tetracycline			
6	Penicillin			
7	Macrolide			
A2. Hormones				
1	17-β-Estradiol (E2)			
2	Estriol (E3)			
3	Estrone (E1)			
A3. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)				
1	Diclofenac			
2	Ibuprofen			
3	Naproxen			
A4. β-blockers				
1	Metoprolol			
2	Propranolol			
3	Atenolol			
4	Sotalol			
A5. Blood lipid regulators				
1	Clofibric acid			
2	Gemfibrozil			
3	Bezafibrate			
B. Personal care products				
B1. Preservatives				
1	Parabens			
B2. Bactericides/disinfectants				
1	Methyltriclosan			
2	Triclocarban (TCC)			
3	Triclosan (TCS)			
B3. Insect repellents				
1	N, N-diethyl-m-toluamide (DEET)			
B4. Synthetic musks	B4. Synthetic musks			
b1. Nitromusks	Musk moskene			
1	Musk tibetene			
2	Musk xylene			
3	Musk ketone			
4	Musk ambrette			

Table 1 Typical class of emerging contaminants and their representative compounds

(continued)

Distinctive classes	Representative compounds	
b2. Polycyclic musks		
1	Celestolide (ADBI)	
2	Galaxolide (HHCB)	
3	Toxalide (AHTN)	
4	Phantolide (AHMI)	
5	Cashmeran (DPMI)	
6	Traseolide (ATII)	
B5. Sunscreen UV filters		
1	2-Ethyl-hexyl-4-trimethoxycinnamate (EHMC)	
2	4-Methyl-benzylidene-camphor (4-MBC)	
3	Octyl-methoxycinnamate (OMC)	
4	Octyl-triazone (OC)	
C. Endocrine disruptors (EDCS)		
C1. Pesticides		
1	DDT	
2	Chlorpyrifos	
3	Atrazine	
4	2,4-D	
5	Glyphosate	
C2. Plasticizer		
1	Phthalates	
C3. Food contact materials		
1	Bisphenol A (BPA)	
C4. Flame retardants		
1	Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)	
C5. Textile/clothing		
1	Perfluorochemicals (PFCs)	
C6. Antimicrobial		
1	Triclosan	
D. Artificial sweetner		
1	Acesulfame	
2	Saccharin	
3	Cyclamate	
4	Sucralose	
E. Surfactants		
E1. Anionic		
1	Linear alkylbenzenesulphonic acid (LAS)	
2	Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)	
3	Sodium lauryl sulphate (SLS)	
4	Alkyl sulphate (AS)	

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Distinctive classes	Representative compounds	
E2. Cationic		
1	Quaternary ammonium compound (QAC)	
2	Benzalkonium chloride (BAC)	
3	Cetylpyridinium bromide (CPB)	
E3. Amphoteric		
1	Amine oxide (AO)	
E4. Nonionic		
1	Alkylphenolethoxylate (APE)	
2	Alcohol ethoxylate (AE)	

Table 1	(continue	ed
---------	-----------	----

active constituent in insect repellents and is known to persist in the water bodies for long durations [120].

Synthetic musks have been used as economical substitutes for natural musks since 1930s as fragrances in wide variety of products (domestic and industrial) such as food, perfume, detergent, shampoo, cosmetics and cigarette additives [81]. Synthetic musks have been widely categorised into two groups namely, polycyclic and nitro musks. Amongst them, nitro musks were the most frequently used synthetic musks initially but eventually their usage was reduced by 1950s because of their toxic nature towards humans and environment [102]. Polycyclic musks has replaced the nitromusks, which accounted for around 85% of worldwide production whereas remaining 15% is contributed by nitro musks [18, 102]. UV filters are generally used in sunscreens, cosmetics and lotions for protecting the skin against UV radiation. Their usage has seen a surge owing to increased awareness of people regarding the detrimental health consequences caused by UV radiation. These filters are discharged into water bodies as effluents and through various water based recreational activities [18].

3.2 Endocrine Disruptors (EDCs)

EDCs has been described by the Endocrine Society, (the largest international group of scientists and physicians which work in the area of endocrinology), as: "an exogenous [non-natural] chemical, or mixture of chemicals, that interferes with any aspect of hormone action" [40]. EDCs disrupt the endocrine system by either mirroring the structure of the natural hormone or by obstructing its functional pathway. These have been characterized as artificial chemicals that either mimic or block hormones after entering the body thereby affecting its usual operation. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has described EDCs as foreign factor that may interfere with the development, release, attachment, transport, activity and/or

replacement of natural hormones which help in maintaining bodily functions like homeostasis, reproduction, development and behavior [109]). It is now widely accepted that the three main kinds of EDCs are estrogenic in nature and they operate by either mimicking or blocking the pathway of natural estrogens, androgens or thyroids (triggers instant or oblique consequences to the thyroid) [95]. Natural and engineered EDCs are released in the surrounding by human acts, creatures and industries; primarily passing via sewage treatment before finally being discharged into surface water, groundwater, soil and silt. Based on the aforementioned reasons, a lot of research has been carried out just on estrogenic compounds.

These compounds are found in very low concentrations (ng L^{-1} or $\mu g L^{-1}$) in wastewater. EDCs are of deep concern since their long period of exposure and effect on humans is unidentified. Today, there are more than 85,000 chemicals that are manufactured out of which thousands may just are EDCs. A list of typical EDCs along with their categories is presented in Table 1. Triclosan which is a antimicrobial compound, is widely used since decades in varieties of PCPs (personal care products) like cosmetics, soaps, shampoos, skin-care lotions and creams, deodorants, toothpastes and mouthwashes [18]. Polychlorinated biphenyl, a flame retardant, is a category of chemical compounds and are utilised in textiles, plastics, and furnishing foams. They have majorly provided towards reducing the risks of fire [72]. Perfluorinated compounds have extraordinary chemical properties such as their ability to repelwater, lipids and oil. These compounds are used in water, grease or dirt repellent platings, in sprays for leather and textiles and in non-stick cookware as PTFE (Teflon) coating [47]. Bisphenol A (2,2-Bis-(4-hydroxyphenyl)propane) is weakly estrogenic and also possesses some anti-androgenic activity [96]. It is a plasticizer manufactured in large quantities and is used in the manufacturing of polycarbonate and epoxy resins, flame retardants and unsaturated polyester-styrene resins as a monomer [99]. Its end product is applied in the platings of cans, dental fillings, and additives in thermal paper, powder paints and antioxidants in plastics [99]. Their discharge in our surrounding occurs throughout the production as well as through leaching from the end products [35]. Being a ubiquitous type of plasticizers Phthalates are widely utilised various products like cosmetic products, playing things, packaging of foods, and medical equipment. Di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, one of the most common phthalates, presents a definite public health concern because 100% of population of the US shows significant and detectable levels of this EDC [42].

3.3 Artificial Sweeteners

Being a newest group of emerging contaminants the artificial sweeteners are ate up as substitute of low-calorie sugar in large quantities in a lot of food items and drinks. Examples of these compounds include saccharin, acesulfame, sucralose and cyclamate [78]. Some of these are heat-stable like acesulfame and are used in baking. They are used in soft drinks having long expiry dates owing to their

persistency in liquid [47]. Besides, certain class of sweeteners cannot be degraded by human body and become risky since these compounds may end up in large quantities in surface waters after use. This has already been shown in a study of German waste and surface waters by Scheurer et al. [87].

3.4 Surfactants

Another diverse group of chemicals viz. Surfactants (surface-active agents) which is structurally divided into two parts: first, a polar, water-soluble head and second, a nonpolar hydrocarbon tail, insoluble in water. Surfactants have higher solubility and cleaning abilities due to which they has occupied higher rank amongst the detergents and other cleaning substances [50]. A large amount of surfactants are used in various industries as well as household purpose in daily basis resulting in dispersion of them into soil, water, sediment etc. Surfactants have been classified, depending upon the charge on the head group, into cationic, anionic, nonionic and amphoteric.

Here, the most common and oldest type of surfactant is the anionic surfactants which are normally found in detergents or common soaps. Quaternary ammonium compounds (QAC) is the most commonly used cationic surfactants. They are primarily used in hair conditioners, fabric softeners and detergents. The best studied amphoteric surfactants are amine oxides (AOs). At very beginning, these were functioned as alternatives to fatty alkanolamides as foam boosters in dishwashing [16]. AOs are also used in textile industry, in rubber industry, and in deodorant bars as anti-static agents, as foam stabilisers and polymerisation catalysts and antibacterial agents respectively [94]. Nonionic surfactants are mostly used in various biotechnological processes and in facilitating solubilisation as well as increasing the carrier stability of the drug [21].

4 Conclusions

Pollutant in water is a most important topic to discuss since long back years because it is directly linked with health of the ecosystem including human beings. In current situation due to uncontrolled urbanization, industrialization and unmanaged activities, a diverse group of pollutant has been entered in our water resources. People are aware about conventional pollutant like Fluoride, Nitrate and trace metals and metalloids because their desirable and permissible standard limit are known and also the causative effects on ecosystem and human health are also well described in the literature. Since last ten years due to advancement in instrumentations techniques and detection limit researchers have discovered different types of new contaminants (emerging contaminants) in water resources which are unknown to our society. Although these emerging contaminants are measurable in different types of samples, even at present they are not usually monitored, due to the comparatively high charge of analysis and the inadequate number of experts. Scientists are trying to discover another new emerging contaminants and generating a huge number of data but very few knowledge about their fate and transport in water and their effects on organisms making it more complex. Hence regular surveys and monitoring of water resources and waste water resources should be carried out to acquire an understandable picture of these conventional and emerging contaminants. Actually we know that prevention is better than cure hence public awareness program should be initiated to alert the population about these traditional and emerging type of contaminants and their sources so that people will think about it and make some changes in their lifestyle.

References

- Abernathy, C. O., Thomas, D. J., & Calderon, R. L. (2003). Health effects and risk assessment of arsenic. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 133(5), 1536S–1538S.
- Ahamad, A., Madhav, S., Singh, P., Pandey, J., & Khan, A. H. (2018). Assessment of groundwater quality with special emphasis on nitrate contamination in parts of Varanasi City, Uttar Pradesh, India. *Applied Water Science*, 8(4), 115.
- Ahamad, A., Raju, N. J., Madhav, S., Gossel, W., & Wycisk, P. (2018). Impact of non-engineered Bhalswa landfill on groundwater from quaternary alluvium in Yamuna flood plain and potential human health risk, New Delhi, India. *Quaternary International*, 507, 352–369.
- Ayoob, S., & Gupta, A. K. (2006). Fluoride in drinking water: A review on the status and stress effects. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 36(6), 433–487.
- Azizullah, A., Khattak, M. N. K., Richter, P., & Häder, D. P. (2011). Water pollution in Pakistan and its impact on public health—A review. *Environment International*, 37(2), 479– 497.
- Beckman, L. E., Van Landeghem, G. F., Sikstrom, C., Wahlin, A., Markevarn, B., Hallmans, G. ... Beckman, L. (1999). Interaction between haemochromatosis and transferrin receptor genes in different neoplastic disorders. *Carcinogenesis*, 20(7), 1231–1233.
- 7. Bell, M. C., & Ludwig, T. G. (1970). *The supply of fluoride to man: Ingestion from water, fluorides and human health, WHO Monograph series 59.* Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 8. Bellinger, D. C. (2005). Teratogen update: Lead and pregnancy. *Birth Defects Research, Part A: Clinical and Molecular Teratology*, 73(6), 409–420.
- Berg, D., Gerlach, M., Youdim, M. B. H., Double, K. L., Zecca, L., Riederer, P., et al. (2001). Brain iron pathways and their relevance to Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 79(2), 225–236.
- Bockstaller, C., Guichard, L., Keichinger, O., Girardin, P., Galan, M. B., & Gaillard, G. (2009). Comparison of methods to assess the sustainability of agricultural systems. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 29, 223–235.
- 11. Boening, D. W. (2000). Ecological effects, transport, and fate of mercury: A general review. *Chemosphere*, *40*(12), 1335–1351.
- Bolong, N., Ismail, A. F., Salim, M. R., & Matsuura, T. (2009). A review of the effects of emerging contaminants in wastewater and options for their removal? *Desalination*, 239(1– 3), 229–246.

- Boyle, D. R. (1992). Effects of base exchange softening on fluoride uptake in ground waters of the Moncton Sub-basin, New Brunkswick, Canada. Water–Rock Interaction, 771–774.
- Brooks, B. W., Huggett, D. B., & Boxall, A. B. (2009). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products: Research needs for the next decade. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 28, 2469–2472.
- Bulusu, K. R., & Pathak, B. N. (1980). Discussion on water defluoridation with activated alumina. *Journal of the Environmental Engineering Division*, 106(2), 466–469.
- Burnette, L. W. (1966). Miscellaneous nonionic surfactants. Non-ionic surfactant. Surfactant Science Series, 1, 403–410.
- 17. Caussy, E., & World Health Organization. (2005). A field guide for detection, management and surveillance of Arsenicosis cases. World Health Organization.
- Clarke, B. O., & Smith, S. R. (2011). Review of 'emerging' organic contaminants in biosolids and assessment of international research priorities for the agricultural use of biosolids. *Environment International*, 37(1), 226–247.
- 19. Cosgrove, W. J., & Rijsberman, F. R. (2000). World water vision: Making water everybody's business. London: WorldWaterCounc.
- Crossgrove, J., & Zheng, W. (2004). Manganese toxicity upon overexposure. NMR in Biomedicine: An International Journal Devoted to the Development and Application of Magnetic Resonance In Vivo, 17(8), 544–553.
- 21. Cserhati, T. (1995). Alkyl ethoxylated and alkylphenol ethoxylated nonionic surfactants: Interaction with bioactive compounds and biological effects. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 103(4), 358–364.
- Dai, G., Wang, B., Huang, J., Dong, R., Deng, S., & Yu, G. (2015). Occurrence and source apportionment of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the Beiyun River of Beijing, China. *Chemosphere*, *119*, 1033–1039.
- Datta, P. S., Deb, D. L., & Tyagi, S. K. (1996). Stable isotope (180) investigations on the processes controlling fluoride contamination of groundwater. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 24(1), 85–96.
- Daughton, C. G., & Ternes, T. A. (1999). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: Agents of subtle change? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107(Suppl 6), 907–938.
- Deshmukh, A. N. (1995). Fluoride in environment: A review. Gondwana Geological Magazine, 9, 1–20.
- Duda-Chodak, A., & Blaszczyk, U. (2008). The impact of nickel on human health. *Journal of Elementology*, 13(4), 685–693.
- Eliopoulou, E., & Papanikolaou, A. (2007). Casuality analysis of large tankers. *Journal of* Marine Science and Technology, 12, 240–250.
- Elisante, E., & Muzuka, A. N. (2017). Occurrence of nitrate in Tanzanian groundwater aquifers: A review. *Applied Water Science*, 7(1), 71–87.
- Ellervik, C., Mandrup-Poulsen, T., Nordestgaard, B. G., Larsen, L. E., Appleyard, M., Frandsen, M. ... Birgens, H. (2001). Prevalence of hereditary haemochromatosis in late-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus: A retrospective study. *The Lancet*, 358(9291), 1405– 1409.
- Emsley, J. (2003). Book review: Nature's building blocks: An AZ guide to the elements/ Oxford University Press, New York, 538 pp., 2002, ISBN 0-198-50341-5. Astronomy, 31 (2), 87–88.
- 31. Farré, M., Pérez, S., Gajda-Schrantz, K., Osorio, V., Kantiani, L., Ginebreda, A., et al. (2010). First determination of C60 and C70 fullerenes and N-methylfulleropyrrolidine C60 on the suspended material of wastewater effluents by liquid chromatography hybrid quadrupole linear ion trap tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Hydrology*, 383(1–2), 44–51.
- Fatoki, O. S., & Awofolu, R. (2003). Levels of Cd, Hg and Zn in some surface waters from the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *Water SA*, 29(4), 375–380.

- Fatta-Kassinos, D., Meric, S., & Nikolaou, A. (2011). Pharmaceutical residues in environmental waters and wastewater: Current state of knowledge and future research. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 399(1), 251–275.
- 34. Foster, M. D. (1964). Water content of micas and chlorites (No. 474-F).
- 35. Fromme, H., Kuchler, T., Otto, T., Pilz, K., Muller, J., & Wenzel, A. (2002). Occurrence of phthalates and bisphenol A and F in the environment. *Water Research*, *36*, 1429.
- Gatseva, P. D., & Argirova, M. D. (2008). High-nitrate levels in drinking water may be a risk factor for thyroid dysfunction in children and pregnant women living in rural Bulgarian areas. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 211, 555–559.
- Geissen, V., Mol, H., Klumpp, E., Umlauf, G., Nadal, M., van der Ploeg, M. ... Ritsema, C. J. (2015). Emerging pollutants in the environment: A challenge for water resource management. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 3(1), 57–65.
- Geissen, V., Ramos, F. Q., Bastidas-Bastidas, P. D. J., Díaz-González, G., Bello-Mendoza, R., Huerta-Lwanga, E., et al. (2010). Soil and water pollution in a banana production region in tropical Mexico. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 85(4), 407– 413.
- 39. Gillberg, M. (1964). Halogens and hydroxyl contents of micas and amphiboles in Swedish granitic rocks. *GeochimicaetCosmochimicaActa*, 28(4), 495–516.
- 40. Gore, A. C., Crews, D., Doan, L. L., La Merrill, M., Patisaul, H., & Zota, A. (2014). Introduction to endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs). In *A guide for public interest* organizations and policy-makers. Endocrine Society: Washington, DC, USA.
- Goyer, R. A., & Clarkson, T. W. (1996). Toxic effects of metals. In Klaassen, C. D. (Ed.), Casarett & Doull's toxicology. The basic science of poisons (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill Health Professions Division.
- 42. Grindler, N. M., Vanderlinden, L., Karthikraj, R., Kannan, K., Teal, S., Polotsky, A. J. ... Jansson, T. (2018). Exposure to phthalate, an endocrine disrupting chemical, alters the first trimester placental methylome and transcriptome in women. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 6086.
- 43. Guo, Y., & Kannan, K. (2013). A survey of phthalates and parabens in personal care products from the United States and its implications for human exposure. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *47*(24), 14442–14449.
- 44. Haq, M. A., Khattak, R. A., Puno, H. K., Saif, M. S., & Memon, K. S. (2005). Surface and ground water contamination in NWFP and Sindh provinces with respect to trace elements. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 7(2), 214–217.
- 45. Hart, B. T. (1982). Uptake of trace metals by sediments and suspended particulates: A review. In *Sediment/freshwater interaction* (pp. 299–313). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Hinrichsen, D., & Tacio, H. (2002). The coming freshwater crisis is already here. *The linkages between population and water*. Washington, DC: Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, 1–26.
- Houtman, C. J. (2010). Emerging contaminants in surface waters and their relevance for the production of drinking water in Europe. *Journal of Integrative Environmental Sciences*, 7 (4), 271–295. https://www.freedrinkingwater.com/water-contamination/seleniumcontaminants-removal-water.htm.
- Ilyas, A., & Sarwar, T. (2003). Study of trace elements in drinking water in the vicinity of Palosi drain, Peshawar. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 6, 86–91.
- 49. Inoue, N., & Makita, Y. (1996) In: Chang, L. W. (ed.), *Neurological aspects in human* exposures to manganese. Toxicology of metals (pp. 415–421). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 50. Ivankovic, T., & Hrenovic, J. (2010). Surfactants in the environment. Archives of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology, 61(1), 95–110.
- Kosma, C. I., Lambropoulou, D. A., & Albanis, T. A. (2010). Occurrence and removal of PPCPs in municipal and hospital wastewaters in Greece. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *179*(1–3), 804–817.
- 52. Leung, H. W., Minh, T. B., Murphy, M. B., Lam, J. C., So, M. K., Martin, M. ... Richardson, B. J. (2012). Distribution, fate and risk assessment of antibiotics in sewage treatment plants in Hong Kong, South China. *Environment International*, 42, 1–9.

- Li, W., Shi, Y., Gao, L., Liu, J., & Cai, Y. (2015). Occurrence, fate and risk assessment of parabens and their chlorinated derivatives in an advanced wastewater treatment plant. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 300, 29–38.
- Liu, J. L., & Wong, M. H. (2013). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs): A review on environmental contamination in China. *Environment International*, 59, 208–224.
- 55. Madhav, S., Ahamad, A., Kumar, A., Kushawaha, J., Singh, P., & Mishra, P. K. (2018a). Geochemical assessment of groundwater quality for its suitability for drinking and irrigation purpose in rural areas of Sant Ravidas Nagar (Bhadohi), Uttar Pradesh. *Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes*, 2(2), 127–136.
- Madhav, S., Ahamad, A., Singh, P., & Mishra, P. K. (2018b). A review of textile industry: Wet processing, environmental impacts, and effluent treatment methods. *Environmental Quality Management*, 27(3), 31–41.
- Martín, J., del Mar Orta, M., Medina-Carrasco, S., Santos, J. L., Aparicio, I., & Alonso, E. (2018). Removal of priority and emerging pollutants from aqueous media by adsorption onto synthetic organo-funtionalized high-charge swelling micas. *Environmental Research*, 164, 488–494.
- McGregor, D. B., Baan, R. A., Partensky, C., Rice, J. M., & Wilbourn, J. D. (2000). Evaluation of the carcinogenic risks to humans associated with surgical implants and other foreign bodies-a report of an IARC Monographs Programme Meeting. *European Journal of Cancer*, 36(3), 307–313.
- 59. Meenakshi, S., Maheswari, R. C. (2006). Fluoride in drinking water and its removal. *Journal* of Hazardous Materials B, 137, 456–463.
- Milman, N., Pedersen, P. A., á Steig, T., Byg, K. E., Graudal, N., & Fenger, K. (2001). Clinically overt hereditary hemochromatosis in Denmark 1948–1985: Epidemiology, factors of significance for long-term survival, and causes of death in 179 patients. *Annals of Hematology*, 80(12), 737–744.
- Mohan, D., Pittman Jr, C. U., Bricka, M., Smith, F., Yancey, B., Mohammad, J. ... Gong, H. (2007). Sorption of arsenic, cadmium, and lead by chars produced from fast pyrolysis of wood and bark during bio-oil production. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, *310*(1), 57–73.
- 62. Mompelat, S., Le Bot, B., & Thomas, O. (2009). Occurrence and fate of pharmaceutical products and by-products, from resource to drinking water. *Environment International*, *35*, 803–814.
- 63. Navarro-Alarcon, M., & Cabrera-Vique, C. (2008). Selenium in food and the human body: A review. *Science of the Total Environment, 400,* 115–141.
- 64. Novotny, V. (1995). Diffuse sources of pollution by toxic metals and impact on receiving waters. In *Heavy metals* (pp. 33–52). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- 65. Oliveira, T. S., Murphy, M., Mendola, N., Wong, V., Carlson, D., & Waring, L. (2015). Characterization of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in hospital effluent and waste water influent/effluent by direct-injection LC-MS-MS. *Science of the Total Environment*, 518, 459–478.
- Orebiyi, E. O., Awomeso, J. A., Idowu, O. A., Martins, O., Oguntoke, O., & Taiwo, A. M. (2010). Assessment of pollution hazards of shallow well water in Abeokuta and environs, southwest, Nigeria. *American Journal of Environmental Sciences*, *6*, 50–56.
- 67. PAK-EPA. (2005). *State of Environment Report 2005*. Pakistan Environmental Protection Agency (Pak-EPA). Govt. of Pakistan, Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Environment.
- Parkkila, S., Niemelä, O., Savolainen, E. R., & Koistinen, P. (2001). HFE mutations do not account for transfusional iron overload in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Transfusion*, 41(6), 828–831.
- Patra, R. C., Dwivedi, S. K., Bhardwaj, B., & Swarup, D. (2000). Industrial fluorosis in cattle and buffalo around Udaipur, India. *Science of the Total Environment*, 253(1–3), 145– 150.

- Petrovic, M., & Barcelo, D. (2006). Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in the analysis of emerging environmental contaminants. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 385, 422–424.
- 71. Petrovic, M., & Barceló, D. (Eds.). (2007). Analysis, fate and removal of pharmaceuticals in the water cycle. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Rahman, F., Langford, K. H., Scrimshaw, M. D., & Lester, J. N. (2001). Polybrominateddiphenyl ether (PBDE) flame retardants. *Science of the Total Environment*, 275, 1–17.
- 73. Rao, N. S. (1997). The occurrence and behaviour of fluoride in the groundwater of the Lower Vamsadhara River basin, India. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 42(6), 877–892.
- Raviraja, A., Babu, G. N. V., Bijoor, A. R., Menezes, G., & Venkatesh, T. (2008). Lead toxicity in a family as a result of occupational exposure. *Archives of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology*, 59, 127–133.
- Reddy, A. G. S., Kumar, K. N., Rao, D. S., & Rao, S. S. (2009). Assessment of nitrate contamination due to groundwater pollution in north eastern part of Anantapur District, AP India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 148(1–4), 463–476.
- Reemtsma, T., & Jekel, M. (Eds.). (2006). Organic Pollutants in the water cycle. Weinheim: Wiley VCH.
- Reynolds-Vargas, J., Fraile-Merino, J., & Hirata, R. (2006). Trends in nitrate concentrations and determination of its origin using stable isotopes (180 and 15N) in groundwater of the western Central Valley, Costa Rica. *Ambio: A Journal of the Human Environment, 35*, 229– 236.
- Richardson, S. D. (2009). Water analysis: Emerging contaminants and current issues. Analytical Chemistry, 81, 4645–4677.
- 79. Richardson, S. D. (2008). Environmental mass spectrometry: Emerging contaminants and current issues. *Analytical Chemistry*, *80*(12), 4373–4402.
- Riess, M. L., & Halm, J. K. (2007). Lead poisoning in an adult: lead mobilization by pregnancy? *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22(8), 1212–1215.
- Rimkus, G. G. (1999). Polycyclic musk fragrances in the aquatic environment. *Toxicology Letters*, 111(1–2), 37–56.
- Rodil, R., Quintana, J. B., Concha-Graña, E., López-Mahía, P., Muniategui-Lorenzo, S., & Prada-Rodríguez, D. (2012). Emerging pollutants in sewage, surface and drinking water in Galicia (NW Spain). *Chemosphere*, 86(10), 1040–1049.
- Rodil, R., Quintana, J. B., Concha-Graña, E., López-Mahía, P., Muniategui-Lorenzo, S., & Prada-Rodríguez, D. (2012). Emerging pollutants in sewage, surface and drinking water in Galicia (NW Spain). *Chemosphere*, 86, 1040–1049.
- Ruhí, A., Acuña, V., Barceló, D., Huerta, B., Mor, J. R., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., et al. (2016). Bioaccumulation and trophic magnification of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disruptors in a Mediterranean river food web. *Science of the Total Environment*, 540, 250–259.
- Ruhoy, I. S., & Daughton, C. G. (2008). Beyond the medicine cabinet: An analysis of where and why medications accumulate. *Environment International*, 34, 1157–1169.
- Santos, S., Ungureanu, G., Boaventura, R., & Botelho, C. (2015). Selenium contaminated waters: An overview of analytical methods, treatment options and recent advances in sorption methods. *Science of the Total Environment*, 521, 246–260.
- Scheurer, M., Brauch, H. J., & Lange, F. T. (2009). Analysis and occurrence of seven artificial sweeteners in German waste water and surface water and in soil aquifer treatment (SAT). *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 394, 1585–1594.
- Schumock, G. T., Li, E. C., Suda, K. J., Matusiak, L. M., Hunkler, R. J., Vermeulen, L. C., et al. (2014). National trends in prescription drug expenditures and projections for 2014. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 71(6), 482–499.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Egli, T., Hofstetter, T. B., Von Gunten, U., & Wehrli, B. (2010). Global water pollution and human health. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *35*, 109–136.

- SchwarzmanMR, Wilson M. P. (2009). New science for chemicals policy. *Science*, 326, 1065–1066.
- Schweitzer, L., & Noblet, J. (2018). Water contamination and pollution. In *Green chemistry* (pp. 261–290). Elsevier.
- Seilkop, S. K., & Oller, A. R. (2003). Respiratory cancer risks associated with low-level nickel exposure: An integrated assessment based on animal, epidemiological, and mechanistic data. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 37(2), 173–190.
- 93. Shao, M., Tang, X. Y., Zhang, Y. H., & Li, W. J. (2006). City clusters in China: Air and surface water pollution. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *4*, 353–361.
- Singh, S. K., Bajpai, M., & Tyagi, V. K. (2006). Amine oxides: A review. Journal of Oleo Science, 55(3), 99–119.
- Snyder, S. A., Westerhoff, P., Yoon, Y., & Sedlak, D. L. (2003). Pharmaceuticals, personal care products and endocrine disruptors in water: Implications for the water industry. *Environmental Engineering Science*, 20(5), 449–469.
- Sohoni, P., & Sumpter, J. (1998). Several environmental oestrogens are also anti-androgens. Journal of Endocrinology, 158, 327–339.
- Sorg, T. J., & Logsdon, G. S. (1978). Treatment technology to meet the interim primary drinking water regulations for inorganics: Part 2. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 70(7), 379–393.
- Spalding, R. F., & Exner, M. E. (1993). Occurrence of nitrate in groundwater. A review. Journal of Environmental Quality, 22, 392–402.
- Staples, C. A., Dome, P. B., Klecka, G. M., Oblock, S. T., & Harris, L. R. (1998). A review of the environmental fate, effects, and exposures of bisphenol A. *Chemosphere*, *36*, 2149– 2173.
- Suthar, S., Bishnoi, P., Singh, S., Mutiyar, P. K., Nema, A. K., & Patil, N. S. (2009). Nitrate contamination in groundwater of some rural areas of Rajasthan, India. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 171(1–3), 189–199.
- 101. Tanwar, S., Di Carro, M., Ianni, C., & Magi, E. (2014). Occurrence of PCPs in natural waters from Europe. In *Personal care products in the aquatic environment* (pp. 37–71). Cham: Springer.
- 102. Tas, J. W., Balk, F., Ford, R. A., & van de Plassche, E. J. (1997). Environmental risk assessment of musk ketone and musk xylene in the Netherlands in accordance with the EU-TGD. *Chemosphere*, *35*, 2973–3002.
- 103. Taylor, K. G., & Konhauser, K. O. (2011). Iron in Earth surface systems: A major player in chemical and biological processes. *Elements*, 7(2), 83–88.
- Teotia, S. P. S., Teotia, M., & Singh, R. K. (1981). Hydro-geochemical aspects of endemic skeletal fluorosis in India—An epidemiologic study. *Fluoride*, 14(2), 69–74.
- 105. Testa, S. M., Guertin, J., Jacobs, J. A., & Avakian, C. P. (2004). Sources of chromium contamination in soil and groundwater (pp. 143–164). CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL.
- Tricker, A. R., & Preussmann, R. (1991). Carcinogenic N-nitrosamines in the diet: Occurrence, formation, mechanisms and carcinogenic potential. *Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology*, 259(3–4), 277–289.
- 107. Turekian, K. K., & Wedepohl, K. H. (1961). Distribution of the elements in some major units of the earth's crust. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 72(2), 175–192.
- 108. Underwood, E. (2012). Trace elements in human and animal nutrition. Elsevier.
- 109. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). (1997). Special report on environmental endocrine disruption: An effects assessment and analysis. Washington, DC: Office of Research and Development.
- 110. USEPA. (2004). Drinking water health advisory for manganese; 2004. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Health and Ecological Criteria Division, Washington, DC 20460.
- 111. Venkatesh, T. (2004). The effects of environmental lead on human health-a challenging scenario. *Health Focus*, *2*, 8–16.

- 112. Vinogradov, A. P. (1962). Mean element contents of the main types of crustal igneous rocks. *Geochemistry*, *5*, 641–664.
- Walker, R. (1990). Nitrates, nitrites and N-nitroso compounds: A review of the occurrence in food and diet and the toxicological implications. *Food Additives & Contaminants*, 7(6), 717– 768.
- 114. Weiss, L., & Wright, S. (2001). Mercury, on the road to zero: Recommended strategies to eliminate mercury releases from human activities in Oregon by 2020. Oregon Environmental Council.
- WHO. (2007). Nitrate and nitrite in drinking water. Background document for development of World Health Organization Guidelines for drinking-water quality. WHO/SDE/WSH/ 07.01/16, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 116. WHO Expert Committee on Oral Health Status, & Fluoride Use. (1994). Fluorides and oral health: Report of the WHO expert committee on oral health status and fluoride use (Vol. 846). World Health Organization.
- 117. WHO. (2011). Guidelines for drinking-water quality (4th ed.). Geneva.
- 118. World Health Organization. (1984). Environmental health criteria 36: Fluorine and fluorides. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 119. Xagoraraki, I., & Kuo, D. (2008). Water pollution: Emerging contaminants associated with drinking water.
- 120. Yang, Y., Ok, Y. S., Kim, K. H., Kwon, E. E., & Tsang, Y. F. (2017). Occurrences and removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in drinking water and water/ sewage treatment plants: A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 596, 303–320.
- 121. Ying, G. G. (2006). Fate, behavior and effects of surfactants and their degradation products in the environment. *Environment International*, *32*(3), 417–431.
- 122. Ziylan, A., & Ince, N. H. (2011). The occurrence and fate of anti-inflammatory and analgesic pharmaceuticals in sewage and fresh water: Treatability by conventional and non-conventional processes. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *187*, 24–36.

Water Pollutants: Sources and Impact on the Environment and Human Health



Sughosh Madhav, Arif Ahamad, Amit K. Singh, Jyoti Kushawaha, Joginder Singh Chauhan, Sanjeev Sharma and Pardeep Singh

Abstract Water is the most crucial commodity for life support process in organism. Water is basic and mandatory need for the humans and the entire living creature on earth. Therefore, the consumption of water by human should be safe. easily accessible, adequate and free from any kind of contamination. Pollutants in water bodies pose a severe threat to human health as well as aquatic ecosystem. There are numbers of water pollutant which has been categorized into inorganic pollutants, organic pollutants, pathogens, thermal pollution, and radioactive pollutants etc. In the current review an endeavor has been made to recognize the water pollution based on biological and chemical indicator and categorize the water pollutant on the basis of different source and origin. A brief discussion on different water pollutants, their source in atmosphere and impact on environment and human health is also done in this study. In this study a concise discussion has been done on some traditional water pollutants like nutrients (NO₃ and PO₄), Halogen (Cl, Br and F), heavy metals (Fe, Mn, Al, Cu, Zn, Pb, Cd, Cr, Ni and Hg), organic pollutants (POPs, EDS and pesticides), and microbial pollutants. Some emerging crisis related to water pollution in recent past is like microplastic, thermal pollution, radioactive pollution and suspended solids and sediments are also included in this study.

Keywords Water pollution \cdot Nutrients \cdot Halogen \cdot Heavy metals \cdot Organic pollutants \cdot Human health

S. Madhav $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$. Ahamad $\cdot A$. K. Singh $\cdot J$. Kushawaha

School of Environmental Sciences, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi 110067, India e-mail: sughosh.madhay@gmail.com

J. S. Chauhan \cdot S. Sharma Centres for the Study of Regional Development, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi 110067, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

P. Singh

P. D. D. A. V. College, University of Delhi, New Delhi 110065, India

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_4

1 Introduction

Water is the most valuable reserve among all natural assets present on the Earth. Earth is recognized as a blue planet because of the occurrence of plentiful water on its surface [1, 2]. Owing to its exclusive structure and characteristics, water is taken as a matrix of life [3, 4]. It is projected that 97.3% of the whole water present on the earth is saline. The entire freshwater which is only 2.7% of whole water, approximately 68% is frozen in form of ice and glaciers 30% as groundwater and leftover about 1.3% is found on the surface of the earth in lake and rivers (C.G.W.M. 1990).

Freshwater, especially is very important in context to sustenance as it is required for household consumption and also as industrial and farming use. The water applied for human utilization should be "safe and wholesome" i.e. odorless, colorless, and fine in taste and liberated from dangerous chemical agents and pathogen [5]. The quality of water being used is, however, an important issue as a decrease in quality of water reduces its utility for a human being and other organisms [6].

Any alteration in the physical, chemical and biological features of water that has a destructive consequence on human health and living creatures can be expressed as water pollution [7]. Water, not only, supports a range of human actions such as drinking, bathing, and household use, irrigation etc., but also, act a key function in the biogeochemical reaction below the surface [8, 9]. In the past few decades, this scant resource has arrived at a position of crisis because of the exceptional enhancement in arguing for freshwater demand due to a remarkable amplification in population, mechanization, urbanization, and passionate farming actions [10].

Many industries causing water pollution through their effluents are sugar mills, thermal power plants, distilleries, fertilizer, and cement industries, oil refineries, paper, and pulp industries, tanneries, pesticides, pharmaceuticals, and textiles with dye and dye-intermediates [11]. Usually, these manufacturing units release their bilge water into the nearby sewage system, water bodies in close proximity or adjacent undeveloped lands which originate the environmental crisis [12, 13].

2 Indicators of Water Pollution

There are two major methods of determining the eminence of water. One is to take water samples and evaluate the amount of various constituents that it holds. If the constituents are unsafe or the values are too high, we can consider the water as contaminated. This type of evaluation is known as chemical indicators of water quality [14]. A different method to determine water excellence engages investigating the fish, insects, and other invertebrates who sustain in water. If numerous diverse varieties of living organism can survive in a water body, the class is expected to be very good; if the water bodies sustain no fish existence at all, the quality is apparently much inferior. Assessment like this are named as biological indicators of water eminence [15, 16].

2.1 Classification of Water Pollutants on the Basis of Origin

There are diverse categorizations of water pollution.

1. The two principal sources of water contamination can be observed as Point and Non-Point.

Point indicates to the contaminants that belong to a lone supply. An example of this would be effluent discharge from industries in water bodies.

Non-Point, in contrast, means contaminants coming from many sources. Polluted water after rains that has pass through numerous areas may also be believed as a Non-point source of contamination.

2. On the bases of source there are two kinds of contaminants natural and anthropogenic.

Water pollution can be categorized as having whichever natural or anthropogenic sources. Natural groundwater pollution chiefly owes to geological configuration with shallow groundwater mass, percolation from low-quality surface water bodies, salt water invasion, or owing to the consequence of geothermal fluids. Anthropogenic water pollution is normally attributed to intense application of farming pesticides and manures, mining desecrates, dumping of industrial effluents, waste dumping locations and defective well formation [17].

The ionic composition of groundwater is governed by many natural as well as human induced aspects. Natural factors which have power over water composition includes precipitation model and quantity, a geological attribute of watershed and aquifer, meteorological factors and diverse rock-water interaction courses in the aquifer [12, 13]. Human actions which manipulate the chemical composition of water comprise discarded of solid devastate, household and industrial desecrate and mining and farming actions [18]. Sources of water pollution can be either geogenic or anthropogenic. Anthropogenic activities causing pollution can be further classified into industrial, agricultural and domestic [19]. Despite the fact that industrial consumption of water is very little in comparison to farming purpose, the unmanaged dumping of industrial waste matter on land and/or on surface water bodies make water resources inappropriate for further uses [20, 21].

3 Different Pollutants, Their Sources and Environmental Impacts

3.1 Nutrients

Nitrate (NO₃⁻)

Domestic sewage and animal excreta water gains N content by degradation of organic N(R-NH₂) by different pathways. Microbial enzymes degrade the organic

nitrogen in ammonia. As nitrogen is a vital element for the plant growth, farmers apply a large number of nitrogenous fertilizers for the better yield but there is an imbalance between plant uptake and nitrate availability, such as application of fertilizers when it cannot be taken by plant or may be planted density is too low to absorb the nitrate, then the excess fertilizer not used by plant may get concentrated during evaporation, later contaminate the aquifer by seepage [22]. Numerous human induced actions the use of nitrogenous manure, community wastewater, septic system seepage, urban drainage discard, reject dumps, sewage ejection, industrial effluents, polluted ground, polluted sanitation performs, landfills, animal waste, and soluble nitrogen compounds contained by geologic materials—make worse the nitrate pollution [23]. The urine and dung of farming animals like cows and buffaloes [24] and deprived casings [25] have also been associated to nitrate pollution in shallow groundwater.

High values of nitrate in water are connected with health troubles like methemoglobinemia in newborns which may cause mortality by asphyxiation and stomach cancer in adults. NO₃ goes to reaction with amines and amides in the human body and forms cancer-causing nitroso compounds [26–28]. Higher nitrate incoming human body via water can cause birth imperfections and gastrointestinal diseases [29]. Nitrate toxicity in human increases by frequent boiling of nitrate-rich water for drinking, preparation of dry milk powder with high nitrate-containing water, and weaning with nitrate-rich vegetables [30].

Phosphate (PO_4^{3-})

 PO_4 is a vital nutrient for plants, animals and human. It is available in three forms, that is organic phosphorous (associated with organic molecules), orthophosphate and polyphosphates. In few water bodies, the value of phosphorus is small adequately to limit the growth of algae and/or aquatic plants. In this matter, researchers state that phosphorus is the restrictive nutrient. Therefore, eutrophication and water excellence is sustained by calculating the access of the PO_4 [31]. Natural disintegration of rocks and minerals, farming discharge, erosion and sedimentation and through input by animals is the non point sources, while point sources are sewage wastewater and industrial effluents [32]. A little concentration of PO_4 may boost the development of algae and aquatic plants directing to eutrophication of the aqueous ecosystem. PO_4 in water may cause algal bloom development in water bodies [33, 34].

3.2 Halogens

Commonly, halides present in natural water are chloride, fluoride, bromide and iodide. These ions are highly soluble and present in all natural water sources i.e. lake, streams, rivers and groundwater. The source of halides includes hard rock weathering, industrial runoff, pesticides and fertilizers etc. Chloride and bromide are conservative in nature and their ratio is used as the source of salinity in coastal aquifers. The conservative nature of these elements reduces the biological uptake as well as sedimentation [35].

Fluoride (F⁻)

Fluoride is the highest electronegative element among all the chemical elements. It has an affinity to form fluoride ion in the solution. It is found in only solid salt and ion in aqueous solution as it is very reactive [36, 37]. Fluoride is found in almost all type of water from trace to high concentration. Various factors such as temperature, pH, and solubility of fluoride bearing minerals impose the impact on the concentration of fluoride in the water. Fluoride contamination in groundwater is a common problem in semi arid and arid climate having alkaline soil and crystaline igneous rocks [36, 38]. Geogenic sources mainly from igneous (granite) and metamorphic (gneisses) rocks are considered as the primary source of fluoride in groundwater [39]. Fluorite, apatite, mica, amphiboles and some clay are the fluoride wearing minerals. Moreover anthropogenic sources also contribute fluoride in water such as chemicals used in agriculture and bricks industries [40].

Both the lower (0.6 mg/l) and upper (1.5 mg/l) limit of fluoride in groundwater have heath effects. Very low limit of fluoride (<0.6) in drinking water leads to tooth decay while consumption in higher concentration (>1.5 mg/l) causes dental fluorosis even more concentration (>3 mg/l) leads to skeletal fluorosis [41]. Due to high concentration of fluoride in water about 62 million people in India including 6 million children suffers from fluorosis [42].

Chloride

Ion exchange processes, halite dissolution, precipitation, farming overflow, untreated effluents from industries, sewage wastes etc. are source of chloride in water resources. Owing to extremely less or insignificant biological uptake of chloride my cause higher chloride concentration once it released in water. The dichloromethane present as a byproduct during conventional water chlorination procedures and other carcinogenic substances by reacting with naturally occurring compound [43, 44]. High values of Cl in water disgrace the water quality. It also contributes to the corrosion of many metals, including man-made structures, such as dams.

Bromide

Naturally, bromide enriched in water as inorganic salt in natural water resources. In fresh water, bromide concentration may naturally derive from rainfall, but significant level may be caused by the combustion of leaded gasoline containing ethylene dibromide. The elevated level of bromide caused due to industrial dumping and agricultural runoff. Bromide is conservative in nature. Due to its conservative nature, it has been used as an indicator of saltwater intrusion and source of salinity and contaminant in coastal aquifers [44, 45]. But high concentrations of Br may cause fatal consequence on aquatic organisms. The impact of high bromide in plants can cause the stunted growth and poor germination.

3.3 Heavy Metals

Heavy metals are regarded as a metal or metalloid having high atomic weight and specific density and are often assumed as toxic even at very low concentrations [46]. The heavy metal sources may be geogenic or anthropogenic. Chemical weathering of rocks with their constituent minerals, decomposing vegetation and animal matter and also atmospheric dry or wet deposition is natural sources. Anthropogenic sources such as mining, discharge of industrial effluents, industrial emissions (both in elemental or compound form), fertilizers used in agricultural activities, roadside and automobiles etc. are considered as prime contributors for heavy metal contamination in water [47].

Iron (Fe)

Fe found in soil and minerals mainly as insoluble ferrous oxide and iron sulphide form. CO_2 present in groundwater react with ferrous carbonate and release Fe⁺² in solutions form [48].

$$FeCO_3(s) + CO_2 + H_2O = Fe^{+2} + 2HCO_3^{-1}$$

Weathering of Fe iron from silicate minerals is a time-consuming process, but near surface weathering of Fe containing silicate may produce an accumulation of ferric oxide and ferric hydroxide. High concentration of Fe in water is owing to the organic material of municipal household waste and occurrence of Fe minerals in the soil/weathered material favorable for the reduction of ferric iron into ferrous iron in the circulating water (Raju et al. 2010).

The brown color of groundwater after extraction from the aquifers is the main problem in the Fe containing water. The color of water turned into cloudy and then brown caused by $Fe(OH)_3$ precipitation The reducing environment producing by the organic matter degradation. The solubility of Fe-bearing minerals boost in reducing conditions. It directs to increase in Fe concentration [49]. High concentration of Fe in water originates awful taste, staining, turbidity and equipped problem in water supply. High concentration of Fe in water may cause red rot disease. Red rot disease is caused by bacterial precipitation of hydrate oxide of ferric ion. Iron containing water has clear appearance when pumped but when it get exposed to air, water become rusty and turbid due to the precipitation of iron by oxidative process [50]. The undue ingestion of Fe may direct to chronic intoxication while the unnecessary ingestion of Mn can causes lung embolisms, bronchitis, impotency, and nerve dent, even to the point of Parkinsonism [51].

Arsenic (As)

Ar is a broadly dispersed metalloid, taking place in rock, soil, water and air. Inorganic arsenic is found in groundwater applied for drinking in numerous countries all over the globe. Smelting of non-ferrous metals and the manufacturing of power from fossil fuel are the two key industrial procedures that direct to arsenic pollution of water and soil. Currently, very large population is affected by arsenic contamination worldwide, therefore, the toxicity problem arising from its contamination in drinking water is a matter of global concern [52]. The World Health Organization (WHO) and U.S. EPA have suggested 10 μ g/L of arsenic concentration in drinking water as the safety limit for human consumption.

Both natural and anthropogenic sources are responsible for arsenic contamination into surface and groundwater. Arsenic is a rare crystal element constituting approximately (0.00005%) of the Earth crust [53]. The arsenic content in soils of different countries has been reported to range from 0.1 to 40 mg kg⁻¹ with an average value of 6 mg kg⁻¹ (Bowen 1979). Its higher concentration present in certain minerals such as pyrite (up to 5–10% by weight) causes its release in environment. In addition to its natural occurrence, many microbes in nature transform arsenic into various oxidation states. During anaerobic respiration certain microbes respire As (V) and release As (III) in surrounding groundwater [54]. Among anthropogenic sources mining operations, copper smelting industries, fossil fuel burning and other combustion processes are known to release arsenic into environment. Presence of arsenic containing sulfide minerals has significantly contributed to its release into the environment [55]. Arsenic has been commonly used in variety of dyes, paints, herbicides, pesticides, insecticides, wood preservatives and animal feeds [56].

Inorganic arsenic is extremely noxious and ingestion of big magnitude directs to gastrointestinal signs, cruel anarchy of the cardiovascular and central nervous systems, and ultimately death. In survivors, bone marrow despair, haemolysis, hepatomegaly, melanosis, polyneuropathy and encephalopathy may be experienced. Populations exposed to arsenic via intake water confirm intemperance risk of death from lung, bladder and kidney cancer, the risk rising with escalating exposure. There is also an augmented threat of skin cancer and other skin lesions, such as hyperkeratosis and pigmentation alterations. Arsenic (As) is a notorious carcinogenic element and its intake severely affects various human organ systems including hepatic system, cardiovascular system and central nervous system (Farrell et al. 2001) [57, 58].

Manganese (Mn)

Mn is found in the association of Fe because chemically it is very similar to Fe. Mn is an essential element. Mn is found in manganese dioxide form in the soil. Manganese dioxide is very insoluble in water containing CO₂. Mn is positively correlated with Fe and it is an essential component of plants and animals [50]. Ferromagnesium minerals release the Mn in groundwater. High concentration of Mn causes damage of central nervous system.

Zinc (Zn)

Zn is also an necessary trace element acting as a micronutrient for human health. Zn is essential for male reproductive activity therefore consider as masculine element [59]. Zn is also helpful for plant growth as it reduces the Ni toxicity and increase ATP/chlorophyll ratio [60]. Zn is utilized as an anticorrosion agent where it is

layered on iron pipelines to shield them against corrosion. Galvanized pipelines are utilized during the construction of the boreholes [61]. It acts a significant function in the development of male reproductive system, therefore, considered as the masculine element. It also serves as a co-factor for a number of enzymes for their activation such as carbonic anhydrase. Deficiency of Zn may cause anaemia, growth and reproduction impairment, when consumed in excess it causes toxicity which includes irritation, muscular stiffness, loss of appetite, nausea, etc. Though, Zn is an essential element but high concentration causes muscular stiffness, nausea and loss of apetite [62].

Copper (Cu)

Copper is a vital trace element which helps in human, animal and plant metabolism. The natural source of Cu in water is probable enrichment from aquifer resources such as feldspar, biotite, and muscovite minerals. Sometimes, the corrosion of copper pipes becomes the major source of Cu in drinking water. Organic and inorganic compounds of copper are extensively applied as farming pesticide sprays. The big amount of Zn intake may cause Wilson's disease. High concentration of Cu causes discoloration and corrosion of pipes and utensil and amplifies the risk of lung cancer in human [48].

Aluminum (Al)

Al is the third most plentiful element present in the earth's crust [63]. Al found naturally in the environment. Mining and handing out of Al raises its amount in the environment. The mobilization of noxious Al ions, consequential from transform in the pH of soil and water owing to the acid rains and rising acidification of the neighbouring atmosphere, has an undesirable consequence on the environment [64]. Al in elevated values is extremely noxious for aquatic animals, particularly for gill breathing living such as fish, originating osmoregulatory collapse by decimating the plasma and hemolymph ions [65]. Metabolic path in the living organism concerning Ca, PO₄, F and Fe metabolism are influenced by Al. Al has been establish to be very injurious to nervous, osseous and hemopoietic cells [64].

Lead (Pb)

The increasing concentration of Pb in water may be due to the liberation of Pb adsorption of marine sediments, from dust transferring via atmosphere and continental shell erosion (chemical weathering), precipitation and deposition of airborne aerosols containing Pb (Hem 1991) [61, 66]. Commercial products such lead storage batteries, electroplating, constriction material, ceramic and dyes, paints, glassware and gasoline are the main source of the lead in the environment [67]. Low concentration may be harmful to the human if taken for a long time period as it stored and accumulated in bones [68]. Lead is a non-biodegradable and a teratogen which is extremely harmful as it can cause cardiovascular diseases and damage the central and peripheral nervous system (Singh et al. 2011). Toxicity of Pb, also known as lead poisoning, can be either acute or chronic. Acute contact can cause thrashing of hunger, headache, hypertension, abdominal pain, kidney dysfunction,

tiredness, insomnia, arthritis, hallucinations and dizziness. Chronic exposure of Pb may cause intellectual retardation, birth faults, lunacy, autism, allergies, dyslexia, weight loss, hyperactivity, paralysis, muscular weakness, brain injure, renal dent and may even cause death [69, 70].

Cadmium (Cd)

Cd found naturally in ores jointly with Zn, Cu and Pb. Cd compounds are utilized as stabilizers in PVC commodities, colour pigment, numerous alloys and, now most frequently, in re-chargeable Ni-Cd batteries. Metallic Cd has chiefly been utilized as an anticorrosion agent. Cd is also found as impurities in phosphate fertilizers. Cd is associated with Pd minerals so Pd mining is a source of Cd in the groundwater [70]. Tobacco is the key source of Cd intake in smokers as tobacco plants, like other vegetations, can take Cd from the soil [67]. High concentration of Cd causes renal dysfunction, kidney damage and gastrointestinal disorder. Long term exposure of Cd may also causes Cancer. Premature birth and reduced birth weights are the problems that occur if Cd exposure is elevated during human pregnancy [71].

Chromium (Cr)

Chromium is a naturally found element in rocks minerals and very much persistent in water sediments. Chromium is present in two oxidation states +3 and +6. Cr (+6) is more toxic to Cr (+3) as its rate of adsorption is high [50]. The higher content of Cr is found in ultramafic igneous rocks. Chromite is concentrated in the residues of laterite which is underlying the ultramafic rocks. Industrial sources of Cr comprise shielding metal coatings, metal alloys, magnetic tapes, paint pigments, rubber, cement, paper, wood preservatives, leather tanning and metal plating [70]. Chromium based dyes are one of the chief source of contamination in soil and groundwater. Chromium (VI) compounds are extremely noxious and carcinogenic in nature. Chromium (III), in contrast, is vital nutritional supplement for animals and humans and has a significant function in glucose metabolism [67]. Contact to elevated values of chromium compounds in humans can direct to the reserve of erythrocyte glutathione reductase, which in turn diminish the ability to reduce methemoglobin to hemoglobin [72].

Nickel (Ni)

In aqueous chemistry Nickel is considered with Ni^{2+} oxidation state. It substitutes the iron in ferromagnesian igneous rock mineral. It coprecipitates with the oxides iron and manganese. Ni is largely used industrial element for making stainless steel. WHO (1993) prescribed 20 µg/l Ni as permissible limit for drinking purpose. It is an essential trace element in lesser amount but uptake in of large quantity may cause cancer in lungs, nose, larynx and prostate, respiratory failure, asthma, birth defects, heart disorders and renal and skin diseases.

Mercury (Hg) [73]

The Hg amalgam cinnabar was applied in ancient cave painting for red colours, and metallic Hg was recognized in early Greece where it was applied as a beauty product to improve the skin color. Metallic Hg is utilized in thermometers, barometers and appliances for determining blood pressure. A chief application of Hg is in the chloralkali manufacturing, in the electrochemical practices of Cl production, where Hg is applied as an electrode [74]. Inorganic Hg is transformed to organic compounds, like CH₃Hg, which is extremely stable and accumulate in the food web. Methylmercury is a neuro toxic compound which is accountable for microtubule damage, mitochondrial harm, lipid peroxidation and gathering of neurotoxic molecules like serotonin, aspartate, and glutamate [75, 76]. Acute mercury contact may give go up to lung damage. Chronic poisoning is considered by neurological and psychological symptoms, such as tremor, change in behaviour, agitation, nervousness, sleep anarchy and sadness. Metallic mercury is an allergen, which may cause contact eczema, and mercury from amalgam fillings may give increase to oral lichen [67, 77]. The Minamata tragedy in was initiated by methyl mercury poisoning from fish infected by mercury discharge to the neighbouring sea.

3.4 Organic Pollutants

Organic pollutants broadly alienated into two categories: oxygen demanding waste which is degraded by bacterial activities and another one is synthetic organic pollutants which cannot be degraded by the bacterial actions. The effluents and waste water from domestic outlets, municipal sewage, canning industries, food processing units, butcheries, paper and pulp industries, tanneries, breweries, distilleries, etc. have significant amount of biodegradable organic compounds in all forms, suspended, colloidal and dissolved. These pollutants consume whole oxygen present in the water body and create anoxic condition in the ecosystem. Moreover, synthetic organic pollutants are not biodegradable and stay in water body for an extended duration. Synthetic organic pollutants comprise synthetic pesticides, synthetic detergents, food additives, pharmaceuticals, insecticides, paints, synthetic fibers, plastics, solvents and volatile organic compounds (VOCs). Synthetic inorganic cation exchange materials are excessively applied in elimination of radioactive cations from water is also one of the sources of the organic pollution in water body [78].

Among the organic pollutants some of the poses a immense risk to aquatic animals, plants, and humans are dyes, cosmetics, petroleum organic pollutants. They can cause chemical burns, nausea, convulsions and direct to chronic health turmoil with carcinogenic property.

Persistent organic pollutants (POP's)

A compound is usually defined as a POP if it shows the subsequent 4 features:

1. Determined in the environment, i.e. chemical, photochemical, and biological alteration processes do not direct to a considerable elimination of the compound in any environmental compartment;

- 2. Prone to lengthy transfer, therefore to global circulation, yet in isolated areas where the compound has not been utilized or dumped, due to the compound's physical-chemical properties;
- 3. Bioaccumulative during the food web; and
- 4. Noxious to living creatures, together with humans and wildlife.

POPs containing polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated dibenzo-pdioxins, organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), perfluorooctanoate (PFOA), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) has been traced into the river and costal aquifer [79]. PCBs in rivers and coastal aquifer possible human health hazard [80]. mav cause It is known that Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethanes (DDTs) and hexachlorocyclohexanes (HCHs) has been applied as pesticides in the agricultural function but now it is banned by the government due to its toxic and carcinogenic effects. But new sources of DDTs and HCHs have investigated and associated to local usage of lindane, dicofol, and DDT-containing anti-fouling paints [79]. In the perspective of global water contamination, POPs create a rigorous crisis chiefly because of their great bioaccumulation and biomagnification prospective in aquatic food webs [81].

3.5 Endocrine Disruptive Chemicals (EDC)

One of the emerging organic pollutants groups is Endocrine disruptive chemicals which create the hormonal imbalance affecting the normal homeostatic reproduction, development or behavior. These also caused irregular endocrine behavior and amplifies cancer hazard in human [82].

Pesticides

In the previous 4 decades, the utilization of pesticides has amplified considerably all over the world. It endeavours at safety of crops from pest invasion to attain elevated crop yield with improved features [83]. An approximate amount of 2.5 million tons of pesticides is applied in the world yearly with incessant augment [84]. An approximate quantity of merely 0.1% of pesticides used arrive at the objective organisms and the residual 99.9% go away through air, soil and water, therefore consequential in the pollution of natural ecosystems and distressing human health [84]. Clinical features like headache, vomiting, dizziness, muscle weakness, shortness of breath, skin rash and burning sensation in the urinary tract owing to pesticide contact have been founded in human [85].

Dyes: Now a days industry are heavily using dyes, water soluble toxic chemicals. Dyes are generally used in textile, food, paper, leather and tanning industries to give color code on products [12, 13]. The untreated effluents of these industries are continuously contaminating the water and soil. This is the reason that humans are getting affected to this toxicity by consuming the vegetables, fruits and grains which have sown in soil and irrigated by water contaminated by dyes. The use of

colored papers, towels in wiping body and in cooking is an additional way of revelation to human [86]. Dyes are considered as one of the carcinogenic and mutagenic chemicals.

3.6 Microbial Contaminants

Pathogens enter in the water through various sources such as sewage discharge, industrial wastewater. Virus and bacteria such as *Cryptosporidium*, *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella*,

Shigella, can lead into water born diseases. Cholera, typhoid, dysentery, polio, hepatitis are some of the common diseases which are seen in human beings caused by the water pollutants.

Exposed water is easily contaminated by saprobic microorganism when comes under the contact of air, soil and sediments [87]. Microbial contagion of water can be identified by inspection for few organisms counting heterotrophic bacteria, coliforms, and *Escherichia coli* in such samples. Microbial contamination is more in lake water and abundant in heterotrophic bacteria [88]. Some of the studies have shown that, contamination by *E. coli* and coliforms were beyond the allowable limit in the stagnant water bodies. Untreated disposal of sewage into water body and human excreta has induced the high level of pathogens in the water ecosystem. Some of the common examples of the water pathogens are under fecal contamination are total coliforms, *Escherichia coli*, fecal coliforms, fecal streptococci/ enterococci, coliphage, and *Clostridium perfringens*. Coliforms are parts of the family Enterobacteriaceae. The 38 Water Challenges of an Urbanizing World are facultative anaerobic, Gram-negative, nonsporing, rod-shaped bacteria that ferment lactose with gas formation within 48 h at 35 °C. Humans and animals are one of the biggest sources of fecal contamination.

3.7 Micro Plastics

Microplastics are tiny plastic piece <5 mm lengthy which can be destructive to our sea and marine life. Microplastics can be classified by their origin. There are two key varieties, primary and secondary. Primary microplastics are firmly made to be that size, on the other hand secondary microplastics are minute piece of plastic that crack down from bigger pieces. The complexity with microplastics is that they are so tiny that they are generally not pulled out up by water filtration and make it out into rivers and oceans. Microplastics are awful for the reason that fish and other aquatic animals eat them and they die or have health troubles [89].

Microplastics are physical risks to organisms if ingested. The effects comprise obstruction of the intestinal tract, reticence of gastric enzyme discharge, condensed feeding stimulus, and diminish steroid hormone levels, interruption in ovulation and malfunction to reproduce [90, 91]. The high surface area to volume ratio of microplastics makes them an efficient carrying medium for noxious contaminants, for e.g. trace metals and persistent organic pollutants (POPs), additionally endangering human health and marine wildlife [92].

3.8 Accidental Oil Leakage

The utilization of oil or of other natural resources without wastage is impracticable; wastage happen in operation, shipping, refinement and utilization. Oil spill create a great concern as a big quantity of oil go into the sea and does not dissolve with water; thus opens trouble for local marine wildlife such as fish, birds and sea otters. For example a ship shipping a big amount of oil may spill oil if meet with an accident and can cause unreliable harm to species in the ocean depending on the amount of oil spill, size of the ocean, the toxicity of contaminant [93]. Being less weight than water it extends above the facade of water, unravelling the exposure of water with air, therefore ensuing in decline of DO. This contaminant is also accountable for endangering water birds and coastal plants owing to shell of oils and unfavourably disturbing the usual activities. It in addition results in drop of light diffusion through surface waters, thus dipping the photosynthetic action of the aquatic plants. Oil contains polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), a few of which are identified as carcinogenic [94].

3.9 Suspended Solids and Sediments

The idiom suspended solids (SS) refers to the amount of inorganic and organic matter, which is detained in the water column of a waterway, river, pond, lake or dam by instability. SS classically contain particulate matter with a diameter of <62 mm [95]. The consequence of SS on aquatic biota is reliant on 4 key factors, these comprise: (1) the quantity of SS, (2) the period of contact to SS quantity, (3) the geochemistry of SS and (4) the particle-size allocation of SS. Attendance of suspended solids can obstruct the sunlight infiltration in the water, which is necessary for the photosynthesis by benthic flora. Finer suspended solids may harm the gills of fishes and originate asphyxiation [96].

3.10 Thermal Pollution

Thermal pollution is the release of hot water from industry in water body which disturb the normal aquatic life and hydrogeochemical processes of the water body. Substantial thermal pollution consequence owing to release of hot water from

thermal or nuclear power stations, and factories where water is utilized as coolant. As an outcome of hot water exonerate, the hotness of water body amplify. Ascend in temperature diminish the DO content of the water, disturbing negatively the aquatic existence. This modifies the spectrum of organisms, which can approve to live at that temperature and DO point. When organic matter is also found, the bacterial feat amplifies owing to increase in temperature; therefore, ensuing in speedy diminishes of DO. The release of hot water directs to the thermal layering in the water bodies, where hot water will stay on the upper level [97, 98].

3.11 Radioactive Pollution

Atomic energy is basis of clean-air and carbon free electricity but the radioactive ion contamination that is originated from, e.g., tailings and heap leakage remains of uranium mining (such as ²²⁶Ra ions), nuclear fusions derivatives (such as ⁹⁰Sr), nuclear weapon tests, medical research and leakage and accidental explosions in the nuclear reactors can create a long-term effect in the form of a serious threat to human health [99, 100]. Nuclear power plants and industrial effluents are the source of radioactive pollution in water. The fission process released huge energy and this energy travels in the form of waves and even little bit of this is enough to cause damage in human cells, tissues and organs. These harmful waves cannot be treated physically, chemically and biologically. Radioactive effects persist in the environment for extended duration depending upon the elemental half-life [101].

Geologically long term deposition of all elements including radioactive minerals get exposed to the geological agents after weathering and erosion and radioactive elements get mobilized with time. The weathering rate depends on the mineral composition, environmental condition and geological agents also [102]. Minimum trace of radioactive element associated with all groundwater depending upon the geological rock and strata of that area.

Radionuclides either natural or artificial have been present in water due to their radius size and decay byproducts. Some of the examples of radioactive elements emitting low radiation energy are potassium-40 (⁴⁰K), tritium (³H), carbon-14 (¹⁴C), and rubidium-87 (⁸⁷Rb). While emitting high radiation energy alpha particles are radium-226 (²²⁶Ra), the daughters of radium-228 (²²⁸Ra), polonium-210 (²¹⁰Po), uranium (U), thorium (Th), radon-220 (²²⁰Rn), and radon-222 (²²²Rn), also present in trace amount in the water [103]. Among the oxo-anions, the pertechnetate (TcO₄² $^{-}$) ion, has significant attention as technetium isotope (⁹⁹Tc) is a radioactive element with a very high half-life time (2.1 * 10⁵ years). In fission field, ⁹⁹Tc is byproduct of nuclear fission of ²³⁵U or ²³⁹Pu with a high fission yield [101].

4 Conclusion

Natural water is a vivacious chemical arrangement comprising in its composition a complex collection of gases, mineral and organic essences in the appearance of true solutions, and suspended and colloidal matters also. There are various natural and anthropogenic factors that affect the basic physical, chemical and biological properties of natural water. Among them waterborne pathogens and chemical contaminants are major concern for public health on local, regional and global scale, not only with respect to morbidity and mortality but by the high cost of their prevention and treatment. At present, the continuous rise in concentration level of these pollutants which reached up to alarming level, making the environment and habitat unsuitable to survive. The maintenance of quality water and its safety is an important to avoid long-term irreversible effects on human health. In this review we reviewed various water pollutants, their source in atmosphere and impact on environment and human health. Nutrients like NO3 and PO4 are responsible for eutrophication and poses various health impacts on human health are arise mainly from agricultural activities. The source of halogens in water is both natural and anthropogenic. Heavy metals in water come mainly through industrial activities but some heavy metals like, As and Cr are geogenic also. Microbial pollutants in water bodies are come mainly by human excreta and poses serious health consequences on human health. Radioactive pollution, thermal pollution and suspended soiled are the new dimensions in the field of water pollution also briefly discussed in this study.

References

- Iqbal, M. A., & Gupta, S. G. (2009). Studies on heavy metal ion pollution of ground water sources as an effect of municipal solid waste dumping. *African Journal of Basic & Applied Sciences*, 1(5–6), 117–122.
- Maruyama, S., Ikoma, M., Genda, H., Hirose, K., Yokoyama, T., & Santosh, M. (2013). The naked planet Earth: Most essential pre-requisite for the origin and evolution of life. *Geoscience Frontiers*, 4(2), 141–165.
- 3. Finney, J. L. (2004). Water? What's so special about it? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1448), 1145–1165.
- 4. Ripl, W. (2003). Water: The bloodstream of the biosphere. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 358(1440), 1921–1934.
- Jinwal, A., & Dixit, S. (2008). Pre-and post-monsoon variation in physico-chemical characteristics in groundwater quality of Bhopal "The City of Lakes" India. *Asian Journal of Experimental Sciences*, 22(3), 311–316.
- Shiklomanov, I. A., & Rodda, J. C. eds., (2004). World water resources at the beginning of the twenty-first century. Cambridge University Press.
- World Health Organization (1997). Guideline for drinking water quality, 2nd edn., Vol. 2 WHO, Geneva, Health criteria and other supporting informations, pp 940–949.

- Hancock, P. J., Boulton, A. J., & Humphreys, W. F. (2005). Aquifers and hyporheic zones: Towards an ecological understanding of groundwater. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 13(1), 98– 111.
- 9. Huang, G., Sun, J., Zhang, Y., Chen, Z., & Liu, F. (2013). Impact of anthropogenic and natural processes on the evolution of groundwater chemistry in a rapidly urbanized coastal area, South China. *Science of the Total Environment, 463,* 209–221.
- Raju, N. J., Shukla, U. K., & Ram, P. (2011). Hydrogeochemistry for the assessment of groundwater quality in Varanasi: A fast-urbanizing center in Uttar Pradesh, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 173(1–4), 279–300.
- 11. Maria, A. (2003, October). The costs of water pollution in India. In *Conference on Market Development of Water and Waste Technologies Through Environmental Economics* (pp. 30–31).
- Madhav, S., Ahamad, A., Kumar, A., Kushawaha, J., Singh, P., & Mishra, P. K. (2018). Geochemical assessment of groundwater quality for its suitability for drinking and irrigation purpose in rural areas of Sant Ravidas Nagar (Bhadohi), Uttar Pradesh. *Geology, Ecology,* and Landscapes, 2(2), 127–136.
- Madhav, S., Ahamad, A., Singh, P., & Mishra, P. K. (2018). A review of textile industry: Wet processing, environmental impacts, and effluent treatment methods. *Environmental Quality Management*, 27(3), 31–41.
- 14. Chalew, T. (2006). *Chemical indicators of surface water pollution* (Doctoral dissertation, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill).
- 15. Abdulla, F. A., Abu-Dieyeh, M. H., & Qnais, E. (2008). Human activities and ecosystem health. In *Environmental management, sustainable development and human health*, p. 341.
- López-López, E., & Sedeño-Díaz, J. E. (2015). Biological indicators of water quality: The role of fish and macroinvertebrates as indicators of water quality. In *Environmental indicators* (pp. 643–661). Dordrecht: Springer.
- 17. Baba, A., & Tayfur, G. (2011). Groundwater contamination and its effect on health in Turkey. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 183(1–4), 77–94.
- Raju, N. J. (2007). Hydrogeochemical parameters for assessment of groundwater quality in the upper Gunjanaeru River basin, Cuddapah District, Andhra Pradesh, South India. *Environmental Geology*, 52(6), 1067–1074.
- 19. McKinney, M. L., & Schoch, R. M. (2003). *Environmental science: Systems and solutions*. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Behera, B., & Reddy, V. R. (2002). Environment and accountability: Impact of industrial pollution on rural communities. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 257–265.
- Buechler, S., & Mekala, G. D. (2005). Local responses to water resource degradation in India: Groundwater farmer innovations and the reversal of knowledge flows. *The Journal of Environment & Development*, 14(4), 410–438.
- Ahamad, A., Madhav, S., Singh, P., Pandey, J., & Khan, A. H. (2018). Assessment of groundwater quality with special emphasis on nitrate contamination in parts of Varanasi City, Uttar Pradesh, India. *Applied Water Science*, 8(4), 115.
- Taneja, P., Labhasetwar, P., & Nagarnaik, P. (2019). Nitrate in drinking water and vegetables: Intake and risk assessment in rural and urban areas of Nagpur and Bhandara districts of India. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26(3), 2026–2037.
- Wakida, F. T., & Lerner, D. N. (2005). Non-agricultural sources of groundwater nitrate: A review and case study. *Water Research*, 39(1), 3–16.
- 25. Vough, L. R., Cassel, E. K., & Barao, S. M. (2006). Nitrate poisoning of livestock causes and prevention.
- Walker, R. (1990). Nitrates, nitrites and N-nitrosocompounds: A review of the occurrence in food and diet and the toxicological implications. *Food Additives & Contaminants*, 7(6), 717– 768.
- 27. Wolfe, A. H., & Patz, J. A. (2002). Reactive nitrogen and human health: Acute and long-term implications. *Ambio: A Journal of the Human Environment*, *31*(2), 120–126.

- Stadler, S., Talma, A. S., Tredoux, G. & Wrabel, J. (2012). Identification of sources and infiltration regimes of nitrate in the semi-arid Kalahari: Regional differences and implications for groundwater management. *Water Sa*, 38(2), pp. 213–224.
- Zhai, Y., Zhao, X., Teng, Y., Li, X., Zhang, J., Wu, J., et al. (2017). Groundwater nitrate pollution and human health risk assessment by using HHRA model in an agricultural area, NE China. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 137, 130–142.
- Raju, N. J., Shukla, U. K., & Ram, P. (2011). Hydrogeochemistry for the assessment of groundwater quality in Varanasi: a fast-urbanizing center in Uttar Pradesh, India. *Environ Moni Assess*, 173(1–4), 279–300
- Holman, I. P., Whelan, M. J., Howden, N. J., Bellamy, P. H., Willby, N. J., Rivas-Casado, M., et al. (2008). Phosphorus in groundwater—An overlooked contributor to eutrophication? *Hydrological Processes: An International Journal*, 22(26), 5121–5127.
- 32. Singh, A. L., (2016). Nitrate and phosphate contamination in water and possible remedial measures. *Environ Prob Plant*, *3*, 44–56.
- Handa, B. K. (1990). Contamination of groundwaters by phosphates. *Bhu-jal News*, 5, 24– 36.
- Rao, N. S., & Prasad, P. R. (1997). Phosphate pollution in the groundwater of lower Vamsadhara river basin, India. *Environmental Geology*, 31(1–2), 117–122.
- Tiffany, M. A., Winchester, J. W., & Loucks, R. H. (1969). Natural and pollution sources of iodine, bromine, and chlorine in the Great Lakes. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 1319–1329.
- Sreedevi, P. D., Ahmed, S., Madé, B., Ledoux, E., & Gandolfi, J. M. (2006). Association of hydrogeological factors in temporal variations of fluoride concentration in a crystalline aquifer in India. *Environmental Geology*, 50(1), 1–11.
- Raju, N. J., Dey, S., Gossel, W., & Wycisk, P. (2012). Fluoride hazard and assessment of groundwater quality in the semi-arid Upper Panda River basin, Sonbhadra district, Uttar Pradesh, India. *Hydrol sci*, 57(7), 1433–1452.
- Handa, B. K., (1975). Geochemistry and genesis of Fluoride-Containing ground waters in India. *Groundwater*, 13(3), pp. 275–281.
- Brindha, K., & Elango, L. (2013). Geochemistry of fluoride rich groundwater in a weathered granitic rock region, Southern India. Water Quality, Exposure and Health, 5(3), 127–138.
- 40. Rao, N. S. (2009). Fluoride in groundwater, Varaha River Basin, Visakhapatnam District, Andhra Pradesh, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 152(1–4), 47.
- Raju, N. J., Dey, S., & Das, K. (2009). Fluoride contamination in groundwaters of Sonbhadra District, Uttar Pradesh, India. *Current Science (00113891)*, 96(7).
- 42. Susheela, A. K., (1999). Fluorosis management programme in India. Curr Sci, 77(10), 1250–1256.
- 43. Dang, L. X., & Pettitt, B. M. (1987). Chloride ion pairs in water. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 109(18), 5531–5532.
- 44. Davis, S. N., Whittemore, D. O. & Fabryka-Martin, J. (1998). Uses of chloride/bromide ratios in studies of potable water. *Groundwater*, *36*(2), 338–350.
- Kim, K. Y., Seong, H., Kim, T., Park, K. H., Woo, N. C., Park, Y. S., Koh, G. W. & Park, W. B. (2006). Tidal effects on variations of fresh–saltwater interface and groundwater flow in a multilayered coastal aquifer on a volcanic island (Jeju Island, Korea). *J Hydrol*, *330*(3-4), 525–542.
- Duruibe, J. O., Ogwuegbu, M. O. C., & Egwurugwu, J. N. (2007). Heavy metal pollution and human biotoxic effects. *International Journal of Physical Sciences*, 2(5), 112–118.
- 47. Eshagberi, G.O., (2012). Toxic Effects of Heavy Metals on Crop Plants. *Multi J Empir Res*, 10.
- 48. Sawyer, C. N., McCarty, P. L., & Parkin, G. F. (1978). Chemistry for environmental engineers. *New York. Mc Graw-Hill Book Company*.
- 49. Applin, K. R., & Zhao, N. (1989). The kinetics of Fe (II) oxidation and well screen encrustation. *Groundwater*, 27(2), 168–174.

- Jain, C. K., Bandyopadhyay, A., & Bhadra, A. (2010). Assessment of ground water quality for drinking purpose, District Nainital, Uttarakhand, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 166*(1–4), 663–676.
- Zoni, S., Albini, E., & Lucchini, R. (2007). Neuropsychological testing for the assessment of manganese neurotoxicity: A review and a proposal. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 50(11), 812–830.
- McGrory, E. R., Brown, C., Bargary, N., Williams, N. H., Mannix, A., Zhang, C., et al. (2017). Arsenic contamination of drinking water in Ireland: A spatial analysis of occurrence and potential risk. *Science of the Total Environment*, 579, 1863–1875.
- Mandal, B. K., & Suzuki, K. T. (2002). Arsenic round the world: A review. *Talanta*, 58(1), 201–235.
- Oremland, R. S., & Stolz, J. F. (2005). Arsenic, microbes and contaminated aquifers. *Trends in Microbiology*, 13(2), 45–49.
- Baroni, F., Boscagli, A., Di Lella, L. A., Protano, G., & Riccobono, F. (2004). Arsenic in soil and vegetation of contaminated areas in southern Tuscany (Italy). *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 81(1–3), 1–14.
- Bhattacharya, P., Samal, A. C., Majumdar, J., & Santra, S. C. (2010). Arsenic contamination in rice, wheat, pulses, and vegetables: a study in an arsenic affected area of West Bengal, India. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut, 213*(1–4), 3–13.
- Kumar, P., Kumar, M., Ramanathan, A. L., & Tsujimura, M. (2010). Tracing the factors responsible for arsenic enrichment in groundwater of the middle Gangetic Plain, India: A source identification perspective. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 32(2), 129–146.
- Vieira, B. R., Pintor, A. M., Boaventura, R. A., Botelho, C. M., & Santos, S. C. (2017). Arsenic removal from water using iron-coated seaweeds. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 192, 224–233.
- 59. Nolan, J. (2003). Stable distributions: models for heavy-tailed data. Boston: Birkhauser.
- 60. Akpor, O. B. and Muchie, M. (2010). Bioremediation of polluted wastewater influent: phosphorus and nitrogen removal. *Sci Res Essays*, 5(21), 3222–3230.
- Mondal, N. C., Singh, V. S., Puranik, S. C., & Singh, V. P. (2010). Trace element concentration in groundwater of Pesarlanka Island, Krishna Delta, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 163(1–4), 215–227.
- Jain, C. K., Bandyopadhyay, A., & Bhadra, A. (2010). Assessment of ground water quality for drinking purpose, District Nainital, Uttarakhand, India. Environ Monit Assess, *166*(1–4), 663–676.
- 63. Gupta, N., Gaurav, S. S., & Kumar, A. (2013). Molecular basis of aluminium toxicity in plants: A review. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 4(12), 21.
- 64. Barabasz, W., Albinska, D., Jaskowska, M., & Lipiec, J. (2002). Ecotoxicology of Aluminium. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 11(3), 199–203.
- Rosseland, B. O., Eldhuset, T. D. and Staurnes, M. (1990). Environmental effects of aluminium. *Environ Geochemistry Health*, 12(1–2), 17–27.
- Hunt, L. E., & Howard, A. G. (1994). Arsenic speciation and distribution in the Carnon estuary following the acute discharge of contaminated water from a disused mine. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 28(1), 33–38.
- Jaishankar, M., Tseten, T., Anbalagan, N., Mathew, B. B., & Beeregowda, K. N. (2014). Toxicity, mechanism and health effects of some heavy metals. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 7(2), 60–72.
- Borah, K. K., Bhuyan, B., & Sarma, H. P. (2010). Lead, arsenic, fluoride, and iron contamination of drinking water in the tea garden belt of Darrang district, Assam, India. *Environ Monit Assess*, 169(1-4), 347–352.
- 69. Biswas, J. K., Rai, M., Mondal, M., & Ingle, A. P. (2018). The flop side of using heavy metal (oids) s in the traditional medicine: Toxic insults and injury to human health. In *Biomedical applications of metals* (pp. 257–276). Cham: Springer.
- Martin, S., & Griswold, W. (2009). Human health effects of heavy metals. *Environmental Science and Technology Briefs for Citizens*, 15, 1–6.

- Henson, M. C., & Chedrese, P. J. (2004). Endocrine disruption by cadmium, a common environmental toxicant with paradoxical effects on reproduction. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 229(5), 383–392.
- Koutras, G. A., Schneider, A. S., Hattori, M., & Valentine, W. N. (1965). Studies on chromated erythrocytes. Mechanisms of chromate inhibition of glutathione reductase. *British Journal of Haematology*, 11(3), 360–369.
- Heikkinen, P., Korkka-Niemi, K., Lahti, M., & Salonen, V. P. (2002). Groundwater and surface water contamination in the area of the Hitura nickel mine, Western Finland. *Environ Geol*, 42(4), 313–329.
- 74. Chen, C. W., Chen, C. F., & Dong, C. D. (2012). Distribution and accumulation of mercury in sediments of Kaohsiung River Mouth, Taiwan. *APCBEE Procedia*, *1*, 153–158.
- 75. Ghangrekar, M. M., & Chatterjee, P. (2018). Water pollutants classification and its effects on environment. In *Carbon nanotubes for clean water* (pp. 11–26). Cham: Springer.
- Patrick, L. (2002). Mercury toxicity and antioxidants: Part I: Role of glutathione and alpha-lipoic acid in the treatment of mercury toxicity (Mercury toxicity). *Alternative Medicine Review*, 7(6), 456–472.
- 77. Hu, Q., & Hou, H. (2015). Tobacco smoke exposure biomarkers. CRC Press.
- Yang, D. J., Zheng, Z. F., Zhu, H. Y., Liu, H. W., & Gao, X. P. (2008). Titanate nanofibers as intelligent absorbents for the removal of radioactive ions from water. *Advanced Materials*, 20(14), 2777–2781.
- Guan, Y. F., Wang, J. Z., Ni, H. G., & Zeng, E. Y. (2009). Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in riverine runoff of the Pearl River Delta, China: Assessment of mass loading, input source and environmental fate. *Environmental Pollution*, 157(2), 618– 624.
- Bao, L. J., Maruya, K. A., Snyder, S. A., & Zeng, E. Y. (2012). China's water pollution by persistent organic pollutants. *Environmental Pollution*, 163, 100–108.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Egli, T., Hofstetter, T. B., Von Gunten, U., & Wehrli, B. (2010). Global water pollution and human health. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 35, 109–136.
- 82. Jung, C., Son, A., Her, N., Zoh, K., Cho, J., & Yoon, Y. (2015). Removal of endocrine disrupting compounds, pharmaceuticals, and personal care products in water using carbon nanotubes: A review. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, 27, 1–11.
- Zia, M. S., Jamil, M., Qasim, M., Rahman, A., & Usman, K. (2008). Natural Resources Pollution and Degradation Due to Pesticide Use in Pakistan 12th International Conference on Integrated Diffuse Pollution Management (IWA DIPCON 2008). Khon Kaen University, Thailand, pp. 226–227.
- 84. Pimentel, D. (1995). Amounts of pesticides reaching target pests: Environmental impacts and ethics. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 8(1), 17–29.
- Khan, D. A., Shabbir, S., Majid, M., Naqvi, T. A., & Khan, F. A. (2010). Risk assessment of pesticide exposure on health of Pakistani tobacco farmers. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 20(2), 196.
- Oplatowska, M., Donnelly, R. F., Majithiya, R. J., Kennedy, D. G., & Elliot, C. T. (2011). The potential for human exposure, direct and indirect, to the suspected carcinogenic triphenylmethane dye brilliant green from green paper towels. *Food and Chemical Toxicology, 49*, 1870–1876.
- Inyinbor Adejumoke, A., Adebesin Babatunde, O., Abimbola, O., & Adelani-Akande Tabitha, A. (2018). Water pollution: Effects, prevention, and climatic impact. *Water Challenges of an Urbanizing World*, 33.
- Kora, A. J., Rastogi, L., Kumar, S. J., & Jagatap, B. N. (2017). Physico-chemical and bacteriological screening of Hussain Sagar lake: An urban wetland. *Water Science*, 31, 24– 33.
- Arthur, C., Baker, J. & Bamford, H. (2008). International research workshop on the occurrence, effects, and fate of microplastic marine debris. In Conference Proceedings. Sept (pp. 9-11).

- Fendall, L. S., & Sewell, M. A. (2009). Contributing to marine pollution by washing your face: Microplastics in facial cleansers. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 58(8), 1225–1228.
- Wright, S. L., Thompson, R. C. & Galloway, T. S. (2013). The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: a review. *Environmental pollution*, 178, 483–492.
- 92. Bonanno, G. & Orlando-Bonaca, M. (2018). Ten inconvenient questions about plastics in the sea. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 85, 146–154.
- Blumer, M. (1969). Oil pollution of the ocean. In *Oil on the sea* (pp. 5–13). Boston, MA: Springer.
- Nelson-Smith, A. (1971). The problem of oil pollution of the sea. In Advances in marine biology (Vol. 8, pp. 215–306). Academic Press.
- 95. Waters, T. F. (1995). Sediment in streams: Sources, biological effects, and control. American Fisheries Society.
- 96. Bilotta, G. S., & Brazier, R. E. (2008). Understanding the influence of suspended solids on water quality and aquatic biota. *Water Research*, 42(12), 2849–2861.
- 97. Clark, J. R. (1969). Thermal pollution and aquatic life. Scientific American, 220(3), 18-27.
- Davidson, B., & Bradshaw, R. W. (1967). Thermal pollution of water systems. Environmental Science and Technology, 1(8), 618–630.
- Bo, A., Sarina, S., Liu, H., Zheng, Z., Xiao, Q., Gu, Y. ... Zhu, H. (2016). Efficient removal of cationic and anionic radioactive pollutants from water using hydrotalcite-based getters. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 8(25), 16503–16510.
- 100. Verma, S. K. (2019). Sources of nuclear pollutants and their controls. In *Pollutants from energy sources* (pp. 139–147). Singapore: Springer.
- 101. Samanta, P., Chandra, P., Dutta, S., Desai, A. V., & Ghosh, S. K. (2018). Chemically stable ionic viologen-organic network: An efficient scavenger of toxic oxo-anions from water. *Chemical Science*, 9(40), 7874–7881.
- 102. Salbu, B., & Krekling, T. (1998). Characterisation of radioactive particles in the environment. *Analyst*, 123(5), 843–850.
- 103. National Research Council, & Safe Drinking Water Committee. (1977). Radioactivity in drinking water. In *Drinking water and health* (Vol. 1). US: National Academies Press.

Analytical Methods of Water Pollutants Detection



Gyanendra Tripathi, Vipul Kumar Yadav, Jyoti Singh and Vishal Mishra

Abstract Due to the urbanization and industrialization, new pollutants have been reported in the water bodies and explored for understanding the status of this contamination. Surveying and managing these related natural hazards are getting overall consideration. In some cases, the concentration of these pollutants is higher as well as lower (in the range from ng/L to μ g/L). Therefore, it requires highly sensitive and particular multicomponent-concurrent-investigation, which is imperative for distinguishing and evaluating these pollutants. The most imperative, but as often as possible ignored, advancement in water contamination control programs is the ideal structure of the water quality estimation programs. The plan of water quality surveillance and checking programs is to pursue a stepwise methodology, given a rationale conspire. This incorporates (a) meaning of short and long-haul targets, (b) determination of parameters of an investigation, and destinations and recurrence of estimation, and (c) choice of strategies for examination and information handling requirement. By following this protocol and making a preliminary model, will help in the better investigation that will accomplish the objectives. The cost-viability investigation may additionally tune the estimation program and related model. Ultimately, the result of this strategy will be optimized that results in good plans with the defined objectives. Discoveries of past research and contextual analysis investigations deal with a logical approach that joins solid phase extraction (SPE) and fluid chromatography-pair mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS); this is an adaptable and dependable technique for recognizing and measuring contaminations in stream water and wastewater tests. Thus, this chapter focuses on analytical methods such as Mass Spectrometry, Solid Phase Extraction, Chromatography (HPLC/GC), and spectrophotometry.

Keywords Water pollutants • Solid phase extraction • Spectrophotometry • Chromatography

G. Tripathi

Department of Bioengineering, Integral University, Lucknow, Dasauli, India

63

V. K. Yadav · J. Singh · V. Mishra (⊠) School of Biochemical Engineering, IIT (BHU), Varanasi, India e-mail: vishal.bce@itbhu.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_5

1 Introduction

The world is confronting imposing difficulties in satisfying rising needs for clean water as the accessible supplies of freshwater are under serious worry because of broadened dry spells, general public development, progressively stringent wellbeing based guidelines, and contending requests from an assortment of users [1]. Access to adequate, sheltered and reasonable freshwater is imperative for human improvement and has been proclaimed by the United Nations (UN) as an essential human right. Currently, more than 1.2 billion people need access to acceptable clean water supply, and over 2.4 billion people do not have adequate sanitation [2, 3]. The World Water Vision reported an emerging water crisis in 2000 [4]. As a result of the risky supply of water, more than 2.4 million people (mostly children) bit the dust from water-related diseases each year [2]. The fact that more than one nation shares many water resources further exacerbates the situation, and many people fear that future 21st-century wars will be fought over water, not oil [4].

The fast-monetary development has additionally displayed extraordinary difficulties to water asset administrators, inferable from developing an interest for water and the shortage of accessible assets, combined with serious water contamination and other water-related natural concerns. Water contamination is extremely influencing individuals' wellbeing and personal satisfaction. It has also turned into a noteworthy currency improvement limit, with a forecast loss of financial movement in the US\$14–27 billion request per year [5]. Water contamination makes a circumstance where both agrarian and recreational clients of water can be presented to huge well being dangers because of natural and inorganic mixes. Given the importance of consumable water in both created and creating nations and the concern about the adequacy of flow tests in meeting the expanding needs of all water clients, there is an unmistakable requirement for the advancement of imaginative new advances and materials whereby challenges related to safe drinking water management can be addressed [3].

2 Problem Statement

Industrial procedures have been known to create vast amounts of effluents that contain huge amounts of overwhelming harmful metals and natural pollutants. The existence of these organic (for example POPs, relentless organic poisons) and inorganic (for example cadmium, lead, chromium, mercury, arsenic, nitrates, and perchlorates) contaminants in water sources has tremendous public health, environmental and financial impacts [3]. These water contaminants have been related to high expenses as far as observing and expulsion from drinking water. They have additionally influenced antagonistically groundwater, business angling, recreational and social exercises related to streams, lakes and marine waters [6]. Therefore, the analysis and remediating of these poisons in our rare water assets are fundamental.
Minimal effort, quick, easy to utilize and convenient techniques which can discover pertinence in both provincial and urban settings will lighten the weight brought about by these poisons. The customary momentum strategies used to screen natural and inorganic water contaminations are, for the most part, chromatography and spectrometry.

3 Water Scarcity and Quality

As indicated by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the earth contains an expected 1351 million cubic km of water. Just 0.003% of this is delegated new water assets appropriate for drinking, cleanliness, farming, and industry. Anyway, crisp water is, in some cases remote from human advancement or too hard to even think about capturing for use [7]. FAO likewise detailed that the total populace is developing at a rate of about 1.2% per annum and is relied upon to increment by two billion by 2030. This suggests giving sufficient water to everybody will be a noteworthy test as different factors; for example, environmental change will no doubt irritate the circumstance.

The World Health Organization (WHO) additionally detailed that freshwater is a restricted asset, and its quality is under steady weight, consequently saving its quality is vital for drinking, nourishment creation, and recreational purposes. The proximity of irresistible operators, poisonous synthetic compounds and radiological hazards can undermine water quality, making it dangerous for residential use and general condition. There are currently countless people without access to safe water, even though the UN has declared this a fundamental right. To bear the cost of everybody this right, the world has promised to lessen the extent of individuals without reasonable access to safe drinking water and essential sanitation significantly as one of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) [8]. This is because the absence of water to address day by day issues is a reality today for one out of three individuals around the globe. All around, the issue is deteriorating as urban areas, and populaces develop, and the requirements for water increment in agribusiness, industry, and households [9]. It has been accounted for that the interest for water has been developing at more than double the rate of populace development in the only remaining century consequently an expanding number of districts are constantly shy of water [10].

4 Water Pollution

In early human progress, water was perceived as an image for the beginning of life and its restorative esteem, yet it was not assigned as a bearer of diseases. The disclosure made by Anton van Leeuwenhoek while utilizing a magnifying instrument began to change the impression of immaculateness which engaged researchers to see past the suspended particles from the modest material particles to the miniaturized scale organisms [11]. This changed the comprehension of unadulterated drinking water. As of now, it is apparent that the accessibility of water through surface and groundwater assets is turning into a major test because of contamination by harmful synthetics because of industrialization and urbanization. This further restricts the measure of accessible consumable water.

Various reports are accessible on the antagonistic impact on human wellbeing because of poor water quality now and then with genuine outcomes, including death [12]. Examples incorporate the flare-ups of loose bowels and cholera because of microbial sullying, and these could be diminished by access to safe drinking water. This is because water is one of the key media by which toxins transmit consequently it is of extraordinary significance to screen its quality to get profitable data on the poisons' transmission chain which can be utilized to demolish or remediate water bodies by proficient water contamination control [6]. Synthetic concoctions of various sorts have turned into a worldwide issue influencing human and ecological wellbeing over the limits of nations, districts, and economies. Once discharged into the earth, they may experience short or long-range transport because of characteristic natural procedures. They possibly changed into different synthetic substances and may cause neighbourhood, territorial as well as worldwide defilement, uncovering people and natural life and sometimes, causing poisonous effects [13]. Pollution brought about by these engineered synthetics is one of the major ecological issues since some of them have interminable lethality and they bother endocrine frameworks of living beings, produce cancer-causing impacts, and may influence the generation of organisms [6]. This is one reason why these toxins must be observed and managed productively.

Safe drinking water rules are presently set up worldwide to screen the nature of water. Water that agrees to the drinking water gauges is viewed as sheltered and does not represent a huge wellbeing hazard over a lifetime of utilization [14, 15] while levels higher than the suggested models can have genuine ecological and wellbeing impacts. It is along these lines essential to keep poison levels as low as conceivable to meet the MDGs set by the United Nations [11].

The World Health Organization (WHO) norms portray sensible least necessities of safe practice to secure the strength of consumers [14]. According to WHO, it is desirable over consider the rules with regards to nearby or national natural, social, efficient and social conditions [14]. The fundamental explanation behind not advancing the selection of universal measures for drinking water quality is the preferred standpoint given by the utilization of a risk—advantage approach (subjective or quantitative) in the foundation of national gauges and guidelines. Along these lines, the nature and type of drinking-water benchmarks may shift among nations and locales. In South Africa (SA), the nature of the local supply that is viewed as safe for human utilization is guaranteed by checking for consistency with the South African National Standard (SANS 241) [12]. In request to meet these rules, solid, quick and shoddy innovations ought to be grown subsequently the improvement of new and touchy multifunctional sensors in this work.



Fig. 1 Outline of a stepwise technique for the ideal plan of estimation frameworks [43]

5 Design of Measurement System

A stepwise technique for the ideal plan of estimation frameworks is given in the stream outline appeared in Fig. 1.

6 Analytical Methods Used for the Detection of Pollutants in Wastewater

In most of the time, the methods utilized for the identification of organic compounds are unique about those utilized for heavy metal contaminants. As already chromatographic techniques are typically utilized for the examination of organic compounds while atomic spectroscopic strategies are utilized for heavy metal investigation. To be noted, electrochemical methods can be utilized for the two kinds of pollutants.

6.1 Electrochemical

Ordinary strategies like, chromatography requires specialized pre-treatment, which may conceivably mean tedious procedures. In this unique situation, electrochemical biosensors have turned out to be valuable apparatuses to recognize little sample volumes, fewer convergences of biological components, and some of the reduced analytical gadgets [16, 17]. Continuous progress has been made in the manufacture and use of electrochemical biosensors for agri-food, biomedical and ecological tests [18]. Electrochemical-based procedures for detecting poisons can be sorted as conductometric, coulometric or amperometric, voltammetric (fusing pre-concentration and stripping steps), and potentiometric.

The capacity to structure exceptionally explicit acknowledgement makes biosensors an appropriate option in contrast to conventional chromatography-based techniques [19]. Electrochemical biosensors have several advantages among



Fig. 2 An electrochemical biosensor plan. Components of organic detection are connected to terminals. These transduce the flag into a reporting yield [19]

existing biosensors, such as real-time monitoring, miniaturization and sensitivity and selectivity improvement. Moreover, electrochemical responses convey electrical signals, so the use of complicated signalling components is not important. This encourages the improvement of compact clinical testing frameworks and monitoring of the local environment [16]. Biosensors that utilize electrodes permit the change of organic signs into a decipherable yield flag. The affectability and selectivity of these signs can be accomplished using adjustment with explicit natural components, for example, DNA, cells or enzymes (Fig. 2). Figure 3 represents four distinct classes of biosensors and sub-classes, depending on the transducer type. Because of the idea of organic alteration, electrochemical biosensors can be called either biocatalytic or partiality sensors. With organic components that are



Fig. 3 Four distinct classes and sub-classes of biosensors based on the transducer

ready to perceive an objective and activate an electroactive molecule reaction (e.g. compounds), electrochemical biocatalytic sensors are changed. Then, electrochemical tendency sensors have a component of coupling recognition that releases a flag when coupling it to the target (e.g., antibodies) [20]. The use of biosensors to detect harmful overwhelming components in the environment, together with Pb, Cd, Hg, and Cu, is widely available [21].

Electrochemistry is a part of science worried about the interrelation of electrical and substance impacts which incorporate the estimation of electrical amounts, for example, flow, potential, or charge and their relationship to concoction parameters [22]. A vast piece of this field manages the investigation of compound changes brought about by the entry of an electric flow and the generation of electrical vitality by synthetic reactions [23]. A wide scope of utilization has been found for scientific purposes utilizing these electrical estimations. Rather than numerous synthetic estimations that include homogenous mass arrangements, anode forms happen at the cathode arrangement interface [22]. These procedures are observed utilizing distinctive electro analytical methods. The distinctions between the different electrochemical strategies lie in the kind of logical flag utilized. There are two major types of electrochemical sensors, potentiometric and voltammetric methods:

- (a) Potentiometric strategies—Involves the estimation of the potential (E) of a cell at zero current. For this situation, the potential is corresponding to the logarithm of the concentration of the substance being determined [24].
- (b) Voltammetric or amperometric strategies-The terms voltammetric and amperometric scope of procedures including the use of a directly shifting potential between a working terminal and a reference anode in an electrochemical cell with a high concentration of an aloof electrolyte to make the arrangement conductive (i.e. electrolyte supporting) and an electroactive species. The current is continually checked through the cell. A hint of current is recorded against potential and is known as a voltammogram. The current through the cell is checked consistently. A hint of current against potential is recorded and is known as a voltammogram [24, 25]. Voltammetric systems subsequently manage the investigation of charge exchange at the anode arrangement interface. This procedure can be seen as connected electron weight, which powers the analytes to pick up or lose an electron which gets diminished or oxidized, respectively. The resultant current is an impression of the rate at which electrons move over the electron-arrangement interface [22]; consequently, these strategies can be connected for any species that can be decreased or oxidized.

6.1.1 Voltammetric Techniques

Irrefutably the potential at a cathode can't be known. Thus the potential difference between two terminals is estimated. The electrode of steady potential is named the reference electrode (RE) while another electrode of interest where the focused on

Fig. 4 Three electrode cell



electrochemical changes happen is known as the working terminal (WE) [22, 26]. A third terminal is normally expected to encourage current entry at the WE, and it is known as the counter anode (CE). Electrochemical examination in this manner ordinarily utilizes a three-cathode cell, which has a working, counter and reference terminals as appeared in Fig. 4. The potential is linked to the active cathode, which changes its potential in terms of the reference terminal's fixed capacity. It is estimated the subsequent current between the working and counter anodes. The counter anode is usually a platinum wire, while the Saturated Calomel Electrode (SCE) and Ag/AgCl electrode are reference cathode examples [23, 25]. There is a wide scope of the accessible working terminal, for example, Hg, Pt, Au and C terminals.

In an electrochemical cell, the recorded current will be involved two parts; faradaic and non-faradaic current. The faradaic current result from the adjustment in the oxidation condition of the analyte and it is that segment of the overall charge that pursues Faraday's laws. This infers it is connected to the entirety of the electron-exchange responses affected consequently relative to the convergence of the analyte. This can be accomplished by checking the charge exchange during the redox procedure portrayed in Eq. 1 as;

$$O + ne^- \leftrightarrow R$$
 (1)

where O and R are the oxidized and reduced types of the redox couple. In any case, the measured current is normally more than the theoretical current. The additional current does not pursue Faraday's laws, and subsequently, it is said to be non-faradaic [24, 26]. Therefore, the general current watched is given in Eq. 2 as:

$$I_{Faradaic} + I_{non-faradaic} = I_{overall} \tag{2}$$

The non-faradaic current ought to be limited via the cautious decision of exploratory structure, reagents, and device as this can influence the sensitivity of these techniques. Luckily, some voltammetric apparatuses are designed to limit this non-faradaic current. The advantage of voltammetric procedures in this manner incorporate high selectivity, sensitivity towards electroactive species, a wide direct range, compact and low-cost instrumentation, speciation capabilities, and a wide scope of electrodes that permit examines in uncommon environments [22].

6.2 Chromatography

Chromatography is a method that can be used to separate the mixture and acquire both qualitative and quantitative data. Chromatographic divisions are practised through a consistent free phase, called a mobile phase, through a second sample-free phase, which remains fixed, called the stationary phase [25, 27]. It divides its segments between stationary and mobile phases as the sample moves through the mobile phase. Components whose distribution ratio supports the stationary phase will take longer to complete the framework, while those supporting the mobile phase, it is possible to isolate solutes with similar distribution ratio. Chromatography includes, for example, several analytical chemistry systems, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC).

6.2.1 Gas Chromatography (GC)

In GC, the sample, which could be a gas or fluid, is infused into a flood of a versatile idle vaporous stage (often called carrier gas, for example, helium, argon or nitrogen). The sample is delivered via a pressed or capillary column where the sample component is separated depending on its ability to disperse between the stationary and mobile phases. Column temperature control is essential to obtain a decent gas chromatography partition. The column is, therefore, located in a thermostatic oven [25, 28]. The section is kept at a constant temperature in an isothermal partition, whose decision is managed by the solutes. A detector such as a thermal conductivity detector (TCD), a flame ionization detector (FID), an electron capture detector (ECD) and a mass spectrometer (MS) generally combine the GC. It is widely used in clinical, environmental, pharmaceutical, forensic, biochemical, food science, and petrochemical research laboratories to analyze a diverse range of samples. GC is used for the analysis of various organic toxins in the air, water and wastewater applications [25]. Proper example pre-treatment and very much prepared staffs are basic for these techniques.



Fig. 5 Schematic diagram of HPLC [25]

6.2.2 High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

A sample (liquid or solid sample dissolved in a suitable solvent) is helped in HPLC through a mobile fluid phase through a chromatographic segment. Separation is controlled by interactions between the solution and the stationary phase. The detachment uses a single mobile phase of fixed composition in isocratic elution. Usually, it is not easy to locate a single mobile phase composition suitable for all solutes. Therefore, using a gradient phase is the only choice. The mobile phase's underlying composition is moderately polar to separate the reverse phase. The composition of the mobile phase is made less polar as the separation advances these separations. As with GC, different detectors have been produced for the monitoring of HPLC separation and incorporate spectroscopic detectors (e.g. UV/Vis absorption and fluorescence), electrochemical finders and ongoing advances in mass spectrometry have led to a growing enthusiasm for liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS).

HPLC (Fig. 5) is used regularly for both quantitative and qualitative pharmaceutical, environmental, criminal, clinical and industrial examinations. Usually, these chromatographic techniques are used for organic compound analysis. Chromatographic techniques are very efficient and give great sensitivity, especially when combined with MS, but require expensive, complicated equipment requiring qualified operators [25].

6.3 Atomic Spectroscopy

Atomic spectroscopy incorporates every single analytical technique that utilizes the emission and absorption of electromagnetic radiation by individual atoms. It is a great technique for the analysis for the trace levels of many elements in the periodic table [25, 29]. The particular wavelength of the radiation (emitted or absorbed) recognizes the element while the intensity of transmitted (or absorbed) radiation is proportional to the measure of the element present [30] (Fig. 6). Examples of these methods include inductively coupled plasma and atomic absorption spectroscopy.



Fig. 6 Types of atomic spectroscopy [25, 29, 30]

6.3.1 Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS)

Atomic absorption spectroscopy estimates the discrete radiation absorbed by the absorption of a photon of energy by exciting the atoms of the ground state to higher energy levels. The radiant power of the absorbed radiation is identified using the Beer-Lambert equation with the absorption coefficient of the ground-state atoms. In a variety of test matrices, trace metals are widely examined by atomic absorption using either flame or electro-thermal atomization. The choice of strategy for atomization is mainly determined by the concentration of the analyte in the examples being analyzed. Because of how electro-thermal atomization has more sensitivity; for most components, identification limits are completely lower than when using flame atomization. A superior accuracy while using flame atomization makes it the choice technique when the concentration of the analyte is significantly higher than the flame atomization detection limit. But flaming atomization is less likely to interfere, takes into account a more prominent sample throughput and requires less operator mastery.

Atomic absorption gives great selectivity and can be used to analyze more than 60 elements at or below parts per million concentrations. The analysis time when using flame atomization is fast, using a fully automated system with a test throughput of 250–350 determinations per hour. However, analysis using this technique requires a wide sample preparation, which is not the case with electrochemical instruments [25].

6.3.2 Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP)

ICP is an atomic emission spectroscopic technique which utilizes plasma for the atomization process. Plasma contains an amazing portion of electrons and positive ions which cancel out as well as neutralize molecules. The plasmas comprise of very energizing and ionized gases which are produced in inert gases like argon. They are helpful for dissociation of atoms as well as for the excitation and ionization to give atomic and ionic emissions. Comparing ICP with AAS, ICP gives lower detection limits but needs a highly skilled operator. The major drawback of all atomic spectroscopic methods is that they provide no data on the oxidation condition of the element or its speciation. Like AAS, this technique additionally requires a highly skilled operator and broad example preparation [31].

6.4 Fluorescence-Based Detection of Water Pollutants

Monitoring of water pollution is essential to avoid the health problem, the various method used for the monitoring of pollution level in the water, for the regular control of pollution level in water it requires a more rapid and fast technique to analysing the water quality.

This method is useful for detection of various pollutants like organic matter, trace organics and other pollutants which are found in marine, surface and ground water.

Currently, the various method has been used for the detection of water pollutants, which is centred on traditional detection of water quality like ANNs (artificial neural networks) and RVMs (relevance vector machines) [32]. However, this process of water quality parameters has several limitation like it take a long time for analysis, require various chemical reagent for analysis, not sensitive or less sensitive and generate various waste [33].

In comparison with the traditional method of water quality detection, the analysis based on spectra, detect the pollutants without separation or extraction, and this is very simple and rapid, and it does not require any reagent for the detection of contaminant [34]. Various researchers analyse the water contaminant or water quality using UV-visible spectrophotometry technique [35, 36]. While based on this method, the detection limit of some organic matter is not enough to achieve the standard.

For the many years, fluorescence-based method has been used for the monitoring of water quality, and also it is main technique for consistently measuring of organic matter which is dissolved in water, pigment like chlorophyll and algae [37]. It detects the organic matter at a lower limit than the UV-Visible spectrum, and also it provides more information. This method requires less sample, and detect the sample without processing; hence, it does not damage the structure of sample; it has high selectivity good reproducibility and high sensitivity [38].

The method of detection of water pollutants is based on the absorbance of contaminants under UV-vision.

Mechanism of Fluorescence-Based Detection of Water Pollutants

This method detects the water pollutants by detecting the light which is emitted by the contaminants after absorbance at a different wavelength (lower wavelength), which are more significant than the primary wavelength, the flow diagram of the overall mechanism of detection of water pollutants are given in Fig. 7.

This process detects an only specific number of molecules; this is a very selective method for detection of water pollutants.

6.5 Colorimetric Detection of Water Pollutants

Various technique is available for the detection of chemical contaminant in the water these technique include the inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry, atomic absorption, X-ray fluorescence spectrometry and electrochemical analysis [39–42]. This technique gives accurate result for the presence of metal ions or other chemical contaminants in water, but this technique is very costly and available in only sophisticated lab hence it is challenging to handle this outside the lab or on the site of determination of water contaminant, and it requires a highly skilled person to handle this instrument and also it consumes more time.



Fig. 7 Overall mechanism of fluorescence-based detection of water contaminants [38]

No of chemical contaminant present in water are generally colourless and cannot be detected by the human eye. To detect this various technique are used, one of this technique is the colorimetric technique, this technique measures the chemical contaminant which reacts with a compound which gives a specific colour, intensity of colour depending on the concentration of contaminant chemical, if intensity of colour is high then it indicates more elevated level of chemical it means intensity of colour is directly proportional to the intensity of chemical contaminant. By using this technique, we mainly measure the concentration of phenols, phosphorus, ammonia, chlorine, calcium magnesium, fluorine and heavy metals like arsenic, mercury, zinc, nickel, cadmium etc. And another chemical compound we analyse the concentration of calcium and magnesium to determine the hardness of the water.

7 Conclusion

From the information discussed above, it is clear that the future of analytical methods or biosensors will depend on the achievement of rising advanced technologies, both on a micro and nano scale, as well as material science, the biochemistry of electronics and physics. Environmental pollution is a genuine health concern throughout the world in various media. It is therefore important to plan and develop an analytical technique based on biosensors that can detect various pollutants from a wider range. Biosensors for natural pollutant detection, however, have some limitations that include (a) reaction time, (b) selectivity, (c) sensitivity, (d) affinity, (e) compatibility, (f) shelf life, and (g) stability, etc. These limitations should be removed as a competitive analytical device for more effective on-site implementation. It is important to know, apart from the above, whether the pollutant is gas (e.g., H_2S , O_2 , CO, SO_x) or whether it is limited to a phase of the solution. It is important to note that this type of technique allows researchers to try different experiments with the varieties of sensor responses with different structural arrays when designing such structures. Consistently expanding public health concerns about the impact of pollution on the biological system will increase the demand for rapid detection of biosensors in the coming years. Despite past and current research in the advancement of biosensors, there is still a challenge to make biosensors better and more sensitive to avoid instrumental drift. A thorough study of the related techniques and sectors is required in this context. This will eventually have an impact on improving new techniques for biosensors in the future. Nevertheless, in the future, there will be the advent or requirement of user-friendly and more sensitive biosensors.

References

- 1. Savage, N., & Diallo, M. (2005). Nanomaterials and water purification: Opportunities and challenges. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*, 7(4–5), 331–342.
- Al-Jayyousi, O. (2007). Water as a human right: Towards civil society globalization. Water Resources Development, 23(2), 329–339.
- Theron, J., Walker, J. A., & Cloete, T. (2008). Nanotechnology and water treatment: Applications and emerging opportunities. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 34(1), 43–69.
- 4. Mostert, E. (2009). International co-operation on Rhine water quality 1945–2008: An example to follow? *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, *34*(3), 142–149.
- Liu, B., & Speed, R. (2009). Water resources management in the People's Republic of China. Water Resources Development, 25(2), 193–208.
- 6. Trollip, W. J. A. D. (2009). National standards for drinking water treatment: Report to the water research commission. WRC Report No 1600/1/09.
- 7. Winpenny, J., Heinz, I., Koo-Oshima, S., Salgot, M., Collado, J., Hernande, F., et al. (2010). The wealth of waste: The economics of wastewater use in agriculture. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations.
- 8. (2011). Water resource quality. http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/resources/ resquality/en/index.html.
- (2010). 10 facts about water scarcity. http://www.capewatersolutions.co.za/2010/10/18/10facts-about-water-scarcity/.
- 10. (2014). *Water scarcity*. UN, International Decade for Action Water for Life 2005–2015 Water Scarcity. https://www.un.org/waterforlifedecade/scarcity.shtml.
- 11. Thalappil, P. (2009). Anshup: Noble metal nanoparticles for water purification: A critical review. *Thin Solid Films*, *517*(24), 6441–6478.
- Kong, X.-J., Li, D., Cao, L.-Q., Zhang, X.-M., Zhao, Y., Lv, Y., et al. (2008). Evaluation of municipal sewage treatment systems for pollutant removal efficiency by measuring levels of micropollutants. *Chemosphere*, 72(1), 59–66.
- 13. Hodgson, K., & Manus, L. (2006). A drinking water quality framework for South Africa. In *The 2006 Water Institute of South Africa (WISA) Biennial Conference*. Durban, South Africa.
- Sobsey, M. D., & Bartram, S. (2003). Water quality and health in the new millennium: The role of the World Health Organization Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality. *Forum Nutr*, 56, 396–405.
- 15. Tynan, E. (2005). Toxic chemicals—A growing global threat. *Environmental Matters* 2005-The World Bank Group.
- Arduini, F., Cinti, S., Scognamiglio, V., Moscone, D., & Palleschi, G. (2017). How cutting-edge technologies impact the design of electrochemical (bio) sensors for environmental analysis. A review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 959, 15–42.
- 17. El Harrad, L., Bourais, I., Mohammadi, H., & Amine, A. (2018). Recent advances in electrochemical biosensors based on enzyme inhibition for clinical and pharmaceutical applications. *Sensors, 18*(164), 1–25.
- Hughes, G., Westmacott, K., Honeychurch, K., Crew, A., Pemberton, R., & Hart, J. (2016). Recent advances in the fabrication and application of screen-printed electrochemical (bio) sensors based on carbon materials for biomedical, agri-food and environmental analyses. *Biosensors*, 6(4), 50.
- 19. Ronkainen, N. J., Halsall, H. B., & Heineman, W. R. (2010). Electrochemical biosensors. *Chemical Society Reviews*, *39*, 1747–1763.
- Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., Alda, M. J., Marco, M. P., & Barcelo, D. (2005). Biosensors for environmental monitoring a global perspective. *Talanta*, 65, 291–297.
- Rasheed, T., Bilal, M., Nabeel, F., Iqbal, H. M. N., Li, C., & Zhou, Y. (2018). Fluorescent sensor based models for the detection of environmentally-related toxic heavy metals. *Science* of the Total Environment, 615, 476–485.
- 22. Wang, J. (2001). Analytical electrochemistry. New York: Wiley.

- Allen, J., & Bard, L. R. F. (2000). Electrochemical methods: Fundamentals and applications. Wiley, p. 864, ISBN: 978-0-471-04372-0.
- 24. Eggins, B. R. (2002). Chemical sensors and biosensors. Chichester, United Kingdom: Wiley.
- 25. Harvey, D. (2000). Modern analytical chemistry. New York: McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- 26. Langhus, D. L. (2002). In P. M. S. Monk (Eds.), Fundamentals of electroanalytical chemistry. Journal of Chemical Education, 79, 1207.
- Beilby, A. L. (1977). In R. L. Pecsok, L. D. Shields, T. Cairns, I. G. McWilliam (Eds.), Modern methods of chemical analysis (2nd ed.). Journal of Chemical Education, 54, A463.
- Moini, M. (1998). GC/MS: A practical user's guide by Christopher McMaster and Marvin McMaster (University of Missouri, St. Louis). Wiley: New York. 1998, ISBN 0-471-24826-6. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 121, 4931.
- 29. De Levie, R. (1997). Principles of quantitative chemical analysis. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- 30. Patnaik, P. (2004). *Dean's analytical chemistry handbook* (Vol. 1143). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- 31. Khopkar, S. M. (2009). *Basic concepts of analytical chemistry*. New Delhi: New Age International (P) Limited Publishers.
- 32. Conde, E. F. (2011). *Environmental sensor anomaly detection using learning machines*, Master of science. Logan, Utah: Utah State University.
- Dahlén, J., Karlsson, S., Bäckström, M., Hagberg, J., & Pettersson, H. (2000). Determination of nitrate and other water quality parameters in groundwater from UV/Vis spectra employing partial least squares regression. *Chemosphere*, 40(1), 71–77.
- 34. Bourgeois, W., Burgess, J. E., & Stuetz, R. (2001). On-line monitoring of wastewater quality: A review. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, *76*(4), 337–348.
- Hou, D., Liu, S., Zhang, J., Chen, F., Huang, P., & Zhang, G. (2014). Online monitoring of water-quality anomaly in water distribution systems based on probabilistic principal component analysis by UV-Vis absorption spectroscopy. *Journal of Spectroscopy*, 2014, 1–9.
- Hou, D., Zhang, J., Yang, Z., Liu, S., Huang, P., & Zhang, G. (2015). Distribution water quality anomaly detection from UV optical sensor monitoring data by integrating principal component analysis with chi-square distribution. *Optics Express*, 23, 17487–17510.
- 37. Foley, J., Batstone, D., & Keller, J. (2019). The R & D challenges of water recycling-technical and environmental horizons. In *Advanced wastewater management centre*.
- Yu, H. B., Wang, Y. Y., & Song, C. Y. (2011). Study of three-dimensional fluorescence spectra for measuring chlorobenzene in water. *Guang Pu Xue Yu Guang Pu Fen Xi*, 31(7), 1823–1827.
- Frankowski, M., Ziola-Frankowska, A., Kurzyca, I., Novotny, K., Vaculovic, T., Kanicky, V., et al. (2011). Determination of aluminium in groundwater samples by GF-AAS, ICP-AES, ICP-MS and modelling of inorganic aluminium complexes. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 182*, 71–84.
- Hołyńska, B., Ostachowicz, B., & Węgrzynek, D. (1996). Simple method of determination of copper, mercury and lead in potable water with preliminary pre-concentration by total reflection X-ray fluorescence spectrometry. *Spectrochimica Acta, Part B: Atomic Spectroscopy*, 51, 769–773.
- Liang, P., Liu, Y., Guo, L., Zeng, J., & Lu, H. (2004). Multiwalled carbon nanotubes as solid-phase extraction adsorbent for the preconcentration of trace metal ions and their determination by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry. *Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry*, 19, 1489–1492.
- Nie, Z., Nijhuis, C. A., Gong, J., Chen, X., Kumachev, A., Martinez, A. W., et al. (2010). Electrochemical sensing in paper-based microfluidic devices. *Lab on a Chip*, 10, 477–483.
- Mancy, K. H., Okun, D. A., & Reilley, C. N. (1962). A galvanic cell oxygen analyzer. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry, 4(2), 65–92.

Plasmonic Nanoparticles Decorated Graphene Sheets for Detection of Water Pollutants



Manash J. Deka, Punamshree Das, Purna K. Boruah, Priyakshree Barthakur, Abinash Gogoi and Manash R. Das

Abstract In the 21st century, human health, water safety, and environmental pollution are the main crucial issues all over the world. Many hazardous organic and inorganic pollutants present in the groundwater, surface water systems create havoc in the environment as well as drinking water. Waterborne diseases are dangerous for human health and other animals. Thus development of the simple and user friendly methods of for the easy detection of the water pollutants are necessary for healthy society. Graphene is one of the most promising and wonderful carbon hybrid materials as it possesses many outstanding properties like honeycomb structure, high surface area, unique physical, mechanical and chemical properties, etc. The nanoparticles such as Au, Ag, and Cu possess shape, and size-dependent surface plasmon resonance (SPR) absorption bands thus can be used to construct plasmonic-based sensors. Recently 2D graphene and its composites are widely used as a support to these metal nanoparticles to improve sensitivity and selectivity towards the analytes. These nanocomposites are widely used to detect hazardous environmental pollutants by different techniques like colorimetric, fluorometry, and electrochemical sensing. There are several reports on designing graphene quantum dots/metal nanoparticle based system for sensing application for water pollutants like organic pollutants, gold, silver, mercury, iron, etc. These techniques are very simple and do not require expensive facilities, highly skilled manpower, and easy to operate. This chapter is mostly focussed on the synthesis of monometallic and bimetallic plasmonic nanoparticles decorated graphene/graphene quantum dots system for the detection of water pollutants. The recent development of the detection of water pollutants by colorimetric, fluorometric, and electrochemical

M. J. Deka (⊠) · P. Das · P. K. Boruah · P. Barthakur · A. Gogoi · M. R. Das (⊠) Advanced Materials Group, Materials Sciences Division, CSIR-North East Institute of Science and Technology, Jorhat 785006, Assam, India e-mail: dekamanash5@gmail.com

M. R. Das e-mail: mnshrdas@yahoo.com; mrdas@neist.res.in

P. Das · P. K. Boruah · P. Barthakur · M. R. Das Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research, CSIR-NEIST, Jorhat 785006, Assam, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_6

detection techniques using plasmonic nanoparticles decorated 2D nanosheet are also briefly discussed in this chapter.

Keywords Graphene • Plasmonic nanoparticle • Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) • Water pollutants

1 Introduction

In the 21st century, many of the major problems like human health, environmental pollution, water safety are the principle concern issues all over the world. In this century, the problem that humanity is facing related to the quantity and quality of water. These problems are globally recognized, and there is an adverse effect on climate change, water cycle intensification, melting of glaciers, etc. [1–4]. Many hazardous pollutants (heavy metal ions, organic contaminants, dyes, pesticides, etc.) present in the groundwater, surface water create a severe threat in the environment as well as in drinking water. Concerning human health, more than one-third of the people in the world facing severe problem like improved sanitation, lack of clean drinking water [5–7]. Water is the most vital part of human beings, which includes every field of energy, health, economy, food, etc. Some statistical reports show near about 10–20 million people die every year due to nonfatal and waterborne illness, and 5000–6000 children die due to diarrhea every day. It is a matter of serious havoc that the current water supply will be reduced by one-third after a couple of decades [8–12].

Single layered graphene sheet was discovered by A. K. Geim and his co-workers from graphite using a "Scotch Tape" approach in 2004 [13, 14]. For the discovery of graphene, A. K. Geim and Konstantin Novoselov were awarded jointly Nobel Prize in Physics in 2010. There are mostly two forms of functionalized graphene, e.g. graphene oxide (GO) and reduced graphene oxide [15–17]. There are different routes of reduction of graphene oxide, the partial reduction (physical and chemical) of oxygenated functional groups of GO is termed as reduced graphene oxide (rGO) [18, 19]. Another form of fluorescent graphene is graphene quantum dots (GQDs) which is prepared by cutting the larger lateral dimension of graphene sheets, making it 0D as well as lateral size of few nanometers. These carbon hybrid materials (graphene, GO, rGO, GQDs) possess some outstanding properties like optical, water-solubility, photostability, biocompatibility, nontoxic inexpensive, photo-stable, and environmentally friendly and many more. Thus, these materials are widely used in various field like in fluorescent biosensors, chemical-sensors, in which they either serve as fluorophores or quenchers, electronic devices, molecular sensors, nanocomposites, supercapacitors, batteries, hydrogen storage device, etc. As fluorophores, they show tunable photoluminescence emission (fluorescence) and excitation-dependent emission property due to "Giant Red-Edge Effect" [20, 21].

There are different techniques reported to date for the synthesis of graphene, functionalized graphene, and GQDs. The reported methods are exfoliation and cleavage, thermal chemical vapor deposition techniques (TCVD), plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition techniques (PCVD), chemical methods, electrochemical process, etc. [22–25].

Graphene and functionalized graphene as a novel substrate for plasmonic nanoparticles decoration have been well studied and explored. Also, the 2D surface of these materials shows strong non-covalent affinity towards biomolecules, plasmonic nanoparticles (like Au, Ag, Cu, etc.) via π - π interaction, d_{electron}-p π interaction, electrostatic force or sometimes hydrogen bonding, which provide an excellent platform for conjugation [26]. Thus, the graphene/metal top surface (e.g., Au, Ag monometallic or bimetallic) of such structures easily can be modified for chemical and biological sensing applications. Graphene interacted with plasmonic nanoparticles through localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR) mechanism, offers a great platform for sensing applications like chemical-sensors, bio-sensors, etc. It is also used in transparent, physically flexible, and tunable (chemical) materials in electronics applications. The optical-electrical phenomenon arose when light interacts with a metal surface is called Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) [27]. These high charge density oscillations at metal-dielectric (or metal/vacuum) interface propagated in a parallel direction or the metal-dielectric interfaces. That's why SPR techniques are very sensitive to any change occurred in the boundary of the interfaces, for example, such as adsorption of nanoparticles to the 2D nanosheets.

The 2D graphene, GO, and 0D GQDs as a fluorescence, colorimetric, and electrochemical sensing platform have attracted the attention of the scientific community recently. These three detection techniques are mostly discussed in this chapter for the sensing of water pollutant. The fluorescent (optical) detection techniques have been recognized as promising and powerful tools for quantitative detection of anions and cations. Depending on the design of the nanomaterials optical method can be divided into three techniques, such as colorimetric, fluorometric, and chemiluminescent methods. The GO and GQDs are reported as fluorescent materials when their lateral size dimension becomes few nanometers. Thus, graphene-based materials decoration with plasmonic nanoparticles has been used in fluorescence sensing applications [28]. Again peroxidase mimic property (as artificial nanozyme) of plasmonic nanoparticles decorated graphene and their applicability in colorimetric sensing (naked eye detection) for water pollutant are well established. This interesting property of these nanomaterials can be analyzed by a redox reaction caused by reduction of H₂O₂ in the presence of oxidation of a variety of chromogenic substrates like pyrogallol, O-phenylenediamine (OPD), 3.3', 5.5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB), and 2,2'-azino-bis-(3-ethyl benzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS), to produce orange, blue and green colour suspension respectively. It is interesting to note that compared to other substrates, TMB is less carcinogenic as well as products have high absorption coefficient value. Thus, it is the most common chromogen used to study horseradish peroxidase (HRP) mimics, in acidic conditions for naked-eye detection of ions and biomolecules. Usually, graphene decorated with monometallic or bimetallic nanoparticles shows better peroxidase mimic activity compared to bare graphene sheets [29, 30]. Generally, electrochemical sensor based on particularly stripping voltammetry technique and regarded as a very useful tool for on-site monitoring and detection of heavy metal ions in the environment. The benefits of these types of sensors are that these are highly sensitive and selective towards electroactive species, low detection limit, inexpensive, portable, high accuracy and easily packable device, etc. [31–33]. Carbon-based electrodes such as glassy carbon, graphitic carbon, etc. have been already replaced over other metal electrodes substances in electrochemical and analytical fields. These materials show some outstanding properties over metal electrodes like chemical stability, low cost, electrocatalytic activity for a variety of redox reactions and possess wide potential applications.

This chapter discusses mostly plasmonic nanoparticles decorated graphene and functionalized graphene system for the sensing application of hazardous water pollutant like heavy metal ions, organic pollutants, etc. The recent progress based on fluorometric, colorimetric, and electrochemical detection techniques using decorated graphene surface for detection of water pollutants mostly heavy metal ions is also briefly discussed in this chapter.

2 Synthesis of Graphene Oxide

The oxygen-rich functionality of graphene, which is prepared by the oxidation of commercially or naturally available graphite powder, is termed as graphene oxide. In 1958, Hummers and Offeman developed a faster, safer, and the most efficient route for the synthesis of oxidized graphite. Before this method, some other methods like Brodie methods 1859, Staudenmaier method 1898 were developed. But graphite oxide production was very slow, and the final product contains hazardous ions due to the use of concentrated H_2SO_4 and HNO_3 . This method is regarded as a better method over other reported methods that time. In the Hummers and Offeman method, graphite oxidation is carried out with a mixture of H_2SO_4 , NaNO₃, and KMnO₄. Nowadays, a modified Hummers and Offeman method are generally used [34]. In this method, oxidation has been carried out in the absence of NaNO₃. The reaction between KMnO₄ and H_2SO_4 leads to dimanganese heptoxide (Mn₂O₇), which acts as a strong oxidizing agent for this reaction to generate graphite oxide (Eqs. 1 and 2). The extensive oxidation of graphite to graphene oxide is depicted in schematically in Fig. 1.

$$KMnO_4 + 3 H_2SO_4 \rightarrow K^+ + MnO_3^+ + H_3O^+ + 3 HSO_4^-$$
 (1)

$$MnO_3^+ + MnO_4 \rightarrow Mn_2O_7$$
 (2)

Characterization of Graphene Oxide

The GO dispersion was characterized by atomic force microscopy (AFM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), UV-visible spectroscopy, XPS and Raman $KMnO_4 + 3 H_2SO_4 \rightarrow K^+ + MnO_3^+ + H_3O^+ + 3 HSO_4^- (1)$

 $MnO_3^+ + MnO_4 \rightarrow Mn_2O_7 (2)$



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of the synthesis of graphene oxide from graphite

spectroscopy. Figure 2a, b show AFM and TEM images of the GO sheets. The thickness, correspond to AFM image (Fig. 2a), is found to be 1.2 nm, which indicates the formation of double-layered GO nanosheets (Fig. 2c). The UV-visible spectra of GO and rGO were shown in Fig. 2d. There are two prominent peaks observed at 230 nm and 300 nm, due to $n-\pi^*$ and $\pi-\pi^*$ transition of C=C and C=O, respectively [35].

Raman spectroscopy is regarded as one of the most useful tools for analysis of defect and disorder present in the crystal structure. Generally, this technique is used to characterize graphitic derivatives. The ratio of G band to the D band (I_D/I_G) calculates the disorder in the graphitic structure. Figure 3 represents the Raman spectra of GO and rGO sheets. The D band is observed at 1365, 1364 cm⁻¹ and corresponding G band are observed at 1597, 1607, for GO, and rGO, respectively. The origin of G band (sp² carbon) arises from C-C bond stretch, and first-order Raman scattering. The shifting of G band to a higher wave number is may be due to the oxygenated moieties presence in graphite after oxidation. The D band also broadened in case of GO due to defects, distortions, size reduction of the sp² domains after oxidation. The I_D/I_G shifted from 0.96 (GO) to 1.0 (rGO) confirms the attachment of oxygenated moieties to graphene sheets.

Figure 4a depicts the survey XPS of GO demonstrates the presence of C and O atoms in GO. The high-resolution C1 s XPS spectra (Fig. 4b), representing the peaks corresponding to four functional groups C–C/C=C, C–O, HO–C=O, C=O, suggests the successful oxidation to GO [37, 38]. The peaks at binding energy of 284.64 eV, 285.34 eV, 287.28 eV and 289.07 eV correspond to C=C, the C in C–OH, C(C=O) and (HO–C=O) (carboxyl-C) respectively. Again, O1s high-resolution XPS spectra are also recorded in Fig. 4c which composed of two



Fig. 2 a AFM image of GO, b TEM image of GO, c the height profile of GO, d UV-vis absorption spectra of GO and (1) and (2), (3), (4) UV-visible absorption spectra of GO after reduction (reproduced with permission from Ref. [35])



oxygenated constituents, one at 532.19 eV for C-OH and the other at 533.15 eV for (C–O–C).

X-ray diffraction (XRD) is a useful tool to characterize graphite and graphene oxide. This technique was carried out to determine d-spacing value as well as to confirm the GO synthesis. The XRD spectra of graphite and GO were depicted in Fig. 5. For graphite, there observed one sharp peak at 2θ values 26.4° for

and rGO (reproduced with

permission from Ref. [36])



Fig. 4 a XPS survey spectrum of GO and high resolution, b C1s spectra, and c O1s spectra (reproduced with permission from Ref. [37])





(002) plane with *d*-spacing value 3.45 Å. Interestingly after oxidation to GO, the XRD pattern depicts a characteristic peak at $2\theta = 9.9^{\circ}$ for the plane (100) having a *d*-spacing value of 8.9 Å, which confirms the successful functionalization of graphite to GO [39].

3 Fluorescence (Fluorometry) Detection of Water Pollutants

The term fluorescence means the emission of light by material, and it is denoted as a specific type of luminescence phenomenon. When electromagnetic radiation falls on molecules or substance, the electrons gain the energy and are excited to higher energy level and produce luminescence. This process of emission is termed as photoluminescence. Mostly there are two types of photoluminescence, fluorescence and phosphorescence. In the case of fluorescent, the release of electromagnetic energy is instantaneous or ceases on the withdrawing of the exciting radiation and emission occurs between states of same spin multiplicity. But for phosphorescence, the energy release or emission is continuous or delayed after the existing radiation has been removed. Among the two techniques, fluorescence is extremely effective as the detectors on the machine are highly sensitive. Other than these two techniques, other luminescence processes are chemiluminescence, bioluminescence, electrochemiluminescence, electroluminescence, lyoluminescence, etc.

The fluorescent optical detection methods have also been recognized as powerful and promising tools over other techniques because of its better sensitivity, high speed, easy operation, and low cost for quantitative detection of anions and cation. The sensitivity of the fluorometric technique is approximately 1000 times greater than the absorption technique [40]. Thus, when working with low quantity or expensive materials fluorescence method is very useful as using a minute amount of the compound, can be achieved better sensitivity as well as detection limits. Only fluorescence active molecules or samples can be detected by this method, show better selectivity and specificity compared to UV/Vis and other techniques. In fluorescence, wide concentration range can be detected, e.g., more than three to six log orders of concentration. Again, in the case of fluorescence, sample preparation is also very easy and simple, shows accurate and precise reading [33–35].

Graphene and its analogs such as GO, GQDs, rGO have found extensive applications in fluorescent sensors for detection of water pollutants in recent years. Main benefits of graphene-based nanomaterials are that they can be employed as in tunable fluorophore as well as a potent fluorescence quencher. In this section, we want to focus the origin of fluorescence, its excitation dependent fluorescence, and strategies for sensor design based on plasmonic nanoparticle-decorated GO and GQDs.

Excitation dependant PL of graphene-based nanomaterials

GQDs and other derivatives of GO mainly possess excitation-dependent photoluminescence, and this is one of the most important properties of carbon-based nanomaterials. There are many debates on the origin of this property and yet not been well established. On the contrary, despite having considerable differences in shape, surface, functionalities, and sizes, all the carbon nanomaterials exhibit excitation dependent PL. Interestingly, some exceptions are also reported where there exists excitation independent PL behavior [41, 42].

The mechanism of excitation dependent or independent PL properties depends on some factors like size effect, quantum confinement effect, giant red-edge effect, edge effect, carbonization degree, surface traps, etc. [43, 44].

Z. X. Gan and his co-worker's studied the details of photoluminescence (PL) and photoluminescence excitation (PLE) spectra of rGO. The excitation-dependent PL and PLE spectra of rGO are demonstrated in Fig. 6a, b. Increasing the excitation wavelength from 300 to 500 nm, the corresponding emission occurred at 400 to 600 nm. Thus, emission intensity gradually increases attained a maximum optimal emission value, and then the intensity decreases. There are two bands (250 nm and 330 nm) observed for rGO in PLE spectra (Fig. 6b). The 250 nm peak is due to π - π * transitions and 330 nm peak for δ - π * transitions, respectively.

It is already reported that the excitation-dependent and independent PL co-exist in same PL spectra and the mechanism is depicted in Fig. 6. In the case of graphene and functionalized graphene, blue emission observed when excitation wavelength gradually increases from 300 to 350 nm. But in case of higher excitation wavelength greater than 350 nm greater red shifting occurs uniformly [45]. The reason and mechanism for this property are depicted in Fig. 6a, as the excitation-dependent and independent PL mainly consists of two parts, one emission generates from defects state and other is from size effect of sp² clusters [46–48].



Fig. 6 a PL spectra and b PLE spectra of rGO (reproduced with permission from Ref. [45])

With taking advantages of PL (fluorescence) property of these graphene-based nanomaterials, these plasmonic nanomaterials decorated graphene/GQDs are used as a fluorescence sensing platform for water pollutant like anions, cations, heavy metal ions, dye, pesticide, etc. Due to their transparency and atomically thin nature, both pristine graphene and their functionalized analogs are reported as excellent substrates for plasmonic nanoparticles decoration. This strategy helps to construct plasmon-based sensors (biological and chemical) as well as transparent flexible electronics device. There are several reports for graphene-based fluorescence sensor for water pollutants.

Among the heavy metal ions, Au^{3+} or its salts are already reported as toxic to humans beings as well as environment. The ions may cause a serious threat and risk to the kidneys, nervous system, liver, heart, cell toxicity in living organisms. The permissible limit of Au^{3+} reported as 200 μ M, so there is a need for a developed new method for the detection of gold ion also necessary.

A. Kundu and his co-workers have successfully demonstrated a method for sensing Au^{3+} by fluorescent graphene oxide polyvinyl alcohol (GO-PVA) hybrid and shown in Fig. 7. They have used polymer PVA in the composites for restacking GO nanosheets, passivation for electron-hole recombination. Thus, GO-PVA nanocomposites possess more quantum yield (higher PL intensity) than bare GO. Also, with Au^{3+} , the fluorescence intensity of nanocomposite has been quenched, where Au^{3+} acts as a fluorescence quencher. Figure 7a depicts the fluorescence quenching of GO-PVA in the presence of Au^{3+} (0–300 μ M). Selectivity diagram for Au^{3+} and other metal cations are shown in Fig. 7b. Fluorescence of GO-PVA nanocomposites can selectively detect Au^{3+} . In aqueous medium minimum detection limit was found to be 275 ppb. As the reduction potential of Au^{3+} is higher than other cations, and they reported that this is the reason for being selective for Au^{3+} .

Fu's group have developed a new and effective fluorescence sensor of Pb^{2+} using Au decorated GO nanosheets. This is well explored that fluorescence



Fig. 7 a Fluorescence spectra of GO-PVA upon addition of Au^{3+} . **b** Selectivity diagram for Au^{3+} ion and with other cations (reproduced with permission from Ref. [49])



intensity of carbon nanomaterials is quenched interaction with plasmonic nanoparticles. Here, the fluorescence of GO after interaction with Au³⁺ is quenched due to fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) mechanism. The intensity of quenched fluorescence intensity can be restored by addition of Pb²⁺. The added ions accelerate the rate of leaching of Au nanoparticles on the decorated graphene surface. Thus, this is an on-off-on type fluorescence sensing strategy for Pb² ions using Au-nanoparticle (NP)-decorated graphene surface. The turn-on the fluorescence spectra of GO are depicted in Fig. 8. They have observed that the fluorescence properties of GO were strongly dependent on the size effect, presence of functionalities on the basal plane, edge effect, etc. It was shown that the small lateral size of less than 1 μ m GO nanosheets show fluorescence and can be used for sensing application. The fluorescence intensity showed a good linear response in the concentration range of 50–1000 nM, and LOD was determined to be 10 nM. The sensor is also selective over other metal cations like (Ca²⁺, Al³⁺, Cd²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, Zn²⁺, Li⁺, Co²⁺, and Ni²⁺) and can be used for real samples also.

The 0D form of graphene, which possesses some extraordinary optical properties (e.g., fluorescent) recently attracted the attention of the scientific community. Xiaofang Niu et al. have utilized the 0D form of graphene, which is called GQDs and oligonucleotides strand modified Au nanoparticles to detect heavy metal ions, particularly Pb^{+2} . The sizes of the synthesis graphene quantum dots were confirmed by TEM. The optical property, as well as sensing, are characterized by fluorescence technology.

The morphology and sizes of Au nanoparticles, GQDs, and Au nanoparticles-GQDs were investigated by TEM analysis. The average size (diameter) of Au nanoparticles and GQDs was found to be 18 nm and 5 nm, respectively. They have observed that the dispersion was homogeneous and the particles well separated. The successful conjugation of Au nanoparticles and GQDs were also confirmed by TEM analysis.

The optical properties of these synthesis nanoparticles were characterized by fluorescence spectroscopy and UV-visible spectroscopy. In the presence of ultraviolet (UV) light (390 nm), the GQDs possess beautiful blue emission. The maximum emission is found to be at wavelength 470 nm. Compared to GQDs, the emission curve of GQDs-catalytic strand shows a red-shift of a peak, and the fluorescence intensity also gets reduced. This suggests the successful functionalization of GQDs and Au nanoparticles. Thus possess turn off fluorescence intensity.

The UV-visible spectra of Au nanoparticles and GQDs functionalized Au nanoparticles were studied and the absorbance peak appeared at 518 nm. After functionalization with GQDs, the peak was red-shifted to 523 nm, and the absorbance intensity also gets reduced. They provided one reason for reduction of absorbance intensity. The absorbance of nanoparticles is associated with the shape of the particles. The absorbance center of Au nanoparticles obtained at 518 nm. Thus, with the changing of the shape of nanoparticles, shifting of the absorbance center wavelength would occur. It may be due to as the Au nanoparticles were absorbed on GQDs surface, there is an enhancement of the surface plasmon resonance (SPR) band of Au nanoparticles and reduced the absorbance intensity.

Figure 9a demonstrated the turn-on the fluorescence of Au nanoparticles-GQDs in the presence of Pb^{2+} ions in different concentrations. It can be noted that with the increase of concentration of Pb^{2+} from 50 to 4000 nM, the fluorescence intensity gets enhanced from 1500 to 7000, and the emission wavelength also red shifted. They put forward a reason for this as the DNA strand from Au nanoparticles left on the GQDs surface, making a larger plasma resonance of quantum dots. In Fig. 9b. Corresponding Stern Volmer plot is also shown. From this plot, it is confirmed that the Pb^{2+} sensor has a broad linearity range of 50–4000 nM and limit of detection were calculated, and it was found to be of 16.7 nM. The selectivity study of the sensor also conducted with similar cations, and there is no such change observed in



Fig. 9 a Fluorescence plot of Au-nanoparticles-GQDs in presence of different concentrations of Pb^{2+} . **b** Stern Volmer plots of fluorescence signal recovery after adding Pb^{2+} concentrations (50 nM–4000 nM) (reproduced with permission from Ref. [51])

fluorescence intensity for such ions. Thus, the fluorescence sensor was sensitive as well as selective for only Pb^{2+} [51].

Hua Wang and his group recently developed a GQDs based fluorescent nanosensor for silver ions in an aqueous medium as silver ions are also included highest toxicity class of heavy metal groups, that's why detection of silver ions is also essential. The commercially available GQDs are characterized by TEM and AFM characterization techniques. From the TEM and AFM images, the sizes of the GQDs are found to be below 10 nm, particles are well separated and show homogeneous the dispersibility. The corresponding particle size distribution curve also plotted, and the average particle size (diameter) is calculated at about 2.9 nm. From the atomic force microscopy (AFM) imaging the thickness was calculated from the height profile diagram and found to be 1.2 and 4.0 nm, which suggests stacking of a few graphene layers.

Under the optimization conditions (concentration range of $Ag^+ = 0-115.2 \ \mu$ M, GQDs concentration = 20.0 μ g mL⁻¹, OPD concentration = 180 μ M; at 10 mM PBS, pH 6.0), they have developed a quantitative sensors for Ag^+ (Fig. 10). The fluorescence spectra of GQDs-OPD (O-phenylenediamine) system with increasing concentrations of Ag^+ was recorded and displayed in Fig. 10a. The peak intensity of GQDs at 445 nm was diminished gradually as well as the peak intensities at 557 nm were increased upon continuously adding Ag^+ . This proves that the ratiometric variation of fluorescence intensities was mainly due to the added concentration of Ag^+ . The intensity ratios of (I557/I445) versus Ag^+ concentration was plotted and was shown in Fig. 10b. The ratio of intensities (I557/I445) possessed a good linear response to Ag^+ in range of 0–115.2 μ M. The regression equation, and the R² values were calculated as $I_{557}/I_{445} = 0.08887 + 0.01649C$ and 0.9945 respectively. Figure 10b (inset) depicts photographs showing the changes of GQDs-OPD in the presence and absence of Ag^+ and colour change can be



Fig. 10 a Fluorescence spectra of GQDs-OPD in presence of Ag^+ in the concentration range 0– 115.2 μ M, GQDs concentration = 20.0 μ g mL⁻¹, OPD concentration = 180 μ M; at pH 6.0 of 10 mM PBS. **b** Linearity plots between ratio of fluorescence intensity (I557/I445) versus Ag^+ conc. (inset: capturing images of GQDs-OPD in presence and absence of different concentration of Ag^+) (reproduced with permission from Ref. [52])

monitored visually. The standard deviation and LOD were calculated as 3.21% and 250 nM (S/N = 3). Thus, GQDs-OPD platform was established as a dual sensor for the detection of Ag⁺.

4 Electrochemical Technique for Detection of Toxic Water Pollutants

The electrochemical sensing method is highly selective as well as a sensitive technique for the determination of non-UV-absorbing analytes. Nevertheless, the electrochemical sensor also potentially worked on the determination of UV-absorbing analytes. It is an easy detection technique for the simultaneous detection of single as well as multiple water pollutants. This is a very powerful sensing technique, which can detect electric current, generated from either oxidation or reduction reactions in the test mixtures. In this method, the sensing takes place on a cell containing a working electrode and existing a counter electrode which maintaining stable potential [53, 54]. The electrochemical sensor is classified as potentiometric, conductometric, and amperometric based on the property of the acquired sensor. The recognition element and physical transducer (electrode) is present in all kind of sensors. The sensor performance is fully depending on the interaction between the electrolytes of the test samples and the electrode surface [55]. The large surface and small size materials electrodes have high sensitivity towards the detection of target molecules [56].

Nanomaterials with high surface to volume ratio employed as highly selective as well as sensitive electrochemical sensors for the detection of different organic and inorganic pollutants materials [57]. Plasmonic nanoparticles such as Au, Ag, Cu have shape and size dependent optoelectric properties; these are widely utilized as sensing materials for environmental applications [58]. Plasmonic nanoparticles have promising approaches as electrochemical sensors, due to the high stability; these are produced the robust potential for on-site detection of water pollutants [59, 60]. Generally, carbon-based nanomaterials are widely used in electrochemical applications due to their low cost, high chemical stability, and electrocatalytic activity for the different redox reactions [61, 62]. Among the carbonaceous materials, graphene-based nanomaterials have wonderful potential for electrochemical application as unique electrode materials, which have enhanced electron transfer rate, high signal to noise ratio, and they increased the mass transfer rate [63]. The hydroxyl and carboxyl group present in the graphene surface may interact with organic pollutants molecules, and form complexes with pollutant metal ions result in high sensing activity of the graphene-based composite materials [64, 65]. Graphene-based electrochemical sensors have the ability to detect individual ions as well as multiple metal ions up to a low detection limit and which can detect metal ion concentration deviation in the groundwater sample.

Gong et al. synthesized monodispersed Au nanoparticles on graphene for the electrochemical detection of Hg (II) ion. The Au nanoparticles decorated graphene (Au nanoparticles-chi-graphene) could greatly enhance the electron transfer process between electrode and Hg²⁺, which exhibited excellent performance for the detection of Hg^{2+} ion [66]. They have used three electrode systems such as glassy carbon electrode (working electrode), calomel electrode (reference electrode), and auxiliary electrode (platinum wire). Square wave anodic stripping voltammetry (SWASV) was utilized for the continuous determination of Hg²⁺ ions. SWASV responses of the modified Au nanoparticles decorated graphene sensor (Au nanoparticles-chi-graphene/GCE) against different concentrations of Hg²⁺ ions (from 0.025 to 60 ppb) are shown in Fig. 11. The sensitivity of the electrode was obtained 708.3 A/ppb for the detection of Hg^{2+} , which is much higher than the other method of the previous report [62, 67, 68]. The peak intensities of well-defined peaks are proportional to the Hg^{2+} ion concentration; it was obtained in two ranges from 0.025 to 0.05 ppb and 0.1 to 60 ppb. The Hg²⁺ ion concentration was determined from the known concentration calibration curve of Hg^{2+} (inset in Fig. 11) compared with the obtained peak response. The Au nanoparticles-chi-graphene/GCE sensor had high sensitivity and showed a lower LOD of 6 ppm, which is far below from the specified value of drinking water (1 ppb) fixed by the WHO [69]. They have expected that Au nanoparticles-chigraphene should be easily usable towards the detection of Hg^{2+} ion in a real sample. However, selective detection of heavy metal ions is a challenging task in the real sample, since different metals ions exist in real samples. The selectivity of the Au nanoparticles-chi-graphene was studied for the detection of Hg²⁺ ion in the presence of different interfering ions like Cd^{2+} , Co^{2+} , Cu^{2+} Fe^{2+} , Zn^{2+} , and I^- . Figure 12 shows the effects of Cd^{2+} , Co^{2+} , Cu^{2+} Fe^{2+} , Zn^{2+} , and I^- ions on the electrochemical detection of Hg²⁺. As clearly seen from Fig. 12, no any significant detection efficiency was changed for Au nanoparticles-chi-graphene/GCE towards 1 ppb of Hg²⁺ ion detection in the presence of 20 ppb of each Fe²⁺, Cu²⁺, Co²⁺,

Fig. 11 SWASV of increasing the concentrations of Hg^{2+} (from 0, 0.025 to 60 ppb). The inset **a** calibration curve for the whole range of the Hg^{2+} concentration and **b** the calibration curve magnification for lower concentration region (reproduced with permission from Ref. [66])





 Cd^{2+} , Zn^{2+} and I^- ions. Similarly, Zhang and his co-workers have developed Au/ graphene nanocomposite sensor for the selective electrochemical detection Hg^{2+} ion [70]. They have observed a very low LOD of 0.001 aM in the linear range of 1.0 aM-100 nM.

Yang et al. and his co-workers have contrived a plasmonic Au nanoparticles deposited functionalized graphene and carbon nanotube (CNT) based composite materials for the electrochemical detection of various water pollutants [71]. They have observed a low LOD of 4.17, 1.00, 7.80, and 23.5 µM, for the detection of hydroquinone, catechol, resorcinol and nitrite ions. The electrochemical sensor based Au nanoparticles/rGO/CNT nanocomposite was established by Wang et al. for the detection of harmful phenolic compound bisphenol A [72]. They have obtained LOD of 800 pM in the linear range of 1.5-1490 nM for the electrochemical detection bisphenol A. The highly selective activity of Au nanoparticles/ rGO/CNT was observed towards the detection of bisphenol A in presence of various interference molecules and ions like phenol, p-nitrophenol, pyrocatechol, 2,4-dinitrophenol, hydroquinone and Na⁺, K⁺, Cl⁻ and Ca²⁺. Ma et al. have also been utilized Au nanoparticles-polyaniline-graphene nanocomposites (Au nanoparticles/PAN/graphene) based electrochemical sensor for the selective detection of NO_2^- ion with a low LOD of 10 nM [73].

Ikhsan and his co-workers have decorated plasmonic Ag nanoparticles on rGO sheets for sensitive as well as selective electrochemical detection of 4-nitrophenol (4-NP) [74]. Since nitrophenols are commonly used in the manufacture of dyes, pharmaceuticals, and pesticides, these are highly toxic, inhibitory, and anthropogenic compounds [75]. They have also chosen a SWASV detection method for the sensitive electrochemical detection of 4-NP. The electrochemical detection of 4-NP was thoroughly investigated by the modified Au/rGO electrode prepared with 2, 6, 10, and 15 h reaction times. The Au/rGO/GCE electrode displayed that, the current response is an increase in the 4-NP reduction process at different concentration of 4-NP ranging from 10 nM to 10 µM (Fig. 13a). Owing to the high

Fig. 12 Effects of Fe²⁺,

modified Au-chi-graphene

of the other metal ions)

from Ref. [66])



Fig. 13 a SWASV responses attained at Ag/rGO (15 h) modified electrode with various concentrations of 4-NP and **b** plot of peak current difference versus concentration of 4-NP (reproduced with permission from Ref. [74])

electrical conductivity of rGO, π - π interaction between 4-NP and rGO, and large surface area of the smaller Ag nanoparticles, the modified Au/rGO electrode is highly sensitive towards the current reduction response even with the addition of 4-NP up to the concentration of nM level. The calibration plot of the current response (I_d) difference versus different 4-NP concentrations is shown in Fig. 13b. The sensitivity of the modified Ag/rGO electrode was determined to be 19.83 ± 0.293 µA/µM for the detection of 4-NP. The LOD was calculated with the help of this calibration curve and found to be 1.2 nM in the linear concentration range of 10–100 nm. Roy et al. have been utilized Ag-ZnO bimetallic nanoparticles GO sheets modified sensor for the electrochemical detection *of E. coli* bacteria. The Ag-ZnO bimetallic nanoparticles graphene modified sensor has easily detected bacteria with a low LOD of 5.9 CFU mL⁻¹ for the first time in the linear concentration range of 10 to 10⁹ CFUmL⁻¹ [76]. The plasmonic NPs decorated graphene-based electrochemical sensor for the detection of different water pollutants are presented in Table 1.

5 Colorimetric Detection of Water Pollutants

While there are numerous methods for detection of hazardous material from water sources, air they need some inexpensive, high sensitive, simple, selective, fast reaction and easily monitored analytical method [77]. Among the different detection techniques, colorimetric detection is considered as an attractive method for point-of-use applications due to their visual and simple read out by the unaided eye [58, 78]. This method does not require any sophisticated instruments, and thus, the colorimetric methods demonstrate great potential for portable and inexpensive daily

Electrode materials	Pollutants	Detection limits (LOD)	Linear range	Reference
Au NPs-chi-graphene	Hg ²⁺	1 ppb	0.025–60 ppb	[66]
Au NPs/graphene	Hg ²⁺	0.001 aM	1.0 aM-100 nM	[70]
Au NPs/graphene/ CNT	Hydroquinone	4.17 μΜ	54.5-120.5 μM	[71]
Au NPs/graphene/ CNT	Catechol	1 μΜ	11–126 μM	[71]
Au NPs/graphene/ CNT	Resorcinol	7.8 μM	43.5–778.5 μM	[71]
Au NPs/graphene/ CNT	NO ₂ ⁻	23.5 μM	86–7500 μM	[71]
Au NPs/rGO/CNT	Bisphenol A	800 pM	1.5-1490 nM	[72]
Au NPs/PAN/ graphene	NO ₂ ⁻	10 nM	0.1–200 μM	[73]
Ag/rGO	4-nitrophenol	1.2 nM	10 nM-100 nM	[74]
Ag-ZnO/GO	E. Coli	5.9 CFU mL ⁻¹	10–10 ⁹ CFU mL ⁻¹	[76]

 Table 1
 Selected plasmonic nanoparticles decorated graphene-based electrochemical sensor for the environmental pollutants detection (NPs = nanoparticles)

life applications [79, 80]. Amanulla et al. utilized chitosan stabilized Au nanoparticles incorporated on rGO for sensitive and selective detection of nitrite ions (NO^{2^-}). They reported that with the insertion of various concentration of NO^{2^-} ions, the color of the Au nanoparticles/rGO composites changes from wine red to purple. Based on this color change, the concentration of NO^{2^-} was detected quantitatively by monitoring the UV-visible spectroscopy. The reported sensor was able to detect NO^{2^-} ions with a limit of detection 0.1 μ M in a linear range 1 to 20 μ M by spectroscopic method in (Fig. 14) [81].

Dong and his group utilized a colorimetric technique based on the variation of color of gallic acid capped gold nanoparticles (GA-Au nanoparticles) for the selective detection of Cr(III) and Cr(VI). They reported the limit of detections (LODs) of a mixture of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) are 1.5 and 2 μ M, respectively by naked eye vision whereas the LOD value was found to be 0.05, 0.1 and 0.1 μ M, respectively when monitored by UV-visible spectrometer. They also reported the selectivity of the nanoparticles with other ion, which shows visual colour changed (Fig. 15) [82].

Ag-CoFe₂O₄/rGO nanocomposites synthesized by simple one-pot microwave assisted treatment was used as a sensing probe for colorimetric as well as detection of SERS for toxic Hg^{2+} ions based on its intrinsic oxidase-like activity towards the oxidation of TMB. The reaction between Ag and Hg^{2+} nanoparticles takes place within a very short period and results in the formation of Ag-Hg alloy with the simultaneous reduction of Hg^{2+} . The formation of such alloy can enhance the oxidase-like activity and makes it enable for sensitive towards Hg^{2+} . They reported



Fig. 14 UV-visible spectra of Au nanoparticles/rGO at various concentrations of NO^{2-} (**a**), plot of absorbance versus $[NO^{2-}]$ (**b**), calibration curve for NO^{2-} ion detection (**c**) linear plot of No^{2-} range 0.1–20 μ M (reproduced with permission from Ref. [81])

the sensing ability up to 0.67 nM using SERS method and 10–7 nM based on the colorimetric method in acidic conditions [83] (Fig. 16).

Borthakur et al. utilized Cu(0) nanoparticles decorated hydrophilic glucose functionalized graphene oxide nanocomposite (Cu-frGO) for the detection of toxic Cr(VI) ions present in wastewater system. To explored the sensitivity of the proposed colorimetric probe, they have studied the peroxidase-like activity towards the oxidation of chromogenic peroxidase substrate TMB to it's blue colored oxidized (oxTMB) product. For the quantitative determination of Cr(VI), the absorbance of oxTMB is monitored by UV-vis spectrometer at 652 nm wavelength in presence of Cr(VI) ions, which enhances the peroxidase oxidation of TMB. They reported that the proposed colorimetric probe is highly selective and had sensitivity for Cr(VI) up to the lower concentration of 67.13 nM (Fig. 17b). They also reported the removal of Cr(VI) ion from environmental spiked samples [84].



Fig. 15 Compared with other ions, the selectivity of the Au nanoparticles for colorimetric detection of Cr(III) and Cr(VI). Image of (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{c} , \mathbf{e}) various ions in the absence of masking agents, in presence of citrate and thiosulfate, with EDTA; UV spectra of the Au nanoparticles for Cr(III) and Cr(VI) (\mathbf{b} , \mathbf{d} , \mathbf{f}) other ions in the absence of masking agents, in presence of citrate and thiosulfate, with EDTA; IV spectra of the Au nanoparticles for Cr(III) and Cr(VI) (\mathbf{b} , \mathbf{d} , \mathbf{f}) other ions in the absence of masking agents, in presence of citrate and thiosulfate, with EDTA (reproduced with permission from Ref. [82])



Fig. 16 a-c UV spectra of oxidation of TMB as prepared Ag-CoFe₂O₄/rGO NPs (reproduced with permission from Ref. [83])



Fig. 17 a In the presence and absence of Cr(VI) ions UV-vis spectra of the ox TMB product, **b** linear calibration plots for Cr(VI) detection, **c** absorbance of oxidized TMB in the presence of 50 nM of different ions (reproduced with permission from Ref. [84])

Zhang and his group Au/Fe₃O₄/GO hybrid material for ultrasensitive detection of Hg^{2+} ions in an aqueous medium with the detection limit of 0.15 nM based on its peroxidase mimics (Fig. 18) [85].

Darabdhara et al. reported the magnetic Au@Ni loaded on rGO nanocomposites for colorimetric detection of phenolic compounds. Core-shell Au@Ni/rGO magnetically recoverable nanocomposites were prepared with size below 8 nm by a solvothermal method which exhibited enzymatic behavior towards the colorimetric detection and oxidation of TMB with LOD value 1.65 μ M in range limit 1– 300 μ M. They reported that the addition of different phenol concentration in Au@Ni/rGO nanocomposite the colour changed from colorless to pink shown in (Fig. 19) [86].

In similar process Yanzhou J. and his group have utilized the (rGO)/Cu₈S₅/polypyrrole (PPy) nanocomposites with Cu₈S₅ nanoparticles and PPy layer decorated on rGO sheets as peroxidase like activity for colorimetric detection of phenol and H₂O₂. They reported that the synthesised (rGO)/Cu₈S5/PPy nanocomposites exhibit higher catalytic activity towards 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) oxidation in presence of H₂O₂ [87].

Liu Lu et al. reported that histidine capped gold nanoclusters (His@AuNCs) on rGO sheets possessed oxidase-like activity, in presence of TMB to ox-TMB without



Fig. 18 a Catalytic activity of Au/Fe3O4/GO stimulated by various metal ions. **b** After the addition of Hg^{2+} absorption spectra. **c** Linear calibration plot for Hg^{2+} detection. **d** Absorbance effect of metal ions on catalytic activity of Hg^{2+} (reproduced with permission from Ref. [85])



Fig. 19 Photographs of colorimetric change of Au@Ni/rGO containing different phenol concentrations (0–300 μ M) (reproduced with permission from Ref. [86])

 H_2O_2 which change to blue colour (Fig. 20). They reported that the His@AuNCs on rGO as on oxidase mimic by a colorimetric method to detection of nitrite with linear ranges of 10–500 μ M and 2.5–5700 μ M [88].


Fig. 20 a Variation of UV-vis absorbance of TMB and TMB with $NO^{2^{-}}$ in 0.05 M PBS (pH 5.0) at 652 nm wavelength in presence of His@AuNCs/RGO at different time, **b** chromogenic reaction of nitrite in time-dependent absorbance at 652 nm, **c** UV-visible absorption spectra of different $NO^{2^{-}}$ concentrations in the presence of TMB, **d** Linear plot of the concentration of nitrite (reproduced with permission from Ref. [88])

6 Conclusions and Future Prospective

In this chapter, different plasmonic nanoparticles decorated graphene/functionalized graphene nanocomposites for detection of water, pollutants is discussed. Three detection techniques have been considered throughout this chapter, namely colorimetric, fluorometry, and electrochemical sensing methods. The electrochemical detection technique possesses maximum sensitivity and detection limit is found low in comparison with the other two methods. Compared to other sensing methods, these three methods are very simple, easy operation, inexpensive, and no need highly skilled manpower. As all the sensing experiments are performed in the laboratory condition for real-time analysis, it is necessary to devise some large-scale synthesis method to use in some device fabrication in the near future.

Acknowledgements The authors are thankful to the Director, CSIR-NEIST, Jorhat, for his interest and support to carry out the work. The Authors are grateful to CSIR for financial support

(CSIR Project No. MLP 1009). PKB kindly acknowledges CSIR, New Delhi, India for CSIR-SRF Fellowship grant. PB is thankful to the DST, New Delhi (DST-INSPIRE Fellowship grant, CSIR-NEIST project No. GAP-0737) for the financial support.

References

- 1. Huntington, T. G. (2006). Evidence for intensification of the global water cycle: Review and synthesis. *Journal of Hydrology*, *319*, 83–95.
- 2. Oki, T., & Kanae, S. (2006). Global hydrological cycles and world water resources. *Science*, *313*, 1068–1072.
- 3. Fenwick, A. (2006). Waterborne infectious diseases-could they be consigned to history? *Science*, *313*, 1077–1081.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Escher, B. I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T. B., & Johnson, C. A. (2006). The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science*, *313*, 1072–1077.
- Gruber, N., & Galloway, J. N. (2008). An Earth-system perspective of the global nitrogen cycle. *Nature*, 451, 293–296.
- 6. Filippelli, G. M. (2008). The global phosphorus cycle: Past, present, and future. *Elements*, *4*, 89–95.
- Jorgenson, A. K. (2009). Political-economic integration, industrial pollution, and human health: A panel study of less-developed countries, 1980–2000. *International Sociology*, 24, 115–143.
- 8. Shao, M., Tang, X. Y., Zhang, Y. H., & Li, W. J. (2006). City clusters in china: Air and surface water pollution. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *4*, 353–361.
- Bockstaller, C., Guichard, L., Keichinger, O., Girardin, P., Galan, M. B., & Gaillard, G. (2009). Comparison of methods to assess the sustainability of agricultural systems. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 29, 223–235.
- Eliopoulou, E., & Papanikolaou, A. (2007). Casualty analysis of large tankers. *Journal of Marine Science and Technology*, 12, 240–250.
- 11. Watson, S. B. (2004). Aquatic taste, and odor: A primary signal of drinking-water integrity. *Journal of Toxicology and Environment Health*, 67, 1779–1795.
- Schwarzman, M. R., & Wilson, M. P. (2009). New science for chemicals policy. *Science*, 326, 1065–1066.
- 13. McCann, E. (2006). Asymmetry gap in the electronic band structure of bilayer graphene. *Physical Review B*, 74, 161403–161407.
- 14. Han, M. Y., Ozyilmaz, B., Zhang, Y., & Kim, P. (2007). Energy band-gap engineering of graphene nanoribbons. *Physical Review Letters*, 98, 206805–206809.
- Balandin, A. A., Ghosh, S., Bao, W., CalizoI, I., Teweldebrhan, D., Miao, F., et al. (2008). Superior thermal conductivity of single-layer graphene. *Nano Letters*, 8, 902–907.
- Jiang, J. W., Wang, J. S., & Li, B. (2009). Young's modulus of graphene: A molecular dynamics study. *Physical Review B*, 80, 113405–113409.
- 17. Zhang, Y., Tan, Y. W., Stormer, H. L., & Kim, P. (2005). Experimental observation of the quantum hall effect and berry's phase in graphene. *Nature*, 438, 201–204.
- Novoselov, K. S., Jiang, Z., Zhang, Y., Morozov, S. V., Stormer, H. L., Zeitler, U., et al. (2007). Room temperature quantum hall effect in graphene. *Science*, *315*, 1379–1382.
- Mayorov, A. S., Gorbachev, R. V., Morozov, S. V., Britnell, L., Jalil, R., Ponomarenko, L. A., et al. (2011). Micrometer-scale ballistic transport in encapsulated graphene at room temperature. *Nano Letters*, 11, 2396–2399.
- Areshkin, D. A., Gunlycke, D., & White, C. T. (2007). Ballistic transport in graphene nanostrips in the presence of disorder: Importance of edge effects. *Nano Letters*, 7, 204–210.

- Schedin, F., Geim, A. K., Morozov, S. V., Hill, E. W., Blake, P., Katsnelson, M. I., et al. (2007). Detection of individual gas molecules adsorbed on graphene. *Nature Materials*, 6, 652–6559.
- Morozov, S. V., Novoselov, K. S., Katsnelson, M. I., Schedin, F., Elias, D. C., Jaszczak, J. A., et al. (2008). Giant intrinsic carrier mobilities in graphene and its bilayer. *Physical Review Letters*, 100, 016602–016604.
- 23. Ritter, K. A., & Lyding, J. W. (2009). The Influence of edge structure on the electronic properties of graphene quantum dots and nanoribbons. *Nature Materials*, *8*, 235–242.
- Wang, X., Zhi, L., & Mullen, K. (2008). Transparent conductive graphene electrodes for dye-sensitized solar cells. *Nano Letters*, 8, 323–330.
- Dai, L. (2013). Functionalization of graphene for efficient energy conversion and storage. Accounts of Chemical Research, 46, 31–42.
- Polyushkin, D. K., Milton, J., Santandrea, S., Russo, S., Craciun, M. F., Green, S. J., et al. (2013) Graphene as a substrate for plasmonic nanoparticles. *Journal of Optics*, 114001, 6 pp.
- Abdi, M. M., Abdullah, L. C., Sadrolhosseini, A. R., Yunus, W. M. M., Moksin, M. M., & Md. Tahir, P. (2011). Surface plasmon resonance sensing detection of mercury and lead ions based on conducting polymer composite. *PLoS One*, *6*, 1–9.
- Zheng, P., & Wu, N. (2017). Fluorescence and sensing applications of graphene oxide and graphene quantum dots: A review. *Chemistry an Asian Journal*, 12, 2343–2353.
- 29. Zhou, Y., Liu, B., Yang, R., & Liu, J. (2017). Filling in the gaps between nanozymes and enzymes: Challenges and opportunities. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, *28*, 122903–122909.
- Wu, J., Wang, X., Wang, Q., Lou, Z., Li, S., Zhu, Y., et al. (2019). Nanomaterials with enzyme-like characteristics (nanozymes): Next-generation artificial enzymes (II). *Chemical Society Reviews*, 48, 1004–1076.
- Ceken, B., Kandaz, M., & Koca, A. (2012). Electrochemical metal-ion sensors based on a novel manganese phthalocyanine complex. *Synthetic Metals*, 77, 1524–1530.
- Chow, E., & Gooding, J. J. (2006). Peptide modified electrodes as electrochemical metal ion sensors. *Electroanalysis*, 18, 1437–1448.
- Gebbink, R. J. M. K., Klink, S. I., Feiters, M. C., & Nolte, R. J. M. (2000). "Crowned" Fe₄S₄ clusters as electrochemical metal ion sensors. *European Journal of Inorganic Chemistry*, 2, 253–264.
- Zaaba, N. I., Foo, K. L., Hashim, U., Tan, S. J., Liu, W.-W., & Voon, C. H. (2017). Synthesis of graphene oxide using modified hummers method: Solvent influence synthesis of graphene oxide using modified hummers method: Solvent influence. *Procedia Engineering*, 184, 469– 477.
- Zhang, J., Yang, H., Shen, G., Cheng, P., Zhang, J., & Guo, S. (2010). Reduction of graphene oxide via L-ascorbic acid. *Chemical Communications*, 46, 1112–1114.
- 36. Liu, J., Li, S., Zhang, B., Xiao, Y., Gao, Y., Yang, Q., et al. (2017). Ultrasensitive and low detection limit of nitrogen dioxide gas sensor based on flower-like ZnO hierarchical nanostructure modified by reduced graphene oxide. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 249,* 715–724.
- Muralikrishna, S., Sureshkumar, K., Thomas, S., Varley, D., Nagaraju, H., & Ramakrishnappa, T. (2014). In situ reduction and functionalization of graphene oxide with L-cysteine for simultaneous electrochemical determination of cadmium (II), lead(II), copper (II), and mercury(II) ions. *Analytical Methods*, *6*, 8698–8705.
- Rabchinskii, M. K., Dideikin, A. T., Kirilenko, D. A., Baidakova, M. V., Shnitov, V. V., Roth, F., et al. (2018). Reduction of graphene oxide suspensions and films using glass wafers. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 14154.
- 39. Johra, F. T., Lee, J. W., & Jung, W. G. (2014). Facile and safe graphene preparation on solution based platform. *Journal of Industrial Engineering Chemistry*, 20, 2883–2887.
- 40. Li, B., Guo, Y., Iqbal, A., Dong, Y., Li, W., Liu, W., et al. (2016). Insight into excitation-related luminescence properties of carbon dots: Synergistic effect from photoluminescence centers in the carbon core and on the surface. *RSC Advances*, 6, 107263–107269.

- Deka, M. J., & Chowdhury, D. (2017). CVD assisted hydrophobic graphene quantum dots: Fluorescence sensor for aromatic amino acids. *Chemistry Select*, 2, 1999–2005.
- Shen, J., Zhu, Y., Yang, X., & Li, C. (2012). Graphene quantum dots: Emergent nanolights for bioimaging, sensors, catalysis and photovoltaic devices. *Chemical Communications*, 48, 3686–3699.
- 43. Deka, M. J., & Chowdhury, D. (2017). Chiral carbon dots and their effect on the optical properties of photosensitizers. *RSC Advances*, *7*, 53057–53063.
- 44. Li, Y., Zhao, Y., Cheng, H., Hu, Y., Shi, G., Dai, L., et al. (2012). Nitrogen-doped graphene quantum dots with oxygen rich functional groups. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *134*, 15–18.
- Gan, Z., Xu, H., & Hao, Y. (2016). Mechanism for excitation-dependent photoluminescence from graphene quantum dots and other graphene oxide derivates: Consensus, debates and challenges. *Nanoscale*, *8*, 7794–7807.
- Chien, C. T., Li, S. S., Lai, W. J., Yeh, Y. C., Chen, H. A., Chen, I., et al. (2012). Tunable photoluminescence from graphene oxide. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 51, 6662–6666 (2012).
- Dong, Y., Wang, R., Li, G., Chen, C., Chi, Y., & Chen, G. (2012). Polyamine-functionalized carbon quantum dots as fluorescent probes for selective and sensitive detection of copper ions. *Analytical Chemistry*, 84, 6220–6224.
- Sharma, A., Gadly, T., Gupta, A., Ballal, A., Ghosh, S. K., & Kumbhakar, M. (2016). Origin of excitation dependent fluorescence in carbon nanodots. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters*, 7, 3695–3702.
- Kundu, A., Layek, R. K., Kuila, A., & Nandi, A. K. (2012). Highly fluorescent graphene oxide-poly(vinyl alcohol) hybrid: an effective material for specific Au³⁺ ion sensors. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 4, 5576–5582.
- Fu, X. L., Lou, T. T., Chen, Z. P, Lin, M., Feng, W. W., & Chen, L. X. (2012). Turn-on fluorescence detection of lead ions based on accelerated leaching of gold nanoparticles on the surface of graphene. ACS Appl. Mater Interfaces, 4, 1080–1086.
- Niu, X., Zhong, Y., Chen, R., Wang, F., Liu, Y., & Luo, D. (2018). A "turn-on" fluorescence sensor for Pb²⁺ detection based on graphene quantum dots and gold nanoparticles. *Sensors* and Actuators B: Chemical, 255, 1577–1581.
- Zhao, X.-E., Lei, C., Gao, Y., Gao, H., Zhu, S., Yang, X., et al. (2017). A ratiometric fluorescent nanosensor for the detection of silver ions using graphene quantum dots. *Sensors* and Actuators B: Chemical, 253, 239–246.
- 53. Rackus, D. G., Shamsi, M. H., & Wheeler, A. R. (2015). Electrochemistry, biosensors and microfluidics: A convergence of fields. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 44, 5320–5340.
- Mir, M., Homs, A., & Samitier, J. (2009). Integrated electrochemical DNA biosensors for lab on-a-chip devices. *Electrophoresis*, 30, 3386–3397.
- Stradiotto, N. R., Yamanaka, H., & Zanoni, M. V. B. (2003). Electrochemical sensors: A powerful tool in analytical chemistry. *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society*, 14, 159– 173.
- Jin, W., & Yan, K. (2015). Recent advances in electrochemical detection of toxic Cr (VI). RSC Advances, 5, 37440–37450.
- Chen, A., & Chatterjee, S. (2013). Nanomaterials based electrochemical sensors for biomedical applications. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 42, 5425–3438.
- 58. Saha, K., Agasti, S. S., Kim, C., Li, X., & Rotello, V. M. (2012). Gold nanoparticles in chemical and biological sensing. *Chemical Reviews*, 112, 2739–2779.
- Carrera, P., Espinoza-Montero, P. J., Fernández, L., Romero, H., & Alvarado, J. (2017). Electrochemical determination of arsenic in natural waters using carbon fiber ultra-microelectrodes modified with gold nanopartcles. *Talanta*, *166*, 198–206.
- Peng, D., Hu, B., Kang, M., Wang, M., He, L., Zhang, Z., et al. (2016). Electrochemical sensors based on gold nanoparticles modified with rhodamine B hydrazide to sensitively detect Cu(II). *Applied Surface Science*, 390, 422.

- Manivannan, A., Seehra, M. S., Tryk, D. A., & Fujishima, A. (2002). Electrochemical detection of ionic mercury at boron-doped diamond electrodes. *Analytical Letters*, 35, 355– 368.
- Abollino, O., Giacomino, A., Malandrino, M., Piscionieri, G., & Mentasti, E. (2008). Determination of mercury by anodic stripping voltammetry with a goldnanoparticle-modified glassy carbon electrode. *Electroanalysis*, 20, 75–83.
- 63. Shao, Y. Y., Wang, J., Wu, H., Liu, J., Aksay, I. A., & Lin, Y. H. (2010). Graphene based electrochemical sensors and biosensors: A review. *Electroanalysis*, 22, 1027–1036.
- 64. Liu, S., Tian, J. Q., Wang, L., & Sun, X. P. (2011). A method for the production of reduced graphene oxide using benzylamine as a reducing and stabilizing agent and its subsequent decoration with Ag nanoparticles for enzymeless hydrogen peroxide detection. *Carbon, 49*, 3158–3164.
- 65. Feng, H. B., Cheng, R., Zhao, X., Duan, X. F., & Li, J. H. (2013). A low-temperature method to produce highly reduced graphene oxide. *Nature Communications*, *4*, 1539.
- Gong, J. M., Zhou, T., Song, D. D., & Zhang, L. Z. (2010). Monodispersed Au nanoparticles decorated graphene as an enhanced sensing platform for ultrasensitive stripping voltammetric detection of mercury (II). *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 150, 491–497.
- Yan, X. P., Yin, X. B., Jiang, D. Q., & He, X. W. (2003). Speciation of mercury by hydrostatically modified electroosmotic flow capillary electrophoresis coupled with volatile species generation atomic fluorescence spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry*, 75, 1726–1732.
- 68. Jena, B. K., & Raj, C. R. (2008). Gold nanoelectrode ensembles for the simultaneous electrochemical detection of ultratrace arsenic, mercury, and copper. *Analytical Chemistry*, *80*, 4836–4844.
- 69. World Health Organization. (2008). *Guidelines for drinking-water quality, incorporating the first and second addenda* (3rd ed., Vol. 1, pp. 434–435) (Recommendations. Silver).
- Zhang, Y., Zeng, G. M., Tang, T., Chen, J., Zhu, Y., & He, X. X. (2015). Electrochemical sensor based on electrodeposited grapheme-Au modified electrode and nano Au carrier amplified signal strategy for attomolar mercury detection. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87, 989–996.
- Yang, C., Chai, Y., Yuan, R., & Xu, S. W. (2013). Gold nanoparticle–grapheme nanohybrid bridged 3-amino-5-mercapto-1,2,4-triazole-functionalized multiwall carbon nanotubes for the simultaneous determination of hydroquinone, catechol, resorcinol and nitrite. *Analytical Methods*, 5, 666–672.
- Wang, Y. C., Cokeliler, D., & Gunasekaran, S. (2015). Reduced graphene oxide/carbon nanotube/gold nanoparticles nanocomposite functionalized screen-printed electrode for sensitive electrochemical detection of endocrine disruptor Bisphenol A. *Electroanalysis*, 27, 2527–2536.
- Ma, X., Miao, T., Zhu, W., Gao, X., Wang, C., Zhao, C., et al. (2014). Electrochemical detection of nitrite based on glassy carbon electrode modified with gold-polyaniline-graphene nanocomposites. *RSC Advances*, *4*, 57842–57842.
- Ikhsan, N., Rameshkumar, P., & Huang. N. M. (2016). Controlled synthesis of reduced graphene oxide supported silver nanoparticles for selective and sensitive electrochemical detection of 4-nitrophenol. *Electrochimica Acta, 192,* 392–399.
- Schummer, C., Groff, C., Al Chami, J., Jaber, F., & Millet, M. (2009). Analysis of phenols and nitrophenols in rainwater collected simultaneously on an urban and rural site in the east of France, *Science of the Total Environment*, 407, 5637–5643.
- Roy, E., Patra, S., Tiwari, A., Madhuri, R., & Sharma, P. K. (2017). Single cell imprinting on the surface of Ag-ZnO bimetallic nanoparticle modified graphene oxide sheets for targeted detection, removal and photothermal killing of E. Coli. *Biosensors Bioelectronics*, 89, 620– 626.
- 77. Shin, H. Y., Cho, S., & Kim, M. I. (2017). Enzyme-free colorimetric detection of glucose using a composite entrapping gold and magnetic nanoparticles within an agarose gel matrix. *Journal of Nanoscience Nanotechnology*, 17, 7971–7977.
- Du, J., Jiang, L., Shao, Q., Liu, X., Marks, R. S., Ma, J., et al. (2013). Colorimetric detection of mercury ions based on plasmonic nanoparticles. *Small*, *9*, 1467–1481.

- Sun, X., Guo, S., Chung, C. S., Zhu, W., & Sun, S. (2013). A sensitive H₂O₂ assay based on dumbbell-like Pt Pd-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles. *Advanced Materials*, 25, 132–136.
- Zhang, L., Han, L., Hu, P., Wang, L., & Dong, S. (2013). TiO₂ nanotube arrays: intrinsic peroxidase mimetics. *Chemical Communications*, 49, 10480–10482.
- Amanulla, B., Palanisamy, S., Chen, C. X., Chiu, T. W., Velusamy, V., Hall, J. M., et al. (2017). Selective colorimetric detection of nitrite in water using chitosan stabilized gold nanoparticles decorated reduced graphene oxide. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 14182–14190.
- Dong, C., Wu, G., Wang, Z., Ren, W., Zhang, Y., Shen, Z., et al. (2016). Selective colorimetric detection of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) using gallic acid capped gold nanoparticles. *Daltons Transactions*, 45, 8347–8354.
- Guo, Y., Tao, Y., Ma, X., Jin, J., Wen, S., Ji, W., et al. (2018). A dual colorimetric and SERS detection of Hg²⁺ based on the stimulus of intrinsic oxidase-like catalytic activity of Ag-CoFe₂O₄/reduced graphene oxide nanocomposites. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 350, 120–130.
- Borthakur, P., Boruah, P. K., Das, M. R., Szunerits, S., & Boukherroub, R. (2019). Cu(0) nanoparticle-decorated functionalized reduced graphene oxide sheets as artificial peroxidase enzymes: Application for colorimetric detection of Cr(VI) ions. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 43, 1404–1414.
- Zhanga, S., Lib, H., Wanga, Z., Liua, J., Zhanga, H., Wanga, B., et al. (2015). Strongly coupled Au/Fe₃O₄/GO hybrid material with enhanced nanozyme activity for highly sensitively colorimetric detection, rapid and efficient removal of Hg²⁺ in aqueous solutions. *Nanoscale*, 7, 8495–8502.
- Darabdharaa, G., & Das, M. R. (2019). Dual responsive magnetic Au@Ni nanostructures loaded reduced graphene oxide sheets for colorimetric detection and photocatalytic degradation of toxic phenolic compounds. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 368, 365–377.
- Jiang, Y., Gu, Y., Nie, G., Chi, M., Yang, Z., Wang, C., et al. (2016). Synthesis of RGO/ Cu₈S₅/PPy composite nanosheets with enhanced peroxidase-like activity for sensitive colorimetric detection of H₂O₂ and phenol. *Particle & Particle System Characterization*, 34, 1600233.
- Liu, L., Du, J., Liu, W., Guo, Y., Wu, G., Qi, W., et al. (2019). Enhanced His@AuNCs oxidase-like activity by reduced graphene oxide and its application for colorimetric and electrochemical detection of nitrite. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 411, 2189–2200.

Materials for Electrical Detection of Water Pollutants



Chhavi Sharma^(D), Sauraj and Yuvraj Singh Negi

Abstract Water pollution has become one of the irresistible problems worldwide. FETs and AlGaN/GaN HEMTs (High Electron Mobility Transistors) are the forthcoming hopeful tools for real-time, ultrasensitive recognition of analyte. They are taking attention over other techniques because of its exceptional properties like fast response, high sensitivity, low toxicity, superior biocompatibility and excellent chemical stability. Precision of FET sensors depend upon concentration of ions and inherent properties of the material i.e. band gap & carriers effective mass. 2D layered nanostructures such as graphene and its analogues, black phosphorous (called phosphorene), conducting polymers are attracting the researchers due to their in numerous novel properties over conventional bulk semiconducting materials; such as tuneable band gap, high carrier mobility ($\sim 10^2-10^5$ cm²/V/s), good electrical and magnetic properties etc. This chapter will cover all the basic and comprehensive analysis of technique reported materials and will include the future prospective and applications.

Keywords Water pollutants • FETs • MOSFETs • 2D layered structures • Graphene • Conducting polymer

C. Sharma · Sauraj · Y. S. Negi (🖂)

Department of Polymer and Process Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (IIT Roorkee), Roorkee, Saharanpur Campus, India e-mail: vuvrainegi@gmail.com

C. Sharma e-mail: chhavi1920@gmail.com

Sauraj e-mail: saurajpolymeriitd@gmail.com

107

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_7

1 Introduction

Fresh water is an essential life support, but due to rapid industrialization and/or urbanization resulting in the confinement of clean and drinkable water resources all over the world and converted to a challenging global threat. From various printed media and surveys reports, over one-sixth of the world's population is suffering from drinkable water crisis [1, 2].

As we all are aware about the sources of contamination, i.e. natural and man-made or sometimes referred as geological and anthropogenic sources. Geological sources dependents upon the geological strata i.e. route of flow of water and from what kind of rocks it is passing by. The continuous flow of water through rocks results in its weathering and constituent's e.g., calcium, magnesium, arsenic, fluoride, chlorine, nitrates, iron, soil and others get dissolved. Clean and drinkable water is always enriched with minerals because they are essential for our proper body functioning, but when the concentration levels rises above the bearing limits then it will be considered to be polluted water and becomes a cause for water borne diseases [3].

Sources including pesticides, insecticides used in agriculture, manufacturing industrial discharge which contain concentrated amounts of heavy metals, chemicals, dyes, solvents, improper disposal of household waste containing synthetic detergents, paints, gasoline and diesel fuels, pool chemicals, disinfectants, medicines comes under anthropogenic contamination resulting in ground water deterioration. According to UN report 2003 [4], about 2 billion tons of sewage per day, are discharged into the biosphere's water where sewage includes both industrial and agricultural waste [5].

2 Classification of Types of Contaminants

- (i) Inorganic contaminants
- (ii) Organic contaminants
- (iii) Biological contaminants
- (iv) Radioactive contamination

(i) **Inorganic contaminants**, is a group of contaminant, which incorporates inorganic species such as fluorine, Heavy metals, nitrides etc. They get added to the water bodies due to geological and anthropogenic causes (as discussed above [6]. *Heavy metals (HM)*, are defined as those who has density more than 5 g/cm³. Table 1 is representing only significant to environmental perspective. Usually, Arsenic amongst all is considered to be significantly hazardous [7]. HMs possesses severe health issues e.g. reduced physical and mental among children, cancer, organ impairment, nervous system mutilation, and in extreme cases, death. Hg (II) and Pb (II) may cause autoimmunity disorder, kidney malfunctioning, rheumatoid arthritis

Heavy metals	Reported adverse effects	Conc. (mg/L)
Arsenic (III)	Skin appearances, cancer, vascular syndrome	0.050
Cadmium (II)	Kidney destruction, renal ailment, human cancer-causing agent	0.01
Chromium (IV)	Headache, diarrhea, motion sickness, vomit, malignancy causing	0.05
Copper (II)	Liver mutilation, Wilson ailment, sleeplessness	0.25
Nickel (II)	Dermatitis, unsettled stomach, chronic asthma, carcinogenic	0.20
Zinc (II)	Despair, laziness, nervous breakdown and greater than before thirst	0.80
Lead (II)	Impairment to the fetus, kidneys impairment, circulatory and nervous system	0.006
Mercury (II)	Rheumatoid arthritis, ailments related to kidney, neurological disorders	0.00003

 Table 1
 Includes heavy metals with their toxicity and MCL limits based on the MCL standards (established by USEPA) [8]

cardiovascular system. HMs when accumulate in the body than the permissible limit they may result in permanent damage to brain, liver and kidney [6, 8].

Fluoride, does not occur in the fundamental state in environment since it is highly reactive. It exists as mineral fluoride with mass of about 0.3 g/kg of the Earth's crust [9]. In groundwater, fluoride concentrations differ with the kind of rock bed the water drifts through but then again do not surpass 10 mg/L [10]. Various fluorides containing compounds are extensively used in various industrial sector of aluminum processing, glass fiber, steel, pharmaceutical, fertilizer and others. When fluoride is up taken orally (in the form of water or medicines or in food products) the solvable fluorides are entirely get immersed in the GI tract. Immersed fluoride is then circulate via the blood; and when it enters brain, resulting in increased risk for diseases like Alzheimer's disease and various other memory related issues collectively termed as dementia [11–14]. It is also accountable for fluorosis. As per the survey conducted, across many countries including India has more than 15 states are affected by acute fluorosis [15].

Selenium (Se) is existent in the earth's crust, bonded with minerals containing Sulphur. Selenium occurs in numerous forms, such as selenides (Se^{2–}), selenium (Se⁰), selenites (Se⁴⁺) and selenates (Se⁶⁺) [16, 17]. The level of selenium in water arrays 0.06–400 μ g/L [18–20]. In seleniferous areas, gastrointestinal disorders, skin discoloration and rotten teethes were reported in common [21].

Cyanide is highly toxic and dangerous contaminant. Major source of cyanide addition to water cycle are anthropogenic sources such as industrial waste from electroplating, gold and silver extraction, base metal flotation; coal gasification; and the decontamination of ships, buildings, grain silos, seeds in vacuum cavities. During, drinking water chlorination, cyanogen chloride might be a by-product and

in the in situ making of chloramines as a remaining sterilizer to uphold the sterile condition of supply arrangements. Prolonged exposure to cyanide above MCL value (0.2 mg/L) may cause weight loss, thyroid and nerve impairment [22].

Nitride (MCL 10 mg/L) is found in sewage from humans and/or farmhouse and commonly overflows into water sources. Extreme intake of nitrate can cause serious ailments such as methaemoglobinaemia, or blue-baby syndrome in infants, because of interfering oxygen transport in the blood [23, 24].

(ii) Organic Contaminants may include pesticides, gas or liquid-phase volatile organic compounds (VOCs), slurry's, gums, chemicals, crude wax, paper, plastic, timber etc. Contamination through organic materials may leads to severe diseases such as cancers, hormonal disturbances, and nervous system ailment [25–28].

Pesticides embrace all substances that are used to abolish or regulate pests such as insects, weeds, fungi, and others. They also play a significant role in food production or increase yields and facilitates cropping several times a year. In farming, herbicides (weeds), insecticides (insects), fungicides (fungi) and rodenticides (vertebrate poisons) are commonly used which imparts chronic health issues, depending on the amount. For instance, let's take an example for commonly used pesticides namely, organophosphates and carbamates, causes partial or permanent damage to the nervous system and endocrine system, skin or eye irritation, and it is cancer causing too [29].

(iii) Biological Contamination is produced through the existence of active living entities, such as algae, bacteria, protozoan or viruses. *E. coli* is the most commonly occurring coliform in intestines. It yields toxins that harm the intestinal lining, cause anemia, stomach pains, and bloody diarrhea [30]. Another abundantly existing microscopic species is Algae which are reliant on water nutrients such as phosphorus. Excessive algae growing imparts bad odor problem and clogs filters, and yields slime growths. Similarly, bacteria, viruses and protozoa are also the pathogens causing water contamination resulting in water borne diseases such as dysentery, cholera and gastroenteritis [28, 30].

(iv) Radiological Contaminants are unwanted radionuclides which enter into water sources. In drinking water, naturally occurring radiological isotopes of radium, uranium and radon were reported. They added up in groundwater due to weathering of granitic rocks and other minerals. Sometimes human activity changes and spreads naturally-occurring radiological, resulting increased potential levels. Referred to as Technologically Enhanced Radioactive Material (TENORM), and are originated as industrial wastes from industries like coal (mining and combustion), oil and gas industry, Fertilizer (phosphate) and recycling industries. Commonly found radiological element in drinking water is Uranium. It is kidney venom and has been linked with an rise in trivial calcium release and increased microglobulinemia [6, 31].

3 All About Transistor Family

3.1 Introduction

In the field of Integrated circuits (IC), the world famous observation acknowledged as Moore's law, and it states that amount of components per IC leading to lowest manufacturing cost every year. These days this law is used to designate high speed processing devices in the field of electronics and computation [32–34] (Fig. 1).

4 Quick Overview of the Technology with Terminology

4.1 Transistor's Working Principle

Current or voltage between two terminals is controlled by slight quantity of current or voltage through the third one. Transistors are being classified as (i) BJT and (ii) FET.

- (i) Bipolar Junction Transistor (BJT) is a current variable device that controls the amount of current passing through the Emitter to the Collector terminals in proportion to the amount of applied biasing voltage on the base terminal. On the basis of type of majority charge carriers involved it can be further classified as NPN and PNP type transistors [35].
- (ii) Field Effect Transistor (FET) is a three terminal device in which current conduction takes place through "channel" sandwiched between Source & Drain terminals and width of channel varies as a function of applied gate



Fig. 1 Classification of transistor family

voltage. Hence, function of Drain, Gate and Source terminals can be correlated to Emitter, Base and collector terminals of BJTs. It can be classified as JFET and MOSFET (or IGFET) [36].

- Junction Field-Effect Transistor (JFET) is a three terminal voltage controlled unipolar device having N-channel and P-channel configurations. It is typically used in high frequency or high current systems e.g. microwave amplifiers [36].
- *Metal oxide FET (MOSFET) or IGFET (Insulated Gate FET)*, is a voltage controlled FET having thin layer of "Metal Oxide" to form insulated Gate electrode [36].

5 Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistors

As compared to BJTs, MOSFETs occupy very small space on an IC and hence VLSI integration can be realized by using MOSFETs. Using VLSI, some electronic circuits are designed by using only MOSFETs and essentially not using any resistor and/or diodes. This can fabrication is used in forming microprocessors, high density memory devices.

5.1 Principle of Working

the current flow is attained by put on electric field perpendicular to drain and source terminals and in the direction of flow of electric current. The phenomenon of controlling conductance of semiconductor using electric field is known as *Field Effect or gating effect* [35].

5.2 Physics Involved in Working of MOSFETs

In order to understand it, let's consider a parallel plate capacitor in which, two charged plates are separated by an insulating material substrate. At the top of the metal plate, a negatively biased voltage is applied and hence, other plate will be positively charged and an upwards electric field will be generated into the substrate. In influence of induced electric field and the type of substrate material (p-type or n-type) will result in the formation of a region of charge accumulation known as inversion layer. For illustrating it, let's consider an example that, lets we have taken a p-type substrate and a negatively biased voltage (with respect to the type of substrate) For simplifying the explanation, let's consider the MOSFET as simple parallel plate capacitor which is separated by a semiconducting material and an



Fig. 2 The MOS capacitor with p-type substrate: **a** effect of positive gate bias, showing the electric field and charge flow, **b** the MOS capacitor with an induced space-charge charge due to a moderate gate bias, and **c** the MOS capacitor with an induced space-charge region and electron inversion layer due to larger gate bias [36]

alternating bias voltage is applied to it. Hence, upper plate is now negatively charges and respective bottom plate becomes positively charged; and an electric field is setup between the two.

For p-type semiconductor substrate, when a negatively biased voltage is applied at the top (also known as gate terminal) plates get charged and an upward electric field is being created in the space within the two. Now, due to this electric field the holes will start accumulating at semiconductor and oxide layer interface. Now, when the polarity of the bias voltage changes (negative to positive) then the polarity of the plates also changes (upper becomes positive and bottom plate becomes negatively charged) and in this case now, the accumulated holes will experience electric field in opposite direction and start to leave and results in a charged region induced because of minority carrier electrons forming a region called as **electron inversion region**. In the similar fashion if we take n-type substrate then positive biased gate voltage is applied and results in forming **hole inversion region**. The magnitude of current flow in the MOSFET is a function of width of inversion layer and width of inversion layer formed at the oxide-substrate interface is a function of gate voltage applied [36] (Fig. 2).

Modes of operation: (1) Enhancement mode and (2) Depletion mode.

In enhancement mode, positive bias voltage is applied to p-type substrate and negative bias voltage for n-type substrate to for charge inversion region and vice versa is for depletion mode.

5.3 n-Channel Enhancement Mode MOSFET

5.3.1 Simplified MOSFET Structure

Simplified MOSFET Structure is shown in Fig. 4. here we have two additional n+regions (+ sign indicates heavily doped) present creating **source terminal** and



Fig. 3 a Schematic diagram of an n-channel enhancement mode MOSFET and, b an n-channel MOSFET, showing the field oxide polysilicon gate [35]



Fig. 4 a Schematic structures of the OTFT sensor incorporating py-SH as receptor layer for Hg^{2+} ion, **b** chemical structure of py-SH receptor layer, typical **c** output and, **d** transfer characteristics of fabricated OTFT sensor [44]

drain terminal. The current flow through inversion layer is termed as **channel region**. The more detailed diagram is shown in Fig. 4, as the actual structure of MOSFET is fairly complex, here it is a simplified version to make an understanding about the device (Fig. 3).

5.3.2 Basic Transistor Working

Case I: When no bias voltage applied: the current between source and drain must be zero.

Case II: When large positive bias voltage is applied: then a carrier region is formed between two n-terminals (i.e. n-drain terminal and n-source terminal) allowing current from source to drain. The source terminal supplied the carriers that flow through the channel and drain terminal allows carriers to drain from the channel. So, we can say that when V_{DS} (voltage drain to source) is applied then charge carriers start flowing from source to drain terminals. By convention, current is flowing in opposite fashion i.e. from drain to source terminal. As used biasing gate voltage is positive, it form electron inversion region, termed as **enhancement n-channel MOSFET** or **NMOS**.

5.3.3 Ideal MOSFET V-I Characteristics

Threshold voltage (V_{TN)} is nothing but applied "turn on" voltage for the transistor.

Case I: $V_{GS} < V_{TN}$: Drain current (I_D) = 0 and is said to be in "turn-off" state because there is no inversion layer formation taking place.

Case II: $V_{GS} > V_{TN}$ and small V_{DS} is applied: It is a transistor "turn-on" state. The I_D increases with increase in V_{GS}.

- (a) $V_{DS} > V_{DS (sat)}$: I_D becomes constant and independent of V_{DS} (Drain to source voltage) and the region is known as **saturation region**.
- (b) $V_{DS} < V_{DS (sat)}$: The region is known as **unsaturated state**.

6 Designing of FET Based Sensors

In relevance to the above discussion, we can easily understand that, current flowing through FETs is a function of biased gate voltage applied to it. Therefore, sensing of organic and/or inorganic species is performed by adjusting gate material or by placing a selective membrane or by using (bio/chemical)-recognition component onto it. The resulting sensor is known as CHEMFET. When ion selective material is used then it is known as ISFET. When organic sensing platform is used as sensing material then it is known as OFET [37]. ISFET based sensors have numerous possible applications in diversified fields of chemistry, sensor designing and development, microbiology, flexible and wearable electronic devices and many more [38]. As of now, we are assuming that, readers got the clear picture of how a MOSFET based devices works. In the next section we will include the various nanomaterials reported in the literature towards water pollutants.

7 Overview About the Existing Materials Related to Water Contaminants in Literature

7.1 Supramolecule with Polymer Membrane

Supramolecular chemistry is the study of objects having larger complexity than distinct fragments assemblies of molecules that bond and unify over intermolecular interconnects. The design and synthesis of supramolecular systems comprises of exchanges beyond the covalent linkage, e.g. hydrogen bonding, metal coordinate bonds and π -interactions to fetch distinct building blocks together [39]. Therefore, best fitting tailoring of molecules for desired host-guest interaction is possible and when supra is embedded into polymers, and then it will enhance sensitivity and selectivity to many folds.

Among various supramolecules, in order to sense heavy metals, calixarenes have been found appropriate because they provides a route to fragments with well-defined hollows, and offers synchronized polar and non-polar features. Therefore, they can form annexation complexes with a extensive variety of guest species. Calix[4]arenes derivatives with thioether, thioamide, and dithiocarbamoyl were reported. calix[4] arene (2) with two diametrically replaced thioether ionophore with PVC membrane towards Ag (I) (selectivity 60 mV/decade); calix[4] arene, with four dithiocarbamoyl PVC membrane for Cu (II) ions (30 mV/decade); calix[4]arene, with four dimethylthiocarbamoylmethoxyethoxy substituents based PVC membrane is used for Cd(II) ions (selectivity 30 mV/decade) and oxamide and thioamide ionophores functionalised PVC membrane was reported for Pb(II) ions [40]. Another calixarene structure; 4-tert-butylcalix[4]arene (NaTPB: DBP: PVC) doped PVC based membrane is used for selective sensing towards Pb (II) with selectivity 30 mV/decade, and author acclaimed the stability of the electrode up to 6 months without change in its potential state [41].

In order to resolve the adhesion problem between polymeric membrane and the transducer, poly(vinyl chloride vinyl alcohol-vinyl acetate) (PVC-PVA-PVAc) polymer was used instead of Poly vinyl chloride (PVC). Dipropyloctadecyl Dioxadiamide was entrapped within modified polymeric membrane to make graphitic solid state sensor (CSSD or CHEMFET) and ISE towards Pb (II) & Cd (II) sensing [42]. Cutting-edge evolution in polymeric materials, as new class materials known as conducting polymers were also gained interest in order to improve the sensing application. The conducting polymers are not only hydrophilic in nature but also improve adhesion properties with the transducer. The OFETs based on this class materials reports low cost, low toxicity, enhanced conductance properties and good adhesions of the membrane spin coated high mobility polyisoindigo-based polymer with siloxane-containing solubilizing chains33 (PII2T-Si) was reported to form polymer OFET, suitable for sensing of Hg (II) ions in fresh water as well as marine water [43]. in the modification of FETs with different variants, an extended gate FETs are also getting popular to use as a solid state device. Alternative factual pentacene surface functionalised Pyrene with thiol group (py-SH) was reported towards OFET designing to increase channel sensitivity to Hg^{2+} ion. This material is capable of sensing Hg^{2+} ion as low as 0.01 μ M [44].

8 1-D and 2-D Nanomaterials and Nanostructures

Class of 2-D nanomaterials contains Graphene, MoS_2 , phosphorene and many more. All the 2-D structures impose best electrical and conduction properties which makes them suitable choices. Among the all, graphene is the most preferred choice of researchers.

Carbon nanostructures such as reduced graphene [45–50], CNT (single wall and multiwall) structures [47, 51] were modified or anchored with biomolecules such aptamers [52], peptides [45], DNAzyme [53, 54], nanoparticle [49, 54] and with various polymers [46] to make sensor more sensitive and selective towards Hg (II) [46, 47, 51–53], Cd (II) [48], Cu (II) [45], Ni (II) [45], Pb (II) [49, 51, 54].

In recent times, the **2D-layered transition-metal dichalcogenides (TMDs)** gained attention due to its tunable electronic properties, high swapping ratio of $\sim 10^8$, carrier freedom of movement of 200 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ [55–57]. These exceptional features are making MoS₂ a hopeful material in future FET sensing.

Li et al. [57], has tried to explore the working and masking ability towards Schottky barrier (SC). The author also tried explore its use as an ionosphere towards As (III) with reported LOD of 0.1 ppb. Also, An and Jang [55] had designed a sensor utilizing the properties of MoS₂ and conducting polymer carboxylic polypyrrole (CPPy). As it is using two electronically conducting entities, hence it will result in extensively satisfying results. The electrode formed was named as carboxylic polypyrrole (CPPy)-coated flower-like MoS₂ Nano-spheres (CFMNSs) in order to bind As (III) with LOD: 1 pM. Zhou et al. [56] had also used MoS₂ structure decorated with Au NPs and functionalised by DNA electrode and named it hybrid FET towards sensing of Hg (II) with LOD: 9.9 nM and showed isolated behaviour towards potential interfering metal ions such as As⁵⁺, Cd²⁺, Pb²⁺ etc.

Black phosphorus (BP) is a material belongs to TMDs. Like graphene BP is also have multilayers stacked together with Vander Waal interaction and can be exfoliated to mono or multilayered systems. BP shows better carrier mobility (1000 cm² V^{-1} s⁻¹) than conventional materials, larger current on/off ratio (1 × 10³ to 1 × 10⁵) than graphene and better molecule adsorption. Most fascinating feature is its high surface to volume ratio for designing an ultrasensitive sensing platform using BP. The biggest and the only limitation with BP is its physical stability [58]. Guihua Zhou et al. Had reported FET for As (III) ions, for that, BP film acts as channel material although the probe dithiothreitol (DTT) decorated on gold (Au) nanoparticles (NPs) acts as receptor for As (III). Author acclaimed the stable, sensitive and selective probe for As (III) with LOD 1 nM [59]. Li et al. [58], had



Fig. 5 a Photograph of OTFT sensor with $2\mu L Hg^{2+}$ ion droplet on the channel, **b** binding mechanism of Hg^{2+} to py-SH, **c** colour plot for $\Delta I_{DS}/I_{DS0}$ of Hg^{2+} ion concentrations ranging from 1 mM to 1 μ M, **d** linear fitting of 150 to 1 μ M concentration of Hg^{2+} [44]

reported air stable high performance BP encapsulated by ionophore coating. This layer is used as a gating material in which adsorption mechanism of Pb (II) ions were studied according to Langmuir Blogett isotherm. The author had reported the sensitivity towards Pb (II) to be 1 ppb. The paper is written so nicely that, every aspect is covered very nicely [44] (Fig. 5).

Silicon nanowires (SiNWs) are pseudo one-dimensional (1D) assemblies with a diameter of less than 100 nm resulting in larger surface to volume ratio. Hence, suitable for various electronic applications. For sensing, the small volume will excellently tolerate and respond to very small input signal making them suitable for chemical sensing and biochemical sensing [60]. The author had reported 3-mercaptopropyltriethoxysilane (MPTES) functionalized Silicon nanowires, to sense Hg²⁺ and Cd²⁺ ions. Through *I-V* characteristics, the CHEMFET demonstrated high selectivity and sensitivity with a detection limit down to $10^{-7} M$ for Hg²⁺ and $10^{-4} M$ for Cd²⁺ ions [61].

Other Materials: The HEMT (or High Electron Mobility Transistor) is a new class of high performance transistor having a combination of low noise figure and very high levels of presentation at frequencies lying in microwave region. This is a significant device for designing high speed digital and microwave circuits. It comprises of PN junction known as Metal semiconductor junction (MESFET) or Schottky barrier [62].

In the field of heavy metal sensing platform author [63] had reported a sensing mechanism based on Pb-ISHEMT (i.e. lead-ion selective HEMT). The gating material was made by ion selective membrane (ISM) incorporated with electrical double layer (EDL). Using this material Pb was sensed up to 10^{-10} M and detection time <10 min. K. H. Chen et al. had reported HEMT towards Hg(II) using Thioglycolic acid functionalized Au-gated AlGaN/GaN HEMT [62]. The outcomes propose that handy, fast response, and wireless technology based heavy metal ion sensors.

In extended gate FETs, the gate terminal is extended and connected to ITO, this won't add too cost to the device but provides flexibility of easy functionalization of the gate terminal. In the series of heavy metal sensing, OFET with an L-cysteine-immobilized extended gate electrode was designed for Hg (II) ion sensing [64]. To improve the stability of the membrane towards acidic nature, chalcogenide type of glass is commonly used in pH sensitive meter/probe. Author here used $Ge_{28}Se_{60}Sb_{12}$ chalcogenide glass and metal copper was deposited to make Cu-Ge-Se-Sb pattern to form a Cu (II) ion sensitive membrane over the gate terminal was deposited and the analysis resulted in 10^{-6} mol/L limit of detection [65].

Detection using enzymes/inorganic species entrapped polymeric membranes:

Electrode developed by single-crystal lanthanum fluoride (LaF3) for fluorine detection, named as Fluoride ion-sensitive electrode (FISE) by Frat and Ross in 1966. It has various features like good selectivity, stability, and rapid response [66]. The only limiting factor was its high cost. Later, in 1970 when Bergverd introduced the concept of ISFET, then fluoride will be sensed by the combination of single crystal LaF3 and ISFET. Later, some of the papers were reported towards fluoride sensitive ISFET using polycrystalline LaF₃ and the membrane formed was deposited with structure (Si-SiO₂-Si₃N₄,-LaF₃). This gate membrane will detect the behaviour of the electrolyte in contact with it [67]. Similarly, buffer β -alanine (2-aminopropionic acid) HC1 with and without and **CDTA** (1,2-cyclohexanediamine tetraacetic acid) [68] and Storensen's buffer (a mixture of glycine and hydrochloric acid, pH 2.8) [69] was testified to govern free and total fluoride concentrations. Sensing of fluoride completes when we get the complete information about concentration of free fluorine and total fluorine. Therefore, concept of pF-ISFET and pH-ISFET were introduced in which pH-ISFET is taken as reference electrode and pF-ISFET is used to calculate concentration of fluorine even at very low level [70]. In order to replace LaF_3 electrode constantly various other materials were being reported. Some authors used plasticized uranyl salophen supramolecular complex [71]. Further, LAPS (Light Addressable Potentiometric Sensor) heterostructure (Au/Si/LaF₃) were investigated for sensitive fluoride detection [72]. Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) functionalized the gold surface with self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) of fluoride-sensitive ligands were also used towards sensing of fluoride and sodium [73]. EIS based electrode using poly LaF_3 were also reported with 1.9 ppb detection limit. The device is accomplished by sensitivity, detection limit, lesser hysteresis voltage, and slight drift ratio [74].

Organophosphate is a well known toxic compound. Organophosphate has various derivative to act as pesticide, insecticide, weedicide etc. Commonly known method for electrode designing in ISFET towards pesticides is incorporating enzyme into the polymeric membrane to immobalise the analyte of interset. Membrane A: Polymethylmethacrylate with monomer bisphenol-A-bis(2-hydroxypropyl methacrylate) For Pesticide and Membrane B: polyacrylamide with monomer bifunctional bisacrylamide for Cu (II) with enzyme urease and AChE was reported.

9 Conclusion and Prospective

As per the complete discussion, sensing through potentiometric technique is a good alternative to many lab based detection techniques such as optical detection, electrochemical detection techniques and others, because of the ability to miniaturization and easy commercial bulk production of the sensing electrode. But, still there is a great room for research to investigate materials to make fast response devices such as HEMTs (High Electron Mobility Transistors) in lower the response time and enhancement in sensitivity many folds.

Acknowledgements The authors gratefully acknowledge the Ministry of Human Resource Development (MHRD), New Delhi for financial support to conduct the study.

References

- US EPA. (2014). Drinking water contaminants, http://water.epa.gov/drink/contaminants/ index.cfm, accessed January 2014.
- Shannon, M. A., Bohn, P. W., Elimelech, M., Georgiadis, J. G., Marinas, B. J., & Mayes, A. M. (2010). Science and technology for water purification in the coming decades. In *Nanoscience and technology: A collection of reviews from nature Journals* (pp. 337–346).
- 3. Environmental Protection Agency, US. (2006). *Inorganic contaminant accumulation in potable water distribution systems*. USA: Office of Groundwater and Drinking Water.
- 4. UN WWAP. (2003). The world water development report 1: Water for people, water for life. UNESCO, Paris
- 5. Elimelech, M. (2006). The global challenge for adequate and safe water. *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA*, 55(1), 3–10.
- 6. Fawell, J., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2003). Contaminants in drinking water environmental pollution and health. *British Medical Bulletin*, 68(1), 199–208.
- Devi, P., Sharma, C., Kumar, P., Kumar, M., Bansod, B. K., Nayak, M. K., et al. (2017). Selective electrochemical sensing for arsenite using rGO/Fe₃O₄ nanocomposites. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 322, 85–94.
- 8. Barakat, M. A. (2011). New trends in removing heavy metals from industrial wastewater. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, 4(4), 361–377.

- 9. World Health Organization. (2003). Nitrate and nitrite in drinking-water: Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality (No. WHO/SDE/ WSH/04.03/56). World Health Organization.
- Squillace, P. J., Moran, M. J., Lapham, W. W., Price, C. V., Clawges, R. M., & Zogorski, J. S. (1999). Volatile organic compounds in untreated ambient groundwater of the United States, 1985–1995. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 33(23), 4176–4187.
- Susheela, A. K. (1999). Fluorosis management programme in India. *Current Science*, 77(10), 1250–1256.
- 12. Fawell, J., Bailey, K., Chilton, J., Dahi, E., & Magara, Y. (2006). *Fluoride in drinking-water*. IWA Publishing.
- 13. Water, S., & World Health Organization. (2004). *Guidelines for drinking-water quality. Vol. 1, Recommendations.*
- Gopal, R., & Ghosh, P. K. (1985). Fluoride in drinking water-its effects and removal. *Defence Science Journal*, 35(1), 71–88.
- 15. Eswar, P., Nagesh, L., & Devaraj, C. G. (2011). Intelligence quotients of 12-14 year old school children in a high and a low fluoride village in India. *Fluoride*, 44(3), 168.
- 16. EGVM, U. (2002). Revised review of selenium. United Kingdom Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals (EVM/99/17. REVISEDAUG2002).
- Klapec, T., Mandić, M. L., Grgić, J., Primorac, L., Ikić, M., Lovrić, T. ... Herceg, Z. (1998). Daily dietary intake of selenium in eastern Croatia. *Science of the Total Environment*, 217(1– 2), 127–136.
- 18. Smith, M. I., & Westfall, B. B. (1937). Further field studies on the selenium problem in relation to public health. *Public Health Reports, 1896–1970,* 1375–1384.
- 19. Scott, R. C., & Voegeli, P. T. (1961). *Radiochemical analyses of ground and surface water in Colorado, 1954–1961*. Colorado Water Conservation Board.
- Lindberg, P., & Bingefors, S. (1970). Selenium levels of forages and soils in different regions of Sweden. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, 20(2), 133–136.
- World Health Organization. (2003). Selenium in drinking-water: Background document for development of WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality (No. WHO/SDE/WSH/03.04/13). World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2003). Atrazine in drinking-water: Background document for development of WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality (No. WHO/SDE/WSH/03.04/32). World Health Organization.
- McClellan, K., & Halden, R. U. (2010). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in archived US biosolids from the 2001 EPA national sewage sludge survey. *Water Research*, 44 (2), 658–668.
- Gupta, A., Maranas, C. D., & McDonald, C. M. (2000). Mid-term supply chain planning under demand uncertainty: Customer demand satisfaction and inventory management. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 24(12), 2613–2621.
- 25. Ram, R. (1990). Educational expansion and schooling inequality: International evidence and some implications. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 72(2), 266–274.
- Harvey, P. M., Wilking, B. A., Joy, M., & Lester, D. F. (1984). An infrared study of the bi-polar outflow region GGD 12–15.
- Duthaler, G. M., Amundson, K. R., Comiskey, B., Gates, H. G., Goenaga, A., Ritter, J. E. ... Pullen, A. E. (2009). U.S. Patent No. 7,561,324. Washington, DC: U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.
- Sharma, S., Sachdeva, P., & Virdi, J. S. (2003). Emerging water-borne pathogens. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 61(5–6), 424–428.
- 29. https://www.safewater.org/fact-sheets-1/2017/1/23/pesticides.
- Bhardwaj, J., Gupta, K. K., & Gupta, R. (2015, February). A review of emerging trends on water quality measurement sensors. In 2015 International Conference on Technologies for Sustainable Development (ICTSD) (pp. 1–6). IEEE.
- 31. https://www.berkeywater.com/news/a-look-at-radiological-water-contaminants/.
- 32. Moore, G. E. (1965). Cramming more components onto integrated circuits.

- 33. Laws, D. A. (2010). A company of legend: The legacy of fairchild semiconductor. *IEEE* Annals of the History of Computing, 32(1), 60–74.
- Moore, G. E. (1975, December). Progress in digital integrated electronics. In *Electron devices meeting* (Vol. 21, pp. 11–13).
- 35. https://www.electronics-tutorials.ws/transistor/tran_1.html.
- 36. Neamen, D. A. (2001). Electronic circuit analysis and design (Vol. 2). McGraw-Hill.
- Lee, Y. H., Jang, M., Lee, M. Y., Kweon, O. Y., & Oh, J. H. (2017). Flexible field-effect transistor-type sensors based on conjugated molecules. *Chem*, 3(5), 724–763.
- Jimenez-Jorquera, C., Orozco, J., & Baldi, A. (2010). ISFET based microsensors for environmental monitoring. *Sensors*, 10(1), 61–83.
- 39. https://www.nature.com/subjects/supramolecular-chemistry.
- Cobben, P. L., Egberink, R. J., Bomer, J. G., Bergveld, P., Verboom, W., & Reinhoudt, D. N. (1992). Transduction of selective recognition of heavy metal ions by chemically modified field effect transistors (CHEMFETs). *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *114*(26), 10573–10582.
- Gupta, V. K., Mangla, R., & Agarwal, S. (2002). Pb (II) selective potentiometric sensor based on 4-tert-butylcalix [4] arene in PVC matrix. *Electroanalysis: An International Journal Devoted to Fundamental and Practical Aspects of Electroanalysis, 14*(15–16), 1127–1132.
- Borraccino, A., Campanella, L., Sammartino, M. P., Tomassetti, M., & Battilotti, M. (1992). Suitable ion-selective sensors for lead and cadmium analysis. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 7(1–3), 535–539.
- Knopfmacher, O., Hammock, M. L., Appleton, A. L., Schwartz, G., Mei, J., Lei, T... Bao, Z. (2014). Highly stable organic polymer field-effect transistor sensor for selective detection in the marine environment. *Nature communications*, 5, 2954.
- Rullyani, C., Shellaiah, M., Ramesh, M., Lin, H. C., & Chu, C. W. (2019). Pyrene-SH functionalized OTFT for detection of Hg²⁺ ions in aquatic environments. *Organic Electronics*.
- 45. Forzani, E. S., Li, X., Zhang, P., Tao, N., Zhang, R., Amlani, I., et al. (2006). Tuning the chemical selectivity of SWNT-FETs for detection of heavy-metal ions. *Small (Weinheim an der Bergstrasse, Germany)*, 2(11), 1283–1291.
- 46. Park, J. W., Park, S. J., Kwon, O. S., Lee, C., & Jang, J. (2014). High-performance Hg²⁺ FET-type sensors based on reduced graphene oxide–polyfuran nanohybrids. *Analyst*, 139(16), 3852–3855.
- 47. Li, M., Gou, H., Al-Ogaidi, I., & Wu, N. (2013). Nanostructured sensors for detection of heavy metals: A review.
- Yu, C., Guo, Y., Liu, H., Yan, N., Xu, Z., Yu, G., et al. (2013). Ultrasensitive and selective sensing of heavy metal ions with modified graphene. *Chemical Communications*, 49(58), 6492–6494.
- 49. Zhou, G., Chang, J., Cui, S., Pu, H., Wen, Z., & Chen, J. (2014). Real-time, selective detection of Pb²⁺ in water using a reduced graphene oxide/gold nanoparticle field-effect transistor device. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 6(21), 19235–19241.
- Schöning, M. J., Krause, R., Block, K., Musahmeh, M., Mulchandani, A., & Wang, J. (2003). A dual amperometric/potentiometric FIA-based biosensor for the distinctive detection of organophosphorus pesticides. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 95(1–3), 291–296.
- Pokhrel, L. R., Ettore, N., Jacobs, Z. L., Zarr, A., Weir, M. H., Scheuerman, P. R. ... Dubey, B. (2017). Novel carbon nanotube (CNT)-based ultrasensitive sensors for trace mercury (II) detection in water: a review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 574, 1379–1388.
- An, J. H., Park, S. J., Kwon, O. S., Bae, J., & Jang, J. (2013). High-performance flexible graphene aptasensor for mercury detection in mussels. ACS Nano, 7(12), 10563–10571.
- 53. Chang, J., Zhou, G., Gao, X., Mao, S., Cui, S., Ocola, L. E. ... Chen, J. (2015). Real-time detection of mercury ions in water using a reduced graphene oxide/DNA field-effect transistor with assistance of a passivation layer. *Sensing and bio-sensing research*, *5*, 97–104.

- Wen, Y., Li, F. Y., Dong, X., Zhang, J., Xiong, Q., & Chen, P. (2013). The electrical detection of lead ions using gold-nanoparticle-and DNAzyme-functionalized graphene device. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 2(2), 271–274.
- 55. An, J. H., & Jang, J. (2017). A highly sensitive FET-type aptasensor using flower-like MoS 2 nanospheres for real-time detection of arsenic (iii). *Nanoscale*, *9*(22), 7483–7492.
- Zhou, G., Chang, J., Pu, H., Shi, K., Mao, S., Sui, X. ... Chen, J. (2016). Ultrasensitive mercury ion detection using DNA-functionalized molybdenum disulfide nanosheet/gold nanoparticle hybrid field-effect transistor device. ACS Sensors, 1(3), 295–302
- Li, P., Zhang, D., Sun, Y. E., Chang, H., Liu, J., & Yin, N. (2016). Towards intrinsic MoS₂ devices for high performance arsenite sensing. *Applied Physics Letters*, 109(6), 063110.
- Li, P., Zhang, D., Liu, J., Chang, H., Sun, Y. E., & Yin, N. (2015). Air-stable black phosphorus devices for ion sensing. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 7(44), 24396– 24402.
- Zhou, G., Pu, H., Chang, J., Sui, X., Mao, S., & Chen, J. (2018). Real-time electronic sensor based on black phosphorus/Au NPs/DTT hybrid structure: Application in arsenic detection. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 257, 214–219.
- Mikolajick, T., & Weber, W. M. (2015). Silicon nanowires: Fabrication and applications. In Anisotropic nanomaterials (pp. 1–25). Cham: Springer.
- Luo, L., Jie, J., Zhang, W., He, Z., Wang, J., Yuan, G. ... Lee, S. T. (2009). Silicon nanowire sensors for Hg²⁺ and Cd²⁺ ions. *Applied Physics Letters*, 94(19), 193101.
- Chen, K. H., Wang, H. W., Kang, B. S., Chang, C. Y., Wang, Y. L., Lele, T. P., et al. (2008). Low Hg (II) ion concentration electrical detection with AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 134(2), 386–389.
- Chen, Y. T., Sarangadharan, I., Sukesan, R., Hseih, C. Y., Lee, G. Y., Chyi, J. I., & Wang, Y. L. (2018). High-field modulated ion-selective field-effect-transistor (FET) sensors with sensitivity higher than the ideal Nernst sensitivity. *Scientific reports*, 8.
- Minami, T., Minamiki, T., & Tokito, S. (2016). Detection of mercury (II) ion in water using an organic field-effect transistor with a cysteine-immobilized gold electrode. *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, 55(4S), 04EL02.
- Taillades, G., Valls, O., Bratov, A., Dominguez, C., Pradel, A., & Ribes, M. (1999). ISE and ISFET microsensors based on a sensitive chalcogenide glass for copper ion detection in solution. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 59(2–3), 123–127.
- Frant, M. S., & Ross, J. W. (1966). Electrode for sensing fluoride ion activity in solution. Science, 154(3756), 1553–1555.
- Moritz, W., Meierhöfer, I., & Müller, L. (1988). Fluoride-sensitive membrane for ISFETs. Sensors and Actuators, 15(3), 211–219.
- Hara, H., Yabuuchi, K., Higashida, M., & Ogawa, M. (1998). Determination of free and total fluoride in rain water using a continuous-flow system equipped with a fluoride ion-selective electrode detector. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 364(1–3), 117–123.
- 69. Hara, H., & Huang, C. C. (1997). Buffer composition suitable for determining very low fluoride concentrations using a fluoride ion-selective electrode and its application to the continuous analysis of rain water. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, *338*(1–2), 141–147.
- Moritz, W., van der Schoot, B. H., de Rooij, N. F., van der Vlekkert, H. H., & Ligtenberg, H. C. G. (1993). ISFET combination pH/pF for the fast determination of very low fluoride concentrations using acid solutions. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 13(1–3), 217–220.
- Ion, A. C., Ion, I., Antonisse, M. M. G., Snelink-Rüuel, B. H. M., & Reinhoudt, D. N. (2001). Characteristics of fluoride-selective electrode with uranyl salophen receptors in aqueous solutions. *Russian Journal of General Chemistry*, 71(2), 159–161.
- Ismail, A. B. M., Furuichi, K., Yoshinobu, T., & Iwasaki, H. (2002). Light-addressable potentiometric fluoride (F⁻) sensor. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 86(1), 94–97.

- 73. Stoop, R., Wipf, M., Müller, S., Bedner, K., Wright, I., Martin, C. ... Calame, M. (2016). Implementing silicon nanoribbon field-effect transistors as arrays for multiple ion detection. *Biosensors*, 6(2), 21
- Cho, H., Kim, K., Meyyappan, M., & Baek, C. K. (2019). LaF₃ electrolyteinsulator-semiconductor sensor for detecting fluoride ions. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 279, 183–188.

Materials in Colorimetric Detection of Water Pollutants



Rishabh Jain, Anupma Thakur, Praveen Kumar and D. Pooja

Abstract Evolution in the sensor design and their potential usage in water quality monitoring has revealed the aptitude of material science in the environment protection practices. Consequently, the progress in scientific literature is rising to tail consistent and sophisticated sensory platforms. In this context, colorimetric sensors are categorised as benchmarked sensor models, owing to their cost effectiveness in sensor design, ease of analysis, on-site pollutant monitoring capability, circumvents the use of multifaceted instrumentation and most importantly, user-friendliness. This chapter is focussed on the potential use of colorimetric sensors for the water-pollutant sensing and discusses the promising prospects of sensor developments (from choice of material to read-out tools) to assist nascent researchers to review the principles, mechanistic and advancements in existing trends in colorimetric sensory probes.

1 Introduction: Colorimetric Sensors for Water Pollutants

Water is one of the most important elements essential for the survival of life on the planet and so the monitoring of its quality. In the present scenario, colorimetric sensors are being used for the detection of various analytes such as proteins, organic compound, peptides, nucleic acids, toxic gases, humidity sensors and water pollutants. Water pollutants are broadly classified into four categories i.e. pathogens, inorganic materials, organic materials and macroscopic pollutants. Of them,

R. Jain · A. Thakur · D. Pooja (🖂)

R. Jain · A. Thakur

Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi 110001, India

Central Scientific Instruments Organisation, Sector 30C, Chandigarh 160030, India e-mail: poojaiitr@csio.res.in

P. Kumar

School of Materials Science, Indian Association for the Cultivation of Science, Kolkata 700032, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_8



Fig. 1 Common heavy metals with their permissible WHO limits and the health effects caused due to their overdose

Inorganic materials like heavy metals in particular mercury, arsenic, lead, cadmium, and other metals having high de is wide spread concern of the society when present in high concentrations and can have lethal effects to ecosystem as well as human health as shown in Fig. 1. Their accumulation can be due to leaching from waste disposal, industrial wastes, burning of fossil fuels, mining and other human activities. Further, in worst case, their exposure may even lead to death of humans or animals. Due to these reasons development of water monitoring technologies is the prominent area of research these days. The colorimetric technique is one of the preferred methods for the onsite detection of water pollutants because of the usage simplicity and affordability i.e. in most cases observations can be made by naked eyes without need of any expensive instrumentation for analysis. It does not require any skilled manpower for the analysis and can be used by the general public. Despite these advantages, the colorimetric techniques lack in accuracy and may not be able to fulfil the criteria of low detection limits, as compared to other

spectroscopic and chromatographic techniques. These disadvantages is usually due to high background noise and in case of naked eye observation, color perception can vary person to person. In order to increase the accuracy and achieve the low limit of detection by colorimetric techniques, many research groups today combining these methods with digital imaging techniques.

This chapter intends to provide an overview of the design of colorimetric sensors which includes principle of colorimetry and various sensing mechanisms on which sensors are based Also, the recent developments in the materials utilized for the colorimetric sensing of the water pollutants. Nevertheless, a discussion on the commercially available colorimetric sensors.

2 Principles, and Sensing Mechanisms of Colorimetric Sensors

2.1 Principle of Colorimetric Sensors

In order to design the colorimetric sensors for the detection of analyte, there are two major principle factors which are considered i.e. the change in absorbance value at particular wavelength and second is the shift in maximum absorption wavelength. These two factors can be studied and confirmed with the help of UV/Vis spectroscopy and observed by naked eyes. The sensors based upon the first principle, appears to fade or darken when the analyte is introduced based upon its concentration and in second case, the change of color to the new color is observed. There are times, when color changes are not observed by naked eyes, even when these changes are observed with the help of UV/Vis spectroscopy. The rhodamine based copolymer poly(2, 3-dihydroxybutylene-alt-2,3-dihydroxybutylenedithioether) [P(DHB-a-DHBDT)] self-assembled onto 2-(5-bromopyridine-2-yl)-3',6'-bis (diethylamino)spiro-[isoindoline-1,9'-xanthene]-3-thione shows the sensitivity towards the Hg(II) ions, in which color change from colourless to pink color observed by naked eyes as shown in Fig. 2. The said probe utilizes the second principle of colorimetry and its sensing mechanism is based upon the shifting of aromatic protons in the presence of metal ions [1].

Apart from these above-mentioned principles there are practical considerations which needs to be considered i.e. solubility of the sensor and matrix of the analyte, pH of the medium and behaviour of analyte in that pH, and medium does not have spectral overlap with the analyte to avoid interference while analysis.

Further, there are four major transduction methods or parameters which are considered or evaluated while designing colorimetric sensors i.e. aggregation observed while using metal nanoparticles, pH in case of organic dyes, in case of polymers conjugation geometry, and analyte induced reactions when dependent on irreversible chemical change. These transduction parameters cause the color changes upon the addition of the analyte to the matrix.



Fig. 2 Behaviour of Probe in the presence of Hg(II) (adapted from Ref. [1])

2.2 Sensing Mechanisms of Colorimetric Sensors

There are different sensing mechanisms based upon which colorimetric sensors can be designed i.e. Intramolecular Charge Transfer, Forster Resonance Energy Transfer, aggregation, pH, indicator formation,

2.2.1 Intramolecular Charge Transfer (ICT)

ICT refers to the charge transfer to the electron deficient acceptor from election rich moiety within the same molecule. It generally occurs when the molecule is in the photoexcited state by absorbing the light of specific wavelength which facilitates the transfer of electron from one part of molecules to the another. This forms a π -bridge which connects the donor and acceptor groups. Utilizing this sensing mechanism, the receptor molecule aminonaphthoquinones is utilized to design the colorimetric detection of Cu(II) where pyridine N-atom and amine N-atom forms square planar complex with Cu(II) shown in inset of Fig. 3. This results in blue shift of ICT band and increase in d-d transitions upon the increase in concentration of Cu(II) ions. These results in change in color of receptor from yellow to blue instantaneously, which indicates the selectivity of Cu(II) towards the synthesized receptor as shown in Fig. 3 [2]. Similarly, hemicyanine is reported as colorimetric sensing agent for Hg(II) ions which changes its color from red to colourless, which is also confirmed by the changes in UV/Vis spectra [3].

The concept of ICT has been utilized in several for colorimetric sensing applications, but there are challenges which still exist to utilize its full potentials.



Fig. 3 Effect on receptor upon the addition of Cu(II) ions observed by UV/Vis Spectra and naked eye (inset: square planar complex formation upon the addition of Cu(II) (adapted from Ref. [2])

2.2.2 Forster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET)

FRET occurs when there is transfer of energy from the donor fluorophore to acceptor fluorophore which are in close proximity between 1 and 10 nm in the absence of radiation through dipole-dipole interactions. For the FRET to occur, there should be a spectral overlap between the absorption of acceptor and emission of receptor and high quantum yield as shown with the help of example in Fig. 4a.

Recently Wanichacheva and his co-workers developed a FRET based Hg(II) sensor where helicene dyes used as energy donor fluorophores and exhibits high quantum yield and rhodamine 6G dyes as energy acceptor as it has absorption and emission wavelengths in the visible region, large molar extinction coefficient and high quantum yield as well [4]. Further, large stokes shifts of donor minimizes interference and small stokes shifts of the acceptor fluorophores which could leads to self-absorption. This small stokes shift of the rhodamine 6G dyes also changes the ring structure of the amide, which produces a fluorescent enhancement and colorimetric change. The both donor and acceptor molecules connected to each other by hydrazine moiety and upon the addition of Hg(II) to the sensor, the color change from greenish yellow to orange is observed by the naked eyes and also confirmed by UV/Vis Spectroscopy as shown in Fig. 4b [4].

Further, rhodamine-6G in another work is appended with benzothiazole conjugated quinoline derivative and used as a ratiometric probe for the detection of Fe (III) using FRET mechanism. Here, color change to yellowish orange from



Fig. 4 a Overlap of emission and absorption of rhodamine 6G (R6G) and Helicene(5H). **b** Effect on UV/Vis spectra of sensor as function of Hg(II) concentration (a) 0 mM, (b) 10.0 mM, (c) 16.7 mM, (d) 23.3 mM, (e) 36.7 mM, (f) 50.0 mM, (g) 63.3 mM, (h) 83.3 mM (adapted from Ref. [4])

colourless is observed upon the addition of Fe(III) and their absorption spectra is also studied using UV/Vis spectroscopy for the different concentrations of the Fe(III) [5].

2.2.3 Aggregation Based Approaches

In colorimetric sensing, in most of the cases these approaches are utilized by the metal NPs such gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), and others like platinum nanoparticles (PtNPs) or their complex as they are having the characteristic property of localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR). This



Fig. 5 Effect of aggregation on the color on nanoparticles (adapted from Ref. [6])

property exhibits its effect, when the frequency of conducting electrons matches with the incident electromagnetic radiations. LSPR effect is dependent upon the morphology i.e. shape, size, and interparticle distance, composition, and optical properties like refractive index of the nanoparticles. For example, when there is a decrease in interparticle distance, strong overlap between plasmon fields occurs which causes the red shift in LSPR and can result in change in intensity and observable color change that can be noticed by naked eyes. The aggregation-based approaches are usually simple in design in comparative to other mention approaches. In case of quantum dots, these approaches, when results in the increase of emission intensity then refer as aggregation induced emission and decrease in intensity refer as aggregation induced quenching.

Considering these approaches, Rajendiran and his co-workers synthesized the AuNPs and AgNPs stabilised by L-tyrosine for the detection of Pb(II), Hg(II) and Mn(II). When Hg(II) is added to the solution of as synthesized AgNPs, then color changes from yellow to colorless and changes to brown in case of Mn(II). Similarly, the color change is observed in case of AuNPs due to aggregation upon the addition of Pb(II) and Hg(II) as shown in Fig. 5. There is no color change is observed when other ions apart from these are added to the solution [6].

3 Advances in Materials Used as Colorimetric Sensors

In the recent years, various chromogenic materials have been reconnoitred for the colorimetric based quantification of heavy metal ions, especially in water matrix. Here, in this section, we have categorized the materials into three kinds based upon the molecular assembly and properties, i.e., organically tailored linkers, nanomaterials/quantum dots, and other polymeric, MOF etc. materials as tabularized in Table 1.

Material	Heavy metals	Analytical details	Water matrix				
Organic tailored linkers							
P(DHB-a-DHBDT) grafted with PST probes [1]	Hg(II)	LOD: 10.6 ppb	River water; Distilled water				
sulfo-rhodamine 101 with cuprizone [19]	Cu(II)	LOD: 0.1 ppb	Groundwater; Distilled water				
HCFI [20]	Cu(II)	LOD: 1 ppm; LR: 0.1–10 ppm	Waste water				
Heptamethine cyanine dye [9]	Ag(I)	LOD: 3 ppb	Lake water; Tap water; River water				
MPA derivatized RS [8]	Hg(II)	LOD: 0.29 ppb	Waste water; Tap water; Drinking water				
Nitro-functionalized Co(II) based MOF [11]	Hg(II), MnO ₄ ⁻	LOD: 800 ppb for Hg(II)	Distilled water				
PyDPP [21]	Hg(II), Cu (II)	LOD: 5 ppb	Distilled water				
Tpy-QL; Tpy-BZ [7]	Fe(II), Fe (III), Co(II) and Hg(II)	LOD: Hg(II), Co(II), Fe(II), and Fe(III) are calculated to be 6.51, 0.34, 0.49, and 1.01 ppb; Naked eye limit: 10, 25, 10, and 200 ppb for Fe(II), Fe(III), Co (II), and Hg(II)	Tap water; River water; Ground water				
Nanomaterials based platform	ns	·					
HS-CH ₂ - 6-GGGTGGGTGGGTGG aptamer modified oligonucleotide [22]	Pb(II); Hg (II)	LOD: 100 ppb for Pb(II); 500 ppb for Hg(II)	Lake water; Distilled water				
BSA-AuNCs and L-Cys-AuNCs [17]	Hg(II)	LOD: 1.8 ppb	Distilled water				
PEG functionalized AgNPs [15]	As(III)	LOD: 1 ppb	Distilled water				
Glucose capped CuNPs [16]	Ag(I)	LOD: 10 ppm; LR: 10–60 ppm	River water				
amino-carbon dots and AuNCs [23]	Cu(II); Pb (II)	LOD: 100 ppb for Pb(II); 9.5 ppb for Cu(II)	Distilled water				
Nitrogen-doped graphene QDs [13]	Fe(III)	LOD = 132 ppb; LR = 88– 132 ppm	Distilled water				
captopril modified HgS/ZnS core/shell QDs [14]	Cr(III)	LOD: 51 ppb	Distilled water				

 Table 1
 Recent materials for colorimetric sensing of inorganic water pollutions

(continued)

Material	Heavy metals	Analytical details	Water matrix			
Other chromogenic materials						
ZIF-8/GO [24]	Ag(I)	LOD = 153 ppt	River water; Human serum			
PAN fibre [25]	Hg(II), Cu (II)	Screening only	Distilled water			
Curcumin based NFs [26]	Pb(II)	LOD: 207 ppm	Distilled water			
PAR onto PAN fibre [27]	Hg(II)	LOD = 35 ppb	Distilled water			

Table 1 (continued)

BSA bovine serum albumin, Cys cysteine, GOgraphene oxide, HCFI 3_ (5-hydroxy-4-carboxyphenylimino)-5-fluoro indol-2(H)one reagent, LOD limit of detection LR linear range, MOF metal-organic framework, MPA mercapto-propanoic acid, NC nanocluster, NF nanofiber, NP nanoparticle, PAR 4-(2-pyridylazo)-resorcinol, PAN polyacrylonitrile, PEG 3-dihydroxybutylene-alt-2,3-dihydroxypolyethylene glycol, P(DHB-a-DHBDT) poly(2, butylenedithioether), PST 2-(5-bromopyridine-2-yl)-3',6'-bis(diethylamino)-spiro[isoin-**PyDPP** 2-(2-(2-methoxy)-ethyl)-3,6-di(pyridin-2-yl)doline-1,9'-xanthene]-3-thione, 2,5-dihydropyrrolo[3,4-c]pyrrole-1,4-dione, QD quantum dots, RS rhodamine hydrazide, Tpy-BZ terpyridine benzo thiazolium iodide, Tpy-OL terpyridine quinolinium iodide, ZIF zeolite imidazolate frameworks

3.1 Organic Linkers

Organic Linkers refers to category of complexes which are organic ligands, for example, polyacrylonitrile (PAN) or coordinated to organic ligands like metal organic frameworks (MOFs). These organic ligands are defined as molecules that can bind to, and form a stable complex with, trace metals in the aquatic dissolved (typically <0.2 μ m) phase. They have always been an attractive complexing agent in trace metals detection by virtue of the selective chelating ability of their heteroatoms such as oxygen, sulphur, nitrogen, etc. In general, the formed selective complex is either a chelate or a ring. They often used in conjugation with metallic nanoparticles and quantum dots. Further, previously discussed sensing mechanisms can be employed for the detection of desired analytes. Here, recently discovered or utilized organic linkers in the area of colorimetric sensing of inorganic water pollutants are discussed.

Recently Tian et al. recognises the potential of small organic molecules in field of colorimetric detection of multiple inorganic metals ions and utilized them for the detection of Hg(II), Co(II), Fe(II), and Fe(III) well below the prescribed WHO limits [7]. To achieve this, Terpyridine (Tpy), a heterocyclic compound having three nitrogen elements results in strong chelating effects and ability to shows color changes and change in absorption spectra on interacting with metal ions. To improve the hydrophobicity of Tpy molecule quinolinium iodide (QL) and



Fig. 6 Schematics of complex formed after interaction with metal ions and their effect on absorption spectra (inset: change in color w.r.t. metal ions) (adapted from Ref. [7])

benzothiazolium iodide (BZ) is introduced. The color changes from colourless to pale yellow in case of Hg(II), pink with Co(II), dark blue for Fe(III), and light blue for Fe(II), which can be observed by the naked eyes. Further, the change in absorption spectra is also studied as shown in Fig. 6 [7].

Likewise, organic dye is another class of organic molecule, which are emerging these days as new fluorophore because of their interesting properties i.e. absorption of visible light, presence of chromophore, resonating electrons, and conjugated system. These properties makes them a good candidate in the field of colorimetric sensing. Of them rhodamine 6G, is one of the most popular dye used while designing the colorimetric sensor. Recently it has been used for the detection of Hg (II) ions after its modification with mercaptopropanoic acid (MPA) which provides thio functionality to the sensor so as to increase its sensitivity towards Hg(II). In the presence of Hg(II), color of sensor changes to pink from colourless [8]. Some examples of rhodamine 6G dye also discussed in Sect. 2. Apart from this, other dyes like heptamethine cyanine-based dye is used for the detection of the Ag(I)ions, where it changes its color to red from blue, which can easily notice by the naked eyes. Further, gradual change in UV/Spectra is observed upon increasing the concentration of Ag(I) ions [9]. Further boron-based dyes like boron-dipyrromethene are also gaining potential in this field. This particular dye is having thia-aza crown ether as metal ion receptor and is used for the uv-based colorimetric detection of Hg(II) ions, here color changes from colourless to green under the UV light [10].

Metal organic frameworks (MOFs) are another promising candidate used for the colorimetric detection. MOFs consists of coordination bonds between organic linkers and transition metal cations, offers many active sites for the detection of inorganic ions and have high surface are attributed to their high porosity. MOFs are having void spaces in between, which are utilized to capture the desired analyte and hence can have high selectivity. Recently, Sun et al. synthesized a nitro

functionalised Co(II) based MOF for the detection of Hg(II) and $MnO_4(-I)$ ions. The MOFs contains a nitro-functionalised ligand (NPDC) which is synthesized by solvothermal method. The 3D structure of MOF consists of bipyridine linkers and NPDC ligand coordinated to Co(II). Upon the addition of ions to the MOF containing solution, change in intensity of color can easily be observed by naked eyes [11].

3.2 Nanomaterials Based Platforms

Nanomaterials such as quantum dots, and metallic nanoparticles offers large surface area and simplicity in sensor design which makes them suitable for the sensing applications. Quantum dots (QDs) are the zero-dimensional semiconductor nanocrystals with the size usually less than 12 nm. Due to this, they have substantial advantages in the field of sensing process as an outcome of their exceptional optical and electronic properties. These properties include high fluorescence quantum yield, broad absorption spectra, tuneable composition, high photostability, etc. Also, QDs can overcome issues including pH dependence, self-quenching at high concentrations, and photobleaching with the traditional fluorescent probes [12]. Upon realizing these advantages, Zhou et al., synthesized nitrogen doped graphene quantum dots for the colorimetric sensing of Fe(III). Here, these QDs prepared by hydrothermal treatment and ethylenediamine (EDA) is used as nitrogen source change in intensity of blue color w.r.t. change in concentration Fe(III) ions is observed by naked eyes under the UV light [13]. Further, Wang et al. developed a HgS/ZnS core/shell quantum dots for the visual sensing of Cr(III) ions [14].

Metallic nanoparticles are like gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), and copper nanoparticles(CuNPs) are another promising candidates which are used to described nanosized metals with dimensions (length, width or thickness) within the size range 1-100 nm. The main characteristics of these particles are large surface-area-to-volume ratio as compared to the bulk equivalents, large surface energies the transition between molecular and metallic states providing specific electronic structure (local density of states LDOS), plasmon excitation, quantum confinement, short-range ordering, increased number of kinks, a large number of low-coordination sites such as corners and edges, having a large number of "dangling bonds" and consequently specific and chemical properties and the ability to store excess electrons. Using these benefits, Biswas et al. reported the use of polyethylene glycol (PEG) functionalised AgNPs for the colorimetric detection of arsenic with the detection limit of 1 ppb [15]. PEG is a biocompatible polymer contains various hydroxyl groups which acts as the binding sites for the As (III) and AgNPs are having its characteristic property of Localized surface plasmon resonance which depends upon the dielectric constant of the surrounding environment. Here, red shift in localized surface plasmon resonance and color change from pale yellow to bluish color is observed upon the addition of arsenic(III). Further schematic representation of sensing of As(III) is shown in Fig. 7 [15].



Fig. 7 Schematics of formation of AgNPs for the colorimetric detection of As(III) (adapted from Ref. [15])

Similarly, the use of glucose modified copper nanoparticles (Glc-CuNPs) having high fluorescence is reported for the visual detection of Ag(I). Upon the addition of Ag(I) ions to the sensor assay, aggregation of Glc-CuNPs occurs, which results decay of fluorescence and gradual change in intensity of color on increasing the concentration of Ag(I) is observed [16].

Further, Zhao et al. reported a ratiometric probe having blue colored L-cysteine-Au NCs as internal standard probe and red colored bovine serum albumin-Au nanocluster as detection probes for the sensing of Hg(II) ions. In presence of Hg(II) ions detection probe shows the fluorescence quenching but no effect on the fluorescent signals of internal standard probe i.e. AuNCs. This causes color variations from red to blue, and thereby enabling the visual detection of Hg(II) ions by naked eyes as shown in Fig. 8 [17].

3.3 Other Chromogenic Materials

Apart from organic linkers, metal nanoparticles, quantum dots, there are other materials deliberated here. Li F. et al. reported a two-fold metal-organic framework (MOF), [Co (NPDC) (bpee)]·DMF·2H₂O (1) (NPDC = 2-nitro phenylenedicarboxylate, bpee = 1,2-bis(4-bipyridyl) ethylene) nitro functionalized ligand (NPDC) and bipyridine type linkers (bpee) coordinated to Co(II). The complex consists of a 3D structure which exhibits high selectivity for the sensing of MnO_4^- and heavy metal ion Hg^{2+} in water by quenching or enhancing luminous intensity [11]. Similarly, Deng et al. reported a


Fig. 8 Schematic for determination of Hg(II) ions (adapted from Ref. [17])

dual functionalized material by incorporating a chromophore, 4-(2-pyridylazo)resorcinol (PAR), onto polyacrylonitrile (PAN) fiber for the detection and removal ability for heavy metal ions, including Hg^{2+} , Cu^{2+} , Pb^{2+} and Ni^{2+} [18].

4 Perspectives and Strategies in Colorimetric Sensor Development "Lab-to-Market"

4.1 Colorimetric Sensors on Solid Supports

The effectiveness of any colorimetric sensor is inclined not only by the choice of materials (e.g., chemo responsive dyes, organic ligands, metal nanoparticles quantum dots,) but also by the selection of substrate type and materials (e.g., geometry of flow path and immobilization technique) [28]. The vital characteristics of substrates include optical transparency (owing to high reflectivity), regular

structure, stability, and chemical compatibility. Mostly, opted substrates are based upon cellulose derivatives like cellulose paper, chromatography paper, printer paper, etc., polymeric membranes like polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF), polypropylene (PP), and polyethylene terephthalate (PET). Like as, Zhou et al. reported a quenching paper based sensor using Fluorescent Nitrogen-Doped Graphene Quantum Dots for the detection of Fe(III) and fabricated a paper strip using inkjet printing technology by HP inkjet printer 2050 onto bond paper. Te printed patterns were observed and photographed under 365 nm ultraviolet lamp, and the fluorescence intensity of the paper was scanned by fluorescence spectrometer [29].

4.2 Read-Out Signalling Approaches

The advancements in colorimetric sensing with the aid of ubiquitous consumer electronic products (like scanners, computers, mobile phones, etc.) as read-outs is a moderately new research arena. On the basis of reviewed literature, we have further analysed these consumer electronic products as read-out signalling approaches on the basis of commercial parameters such as market growth and user-friendliness as shown in Fig. 9.

Smartphones/mobiles (such as Apple, Samsung, OnePlus, and Nokia) have distinguished features of onboard processing potential similar to the hand-held reader. Furthermore, their worthy assets namely portability, user friendliness, and onboard image processing capability makes them a suitable candidate in this field. Like as, camera are also equipped with higher bandwidth data transfer methods to acquire images in a fraction of seconds. However, images acquired by the digital camera/camera can be affected by the improper focusing, alignment, lighting conditions, and many other factors. Furthermore, the high cost of digital cameras



Fig. 9 Consumer electronic products as read-out signalling approaches: market potential and user-friendliness

and associated accessories for image capturing is a fall back for their frequent use in colorimetric sensors. Scanners has some benefits over digital cameras and smartphones i.e. problems like focusing, blurry corners, movement, alignment, lighting, etc. which will affect the image quality and can cause variations in sensor data does not comes into existence while using scanners. But they suffer due to certain demerits like as lack of instant scanning of image, portability and extended scanning time for the acquisition of high-resolution image. Additionally, colour card are the physical colour reference for comparisons and measurements in colorimetric sensors. These are widely used in textile industry, food industry, photography etc. Although this approach is easy to implement and requires negligible instrumentation for the analysis but this method is largely affected by the intensity of light and error while color interpretation. Other devices like membrane strip reader which are type of microplate reader, fiber optic devices, etc. are also investigated in colorimetric imaging, but these devices suffer from user friendliness and portability, as they are not popular in comparison to the other available devices.

5 Case Study: Commercial Accomplishments of Existing Colorimetric Sensor Platforms for Water Pollutants

Knowingly, water pollution has turn out to be one of the utmost tenacious ecological glitch in the world today. Although a limited effort to commercialize the technology of colorimetric sensory platforms for the real-world water pollutant monitoring application have been known and now exists in global market. Some companies like Thermo Fisher Scientific, Merck, Sigma-Aldrich, Hanna Instruments, Elabscience, Libelium, Cole Parmer, CHEMetrics, Appealing Products, Inc., MicroWaterman, Appealing Products, Inc., Industrial Test Systems, Vitality Plus Australia, Inc., Industrial water systems, have also fruitfully commercialized their kits for online water quality monitoring as portrayed in Fig. 10. In this section, case study on recent progress in existing colorimetric sensor platforms is described with an emphasis on the various water pollutants i.e. chemical, microbiological, and other ecological contaminants. Furthermore, we highlight the available commercial kits and deliberate their market-potential to water research. Thermo Fisher Scientific launched Orion[™] AQUAfast AQ4000 Colorimeter to measure water and wastewater pollutants with 65 pre-programmed methods, automatic selection of four wavelengths and timer [30]. The water quality parameters measured include dissolved ions like as cyanide, fluoride, nitrite, nitrate, chloride, iodide, bromide, sulphide, ammonia, zinc, phosphate and sulphate. The company provides auto-test ampoules reagent with Orion[™] AOUAfast AO4000 colorimeter to abridge sample preparation and tests. The auto-test ampoules enclose a pre-measured quantity of liquid colorimetric reagent and effortlessly fill with the precise volume of sample to be tested for reagent mixing. Respectively, every



Fig. 10 Commercial colorimetric sensory platforms for the real-world water pollutant monitoring applications

ampoule contains an auto-ID barcode that is read by the AQ4000 colorimeter and used to spontaneously recognize the test water pollutant parameter [30].

In addition, *Glacier Clean* launched *Mobile Water Kit (MWK)* to measure contamination of water resources with *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* bacteria [31]. It contains a plunger-tube assembly with an in-built filter. The plunger-tube assembly comprises of a hydrogel encapsulating the explicitly developed colorimetric substrates selective towards *E. coli* and can facilitate the colorimetric detection of bacteria and identification of their concentration. The presence of *E. coli* will craft a colour change on the substrate. Besides, the kit is handy and can be used at the point of source itself thereby eradicating the need for transport of the water samples. This test kit also allow the user to map the location data with the help of a custom built smart phone application (m-Water), which is then automatically uploaded to a central server [31].

Similarly, $MQuant^{TM}$ test strips, from *Merck*, are pocket-sized laboratories for quick analysis and give the user a quick summary of substance concentrations present in the sample. By providing a means of pre-selection, they can contribute significantly to the lowering of the time and costs for laboratory analyses. The reaction zones are wetted by simple dipping into the solution being tested. After the given reaction time has elapsed (e.g., a maximum of two minutes), the colouring of the reaction zone is compared with the colour scale on the package to determine the concentration [32]. There is $MQuant^{\circledast}$ StripScan app, by Sigma-Aldrich, to determine pH or concentrations of chemicals in aqueous solutions. This easy-to-use mobile analytical detection platform provides reliable quantification of water, food & beverage samples for customers from research, industry, environment and diagnostics. The $MQuant^{\circledast}$ test strips are employed with contain all necessary

reagents, including those required for sample pre-treatment [33]. Additionally, *Merck's* colorimetric and titrimetric test kits are especially suited for the analysis of drinking water, ground water, clean water and mineral water as well as in water production. Each test kit pack contains all reagents necessary for the test with high-quality and brilliant colour cards decisively simplify the allocation of the samples to the stated values. In the titration tests the sample is titrated until the colour changes. The concentration of the tested parameter is determined by the number of drops consumed to the turning point or the scalar value read off from a pipette. For performing the colorimetric tests a colour reaction is produced by adding reagents to the sample solution. The special feature of these test kits range lies in the measurement of low concentrations down to the ppb range [34].

Likewise, *Hanna Instruments* launched colorimetric chemical (CC) test kits namely, phosphate test kit (*HI3833*), bromine test kit (*HI3830*), ammonia test kit (*HI3824*), chlorine test kit (*HI3831F*), nitrite test kit (*HI3873*), nitrate test kit (*HI3874*) and copper test kit (*HI3847*) [35]. The *HI3833* is a CC test kit that uses the ascorbic acid method to measure phosphate in water. The colour change determines the presence of phosphate. The *HI3830* is a CC test kit that determines the bromine concentration in samples within a 0 to 3 ppm bromine range. The *HI3830* is supplied with all of the necessary reagents and equipment to perform the analysis. The *HI3824* is a CC test kit that uses Nessler reagent to measure ammonia in fresh water within a 0.0 to 2.5 ppm range. The *HI3831F* determines the free chlorine concentration within a 0.0 to 2.5 ppm range by employing the DPD method. The *HI3873* uses the chromotropic acid method to measure nitrite within a 0.0 to 50 ppm range. The *HI3847* uses the bicinchoninate method to measure nitrate within a 0–2.5 ppm range [35].

Similarly, *Elabscience* launched *Urea Colorimetric Assay* Kit to measure the concentration of main water-pollutant, urea, in water resources, serum, plasma and urine [36]. This kit uses the strong diacetyl oxime-urea chemistry. In the presence of urea, diacetyl oxime form red diazine compound. The gradient of red diazine colour is relational to the concentration of urea [36].

Also, *Heavy Metal Test* kit, from *Vitality Plus Australia*, is a home testing kit for checking heavy metals in both urine, saliva, and liquids. Easy to use it will detect the presence of ionic metals in the liquid solutions tested. This is an economical way to see what under the naked eye cannot see from water (bore water, tap water, and tank water), urine, and saliva. The testing kit can also be used to detect the presence of heavy metals (mercury, lead, cadmium, chromium and thallium) in other complicated media like paint, foods, makeup, skin care, etc. [37].

Likewise, *Libelium*, a reputed company of Spain, launched *Waspmote Smart Water*, a smart water wireless sensor platform to abridge remote water quality monitoring [38]. Furnished with multiple sensors that measure the most relevant water quality parameters, *Waspmote Smart Water* is the water quality-sensing platform to feature autonomous nodes that connect to the cloud for real-time water control. This platform is an ultra-low-power water-pollutant sensor designed for use in rugged environments to detect changes and potential risk to public health in real

time. It is suitable for potable water monitoring, chemical leakage detection in rivers, remote measurement of swimming pools and spas, and levels of seawater pollution. The water quality parameters measured include pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), oxidation-reduction potential (ORP), conductivity (salinity), turbidity, temperature and dissolved ions (fluoride, calcium, nitrate, chloride, iodide, cupric, bromide, silver, fluoroborate, ammonia, lithium, magnesium, nitrite, perchlorate, potassium and sodium [38].

Likewise, *SenSafe*[®] *Water Metals Check*, from *Industrial water systems*, determines the presence of heavy metals (cadmium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, mercury, nickel and zinc) present in water. This quick test uses a very sensitive non-specific indicator that detects many common heavy metals with detection limits to <10 ppb. This test is a screening tool and does not specify levels of each metal present [39].

Additionally, *Cole Parmer* launched *NECi Colorimetric Nitrate Water* Test Kit, for nitrate testing without the use of cadmium, a toxic heavy metal and known carcinogen. This kit uses the naturally occurring enzyme called nitrate reductase which safely measures nitrate within 0.5–10.0 ppm range by giving a colorimetric change in water samples [40].

Likewise, *TotalCARE Heavy Metal* Screen Test, from *MicroWaterman*, is a semi-quantitative, rapid, and user friendly test kit for the analysis of free zinc, copper, lead, mercury, cadmium, nickel, cobalt and manganese ions in the urine, saliva, water, etc. Any color change deviating from green to purple, pink, beige, red determines high heavy metal concentration (3–5 ppm) viewed directly below the surface level of the test tube represents the presence of heavy metal ions [41].

Furthermore, *CHEMetrics* launched *Iron* Test Kit, to measure the concentration of iron in water samples by using phenanthroline-colorimetric method. This kit uses 1,10-phenanthroline which securely measures iron within 1–10.0 ppm range by giving a colorimetric change in water samples. In the presence of iron, the reagent 1,10-phenanthroline forms an orange-coloured chelate [42].

An another kit namely, *Generic Heavy Metal Detector*, (GHM-01), from *Appealing Products, Inc.*, is developed to easily and rapidly detect common heavy metals (lead, thallium, mercury, cadmium, iron, nickel and zinc) in water and urine samples. The test kit consists of detection tube, testing paper and colour charts. A reference color chart is provided for interpreting the test results. The operating procedural steps include to simply add the detection tube to the vial, then add sample, shake for 30–40 s and allow the liquid to separate. Once the liquid gets separated into two phases, observe at the color formed on the top phase and compare it to the reference color chart [43].

The *eXact iDip*[®] *Smart Photometer System*[®], from *Industrial Test Systems, Inc.*, is the first patented and handheld photometer to provide 2–way communication with a Bluetooth[®] Smart (4.0) ready Apple or Android smartphone/tablet for the detection of cadmium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, mercury, nickel, and zinc in water. The *eXact iDip*[®] photometer is waterproof (IP67) and has a permanent built-in

sample cell. This eliminates the separate cell and simplifies the test procedure, which improves accuracy. The multilingual *eXact iDip*® *app* system also allows for instantaneous software updates/upgrades, test customization, and mobile sharing of results with spreadsheet [44].

6 Summary

In summary, this chapter focussed on the potential use of colorimetric sensors for the water-pollutant sensing and discusses the promising prospects of sensor developments (from choice of material to read-out tools) to assist nascent researchers to review the principles, mechanistic and advancements in existing trends in colorimetric sensory probes. In this direction, smartphone-based colorimetric sensor platforms aim to empower easier and more resourceful water-pollutant testing in resource-limited locales, which accords with the important goal of field-deployable sensory systems. The adept features of smartphones namely, concept of miniaturization, ease-of-operation and portability recommend great prospective for their operative integration with sensory probes in the direction of facilitating a wide range of new mobile-based pollutant sensing applications.

References

- 1. Rasheed, T., et al. (2019). Self-assembly of alternating copolymer vesicles for the highly selective, sensitive and visual detection and quantification of aqueous Hg²⁺. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, *358*, 101–109.
- Madhupriya, S., & Elango, K. P. (2012). Highly selective colorimetric sensing of Cu (II) ions in aqueous solution via modulation of intramolecular charge transfer transition of aminonaphthoquinone chemosensor. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 97, 100–104.
- 3. Li, Y., et al. (2011). Novel hemicyanine dye as colorimetric and fluorometric dual-modal chemosensor for mercury in water. *Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry*, 9(8), 2606–2609.
- Petdum, A., et al. (2018). Colorimetric and fluorescent sensing of a new FRET system via [5] helicene and rhodamine 6G for Hg²⁺ detection. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 42(2), 1396–1402.
- 5. Das, S., et al. (2016). FRET-based fluorescence ratiometric and colorimetric sensor to discriminate Fe³⁺ from Fe²⁺. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 40(7), 6414–6420.
- Annadhasan, M., et al. (2014). Green synthesized silver and gold nanoparticles for colorimetric detection of Hg²⁺, Pb²⁺, and Mn²⁺ in aqueous medium. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 2(4), 887–896.
- Chen, L., et al. (2019). Novel colorimetric method for simultaneous detection and identification of multimetal ions in water: Sensitivity, selectivity, and recognition mechanism. ACS Omega, 4(3), 5915–5922.
- Pramanik, K., Sarkar, P., & Bhattacharyay, D. (2019). Semi-quantitative colorimetric and supersensitive electrochemical sensors for mercury using rhodamine b hydrazide thio derivative. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 276, 141–152.
- 9. Zhang, Y., et al. (2019). A sensitive near-infrared fluorescent probe for detecting heavy metal Ag⁺ in water samples. *Sensors*, *19*(2).

- Climent, E., et al. (2018). Mix-&-read determination of Mercury(II) at trace levels with hybrid mesoporous silica materials incorporating fluorescent probes by a simple mix-&-load technique. *Chemistryopen*, 7(12), 957–968.
- Li, F., et al. (2019). Highly selective fluorescent probe for Hg²⁺ and MnO₄⁻ by the two-fold interpenetrating metal-organic framework with nitro functionalized linkers. *Journal of Solid State Chemistry*, 270, 509–515.
- 12. Resch-Genger, U., et al. (2008). Quantum dots versus organic dyes as fluorescent labels. *Nature Methods*, 5(9), 763.
- 13. Lu, F., et al. (2019). Highly fluorescent nitrogen-doped graphene quantum dots' synthesis and their applications as Fe(III) ions sensor. *International Journal of Optics*, 2019.
- Wang, J., et al. (2019). A fluorescent nanoprobe based on HgS/ZnS core/shell quantum dots for in-situ rapid visual detection of Cr³⁺. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*, 21(3).
- Boruah, B. S., Daimari, N. K., & Biswas, R. (2019). Functionalized silver nanoparticles as an effective medium towards trace determination of arsenic (III) in aqueous solution. *Results in Physics*, 12, 2061–2065.
- 16. Wang, N., et al. (2019). Synthesis of fluorescent copper nanoparticles and ultrasensitive free label detection of Ag⁺. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2019.
- 17. Sun, Y., et al. (2019). A portable ratiometric fluorescent strip for sensitive determination of mercuric ions. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology a-Chemistry*, 374, 68–74.
- Deng, S., Zhang, G., & Wang, P. (2018). Visualized fibrous adsorbent prepared by the microwave-assisted method for both detection and removal of heavy metal ions. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 7(1), 1159–1168.
- Khairy, G. M., & Duerkop, A. (2019). Dipsticks and sensor microtiterplate for determination of copper (II) in drinking water using reflectometric RGB readout of digital images, fluorescence or eye-vision. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical*, 281, 878–884.
- Mujawar, L. H., & El-Shahawi, M. S. (2019). Rapid and sensitive microassay for trace determination and speciation of Cu²⁺ on commercial book-paper printed with nanolitre arrays of novel chromogenic reagent. *Microchemical Journal*, 146, 434–443.
- Nie, K., et al. (2019). Pyridyl DPP based soluble nanoaggregates for ratiometric/fluorescent detection of Cu²⁺/Hg²⁺ in water. *Journal of Luminescence*, 208, 408–414.
- Berlina, A. N., et al. (2019). Rapid visual detection of lead and mercury via enhanced crosslinking aggregation of aptamer-labeled gold nanoparticles. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 19(9), 5489–5495.
- Wang, L., et al. (2019). Facile preparation of amino-carbon dots/gold nanoclusters FRET ratiometric fluorescent probe for sensing of Pb²⁺/Cu²⁺. Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical, 282, 78–84.
- Li, C.-R., et al. (2019). Amplified colorimetric detection of Ag⁺ based on Ag⁺ -triggered peroxidase-like catalytic activity of ZIF-8/GO nanosheets. *Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical*, 284, 213–219.
- 25. Wang, X., et al. (2019). Green chemical method for the synthesis of chromogenic fiber and its application for the detection and extraction of Hg²⁺ and Cu²⁺ in environmental medium. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 364, 339–348.
- Zhang, N., et al. (2019). Electrospun nanofibrous cellulose acetate/curcumin membranes for fast detection of Pb ions. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 19(2), 670–674.
- Deng, S., Zhang, G., & Wang, P. (2019). Visualized fibrous adsorbent prepared by the microwave-assisted method for both detection and removal of heavy metal ions. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 7(1), 1159–1168.
- Kong, H., et al. (2012). Protein discrimination using fluorescent gold nanoparticles on plasmonic substrates. *Analytical Chemistry*, 84(10), 4258–4261.
- 29. Lu, F., et al. (2019). Highly fluorescent nitrogen-doped graphene quantum dots' synthesis and their applications as Fe (III) ions sensor. *International Journal of Optics, 2019*.
- 30. Thermo Fisher Scientific. (2019). *Orion™ AQUAfast AQ4000 colorimeter*. Available from https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/AC2V16.

- 31. Glacierclean. (2019). *Mobile water kit (MWK)*. Available from https://www.glaciercleantech. com/innovation/.
- 32. Merck. (2018). Test strips, MQuant[™]. Available from http://www.merckmillipore.com/IN/en/ products/analytics-sample-prep/test-kits-and-photometric-methods/visual-tests-for-semiquantitative-analyses/test-strips-mquant/q42b.qB.2.IAAAE_CBZ3.Lxj,nav?ReferrerURL= https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.co.in%2F.
- StripScan, M. (2018). MQuant[®] stripscan, digital test strip readout, Sigma-Aldrich. Available from https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/mquant-stripscan/id1362147895?mt=8.
- Merck. (2018). Colorimetric test kits. Available from: https://www.merckmillipore.com/IN/ en/products/analytics-sample-prep/test-kits-and-photometric-methods/visual-tests-for-semiquantitative-analyses/colorimetric-test-kits/Llib.qB.OTYAAAE_cvZ3.Lxi,nav? ReferrerURL=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.co.in%2F.
- Instruments, H. (2019). Colorimetric chemical kits. Available from https://hannainst.in/ products/chemical-test-kits.html.
- Elabscience. (2019). Urea colorimetric kit. Available from https://www.elabscience.com/purea_colorimetric_assay_kit_(diacetyl_oxime_colorimetry)-41552.html.
- VitalityPlus. (2018). Heavy metal test kit. Available from https://vitalityplusaustralia.com/phtesting/other-testing/heavy-metal-test-kits/heavy-metal-test-kit.
- Libelium. (2019). Waspmote smart water Available from http://www.libelium.com/smartwater-sensors-to-monitor-water-quality-in-rivers-lakes-and-the-sea/.
- SenSafe[®]. (2019). SenSafe[®] water metals check. Available from https://sensafe.com/sensafewater-metals-check/.
- 40. Parmer, C. (2019). *NECi colorimetric nitrate water test kit*. Available from https://www. coleparmer.in/i/neci-colorimetric-nitrate-water-test-kit-standard-range-50-pk/0554323.
- MicroWaterman. (2018). TotalCARE heavy metal screen test. Available from https:// microwaterman.com/Heavy_Metal_Test_Kits/heavy-metal_Quick_test_kit.htm.
- 42. CHEMetrics. (2019). *Iron test kit*. Available from https://www.chemetrics.com/index.php? route=product/category&path=59_93.
- Products, A. (2018). *GHM-01 detector*. Available from http://heavymetaldetection.com/ detectors-for-common-heavy-metals.
- Systems, I.T. eXact iDip[®] Smart Photometer System[®]. [cited 2018; Available from: https://sensafe.com/exact-idip/.

Fluorescent Chemosensor for Detection of Water Pollutants



Annasamy Gowri and Arunkumar Kathiravan

Abstract Fluorescent chemosensors for detection of water pollutants (organic, inorganic and biological) are of primary importance due to the pressing need for safe drinking water. This chapter focuses on the application of fluorescence spectroscopy, an excellent analytical technique for sensing various water pollutants due to its improved sensitivity and operational simplicity. The recent advances in the development of fluorophores and the respective photophysical phenomena involved for selective detection of water pollutants including toxic metal ions and pathogens are discussed in detail. Furthermore, the future prospects of fluorescent sensors for rapid and on-site detection of water pollutants are presented.

Keywords Fluorescence · Chemosensor · Water pollutants · Photophysical process

1 Introduction

Water is one of the most valuable natural resources indispensable for the basis of life. There is a huge demand for safe drinking water as the natural aquifers are becoming depleted due to the growing human population. Natural calamities and anthropogenic activities (such as climate change, weathering of soil and rock, agricultural runoff, advances in farming technology, industrialization and improper disposal of sewage) alter the physical, chemical and biological quality of water making it unsuitable for drinking [1–4]. According to the recent report by world health organization (WHO), more than 1.2 billion people lack access to clean drinking water. This eventually resulted in increased mortality rate especially children due to the outbreak of waterborne diseases [5–10]. The list of emerging water pollutants is expanding at a faster pace and not limited to nitroaromatics,

A. Gowri · A. Kathiravan (🖂)

Vel Tech Research Park, Vel Tech Rangarajan Dr. Sagunthala R&D Institute of Science and Technology, Avadi, Chennai 600062, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: akathir23@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_9

nitrates, heavy metal ions, anions, microplastics, polychlorobiphenyls (PCBs), polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), pathogenic microorganisms and so on [11–13].

Water conservation measures and wastewater treatment processes are given importance to mitigate the adverse societal impact of water pollution [14, 15]. The quality of water is basically evaluated by measuring the universal parameters such as pH, total dissolved solids (TDS), biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD) and total organic carbon (TOC). The existing analytical techniques for water quality monitoring require sophisticated laboratory, expensive equipment with frequent maintenance, skilled personnel, laborious sampling procedures and long assay time [16]. However, there is a pressing need in the real time monitoring of water pollutants to address the timely delivery of potable water to the consumers. In this context, fluorescent spectroscopy is considered to be the most dominant analytical tool due to its operational simplicity, improved sensitivity, rapid and real-time response. Moreover, the acquisition of fluorescence spectra is relatively straightforward and facilitates simpler detection of water pollutants from their characteristic fluorescence fingerprint. In addition, the dissolved organic matter (DOM) in water exhibits fluorescence which is exploited as a useful measure to correlate well with the TOC and BOD of water samples. The corresponding excitation-emission matrix of aromatic structures present in naturally occurring organic substances is listed below in Table 1 [17].

Peak	Ex/Em wavelengths	Description
A ^a	(Ex260, Em (380:460))	Terrestrial humic-like, high molecular weight, aromatic humic, hydrophobic acid fraction (HPOA); always high in wetlands and forested environments
В	(Ex275, Em310)	Tyrosine-like organic compounds, associated with amino acids and hydrophobic neutral fraction(HPON); indicates more degraded peptide material
Т	(Ex275, Em340)	Tryptophan-like organic compounds, associated with amino acids, hydrophobic base fraction (HPOB), and hydrophilic acid fraction (HPIA); indicates less degraded peptide material
C ^a	(Ex350, Em (420:480))	High molecular weight, humic-like compounds; high in terrestrial environments
M ^a	(Ex312, Em (380:420))	Low molecular weight, marine humic-like compounds
Ι	(Ex 260, Em 290)	Due to ibuprofen

 Table 1
 Characteristic fluorescence peaks of organic compounds (reproduced with permission from [18])

^aconsolidated as humic-like peak in the manuscript: Indicates a range

2 Fluorescent Chemosensors

Fluorescent chemosensor has been widely explored as a rapid and sensitive analytical tool for detection of pollutants in natural water resources, sewage and industrial wastewater treatment plants compared to chromatographic techniques [18, 19]. Fluorescent chemosensors offer selective detection of water pollutants by monitoring the fluorescence of dissolved organic matter and humic-like fluorescence peaks. In this chapter, the fundamentals, sensing mechanisms and advances of fluorescent chemosensors and their application for sensing water pollutants are discussed in detail. Fluorescence is defined as light-matter interaction phenomenon in which the electronically excited molecule upon absorption of the incident light emits light in longer wavelengths. The emission of light is dependent on the interaction of the molecule with the medium and the molecule is termed as fluorophore. The emission of fluorescence could be tuned from visible to NIR wavelengths based on the energy gap of the individual fluorophores [20, 21]. Fluorophore (signaling moiety) and receptor (recognition moiety) [22] are the basic building blocks of fluorescent chemosensor. They are usually connected to each other by means of spacer through chemical bonding or integrated together.

2.1 Fluorescence Sensing Mechanisms

Modulation of the photophysical properties of a fluorophore (such as emission wavelength, lifetime (τ), quantum yield (ϕ) and quenching) upon interaction with the analyte of interest is exploited for sensing applications. The interaction of an analyte with the fluorophore is influenced by various mechanisms such as electron transfer, charge transfer, energy transfer, excimer/exciplex formation and aggregation induced quenching/emission [23, 24] as shown in Fig. 1.

In photoinduced electron transfer (PET) process, the electron transfer occurs between fluorophore and acceptor site (receptor), resulting in non-radiative dissipation of excited-state which can quench the fluorescence. Due to PET, a charge separation is generated and the species relaxes to the ground state via charge recombination (Fig. 1). Upon interaction of PET probes with the analyte, fluorescence signal change was large enough to be considered as 'off–on' or 'on–off' through inhibition of PET process [25, 26]. On the other hand, colorimetric based intramolecular charge transfer (ICT) probes have been effectively utilized for sensing. This involves the interaction between analyte and the receptor, resulting in the distinct color change. Therefore, both PET and ICT probes are recognized as good candidates for the development of highly sensitive fluorescent chemosensors.

Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) is the interaction between donor and acceptor with the distance between them range from 10 to 100 Å resulting in



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of the conventional fluorescence sensing mechanisms (Reproduced with permission from [23])

the transfer of excitation energy. The FRET process is influenced by several factors between the donor and acceptor including distance, spectral overlap and dipole moment. The fluorescence of organic fluorophores tends to quench in its aggregated form resulting in aggregation caused quenching (ACQ) limiting the application of fluorophores in solid state sensor development. To overcome the challenges associated with ACQ, an abnormal phenomenon termed aggregation induced emission (AIE) was introduced by Tang and his co-workers [27]. Some of the organic molecules tend to be non-fluorescent in solution and exhibit enhanced fluorescence in their aggregated form. The modulation of fluorescence intensity due to photoinduced electron transfer (PET), intramolecular charge transfer (ICT), chelation enhanced fluorescence (CHEF), aggregation induced emission (AIE) or aggregation caused quenching (ACQ) mechanism is utilized to devise turn-on/-off fluorescent chemosensors [28–30]. The above mentioned mechanisms require interaction between the fluorophore and absorber (analyte). Moreover, those mechanisms involve no overlap between the absorption spectrum of analyte and the emission spectrum of the fluorophore with alterations in the fluorescence lifetime upon interaction with the analyte.

2.2 Inner Filter Effect (IFE)

On the contrary, fluorescence sensing mechanism based on inner filter effect (IFE) does not require any interaction which led to minimal intervention during detection (Fig. 2). Hence, fluorescence chemosensor employing IFE offers flexibility and ease in implementation as it does not involve any specific complexation and covalent linking of fluorophore and analyte [31–35]. Inner filter effect is defined as the reabsorption of excited/emitted light of the fluorophore by the analyte of interest. The efficiency of IFE depends on the following conditions [31] (a) the extent of spectral overlap between excitation/emission spectrum of fluorophore and excitation spectrum of analyte (b) variation of analyte concentration leads to hyperchromic effect in the absorption spectrum of fluorophore should not be influenced by other interferences. There will not be any alterations in the fluorescence lifetime of the fluorophore and analyte since there is not any interactions between them.



Fig. 2 Schematic showing the mechanism of inner filter effect (Reproduced with permission from [34])

Fluorophores Reported for Detection of Water 3 **Pollutants**

There are various fluorophores reported in literature including organic dyes, inorganic complexes, metal organic frameworks, quantum dots and noble metal nanoclusters [36–40]. However, the main challenge in the design of IFE based sensing lies in selection of the fluorophore-absorber combination with complete spectral overlap. Some of the efficient absorbers with high extinction co-efficient are listed in Table 2 suitable for IFE based sensing.

In this context, fluorescent gold nanoclusters and quantum dots gained significance due to their excellent size tunable optical properties facilitating desired spectral overlap. Also, the high extinction co-efficient and excellent photostability

Туре	Absorber	$\lambda_{max} (nm)^a$	$(M^{-1} cm^{-1})^{b}$
Nanomaterial	AgNPs	400	5.56×10^{8d}
	Ag ₂ S	230	-
	AuNPs	520	2.7×10^{8e} ; 3.7×10^{9f}
	AuNPs-Fe ₃ O ₄ NPs	548	-
	MnO ₂ nanosheets	380	9.6×10^{3}
	DEA-GQDs-Pb ²⁺	269	-
	BPEI-CQDs-Cu ²⁺	275	-
Chromoionophore	Cu ²⁺ -spiropyran		3.12×10^{4}
	Cu ²⁺ -I ^c		-
	FeTMPyP		1.05×10^{5}
	Fe ³⁺ -SQA		-
	Cr ³⁺ -diphenylcarbazone		-
	Pb ²⁺ -ETH 5418		-
	Al ³⁺ -ARS		-
	Bromothymol blue		-
	СР		6.4×10^{3}
Catalysate	ox-OPD	450	-
	ox-TMB	652	-
	PNP	400	-
	NADH/FDA	345	-
Analyte	Cr (VI)	360, 380	$155 \pm 7^{\rm g}; 935 \pm 27^{\rm h}$
	TNP	356	1.048×10^{4}
	Tetracycline	370	6534

Table 2 Absorbers for IFE based fluorescence sensors (Reproduced with permission from [34])

^aMaximum absorption wavelength

^bMolar extinction coefficient at the maximum absorption wavelength

^cCu²⁺ and salicylaldehyderhodamine B hydrazine complex

 $^{d}9.5 \pm 1.5 \text{ nm AgNPs}$

e13 nm AuNPs

f30 nm AuNPs

 ${}^{g}Cr_{2}O_{7}{}^{2-}$ ${}^{h}CrO_{4}{}^{2-}$

of these fluorescent nanoparticles compared to conventional chromophores make them the ideal candidate for development of IFE based fluorescent chemosensors [41].

Recently noble metal nanoparticles are adopted in fluorescence assays [42] to enhance the sensitivity by means of interaction between the fluorophore and metal nanoparticles. The interaction between the fluorophore and the metal nanoparticles requires the linking through covalent bonding which requires the surface functionalization and modification of the fluorophore. However, surface modification of the fluorophore without affecting the inherent properties of the fluorophore is a tedious and time consuming procedure. In this context, IFE based sensing system proves to be a better alternative to the conventional fluorescence sensing techniques as it does not require any link between the fluorophore and the absorber. Thus, noble metal nanoparticles (gold and silver) are chosen to be potential absorber in IFE based sensing system. The spectral overlap of the fluorophore and absorber is made possible by simply fine tuning the localized surface plasmon resonance peak of metal nanoparticles which is dependent on the size and shape of the nanoparticles and is highly sensitive to the local environment changes such as refractive index and pH. The sensing mechanism involves the translation of the changes in the absorbance of the metal nanoparticles into the fluorescence of the fluorophores exponentially which eventually led to the improved detection limit compared to conventional fluorescence methods. A turn on fluorescence chemosensor for detection of cyanide in drinking water was proposed by combining gold nanoparticles with model fluorophore (Poly [2-methoxy-5a (3,7-dimethyloctyloxy)-1,4-phenylenevinylene]MDMO-PPV) [43]. The sensing of cyanide involves initially decrement in the fluorescence of the fluorophore for the respective increase in the concentration of gold nanoparticles and the decreased fluorescence was recovered upon addition of cyanide. Cyanide is known to dissolve nanoparticles yielding gold cyanide complex and does not interfere with the fluorophore which is revealed from the control experiments. The efficiency of cyanide sensing due to inner filter effect is validated by conducting optical absorbance based sensing of cyanide by dissolution of gold nanoparticles with increasing concentration of cyanide. The enhanced sensitivity was achieved using IFE which is attributed to the intrinsic relation between the model fluorophore and the gold nanoparticles.

A fluorescent nanoswitch employing polymer carbon dots (PCDs) for detection of explosives in water samples was reported [44]. The polymer carbon dots exhibit two characteristic absorption peaks at 234 and 410 nm which is completely overlapping with the absorption spectrum of 4-nitrophenol. This resulted in the quenching of PCDs upon interaction with 4-nitrophenol. In addition, PCDs were explored as fluorescent nanoswitch based on the changes in pH. 4-nitrophenol exhibits peak absorbance at 400 nm in pH 8 whereas, the spectrum is blue shifted to 320 nm in acidic pH. Hence in acidic pH, the absorption spectrum is not overlapping with that of PCDs. Due to the failure in meeting the criteria for IFE, a significant enhancement in fluorescence was observed, thus acting as a fluorescent nanoswitch.

Fluorescence chemosensors for detection of anions, pesticides, heavy metal ions and explosives using organic dyes, inorganic metal complexes have been extensively reviewed [45–50]. However, recent advances on the exploitation of fluorescent nanoparticles using inner filter effect have not yet been widely explored. The application of noble metal nanoparticles and their combination with fluorescent molecules or quantum dots for detection of water pollutants using inner filter effect is tabulated in Table 3.

Water pollutants	Fluorophore	Samples	Sensitivity	References
Bisphenol-A	Nitrogen doped carbon dots with aptamer conjugated gold nanoparticles (AuNPs)	Spiked tap water	3.3×10 ⁻⁹ M	[50]
Methyl paraoxon	Nanoceria with carbon dots	Spiked tap water	0.05 mg/kg	[51]
Imidacloprid	Antibody conjugated upconversion nanoparticles with AuNPs	Spiked tap, river and lake water	0.79 ng/ml	[52]
Organophosphorus pesticides	Ratiometric fluorescent quantum dots with AuNPs	Tap water	0.018 ng/ ml	[53]
Sulfide	Silver ion mediated carbon dots	Tap and mineral water	0.43×10^{-6} M	[54]
Cyanide	Poly(9,9-bis(40-sulfnoatobutyl) fluorene-co-alt-1,4-phenylene) sodium salt (PFS) with silver nanoparticles (AgNPs)	Spiked tap water	2.5×10^{-7} M	[55]
Chromium	Hydrophilic ionic chemosensor	Spiked tap and waste water	8.9×10 ⁻⁷ M	[56]
Iron (III)	Graphitic carbon nitride quantum dots	Spiked natural water	23 nmol. L ⁻¹	[57]
Copper	Polyamine functionalized carbon quantum dots	River water	6×10 ⁻⁹ M	[58]
Metronidazole	Carbon dots		0.257 μg/ ml	[58]
Lead and cadmium	Upconversion nanoparticles with dithizone	Tap water	3.7 and 8.4×10 ⁻⁹ M	[59]
Fluoride	Curcumin-upconversion nanoparticles	Tap water	5×10 ⁻⁶ M	[60]
Mercury	Black phosphor quantum dots with tetraphenylporphyrin tetrasulfonic acid (TPPS)	Pure, tap and river water	0.39×10^{-9} M	[61]
Trinitrophenol	Anthracene based AIEgen	Sea, lake, tap and pure water	93×10 ⁻⁹ M	[31]
Trinitrotoulene	MoO _x quantum dots	River water	0.12×10^{-6} M	[62]

Table 3 Inner filter effect based fluorescence sensing of water pollutants

4 Future Scope

The scope of fluorescent chemosensors for continuous water quality monitoring is expanding with the dramatic advances in the development of affordable and portable monitoring tools. In this context, paper based test strips in combination with microfluidics are promising for fabricating affordable and disposable analytical devices. The current challenges in addressing the development of portable fluorimeters for real time water quality monitoring could be potentially met by integrating the paper based sensors and the innovative advancements in wireless communication. Micro-paper based analytical devices (μ PADs) integrated with smart phones (Fig. 3) for onsite detection and quantification of water contaminants have enormous potential as a rapid alerting system for improving the global health [63]. Some of the reported Lab-on-a-chip based fluorimeters along with the selection and surface modification of various paper materials have been reviewed in detail.

Submersible fluorometers have gained significant potential for real time detection of water contaminants. Bridgema et al. [64] demonstrated a portable LED based fluorimeter for detection of organic and microbial contamination in potable water samples from the fluorescence C and T peaks [64]. Flexible paper film or textile fiber based chemosensors utilizing fluorescent hydrogel were reported for selective detection of Hg^{2+} ions in real water and food samples [65]. The specific chemical reaction between Hg^{2+} ions and grafted thiourea moieties results in green-to-blue emission which was exploited to develop wearable sensing gloves. Xu et al. [66] reported a small molecule fluorescence sensor array for qualitative and quantitative detection of seven heavy metal ions. The sensing mechanism



Fig. 3 Fluorescence based wireless chemical sensor (Reproduced with permission from [66])

mimics the behavior of tongue which could be exploited for on-site water quality analysis. Each of the heavy metal ions is identified from their unique fluorescence colour upon irradiation with a UV lamp. The fluorescence dyes utilized in the study include (i) picolinium dyes fluoresces between 530 and 600 nm depending on the interaction with the heavy metal ions (ii) Quinolinium dye intrinsically fluoresces at 580 nm and can be shifted between 560 and 600 nm (iii) BODIPY dye fluoresces at longer wavelengths between 600 and 630 nm. Kassal et al. [67] reported the development of a wireless fluorimeter system which finds huge scope in various fields including sensor internet of things (IoT), wearable sensors and point of care diagnostics [67]. The designed wireless fluorimeter was explored for detection of sweat chloride which is a vital parameter for the diagnosis of cystic fibrosis. The system showed a detection limit of 1.11 mM of chloride and the efficiency of the system for chloride sensing was evaluated using standard fluorimetry in solution as well as paper test strips. A Lab-on-a-chip (LOC) device for on-site water quality analysis employing electrochemical/optical dual transduction mechanism was developed [68]. The design of the LOC device involved fabricating and integrating microfluidic multi-channels, optoelectornics (consisting of OLEDs and organic photodetectors) and electrochemical microcells and optimized for on-site analysis. The LOC device was explored for detection of pesticides and in particular, effect of diuron herbicide on the photosynthesis of algae. Diuron, a model pollutant known to enhance algae fluorescence was exploited for on-site detection of pollutants in water resources.

A paper based electrochemical biosensor for the detection of E. *coli* present in water was built with a detection limit as low as 10 CFU/ml [69]. Thale et al. [70] reported the application of BTA loaded silica gel for real time detection of fluoride from the visual color changes [70]. A lateral flow immunoassay paper strips for detection of cadmium in water samples was reported with a detection limit of 0.4 ppb [71].

5 Concluding Remarks

Fluorescent chemosensors are proven to be a potent material for the detection of water pollutants. Sensitive and real time monitoring of water pollutants could be made possible by focusing on development of portable fluorimeters. Fluorescent chemosensors for sensitive detection of trace level contaminants is achieved through simple IFE based sensing assays by exploiting fluorescent nanoparticles. In combination with the advances in novel material synthesis, the challenges in selecting suitable fluorophore/absorber pair in IFE sensing for ultrasensitive detection of water pollutants could be facilitated.

References

- 1. Forde, M., Izurieta, R., & Ôrmeci, B. (2019). Water and health. Water Quality in the Americas, p. 27.
- 2. Richardson, S. D., & Ternes, T. A. (2017). Water analysis: Emerging contaminants and current issues. *Analytical Chemistry*, 90(1), 398–428.
- 3. Priiss, A., & Havelaar, A. (2001). The global burden of disease study and applications in water, sanitation and hygiene. *Water Quality: Guidelines, Standards & Health*, 43.
- 4. Kapur, R. (2019). Management of water resources. Acta Scientific Agriculture, 3, 100-104.
- 5. Hunter, P. R. (2003). Climate change and waterborne and vector-borne disease. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 94, 37–46.
- Evans, A. E., Mateo-Sagasta, J., Qadir, M., Boelee, E., & Ippolito, A. (2019). Agricultural water pollution: key knowledge gaps and research needs. *Current opinion in environmental* sustainability, 36, 20–27.
- 7. Ashbolt, N. J. (2015). Microbial contamination of drinking water and human health from community water systems. *Current environmental health reports*, 2(1), 95–106.
- 8. Danner, M.C., Robertson, A., Behrends, V. and Reiss, J., 2019. Antibiotic pollution in surface fresh waters: Occurrence and effects. Science of The Total Environment.
- Tallon, P., Magajna, B., Lofranco, C., & Leung, K. T. (2005). Microbial indicators of faecal contamination in water: a current perspective. *Water, Air, and Soil pollution, 166*(1–4), 139– 166.
- World Health Organization, 2019. Typhoid vaccines: WHO position paper, March 2018– Recommendations. Vaccine, 37(2), pp. 214–216.
- 11. Daughton, C. G. (2004). Non-regulated water contaminants: emerging research. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 24(7–8), 711–732.
- Geissen, V., Mol, H., Klumpp, E., Umlauf, G., Nadal, M., van der Ploeg, M., et al. (2015). Emerging pollutants in the environment: a challenge for water resource management. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 3(1), 57–65.
- 13. Kumar, M., & Puri, A. (2012). A review of permissible limits of drinking water. Indian journal of occupational and environmental medicine, 16(1), 40.
- Shannon, M.A., Bohn, P.W., Elimelech, M., Georgiadis, J.G., Marinas, B.J. and Mayes, A. M., 2010. Science and technology for water purification in the coming decades. In Nanoscience and technology: a collection of reviews from nature Journals (pp. 337–346).
- Zulkifli, S. N., Rahim, H. A., & Lau, W. J. (2018). Detection of contaminants in water supply: a review on state-of-the-art monitoring technologies and their applications. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 255, 2657–2689.
- Hameed, S., Xie, L. and Ying, Y., 2018. Conventional and emerging detection techniques for pathogenic bacteria in food science: A review. Trends in Food Science & Technology.
- Chen, W., Westerhoff, P., Leenheer, J. A., & Booksh, K. (2003). Fluorescence excitation emission matrix regional integration to quantify spectra for dissolved organic matter. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 37(24), 5701–5710.
- Wasswa, J., Mladenov, N., & Pearce, W. (2019). Assessing the potential of fluorescence spectroscopy to monitor contaminants in source waters and water reuse systems. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 5(2), 370–382.
- Ahmad, S. R., & Reynolds, D. M. (1999). Monitoring of water quality using fluorescence technique: prospect of on-line process control. *Water Research*, 33(9), 2069–2074.
- Carstea, E. M., Bridgeman, J., Baker, A., & Reynolds, D. M. (2016). Fluorescence spectroscopy for wastewater monitoring: a review. *Water Research*, 95, 205–219.
- Wu, D., Sedgwick, A. C., Gunnlaugsson, T., Akkaya, E. U., Yoon, J., & James, T. D. (2017). Fluorescent chemosensors: the past, present and future. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 46(23), 7105–7123.
- 22. Parkesh, R., Veale, E. B., & Gunnlaugsson, T. (2011). *Fluorescent detection principles and strategies* (pp. 229–252). Chemosensors: Principles, Strategies, and Applications.

- Das, A. K., & Goswami, S. (2017). 2-Hydroxy-1-naphthaldehyde: a versatile building block for the development of sensors in supramolecular chemistry and molecular recognition. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 245, 1062–1125.
- He, L., Dong, B., Liu, Y., & Lin, W. (2016). Fluorescent chemosensors manipulated by dual/ triple interplaying sensing mechanisms. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 45(23), 6449–6461.
- Sun, X., Wang, Y., & Lei, Y. (2015). Fluorescence based explosive detection: from mechanisms to sensory materials. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 44(22), 8019–8061.
- 26. De Silva, A. P., Moody, T. S., & Wright, G. D. (2009). Fluorescent PET (Photoinduced Electron Transfer) sensors as potent analytical tools. *Analyst*, 134(12), 2385–2393.
- 27. J. Luo, Z. Xie, J.W.Y. Lam, L. Cheng, H. Chen, C. Qiu, H.S. Kwok, X. Zhan, Y. Liu, D. Zhu and B.Z. Tang, Chem. Commun. (2001) 1740–1741.
- Wu, J., Liu, W., Ge, J., Zhang, H., & Wang, P. (2011). New sensing mechanisms for design of fluorescent chemosensors emerging in recent years. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 40(7), 3483–3495.
- Lee, M. H., Kim, J. S., & Sessler, J. L. (2015). Small molecule-based ratiometric fluorescence probes for cations, anions, and biomolecules. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 44(13), 4185–4191.
- Hong, Y., Lam, J. W., & Tang, B. Z. (2009). Aggregation-induced emission: phenomenon, mechanism and applications. *Chemical Communications*, 29, 4332–4353.
- Gowri, A., Vignesh, R., & Kathiravan, A. (2019). Anthracene based AIEgen for picric acid detection in real water samples (p. 117144). Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy.
- Tanwar, A. S., Hussain, S., Malik, A. H., Afroz, M. A., & Iyer, P. K. (2016). Inner filter effect based selective detection of nitroexplosive-picric acid in aqueous solution and solid support using conjugated polymer. ACS Sensors, 1(8), 1070–1077.
- Liu, H., Li, M., Xia, Y., & Ren, X. (2016). A turn-on fluorescent sensor for selective and sensitive detection of alkaline phosphatase activity with gold nanoclusters based on inner filter effect. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9(1), 120–126.
- Chen, S., Yu, Y. L., & Wang, J. H. (2018). Inner filter effect-based fluorescent sensing systems: a review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 999, 13–26.
- Tanwar, A. S., Adil, L. R., Afroz, M. A., & Iyer, P. K. (2018). Inner Filter Effect and Resonance Energy Transfer Based Attogram Level Detection of Nitroexplosive Picric Acid Using Dual Emitting Cationic Conjugated Polyfluorene. ACS sensors, 3(8), 1451–1461.
- Prodi, L. (2005). Luminescent chemosensors: from molecules to nanoparticles. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 29(1), 20–31.
- Kreno, L. E., Leong, K., Farha, O. K., Allendorf, M., Van Duyne, R. P., & Hupp, J. T. (2011). Metal–organic framework materials as chemical sensors. *Chemical Reviews*, 112(2), 1105–1125.
- Chen, L. Y., Wang, C. W., Yuan, Z., & Chang, H. T. (2014). Fluorescent gold nanoclusters: recent advances in sensing and imaging. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87(1), 216–229.
- 39. Murphy, C.J., 2002. Peer reviewed: optical sensing with quantum dots.
- Formica, M., Fusi, V., Giorgi, L., & Micheloni, M. (2012). New fluorescent chemosensors for metal ions in solution. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 256(1–2), 170–192.
- 41. Zhang, J., Zhou, R., Tang, D., Hou, X. and Wu, P., 2018. Optically-active nanocrystals for inner filter effect-based fluorescence sensing: Achieving better spectral overlap. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry.
- 42. Liu, D., Wang, Z., & Jiang, X. (2011). Gold nanoparticles for the colorimetric and fluorescent detection of ions and small organic molecules. *Nanoscale*, *3*(4), 1421–1433.
- Shang, L., & Dong, S. (2009). Design of fluorescent assays for cyanide and hydrogen peroxide based on the inner filter effect of metal nanoparticles. *Analytical Chemistry*, 81(4), 1465–1470.
- 44. Han, L., Liu, S. G., Liang, J. Y., Ju, Y. J., Li, N. B., & Luo, H. Q. (2019). pH-mediated reversible fluorescence nanoswitch based on inner filter effect induced fluorescence quenching for selective and visual detection of 4-nitrophenol. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 362, 45– 52.

- Gale, P. A., & Caltagirone, C. (2018). Fluorescent and colorimetric sensors for anionic species. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 354, 2–27.
- Dutta, M., & Das, D. (2012). Recent developments in fluorescent sensors for trace-level determination of toxic-metal ions. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 32, 113–132.
- 47. Yan, X., Li, H., & Su, X. (2018). Review of optical sensors for pesticides. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 103, 1–20.
- Rasheed, T., Bilal, M., Nabeel, F., Iqbal, H. M., Li, C., & Zhou, Y. (2018). Fluorescent sensor based models for the detection of environmentally-related toxic heavy metals. *Science of the Total Environment*, 615, 476–485.
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, J. F., & Yoon, J. (2014). Fluorescence and colorimetric chemosensors for fluoride-ion detection. *Chemical Reviews*, 114(10), 5511–5571.
- Wang, L., Cao, H. X., Pan, C. G., He, Y. S., Liu, H. F., Zhou, L. H., et al. (2019). A fluorometric aptasensor for bisphenol a based on the inner filter effect of gold nanoparticles on the fluorescence of nitrogen-doped carbon dots. *Microchimica Acta*, 186(1), 28.
- Wei, J., Yang, Y., Dong, J., Wang, S., & Li, P. (2019). Fluorometric determination of pesticides and organophosphates using nanoceria as a phosphatase mimic and an inner filter effect on carbon nanodots. *Microchimica Acta*, 186(2), 66.
- Si, F., Zou, R., Jiao, S., Qiao, X., Guo, Y., & Zhu, G. (2018). Inner filter effect-based homogeneous immunoassay for rapid detection of imidacloprid residue in environmental and food samples. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 148, 862–868.
- 53. Zhao, Y., Zou, S., Huo, D., Hou, C., Yang, M., Li, J., et al. (2019). Simple and sensitive fluorescence sensor for methotrexate detection based on the inner filter effect of N, S co-doped carbon quantum dots. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 1047, 179–187.
- Barati, A., Shamsipur, M., & Abdollahi, H., (2016). Metal-ion-mediated fluorescent carbon dots for indirect detection of sulfide ions. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 230, 289–297.
- Shang, L., Qin, C., Jin, L., Wang, L., & Dong, S. (2009). Turn-on fluorescent detection of cyanide based on the inner filter effect of silver nanoparticles. *Analyst*, 134(7), 1477–1482.
- Zhang, D., Dong, Z., Jiang, X., Feng, M., Li, W., & Gao, G. (2013). A proof-of-concept fluorescent strategy for highly selective detection of Cr (VI) based on inner filter effect using a hydrophilic ionic chemosensor. *Analytical Methods*, 5(7), 1669–1675.
- 57. Li, Y., Cai, J., Liu, F., Yu, H., Lin, F., Yang, H., Lin, Y., & Li, S. (2018). Highly crystalline graphitic carbon nitride quantum dots as a fluorescent probe for detection of Fe (III) via an innner filter effect. *Microchimica Acta*, 185(2), 134.
- Dong, Y., Wang, R., Li, G., Chen, C., Chi, Y., & Chen, G. (2012). Polyamine-functionalized carbon quantum dots as fluorescent probes for selective and sensitive detection of copper ions. *Analytical chemistry*, 84(14), 6220–6224.
- 59. Chen, M., Kutsanedzie, F. Y., Cheng, W., Li, H., & Chen, Q. (2019). Ratiometric fluorescence detection of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ by inner filter-based upconversion nanoparticle-dithizone nanosystem. *Microchemical Journal*, 144, 296–302.
- Liu, Y., Ouyang, Q., Li, H., Zhang, Z., & Chen, Q. (2017). Development of an inner filter effects-based upconversion nanoparticles–curcumin nanosystem for the sensitive sensing of fluoride ion. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9(21), 18314–18321.
- Gu, W., Pei, X., Cheng, Y., Zhang, C., Zhang, J., Yan, Y., et al. (2017). Black phosphorus quantum dots as the ratiometric fluorescence probe for trace mercury ion detection based on inner filter effect. ACS sensors, 2(4), 576–582.
- Xiao, S. J., Zhao, X. J., Hu, P. P., Chu, Z. J., Huang, C. Z., & Zhang, L. (2016). Highly photoluminescent molybdenum oxide quantum dots: one-pot synthesis and application in 2, 4, 6-trinitrotoluene determination. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 8(12), 8184–8191.
- Almeida, M. I. G., Jayawardane, B. M., Kolev, S. D., & McKelvie, I. D. (2018). Developments of microfluidic paper-based analytical devices (μPADs) for water analysis: A review. *Talanta*, 177, 176–190.
- 64. Bridgeman, J., Baker, A., Brown, D., & Boxall, J. B. (2015). Portable LED fluorescence instrumentation for the rapid assessment of potable water quality. *Science of the Total Environment*, *524*, 338–346.

- Zhang, D., Zhang, Y., Lu, W., Le, X., Li, P., Huang, L., et al. (2019). Fluorescent Hydrogel-Coated Paper/Textile as Flexible Chemosensor for Visual and Wearable Mercury (II) Detection. Advanced Materials Technologies, 4(1), 1800201.
- Xu, W., Ren, C., Teoh, C. L., Peng, J., Gadre, S. H., Rhee, H. W., et al. (2014). An artificial tongue fluorescent sensor array for identification and quantitation of various heavy metal ions. *Analytical Chemistry*, 86(17), 8763–8769.
- Kassal, P., Steinberg, M. D., Horak, E., & Steinberg, I. M. (2018). Wireless fluorimeter for mobile and low cost chemical sensing: A paper based chloride assay. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 275, 230–236.
- Belaïdi, F. S., Farouil, L., Salvagnac, L., Temple-Boyer, P., Séguy, I., Heully, J. L., et al. (2019). Towards integrated multi-sensor platform using dual electrochemical and optical detection for on-site pollutant detection in water. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 132, 90–96.
- Adkins, J. A., Boehle, K., Friend, C., Chamberlain, B., Bisha, B., & Henry, C. S. (2017). Colorimetric and electrochemical bacteria detection using printed paper-and transparency-based analytic devices. *Analytical Chemistry*, 89(6), 3613–3621.
- Thale, P. B., Borase, P. N., & Shankarling, G. S. (2016). A "turn on" fluorescent and chromogenic chemosensor for fluoride anion: experimental and DFT studies. *Inorganic Chemistry Frontiers*, 3(7), 977–984.
- López Marzo, A. M., Pons, J., Blake, D. A., & Merkoçi, A. (2013). All-integrated and highly sensitive paper based device with sample treatment platform for Cd²⁺ immunodetection in drinking/tap waters. *Analytical Chemistry*, 85(7), 3532–3538.

Materials in Electrochemical Detection of Water Pollutants



Ankita Ojha

Abstract Heavy metals, radioactive wastes, organic pollutants, chemical and biological wastes, pathogens and other such water contaminants have posed an acute threat to man and other living beings worldwide. Monitoring of water pollutants is a matter of serious concern and electrochemical detection is one such real-time and in-process monitoring is highly promising technique in this regard. This real-time monitoring reduces detection time as well as minimizes chemicals and reagents consumption as compared to conventional detection and analysis techniques. They hold an additional advantage on-site detection of chemical composition before discharge in water bodies. Advanced materials such as screen-printed electrodes, Ionic liquids based sensing devices, electrochemical biosensors and bioelectronics, etc. have proved to be effective innovations in detection of contaminants. Their compactness, portability and easier handling methods make them more reliable than conventional technologies. The chapter will cover an account of all such electrochemical detection techniques (including bio-sensing), their future perspectives and limitations.

Keywords Contaminants · Pollutants · Electrochemical · Sensors · Bioelectronics · Screen-printed electrodes

1 Introduction

Sustainable development is rising as a major challenge in the current era of Science and Technology. With an exponential rise in anthropogenic activities, there has been tremendous increase in global environmental issues. These activities have proved to be fatal for living systems worldwide. The passage of time is only adding obstacles in the path of attainment of clean environment (i.e. air, water and soil). Techniques are required for quick and effective monitoring of pollutants in water

A. Ojha (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, IIT (BHU), Varanasi, India e-mail: ankitao.rs.chy15@itbhu.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_10

these days. Chemical pollution of water stands as a major challenge when it comes to environmental issues. Dyes, petrochemicals, pathogens, organic compounds, metallic compounds, pharmaceutical waste products etc. are a continuous source of chemical and biological pollution in water bodies. The situation is guite alarming with the continuous addition of these pollutants into the water bodies and environment. Emerging contaminants include variety of chemicals used in various industries as well as daily applications. It ranges from potential sources such as herbicides, insecticides, pesticides, fertilizers, nanomaterials, petrochemical and pharmaceutical wastes, dyes, metal ions used in various industrial wastes as well as biological contaminants. The primary route and highest contaminating source for the addition of contaminants is industrial wastewater which is directly discharged into water bodies and then carried forward [1, 2]. A wide variety of synthetic chemicals used in different industrial practices are emerging as a source of environmental contaminants. These pollutants are classified on the basis of their use, point of origin and/or effects on the living systems. Some of the potential water pollution sources include industries, agricultural, domestic sewages, small scale factories, power plants which releases variety of pollutants such as fertilizers, pesticides, herbicides, nanoparticles, petrochemicals, plastics, aromatic compounds, phenolic compounds, metal ions and metal complexes and pharmaceuticals [3]. The primary route of addition of these contaminants is industrial wastewater carrying largest concentration of pollutants.

Traditional method of environmental pollutant detection follows discrete sampling methods followed by laboratory analysis. The sampling involves natural sources which are easily perturbed by various physical, chemical and biological factors. Discrete sample methods are time consuming, expensive and need high resolution data for differentiating in aqueous systems. Current time requires robust, fast response sensors with high sensitivity and bigger lifetime so that the pollution can be continuously monitored [4]. Present day technological developments need a fast, reliable, robust and cost effective system for the detection of these pollutants. New prototypes are to be developed for rapid and on-site detection of these pollutants in terrestrial as well as aquatic ecosystems. Conventional techniques such as Chromatography as less reliable, demand sample pretreatment and are highly time taking. High detection limits and less selectivity adds to the drawbacks of conventional detection methods [5–8].

The chapter focuses on such electrochemical sensing devices which have been proved to be simple and inexpensive when it comes to detection of pollutants at traces and sometimes even at ultra-traces level. It puts light on their mechanisms and various modes of applications. Electrochemical techniques are slowly growing as one the major mode of in situ determination of pollutants in water samples. It is much reliable and sensitive method for detection and determination of pollutants.

Electrochemical sensor techniques are important subclass of chemical sensing technology that employs an electrode as transduction element designed in such a way that it is inexpensive, miniaturized and can be used for on-site detection of pollutants. These sensing systems are highly sensitive, selective, wide range, small size and require less power for operating. Electrochemical techniques hold an



Fig. 1 Factors regulating the selection of electrochemical sensors

additional benefit of real time trace level detection of pollutants such as toxic metals or carcinogenic organic compounds in solution under analysis. Some of the key points for the advantages of these sensors over conventional detection techniques is given in Fig. 1. Electrochemical sensing techniques basically employs an electrochemical cell comprising of a two-electrode arrangement including a working electrode and a counter (or reference) electrodes or a three-electrode arrangement consisting of a working, electrode, a counter electrode and a reference electrode [9– 11]. The history of these sensors holds back for application in many industries. Max Cremer invented glass electrode (1906), the first electrochemical sensor.

Electroanalytical sensors are systems interplaying between electricity and chemistry, relating the chemical parameters with factors such as current, potential or charge. They are mainly three types based on mode of measurement: Amperometric (redox current measurement based), conductrometric (measures change in resistance) and potentometric or voltammetric (depending on change or generation of potential) [12].

2 Types of Electrochemical Sensors

2.1 Potentiometric

Potentiometric sensors consist of a system of membrane constituting ion-exchangers, lipophilic salts (such as tetra(alkyl)ammonium-tetra(butyl or phenyl)borate) and plasticizers (such as ortho-nitrophenyloctyl ether, dibutyl phthalate), and the membrane or trans-membrane potential is used to measure the activity of analyte ion in sample solution. Potentiometric sensors are principally working on the relation between voltage of the electrochemical cell and concentration of active species in the sample. A large section of such electrochemical sensors work on the 'zero current potentiometry' mode. These sensors convert ion-recognition event into a potential signal and provides analytical information. The recognition membrane undergoes equilibrium and therefore changes in membrane potential are recorded. The potential difference between analytical electrodes and reference electrodes is used for obtaining information about the analyte. These sensors are further categorized into symmetrical devices such as ISEs and asymmetrical configurations of selective membranes in reference to sample under analysis. Asymmetrical potentiometric sensors (ASPs) hold an additional advantage of robustness and high stability over symmetrical potentiometric sensors (SPSs). The most common potentiometric sensors include Ion selective electrodes (ISEs) (Fig. 2).

ISEs of ions of metals such as Cu, Hg, Fe, Cd, Mg; anions such as CN^- , F^- , NO_2^- , $H_2PO_4^{2-}$, etc. and ions such as Ammonium, uranyl etc. have been studied widely [13]. The measurement of ion under investigation largely depends upon the potential difference across the membranes of the sample and inner electrolyte used. The concentration of ion under study is determined by the application of Nernst equation. Here the membranes potential is obtained by measuring the difference between ISE and reference electrodes at equilibrium when no current is flowing.

The membranes electrodes in ISEs are effective only when they are selective to a particular ion, attains equilibrium easily and shows linear change with ion concentration. The major categories of membranes in ISEs include glass membranes (made of ion-exchange glasses made of silicates or chalcogenides), solid state membranes (made up of inorganic salts), liquid and polymeric membranes [14]. Advancements are being made for developing techniques of potentiometric sensors



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of ISEs

which are highly robust, much reliable (easily calibrated with little potential drift), easy handling and can be used for wider range of species. One of the most conventional membrane electrodes are Glass membrane electrodes (which are highly selective, low detection limit, very stable and free from redox interferences. The selectivity of these membranes for various ions of interest largely depends upon their composition. They are not only used for measuring protons concentration but can also be applied for sensing metal ions such as alkali metals (Lithium, sodium, Potassium) or transition metals ions (copper, Lead, Cadmium, Silver). Chalcogenides based Glass membranes have been developed to detect metal ions. They can be used in combination with microactuators or microelectronics for monitoring heavy metals in waste water [15].

Solid state membranes are made up of inorganic salts. For example F⁻ions can be detected by using single crystal LaF₃doped with Europium (to enhance ionic activity) based membranes [16]. Other doped atoms used are Nd, Sm, Ca etc. which are used as dopant for enhancing ionic activity [17]. Silver salts of iodide, chloride, bromide and sulphides are being used for the detection of metal ions such as Cu²⁺, Pd²⁺, Br⁻, I⁻, etc. these salts are dispersed into inert matrices such as PVC, methacrylate, epoxy resins or polycrystalline membranes [18–20]. The robustness of these solid state membranes is increased by subtracting conventional internal electrolytes and hence reducing its temperature and pressure sensitivity and increasing the chances of its miniaturization [20].

Liquid ion selective electrodes are mainly synthesized by inducing ionophores (macrocyclic ion carriers, lipid-soluble entities either natural or synthetic chemicals that transport ions across a membrane) into viscous ionic liquid membranes [21]. Ionophores can also be incorporated in PVC or other polymers to function as liquid membranes and these polymer based membranes are much selective in comparison to liquid membranes [21]. Conventional liquid electrolytes can easily be replaced by attaching conducting polymers to liquid membranes. This will lead to an enhanced ion-to-electron transduction between the electronic conductor and liquid membranes [22, 23]. Conducting polymers may also be applied as ion selective membranes by creating ion recognition sites in the polymer matrix [24]. Ca²⁺ selective electrodes have been studied widely and many organophosphoric acid based liquid membranes have been developed in past few years [25, 26].

Neutral carriers doped plasticized PVC membranes have been developed for a wide range of metal ions [21, 27]. Polymer membranes incorporated with crown ethers and bis-crown ether ionophores are used as site specific binding of metal ions with ligands. Host cavity can be tuned for recognizing of pollutant materials. Calixerenes (phenol-formaldehyde condensates) are widely used for metal ion binding recognition. Electropolymerization techniques of monomers to conducting polymer from a counter ion solution to tailor the cavity size in polymer film from the desired ion for detection. Such efforts play an important role in enhancing the selectivity of sensors with respect to interfering species using chemical recognition techniques.

2.2 Conductometric

Charge concentration is measured in terms of solution resistance in such electrochemical sensors. They lack species-selectivity and are much effective in cases where total ion concentration is below a certain permissible maximum level or can be used as detector in ion exchange chromatography after the separation of ions as online detectors. It measure the change in electrical conductivity on the surface of electrode. They are simple, cost effective and miniaturized sensors but are least selective in all the variants of electrochemical techniques. There are various kinds of resistance such as electrical, contact resistance (between electrodes and selective layer), bulk and surface resistance. This may affect the sensing activity of the selective layer of electrode and analyte and thereby creates hurdles in differentiating the ions or molecules being analyzed.

Various types of Conductometric sensors have been developed in past few years. Some of them employ ionophores based polymeric membranes for the detection of potassium, calcium, ammonium and Lithium ions with the sensitivity in micro molar concentration range and fast response time. Their stability is very high and can be used for several weeks [28]. Enzyme immobilized Conductometric sensors can be employed for toxic organic compounds such as organophosphorus pesticides and heavy metals from micro to nano molar concentration range [29]. Similarly many other biosensor based Conductometric techniques have been developed that has been discussed further in this chapter. Application of molecularly imprinted polymers (MIPs) is also broadly discussed in terms of application in case of organic pollutants and metal ions.

2.3 Voltammetric

Current is measured as a function of applied potential in these type of sensors. They provide much insight of species present and work with very low detection limits (up to Pico molar) using state-of-the-art instrumentation and analyte pre-concentration on the surface of electrodes. Separation of species are not required in these sensors and it can be combined with Amperometric or coulometric sensors once the voltammetric profile has been assigned to the mixture of analyst [4]. Keys steps for voltammetric determination of pollutants includes preconcentration and stripping of ion of the interest. These steps leads to higher selectivity and sensitivity. The ions of interest are collected in a working electrode and then they are oxidized or reduced to send back them in solution. These voltammetric sensor have been proved to be highly efficient and can be used for solution with very low detection range (nano to Pico molar concentration). This gives an extra advantage of monitoring of trace metals in water bodies. They are also proved worthy in multi-elemental analyses, speciation of trace elements and in situ detection. There are mainly two major

categories of such sensors: Anodic Stripping Voltammetry (ASV) and Adsorptive Cathodic Stripping Voltammetry (ASCV).

ASV is the most common, highly reliable and well established method. It employs electrodes such as Hanging Mercury Drop Electrode (HMDE) and Mercury film electrodes (MFE). In HMDE new drops are created in each test which leads to creation of new electrode surface. This increases the reliability of the results obtained in case of these electrodes. MFE are more robust and highly selective than HMDE due to their high surface to volume ratio. The deposition potential of -0.3 or lesser (less than reduction potential of analyte) is applied during preconcentration and reverse scan is performed towards more positive potential. This leads to oxidation of metal in mercury. Peak oxidation potential give the information about the analyzed metal and peak intensity is related to the metal concentration [30]. The equation can be given as:

$$M^{n+} + ne^- + Hg \implies M (Hg)$$

Mercury electrodes are useful for a range of metal ions and MFE are more selective than HMDE. The smaller volume of MFE leads to more collection of metal into the mercury. These electrodes are covered with agarose membrane as an antifouling agent. They are useful in detection of metal ions such as Lead, copper, cadmium etc. in water samples [31]. Since mercury tends to have environmental toxicity issues, researches are being carried out on other materials based electrode systems. Some of the modified electrodes for Voltammetric sensors can be summarized in the Table 1.

Analyte	Electrode modification		References
Pb^{2+}, As^{3+}	ASV	Gold Electrode (Good electrochemical inertness due to larger cathodic potential)	[32, 33]
Pb^{2+} , Cd^{2+} and Cu^{2+}		MFE microelectrode (Extraordinary detection limit)	[32]
Hg ²⁺		Au-Pt electrode and Au on Graphene electrode (High resistance to chemical reaction)	[34, 33]
Fe ²⁺ , Zn ²⁺ , Pb ²⁺ , Cu ²⁺		Amalgam electrodes (best cathodic potential window)	[35, 36]
Co ²⁺ , Cr ⁶⁺	AdCSV	HMDE (smooth and uncontaminated surface which is self-renewing)	[37, 38]
Co ²⁺ , Cr ⁶⁺ , Ni ²⁺		Bismuth film electrode (environment friendly as compared to Hg and combine with metals just like mercury form amalgams)	[39–41]
U ⁶⁺		Bismuth coated carbon fiber electrode (High reproducibility of results)	[40, 41]
Imidacloprid, Acetamiprid		Bismuth film electrode	[42]

Table 1 Electrode modifications for voltammetric sensing techniques

AdCSV method is very sensitive and is effective for analysis of many trace metals in water bodies. Ligands are added for inducing adsorptive quality to the electrode. They form complexes with the metal ions. This adsorption is the preconcentration step and denotes selectivity as well as fast response time to the electrodes. Adding buffer solution to the electrolyte for maintain pH as complexes formation is pH dependent phenomenon. Adsorption potential slightly greater than reduction potential of metal-ligand complexes (0.1 V) is applied. Reverse Voltammetric scan is performed for reducing metal from the complexes. Peak intensity and peak potential are used to determine type and concentration of metal being investigated. AdCSV mainly employs both types of electrode (HMDE and MFE) where HMDE is mostly used one. They have very small adsorptive time and therefore can be used for fast detection of metal ions even at very low concentration [37–39]. Bismuth film electrodes are Nano-level sensing devices that are useful for interference free, on-site monitoring of pollutants such as U(VI) ions [40, 41].

2.4 Amperometric/Coulometric

They consist of two or three electrode systems that are dipped into an electrolytic solution. The diffused analyte species are measured on the surface of working electrode. Both Amperometric and Coulometric sensors work on the similar principle of applying a constant potential and measuring the current changes with time. The current obtained is related to the concentration of analyte. The basic difference between both of them is while in Amperometric sensors the fraction of electrolyzed species is much lesser than one, its equal to unity in case of Coulometric sensors. The most basic example of such sensor are one with Clark type electrodes (made of Pt electrodes). The electrode is modified by various forms for getting selectivity and stability [43]. Interferences are reduced by using Nafion coatings. Similarly for different types of analyte coatings are used which are explained in Table 2.

Some of the modified forms of above mentioned techniques includes cyclic voltammetry (measuring the resulting current on cycling the potential of the working electrode), chrono-amperometry (current is measured as a function of time at constant potential) and chrono-potentiometry (potential is measured as a function of time at constant current), electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (measures the changes of interfacial property of electrodes), and field effect transistors (electric field is used to control the effect of current):

• Cyclic voltammetry: Measurement of periodic variation in voltage variation with change in current (potentiodynamic electrochemical measurement technique). It involves ramping of electrode potential with time in cyclical manner. The variations in voltage are done in wide variety of patterns that gives rise to various methods of voltammetric analysis. This technique includes methods such as polarography, linear sweep voltammetry (LSV), differential staircase voltammetry (DSV), normal pulse, reverse pulses and differential pulses [3].

Analyte	Electrode modification	References
Hydrogen peroxide, Chloride ions, Bromide ions, Hydroquinone	Pt electrode sealed in Pyrex tube and polymer coating at base	[44]
Biocide such as Hypochlorites or hypochlorous acid	Bare Platinum electrodes	[45]
Formaldehyde	Mixture of noble metals such as Ru and Pt	[46]
Free chlorine	Disposable microsensor (Au deposited on cyclic olefin copolymer)	[47]
Choline	Polyethylene terephthalate on which an electrolyte film containing polyvinylchloride was layered	[48]
Bisphenol A	Electropolymerization of 2-aminothiophenol on a gold nanoparticles-modified glassy carbon electrode in the presence of BPA as a template	[49]
Acetaminophen	 Poly(L-serine) film-modified electrode DSA anode with biomimetic catalyst iron (III) tetrapyridinoporphyrazine 	[50, 51]
H ₂ O ₂	Prussian Blue	[52]
Phosphate	Mixture of ionic liquid and chitosans	[53]
Hydrazine and phenylhydrazine	Paste of ferrocene and CNTs	[54]

 Table 2
 Electrode modifications for amperometric sensing techniques

• Chrono-amperometry: Steady state measurement of current at a time on applying square-wave voltage signal (SWVS) is applied to the working electrode. The relation between measured current and analyte diffusion to the electrode is related using Cottrell equation.

$$I = \frac{nFA\sqrt{D}c}{\sqrt{\pi t}}$$

In this equation **D** is the diffusion coefficient (/s), **c** is the concentration of analyte in the bulk solution (mM), **A** stands for the surface area of the electrode in sq. metres, **F** is Faraday's constant, **t** is the time in seconds and **n** is the number of electrons exchanged during the reaction.

Similarly, Chrono-potentiometry is measurement of the voltage as a function of time on applying constant current or square-wave current [55]. Controlled-potential chrono-amperometry and controlled-current chrono-amperometry are two most common form of chrono-amperometry techniques.

• Electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS): It measures current change on applying sinusoidal varying voltage. This is a frequency domain measurement

that is calculated using sinusoidal perturbation on a voltage system. The frequency of the sinusoidal signal is used to calculate the impedance as the real as well as imaginary components in the electrochemical system. It analyses the intrinsic material or system property of impedance and hence of very informative for biosensor development and their applications in environmental pollutant detections [56, 57].

• Field effect transistor (FET): It is made up of bridging between two electrodes made of semiconductor devices and transistor. Electric field inside the channels are controlled along with their conductivity and charge is drained using third electrode. When a drain-source voltage is higher than gate-source voltage this set up functions as a switch conductive or non-conductive states. However when gate-source voltage gives constant current it acts as an amplifier. The FET technique hold advantageous for the systems with a weak signal and high impedance [58, 59].

3 Advantages of Electrochemical Sensors

Application of electrochemical sensors hold many benefits when it comes to detection of environmental pollutants. Various types of electrochemical sensors can be used in combination for higher selectivity and specificity as well as robust technique for the analysis of contaminants present in the solution or the system. Some of the advantages that these sensors hold may be listed as below [4]:

- Voltammetric sensors holds additional advantage of higher selectivity and specificity and hence to probe speciation. Every chemical species such as atoms, molecules or ions owns a specific oxidation or reduction potential. Such amount of specificity is lacking in many kinds of detectors.
- Selectivity can be enhanced by proper selection of electrode material such as Ion selective electrodes. Interferences by other species can also be resolved by application of certain voltammetric sensors and some electrode materials.
- Electrochemical sensors (especially voltammetric) with controlled potential prove beneficiary because of high selectivity and low detection limits. Combinations of potentials can be used in case of analyte accumulation the surface of electrodes.
- Real time data monitoring and computerized control of the system will be effective in producing results at a faster pace.
- These sensors are battery operated, easily handling, portable sensing devices make them useable even at the site of contamination.
- Small size of the sensing devices increases their application at places where other devices can't be used.

General criteria for designing of an electrochemical sensing device:

- Potentiometric sensors need extra electrode materials which must be free from interferences while Amperometric and voltammetric techniques, species to be determined must be electroactive in the potential range of sensors. Sometimes inert, supporting electrolytes are also needed to be added to consolidate the current perturbation.
- Concentration of analytical species must be determined carefully.
- The results obtained should be reliable and easily reproducible.
- The rate of electrode degradation with time and fouling of electrode surfaces should be kept in mind while deciding the electrode materials.
- Sensors must respond fast and should be calibrated easily.
- The extremely low detection limit for the sensors gives additional advantages to these electrochemical sensors.

4 New Developments in Electrochemical Sensing Techniques

4.1 Screen Printed Electrochemical Sensors

Screen printing techniques are old methods applied for textiles and art. However in recent researches it has been applied for the modification of electrode surfaces to make them stable, reproducible and easily disposable in mass production. Pastes most commonly used in screen printed electrodes are of silver or carbon ink. Silver ink is mainly used for conductivity purpose while carbon ink is used for working electrodes. Carbon ink is simple, chemically inert and easily modified. Some SPEs employ Gold paste but it is less cost effective as compared to carbon electrodes. Au forms self-assembled layers (SALs) on the surface of electrodes and therefore have much application in sensing devices [60]. Application of SPEs in electrochemical sensing ranges from pH sensing, organic compounds, heavy metals, radioactive wastes as well as biological samples. They can be used for replacement of Glass electrodes in pH sensing devices [61]. Three-electrode system was applied for sensing pH and was much more sensitive than two-electrode systems [62]. Nickel oxide bulk modified SPEs are applied for detection of hydroxide ion change [63]. Disposable CdS modified SPEs electrode are used to measure dissolved oxygen concentration by electro-chemiluminescence method [64]. MnO₂ based SPEs sensing devices are used to determine the nitrate ions in the sample [65]. In-situ determination of phenolic compounds and their derivatives was done using SPEs because their simple design, fast response, high sensitivity and low cost. However electro-oxidation of phenols leads to surface passivation and hence hinder the electron transfer mechanisms. Graphene or carbon based nanomaterials have been proved to be outstanding material for screen-printing of electrodes due to their high tensile strength, large electrical and active chemical properties. Application of surfactants having anti fouling properties proved to be major step in determination of phenolic compounds electrochemically. One such experiment involved CTAB (cetyltetramethylammonium bromide) in the analysis of bisphenol A in water samples obtained from sewages [66]. Dihydroxybenzene determination was done Multi walled Carbon Nanotubes (MWCNTs) and Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) based SPEs; coating of MWCNTs increased the sensitivity while AuNPs provided conductivity to the surface [67]. Immobilization of enzyme (polyphenol oxidase) on MWCNTs modified electrode surface was done using electrodeposition techniques. Aiding of Bi³⁺, PPO and MWCNTs was used for phenol detection and spunning Diaminobenzene (DAB) for the detection and determination of DAB [68, 69]. Disposable biosensors with magnetic nanoparticles of Nickel for determination of bisphenol A [70]. Surface enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) enhanced Silver deposited SPEs was used for detection of phenolic compounds. They are highly efficient for qualitative as well as quantitative determination of polar organic compounds with very low detection limits (0.1 nM) [71]. Aetylcholinesterase (AChE) immobilized SPEs with magnetic nanoparticles were used for determination of pesticides (as they inhibit the enzymatic activities). AuNPs were added to enhance the stability of Iron oxide nanoparticles. These are easily renewable electrodes and can be replenished after the removal of magnetic portion [72]. Methyl parathion is determined by using E. coli immobilized SPEs.

Electrochemical stripping analysis (ESA) esp. ASVs is most common method for the determination of toxic metal ions. Combining ASVs with SPEs increases sensitivity, robustness reduces response time and cost of electrochemical detection [73]. Some of the metal ions detection techniques are mentioned as below:

- Lead: Sensitivity of the electrochemical detectors is mainly increased by using Carbon, Bismuth, Gold or other materials. Bismuth, because of their environment friendly nature and high analytical performances are most widely used technique for lead determination. The wide negative potential window and less necessity for the removal of dissolved oxygen increase easier handling and their more convenient use [74–77]. Thin film Hg electrode was also found effective for microlevel detection of Pb(II) ions [78].
- 2. Cadmium: Quasi noble behavior of Mercury makes it suitable for application over a wide range of pH. This holds an additional advantage over Bismuth which is easily hydrolyzed in neutral or alkaline media. Stripping voltammetry using mercury electrode can be used for a wide range of metal ion detection and requires low analysis time without degassing. So it is much beneficial for determination of trace metals but the only shortcoming associated with metal toxicity. This requires the development of new techniques to reduce the amount of mercury used for determination [79]. Ex-situ deposited Hg based SPEs, AuNPs amalgam and Microelectrode array of Hg are some of the most common modifiers for detection of Cadmium [34, 80, 81, 82].
- 3. Mercury: Bare or modified Au electrodes are mainly used in detection of Hg(II) ions because of the high affinity of gold which increases the preconcentration and thereby reducing time of detection. However the only drawback that limits

the use is the high affinity for amalgam formation which leads to structural changes over the surface of electrodes. The most common Screen printed Gold electrodes (SPGEs) are commercially available for detection of Hg(II) [83]. Thiol based SPEs, PANi modified SPEs and PANi-Methylene Blue modified SPEs are some of the modifiers used for electrochemical detections of Hg [78, 65, 85, 86, 87].

- 4. Arsenic: Arsenic detection is done by using PtNPs modified SPEs by electrochemically depositing K₂PtCl₆, citrate-capped AuNPs modified SPEs and AChE modified SPCEs with no interferences from Cu(II) [69, 89, 90].
- 5. Mixture of metals: Bi modified SPEs can be used for simultaneous determination of metal ions such as Pb(II), Zn(II) and Cd(II) [91]. Crown ether based SPEs on thin film Hg electrodes are used for determination of Pb(II) and Cd(II) [92]. Chitosan, poly-[-1-4]-2-amino-2-deoxy-d-glucopyranose (CTS) forms stable chelate complexes with many transition-metal ions through hydroxyl and amino groups. CTS and their derivatives with Glassy carbon electrode (GCE) are used for determination of metal ions [93]. Modified CTS-SPCEs are used for the detection of Pb(II), Cu(II), Cd(II) and Hg(II) with very less preconcentration time [94]. CTS-MWCNTs composite film showed noticeable improvements in robustness of the electrode [95]. In-situ Hg deposited on MWCNTs-CHIT/SPE was used for the simultaneous determination of Pb(II), Cd(II) and Cu(II) [96].

SPEs are proved to be effective method for the rapid detection of bacteria. Enzyme-linked immunosensing strip was fabricated for the specific detection of E. coli O157:H7 because of the use of double-specific antibodies [97]. Selective and detection of *E. coli* was done based on an impedimetric immunosensor using SALs modified gold SPEs in river and tap water samples without following preconcentration steps. Disposable SPEs were used for direct electron-transfer reaction at *Shewanella* sp. bacteria without redox mediator [98]. Easy drop-coating of bacteria was done to avoid tedious job and time-consuming step of growing a bacterial bio-film formation on the surface of electrode.

Radionuclide such as Uranium determination was done using 4-carboxyphenylgrafted SPE has for sub-nanomolar U(VI) analysis using voltammetric methods [99].

U(VI) detection in aqueous solutions was also done using electrochemically induced, non-modified SPEs, with a detection limit of 4.5 nmol L^{-1} [100].

Stripping-based electrochemical sensors

Heavy metal contamination is a serious matter of concern and is leading escalating needs for monitoring these trace metals in environment especially water bodies. Stripping analysis has been proved to be powerful technique for ascertaining toxic metals in water samples [101, 102]. The 'built-in' preconcentration step adds to the significant sensitivity of this method. Preconcentration requires the accumulation of target metal ions on the surface of electrodes.

Electrolytic deposition for trace heavy metals and non-electrochemical preconcentration methods based on adsorptive accumulation of metal complexes have
been developed for environmentally harmful trace metals such as Cr, Al, U, Fe, Ti, V, Mo. etc. which are very difficult to deposit on the surface of electrodes [103].

Stripping analysis provides important and highly accurate information on metal speciation. Varying oxidation states of metals can be measured by adjusting the stripping protocol, controlling solution or deposition profiles. Errors due to metal contamination or loss can also be monitored in-situ in this technique.

4.2 Molecularly Imprinted Polymer as Modifiers

MIPs are highly stable and specific that holds great potential to substitute enzymes, antibodies and other natural receptors in sensing technology. Three major criteria for designing of MIP based electrochemical sensors:

- High-sensitive transducer which are very capable in monitoring the binding and transformation of analyte into processed signal;
- Developing of polymers that interacts with the template-analyte under specific conditions with high affinity, selectivity and specificity;
- Integrating of MIP with transducer.

MIP Potentiometric sensors was first synthesized using electropolymerization of para-aminophenol and aniline for detection of phenols, amines and pyrrole [104]. Monomers react with themselves and target molecules acts as templates forming molecule specific polymers. Pyrrole, aromatic amines, substituted amines and phenolic compounds, based MIPs were prepared by copolymerization process. MIP-based amperometric device for the detection of aniline and phenol were developed. Their basic principle of functioning involves adsorption of target molecule on the template of MIP. Potentiometric sensors for the analysis and detection of lead and uranyl ions in aqueous medium were developed using 5-Vinylsalicylaldoxime ligand based MIPs [105].

4.3 Electrochemical Biosensors

Electrochemical biosensors are a proved to be breakthrough in electrochemical detection of pollutants. They are miniaturized electrochemical devices that are used for sensing pollution and are work at low detection limit of analyte and at very low sample volume [106, 107]. Their development depends mainly on basis of their sensitivity, specificity and parallelism. The electrodes used in these devices converts biological signals into output signals. The present necessity is to design highly specific sensing devices leading to development of biosensors. Electrochemical biosensors holds advantages such as extended miniaturization, enhance selectivity, high specificity and real-time monitoring of the samples [108]. Electrodes applied

in these electrochemical biosensors converts biological signals into readable output signals. Electrodes used in biosensors allow the conversion of biological signals into a readable output signal. Modifications by specific biochemical (DNA, enzymes or cells). These electrochemical biosensors may be any type: potentiometric, voltammetric or Amperometric on the basis of output method applied. Electrochemical biosensors can be sub categorized as biocatalytic or affinity sensors on the basis of biological molecule used for modification. Electro-biocatalytic sensors are modified with biological entities (enzymes) that recognizes a specific target and induces a response of an electroactive molecule. AChE inhibition-based electrochemical biosensing has been proved to be easy, fast and extra sensitive method for pesticide such as paraoxoon, parathion, carbofuran and methemiodophos. Immunoassay based electrochemical sensors have been reported to be applied in the detection of Picloram, carbofuran, Atrazine and other pesticides. On the other hand, electro-affinity sensors have a binding recognition element (such as antibodies) and produces signals when they are coupled to target molecules [109]. Extensive literature is already been done for Pb(II), Cu(II), Hg(II), Cd(II) etc. Application of nanomaterials adds the benefit of smaller size and higher surface area to the electrodes.

4.4 Nanowire-Based Electrochemical Sensors

Application of nanowires can be other possible strategy for enhancing surface-to-volume ratio, and promoting the electrochemical sensitivity of sensors for the detection of analyte. Nanowires made of conductive or semiconductive materials (Au, Ag, CuO) depending on the nature analyte to be detected. The easier mode of preparation, higher surface-to-volume ratio, and increased stability due crystallinity, higher sensitivity and selectivity suggests them to be used effectively in sensing devices. CuO nanowires anchored on SWCNTs in an electrochemical sensor can be used for the detection of organophosphorus pesticides (parathion or Malathion) used in the field of agriculture. CuO-SWCNTs are much stable and show high specificity for Malathion and effective selectivity against pesticides, metal ions or cations and carbohydrates [58]. Silicon nanowires-supported AChE-based electrochemical sensors were used for the determination of organophosphate pesticides [110].

4.5 Paper-Based Electrochemical Biosensors

Paper is becoming an increasingly common support for developing microfluidic devices and biosensors because of their unique properties such as porosity, liquid wicking and affinity for surface to a number of analyte, etc. Such devices are much portable, on-site, and real-time monitoring, thereby establishing them for large

number of applications in different areas such as medical, nutraceutical and environmental [111]. Some of the basic examples for their application in pollutants sensing can be cited as follows. Paper-based screen-printed electrochemical sensor to detect phosphate [112], lateral flow paper-based sensing device detection of for lead and cadmium ions [113], portable paper-based dual electrochemical/ colorimetric system for detection and determination of gold and iron ions [114], [PMo11VO40] 5-on carbon electrodes for the electrochemical determination of chlorate [115] and many more literatures are available establishing their use in sensing devices. Introduction of cellulose blotting pad as a sink allowed continuous wicking of the solution through electrodes which promoted the efficiency and sensitivity of Pb(II) deposition in ASV [116]. A 3-D microfluidic paper-based electroanalytical device for detection of Pb^{2+} and Hg^{2+} based on the potential-control method was used for lake water and human serum samples, respectively [117]. [118] developed a fully integrated ready-to-use paper-based electrochemical biosensor for the assessment of nerve agent simulant (paraoxoon) in real environmental sites. Carbon black/Prussian Blue nanocomposite based paper sensor was used for determination of paraoxoon were also developed [118].

4.6 Ionic Liquid as Electrode Modifiers in Electrochemical Devices

Ionic liquids are liquids having positively and negatively charged ion joined through electrostatic interaction. While conventional liquids are made up of molecules, ionic liquids are ionic entities. They are liquid at room temperature and most of them stay liquid up to 200 °C. Ionic liquid based modified electrodes can be of great application case of electrochemical sensors. They serve as both binder and electron conductors on the surface of electrodes. High conductance, effective catalytic properties, intrinsic conductivity, longer shelf life as well as temperature resistance, low volatility, extreme sensitivity, wide electrochemical window and very high selectivity makes them more and more favourable when dealing with electrochemical sensing devices [119]. Task specific ionic liquid (TSIL) containing a bistriflimde anion and tetraalkylammonium cation in combination with Bi2O3 was found effective in electrochemical detection of heavy metal oxides such as CdO, CuO and PbO [105, 120]. The acid group enhances the solubilisation of metal ions in Ionic liquids and hence helps in analyte preconcentration. Nano-porous Au electrode coated with 3-mercaptopropylsulfonate (MPS) SALs was applied in the detection and determination of Cu(II) water by stripping voltammetry [56]. RTILs provide suitable alternative Hg free electrode techniques because of high temperature stability and wide electrochemical window.

Redox ions that are less active or inactive at conventional electrode-electrolyte surfaces can be detected at liquid-liquid interfaces by applying electrochemical analysis the interface of two immiscible electrolytes [104]. This technique holds an extra advantage of pre-saturation with water molecules, thereby less affected by humidity. MWCNT based ionic liquid (1-butylimidazole bromide immobilized on an epoxy group of poly(glycidyl methacrylate)-MWCNT composite) electrodes were used for voltammetric detection of phenolic compounds [121]. Ionic liquid can profoundly be applied as Ion Selective Electrodes (ISEs) as an alternative to plasticizers and ion exchangers. Hydrophobic RTIL [N8, 8, 8, 1] [C₄C₄N] containing dicyclohexano-18-crown-6 (DCH18C6) as ionophore was used for the potentiometric detection of K⁺ in water [122]. Thin microporous membrane containing valinomycin and hydrophobic [N12, 12, 12, 1] [TFPB] ionic liquid was applied for amperometric detection of K⁺ and Na⁺ [123]. Low-melting ionic solids (LMISs) viz. [N6, 6, 6, 6] [BSB], [N8, 8, 8, 8] [BSB] and [N8, 8, 8, 1] [BSB] were applied for the potentiometric determination of salicylate, perchlorate, thiocyanate and iodide ions in water [124].

5 Limitations and Plausible Solutions

Fouling of the electrode surface appears as a serious matter of concern when it comes to detection of biological or organic pollutants. This creates a strong impact when it comes to on time monitoring of wastes in the stability as well as performance time. A large number of electrode surface cleaning techniques are available but it is preferred to have low cost electrochemical sensors. Poisoning of electrode surface is an important issue that must be solved while working with electrochemical sensors, which is time consuming and steps must be taken for continuous monitoring of the samples.

ISEs are simple-to-use and cost-effective devices which are highly effective for environmental analysis. However many practical challenges that are faced during their application in analysis (water samples from rivers or lakes) includes electrodes carryover, drift, their dissolution with the time, surface passivation and fouling [125]. The problem of surface fouling can be overcome by regular cleaning of electrode surface with analyte solution at a very low concentration. The preconditioning of electrode in analyte may lead to fast response, increased stability and reduce the problem of electrode drift and dissolution. Passivation and fouling can be combatted by using ISEs in Flow Injection Analysis and surface should be frequently calibrated.

Application of ionic liquids will prove an effective method for reducing toxicity due to mercury electrode. Some of the minor drawbacks related to electrochemical sensors includes their lower shelf life of six to one year depending upon samples they are being used with, limited temperature range which requires keeping the temperature of samples highly stable, low humidity and high temperatures dries out the surface of electrolyte.

6 Conclusions

The chapter tried to cover maximum aspects of materials that can be applied as electrochemical sensing devices. It was observed that potentiometric techniques especially ISEs have been proved to simple and inexpensive method of pollutant detection and determination. The robustness and miniaturization can be increased by application of solid contact support. Amperometric sensors were found to be highly sensitive and selective for metal ion pollutants as well as organic entities. For very low detection limits voltammetric sensors were seen to be very effective and preconcentration step adds to its sensitivity. Improvements are still needed for Conductometric sensors in terms of sensitivity by addition of more selective elements. Amperometric and Potentiometric techniques are much advantageous and reliable as compared to conductometric measurements. Introduction of new technologies such as screen printing and molecular imprinting methods adds to the selectivity and sensitivity of these electrochemical sensors. Screen printed electrodes are highly effective for in-situ determination of pollutants. Ionophores based electrodes and analyte preconcentration plays another important role in adding specificity and selectivity of the sensing devices. Overall analysis of these sensors provide a suitable ground for their extensive application in field pollutant detection. Majority of electrochemical sensors are fabricated using microfabrication or nanofabrication techniques for miniaturization of devices and thereby enhancing the portability of these sensors. Research need to carry out increasing the antifouling property of the electrode surface and adding more life to the electrodes being used. The field is growing slowly but with a steady pace. Both nanomaterials and biomolecules based electrochemical sensors are adding desirable benefits of sensitivity and selectivity to the devices and hence playing an important role in detection and determination of the pollutants. Upcoming time need more specific and selective systems for which molecularly imprinted polymers and nanosensors will play a major role.

References

- 1. Ahmed, I., Iqbal, H. M. N., & Dhama, K. (2017). Enzyme-based biodegradation of hazardous pollutants: An overview. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *5*, 402–411.
- Bilal, M., Asgher, M., Iqbal, H. M. N., Hu, H., & Zhang, X. (2017). Bio-based degradation of emerging endocrine-disrupting and dye-based pollutants using cross-linked enzyme aggregates. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 24, 7035–7041.
- Barrios-Estrada, C., de Jesús Rostro-Alanis, M., Muñoz-Gutiérrez, B. D., Iqbal, H. M., Kannan, S., & Parra-Saldívar, R. (2018). Emergent contaminants: endocrine disruptors and their laccase-assisted degradation–A review. *Science of the total environment*, 612, 1516– 1531.
- 4. Brett, C. M. (2001). Electrochemical sensors for environmental monitoring. Strategy and examples. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 73(12), 1969–1977.

- Heninger, I., Potin-Gautier, M., de Gregori, I., & Pinochet, H. (1997). Storage of aqueous solutions of selenium for speciation at trace level. *Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 357, 600–610.
- Aminot, A., & Kerouel, R. (1997). Assessment of heat treatment for nutrient preservation in seawater samples. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 351, 299–309.
- Gardolinski, P., Hanrahan, G., Achterberg, E., Gledhill, M., Tappin, A., House, A., et al. (2001). Comparison of sample storage protocols for the determination of nutrients in natural waters. *Water Research*, 35, 3670–3678.
- Polya, D. A., Lythgoe, P. R., Abou-Shakra, F., Gault, A. G., Brydie, J. R., Webster, J. G., ... & Michailidis, K. M. (2003). IC-ICP-MS and IC-ICP-HEX-MS determination of arsenic speciation in surface and groundwaters: Preservation and analytical issues. *Mineralogical Magazine*, 67(2), 247–261
- 9. Wang, J. (2000). Analytical electrochemistry (2nd ed.). New York: Wiley.
- 10. Taillefert, M., Luther, G. W., & Nuzzio, D. B. (2000). The application of electrochemical tools for in situ measurements in aquatic systems. *Electroanalysis*, *12*, 401–412.
- Bakker E., & Telting-Diaz, M. (2002). Electrochemical sensors. *Analytical Chemistry*, 74, 2781–2800.
- Privett, B. J., Shin, J. H., & Schoenfisch, M. H. (2010). Electrochemical sensors. *Analytical Chemistry*, 82, 4723–4741.
- 13. Iwasita, T., & DEM Pastor, E. (1994). Sand FTIR spectroscopic investigation of adsorbed ethanol on polycrystalline platinum. *Electrochimica Acta, 39*, 531–537.
- Rajeshwar, K., Ibanez, J. G., & Swain, G. M. (1994). Electrochemistry and the environment. Journal of Appled Electrochemistry, 24, 1077–1091.
- Schöning, M. J., & Kloock, J. P. (2007). About 20 years of silicon-based thin-film sensors with chalcogenide glass materials for heavy metal analysis: Technological aspects of fabrication and miniaturization. *Electroanalysis: An International Journal Devoted to Fundamental and Practical Aspects of Electroanalysis, 19*(19–20), 2029–2038.
- Frant, M. S., & Ross, J. W. (1966). Electrode for sensing fluoride ion activity in solution. Science, 154, 1553–1555.
- Wang, X. D., Shen, W., Cattrall, R. W., Nyberg, G. L., & Liesegang, J. (1996). The effects of doping on the selectivity and response time of fluoride ion-selective electrodes. *Australian Journal of Chemistry*, 49, 897–899.
- Mascini, M., & Liberti, A. (1971). Preparation, analytical evaluation and applications of a new heterogeneous membrane electrode for copper(II). *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 53, 202– 206.
- 19. Mascini, M., & Liberti, A. (1972). Preparation and analytical evaluation of a new lead(II) heterogeneous membrane electrode. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 60, 405–412.
- Tan, J., Bergantin Jr, J. H., Merkoçi, A., Alegret, S., & Sevilla III, F. (2004). Oil dispersion of AgI/Ag₂S salts as a new electroactive material for potentiometric sensing of iodide and cyanide. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 101(1–2), 57–62.
- 21. Bakker, E., Bühlmann, P., & Pretsch, E. (1997). Carrier-based ion-selective electrodes and bulk optodes. 1. General characteristics. *Chemical Reviews*, *97*(8), 3083–3132.
- 22. Bobacka, J. (2006). Conducting polymer-based solid-state ion-selective electrodes. *Electroanalysis*, 18, 7–18.
- 23. Rahman, M. A., Kumar, P., Park, D. S., & Shim, Y. B. (2008). Electrochemical sensors based on organic conjugated polymers. *Sensors*, *8*, 118–141.
- 24. Bobacka, J., Ivaska, A., & Lewenstam, A. (2003). Potentiometric ion sensors based on conducting polymers. *Electroanalysis*, 15, 366–374.
- Nair, S. G., & Hwang, S. T. (1991). Selective transport of calcium-ion from a mixed cation solution through an HDEHP/n-dodecane supported liquid membrane. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 64, 69–79.
- Ross, J. W. (1967). Calcium-selective electrode with liquid ion exchanger. *Science*, 156, 1378–1379.

- Bühlmann, P., Pretsch, E., & Bakker, E. (1998). Carrier-based ion-selective electrodes and bulk optodes. 2. Ionophores for potentiometric and optical sensors. *Chemical Reviews*, 98 (4), 1593–1688.
- Cammann, K., Ahlers, B., Henn, D., Dumschat, C., & Shulga, A. A. (1996). New sensing principles for ion detection. *Sensor Actuat B-Chem*, 35, 26–31.
- Dzyadevych, S. V., Soldatkin, A. P., Arkhypova, V. N., Anna, V., Chovelon, J. M., Georgiou, C. A., & Jaffrezic-Renault, N. (2005). Early-warning electrochemical biosensor system for environmental monitoring based on enzyme inhibition. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 105(1), 81–87.
- Achterberg, E. P., & Braungardt, C. (1999). Stripping voltammetry for the determination of trace metal speciation and in-situ measurements of trace metal distributions in marine waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 400, 381–397.
- Tercier-Waeber, M. L., Belmont-Hébert, C., & Buffle, J. (1998). Real-time continuous Mn (II) monitoring in lakes using a novel voltammetric in situ profiling system. Oceans'98-Conference Proceedings, 32(10), 1515–1521.
- 32. Richter, E. M., Pedrotti, J. J., & Angnes, L. (2003). Square wave quantification of lead in rainwater with disposable gold electrodes without removal of dissolved oxygen. *Electroanalysis*, *15*, 1871–1877.
- Feeney, R., & Kounaves, S. P. (2002). Voltammetric measurement of arsenic in natural waters. *Talanta*, 58, 23–31.
- Gong, J., Zhou, T., Song, D., Zhang, L., & Hu, X. (2010). Stripping Voltammetric Detection of Mercury(II) Based on a Bimetallic Au-Pt Inorganic-Organic Hybrid Nanocomposite Modified Glassy Carbon Electrode. *Analytical Chemistry*, 82, 567–573.
- 35. Mikkelsen, O., & Schroder, K. H. (2004). Voltammetric monitoring of bivalent iron in waters and effluents, using a dental amalgam sensor electrode. *Some preliminary results. Electroanalysis, 16,* 386–390.
- Mikkelsen, O., Skogvold, S. M., & Schroder, K. H. (2005). Continuous heavy metal monitoring system for application in river and seawater. *Electroanalysis*, 17, 431–439.
- Colombo, C., van den Berg, C. M. G., & Daniel, A. (1997). A flow cell for on-line monitoring of metals in natural waters by voltammetry with a mercury drop electrode. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 346, 101–111.
- Grabarczyk, M. (2008). A catalytic adsorptive stripping voltammetric procedure for trace determination of Cr (VI) in natural samples containing high concentrations of humic substances. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 390, 979–986.
- Hutton, E. A., Hocevar, S. B., Ogorevc, B., & Smyth, M. R. (2003). Bismuth film electrode for simultaneous adsorptive stripping analysis of trace cobalt and nickel using constant current chronopotentiometric and voltammetric protocol. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 5, 765–769.
- 40. Lin, L., Lawrence, N. S., Thongngamdee, S., Wang, J., & Lin, Y. H. (2005). Catalytic adsorptive stripping determination of trace chromium(VI) at the bismuth film electrode. *Talanta*, 65, 144–148.
- Lin, L., Thongngamdee, S., Wang, J., Lin, Y. H., Sadik, O. A., & Ly, S. Y. (2005). Adsorptive stripping voltammetric measurements of trace uranium at the bismuth film electrode. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 535, 9–13.
- Guzsvany, V., Kadar, M., Papp, Z., Bjelica, L., Gaal, F., & Toth, K. (2008). Monitoring of photocatalytic degradation of selected neonicotinoid insecticides by cathodic voltammetry with a bismuth film electrode. *Electroanalysis*, 20, 291–300.
- Gooding, J. J., Shein, J., & Lai, L. M. H. (2009). Using nanoparticle aggregation to give an ultrasensitive amperometric metal ion sensor. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 11, 2015– 2018.
- 44. Toniolo, R., Comisso, N., Bontempelli, G., Schiavon, G., & Sitran, S. (1998). A Novel Assembly for Perfluorinated Ion-Exchange Membrane-Based Sensors Designed for Electroanalytical Measurements in Nonconducting Media. *Electroanalysis: An*

International Journal Devoted to Fundamental and Practical Aspects of Electroanalysis, 10 (14), 942–947.

- 45. Ordeig, O., Mas, R., Gonzalo, J., Del Campo, F. J., Muñoz, F. J., & de Haro, C. (2005). Continuous detection of hypochlorous acid/hypochlorite for water quality monitoring and control. *Electroanalysis: An International Journal Devoted to Fundamental and Practical Aspects of Electroanalysis, 17*(18), 1641–1648.
- Sun, W., Sun, G., Qin, B., & Xin, Q. (2007). A fuel-cell-type sensor for detection of formaldehyde in aqueous solution. *Sensor Actuators B-Chem*, 128, 193–198.
- 47. Mehta, A., Shekhar, H., Hyun, S. H., Hong, S., & Cho, H. J. (2006). A micromachined electrochemical sensor for free chlorine monitoring in drinking water. *Water Science and Technology*, *53*, 403–410.
- Lee, H. J., Beattie, P. D., Seddon, B. J., Osborne, M. D., & Girault, H. H. (1997). Amperometric ion sensors based on laser-patterned composite polymer membranes. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 440, 1–2.
- Huang, J. D., Zhang, X. M., Liu, S., Lin, Q., He, X. R., Xing, X. R., et al. (2011). Electrochemical sensor for bisphenol A detection based on molecularly imprinted polymers and gold nanoparticles. *Journal of Appled Electrochemistry*, *41*, 1323–1328.
- Chen, T. S., & Huang, K. L. (2012). Electrochemical detection and degradation of acetaminophen in aqueous solutions. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, 7, 6877–6892.
- Quintino de Oliveira, M. C., Tanaka, A. A., de Vasconce los Lanza, M. R., & Del PilarTaboada Sotomayor, M. (2011). Studies of the electrochemical degradation of acetaminophen using a real-time biomimetic sensor. *Electroanalysis*, 23(11), 2616–2621.
- de Mattos, I. L., Gorton, L., & Ruzgas, T. (2003). Sensor and biosensor based on Prussian Blue modified gold and platinum screen printed electrodes. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 18, 193–200.
- 53. Berchmans, S., Karthikeyan, R., Gupta, S., Poinern, G. E. J., Issa, T. B., & Singh, P. (2011). Glassy carbon electrode modified with hybrid films containing inorganic molybdate anions trapped in organic matrices of chitosan and ionic liquid for the amperometric sensing of phosphate at neutral pH. *Sensor ActuatB-Chem*, *160*, 1224–1231.
- 54. Afzali, D., Karimi-Maleh, H., & Khalilzadeh, M. A. (2011). Sensitive and selective determination of phenylhydrazine in the presence of hydrazine at a ferrocene-modified carbon nanotube paste electrode. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *9*, 375–381.
- Grieshaber, D., MacKenzie, R., Vörös, J., & Reimhult, E. (2008). Electrochemical Biosensors-Sensor Principles and Architectures. *Sensors*, *8*, 1400–1458.
- Huang, J.-F., & Lin, B.-L. (2009). Application of a nanoporous gold electrode for the sensitive detection of copper *via* mercury-free anodic stripping voltammetry. *Analyst*, 134, 2306–2313.
- Chang, B.-Y., & Park, S.-M. (2010). Electrochemical impedance spectroscopy. Ann. Rev. Anal. Chem., 3, 207–229.
- Huo, D., Li, Q., Zhang, Y., Hou, C., & Lei, Y. (2014). A highly efficient organophosphorus pesticides sensor based on CuO nanowires–SWCNTs hybrid nanocomposite. *Sensors and Actuators B Chemical*, 199, 410–417.
- Torsi, L., Magliulo, M., Manoli, K., & Palazzo, G. (2013). Organic field-effect transistor sensors: A tutorial review. *Chem Soc Rev* 42, 8612–8628.
- Bain, C. D., Troughton, E. B., Tao, Y. T., Evalli, J., Whitesides, G. M., & Nuzzo, R. G. (1989). Formation of monolayer films by the spontaneous assembly of organic thiols from solution onto gold. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 111, 321–335.
- 61. Muller, A., Brinz, T., & Simon, U. (2008). Preparation and measurement of combinatorial screen printed libraries for the electrochemical analysis of liquids. *Journal of Combinatorial Chemistry*, *11*, 138–142.
- 62. Kampouris, D. K., Kadara, R. O., Jenkinson, N., & Banks, C. E. (2009). Screen printed electrochemical platforms for pH sensing. *Analytical Methods*, *1*, 25–28.

- Hallam, P. M., Kampouris, D. K., Kadara, R. O., Jenkinson, N., & Banks, C. E. (2010). Nickel oxide screen printed electrodes for the sensing of hydroxide ions in aqueous solutions. *Analytical Methods*, 2, 1152–1155.
- 64. Zheng, R. J., Fang, Y. M., Qin, S. F., Song, J., Wu, A. H., & Sun, J. J. (2011). A dissolved oxygen sensor based on hot electron induced cathodic electrochemiluminescence at a disposable CdS modified screen-printed carbon electrode. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 157(2), 488–493.
- Sljukic, B. R., Kadara, R. O., & Banks, C. E. (2011). Disposable manganese oxide screen printed electrodes for electroanalytical sensing. *Analytical Methods*, 3, 105–109.
- 66. Brugnera, M. F., & Trindade, M. A. G. (2010). Detection of bisphenol a on a screen-printed carbon electrode in CTAB micellar medium. *Analytical Letters*, *43*, 2823–2836.
- Zhang, D., Peng, Y., Qi, H. L., Gao, Q., & Zhang, C. X. (2009). Application of multielectrode array modified with carbon nanotubes to simultaneous amperometric determination of dihydroxybenzene isomers. *Sensor and Actuators B-Chemical*, 136, 113– 121.
- Merkoci, A., Anik, U., Cevik, S., Cubukcu, M., & Guix, M. (2010). Bismuth film combined with screen-printed electrode as biosensing platform for phenol detection. *Electroanalysis*, 22, 1429–1436.
- Akyilmaz, E., Kozgus, O., Turkmen, H., & Cetinkaya, B. (2010). A mediated polyphenol oxidase biosensor immobilized by electropolymerization of 1,2-diamino benzene. *Bioelectrochemistry*, 78, 135–140.
- Alkasir, R. S., Ganesana, M., Won, Y. H., Stanciu, L., & Andreescu, S. (2010). Enzyme functionalized nanoparticles for electrochemical biosensors: A comparative study with applications for the detection of bisphenol A. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 26, 43–49.
- Li, D., Li, D. W., Fossey, J. S., & Long, Y. T. (2010). Portable surface-enhanced Raman scattering sensor for rapid detection of aniline and phenol derivatives by on-site electrostatic preconcentration. *Analytical Chemistry*, 82, 9299–9305.
- Gan, N., Yang, X., Xie, D. H., Wu, Y. Z., & Wen, W. G. (2010). A disposable organophosphorus pesticides enzyme biosensor based on magnetic composite nano-particles modified screen printed carbon electrode. *Sensors*, 10, 625–638.
- Choi, J.-Y., Seo, K., Cho, S.-R., Oh, J.-R., Kahng, S.-H., & Park, J. (2001). Screen-printed anodic stripping voltammetric sensor containing HgO for heavy metal analysis. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 443, 241–247.
- Svancara, I., Prior, C., Hocevar, S. B., & Wang, J. (2010). A decade with bismuth-based electrodes in electroanalysis. *Electroanalysis*, 22, 1405–1420.
- Economou, A. (2005). Bismuth-film electrodes: Recent developments and potentialities for electroanalysis. *TrAC-Trend Anal Chem*, 24, 334–340.
- Kokkinos, C., & Economou, A. (2008). Stripping analysis at bismuth-based electrodes. *Current Analytical Chemistry*, 4, 183–190.
- Mandil, A., & Amine, A. (2009). Screen-printed electrodes modified by bismuth film for thedetermination of released lead in Moroccan ceramics. *Analytical Letters*, 42, 1245–1257.
- Arduini, F., Majorani, C., Amine, A., Moscone, D., & Palleschi, G. (2011). Hg²⁺ detection by measuring thiol groups with a highly sensitive screen-printed electrode modified with a nanostructured carbon black film. *Electrochimica Acta*, 56, 4209–4215.
- 79. Zaouak, O., Authier, L., Cugnet, C., Castetbon, A., & Potin-Gautier, M. (2010). Electroanalytical device for cadmium speciation in waters. Part 1: Development and characterization of a reliable screen-printed sensor. *Electroanalysis*, 22, 1151–1158.
- Gong, J. M., Zhou, T., Song, D. D., & Zhang, L. Z. (2010). Monodispersed Au nanoparticles decorated graphene as an enhanced sensing platform for ultrasensitive stripping voltammetric detection of mercury(II). *Sens Actuators B-Chem*, 150, 491–497.
- Hossain, S. M., Luckham, R. E., McFadden, M. J., & Brennan, J. D. (2009). Reagentless bidirectional lateral flow bioactive paper sensors for detection of pesticides in beverage and food samples. *Analytical Chemistry*, *81*, 9055–9064.

- 82. Bernalte, E., Sánchez, C. M., & Gil, E. P. (2011). Determination of mercury in ambient water samples by anodic stripping voltammetry on screen-printed gold electrodes. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 689(1), 60–64.
- Renedo, O. D., Lomillo, M. A. A., & Martinez, M. J. A. (2004). Optimization procedure for the inhibitive determination of chromium (III) using an amperometric tyrosinase biosensor. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 521, 215–221.
- Krishna, M. V. B., Karunasagar, D., Rao, S. V., & Arunachalam, J. (2005). Preconcentration and speciation of inorganic and methyl mercury in waters using polyaniline and gold trap-CVAAS. *Talanta*, 68, 329–335.
- Gupta, R. K., Singh, R. A., & Dubey, S. S. (2004). Removal of mercury ions from aqueous solutions by composite of polyaniline with polystyrene. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 38, 225–232.
- Somerset, V., Leaner, J., Mason, R., Iwuoha, E., & Morrin, A. (2010). Development and application of a poly (2, 2'-dithiodianiline)(PDTDA)-coated screen-printed carbon electrode in inorganic mercury determination. *Electrochimica Acta*, 55, 4240–4246.
- Somerset, V., Leaner, J., Mason, R., Iwuoha, E., & Morrin, A. (2010). Determination of inorganic mercury using a polyaniline and polyaniline-methylene blue coated screen-printed carbon electrode. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 90, 671– 685.
- Sanllorente-Mendez, S., Dominguez-Renedo, O., & Arcos-Martinez, M. J. (2009). Determination of Arsenic (III) using platinum nanoparticle-modified screen-printed carbon-based electrodes. *Electroanalysis*, 21, 635–639.
- Khairy, M., Kampouris, D. K., Kadara, R. O., & Banks, C. E. (2010). Gold nanoparticle modified screen printed electrodes for the trace sensing of Arsenic(III) in the presence of Copper(II). *Electroanalysis*, 22, 2496–2501.
- Sanllorente-Mendez, S., Dominguez-Renedo, O., & Arcos-Martinez, M. J. (2010). Immobilization of acetylcholinesterase on screen-printed electrodes. Application to the determination of arsenic (III). *Sensors*, 10, 2119–2128.
- Rico, M. A. G., Olivares-Marin, M., & Gil, E. P. (2009). Modification of carbon screen-printed electrodes by adsorption of chemically synthesized Bi nanoparticles for the voltammetric stripping detection of Zn(II), Cd(II) and Pb(II). *Talanta*, *80*, 631–635.
- Parat, C., Betelu, S., Authier, L., & Potin-Gautier, M. (2006). Determination of labile trace metals with screen-printed electrode modified by a crown-ether based membrane. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 14, 573–574.
- Marcolino-Junior, L. H., Janegitz, B. C., Louren, B. C., & Fatibello-Filho, O. (2007). Analytical Letters, 40, 3119–3128.
- Khaled, E., Hassan, H. N. A., Habib, I. H. I., & Metelka, R. (2010). Chitosan Modified Screen-Printed Carbon Electrode for Sensitive Analysis of Heavy Metals Int J Electrochem Sci, 5, 158–167.
- Wang, S. F., Shen, L., Zhang, W. D., & Tong, Y. J. (2005). Preparation and mechanical properties of chitosan/carbon nanotubes composites. *Biomacromolecules*, 6, 3067–3072.
- Li, M., Li, D. W., Li, Y. T., Xu, D. K., & Long, Y. T. (2011). Highly selective in situ metal ion determination by hybrid electrochemical "adsorption-desorption" and colorimetric methods. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 701, 157–163.
- Lin, Y. H., Chen, S. H., Chuang, Y. C., Lu, Y. C., Shen, T. Y., Chang, C. A., et al. (2008). Disposable amperometric immunosensing strips fabricated by Au nanoparticles-modified screen-printed carbon electrodes for the detection of foodborne pathogen Escherichia coli O157:H7. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 23, 1832–1837.
- Prasad, K. S., Arun, A. B., Rekha, P. D., Young, C. C., Chang, J. L., & Zen, J. M. (2009). A Microbial Sensor Based on Direct Electron Transfer at Shewanella Sp. *Drop-Coated Screen-Printed Carbon Electrodes. Electroanalysis*, 21, 1646–1650.
- 99. Betelu, S., Vautrin-Ul, C., Ly, J., & Chausse, A. (2009). Screen-printed electrografted electrode for trace uranium analysis. *Talanta*, *80*, 372–376.

- Kostaki, V. T., Florou, A. B., & Prodromidis, M. I. (2011). Electrochemically induced chemical sensor properties in graphite screen-printed electrodes: The case of a chemical sensor for uranium. *Electrochimica Acta*, 56(24), 8857–8860.
- 101. Tercier, M.-L., & Buffle, J. (1993). In situ voltammetric measurements in natural waters: Future prospects and challenges. *Electroanalysis*, *5*, 187–200.
- 102. Wang, J. (1985). Stripping analysis. New York: VCH Publishers.
- 103. Paneli M.G.; Voulgaropoulos A. (1993). Applications of adsorptive stripping voltammetry in the determination of trace and ultratrace metals. *Electroanalysis*, *5*, 355–373.
- 104. Vinokurov, I. A. (1992). A new kind of redox sensor based on conducting polymer films. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, *10*(1), 31–35.
- Murray, G. M., J enkins, A. L., Bzhelyansky, A., & Uy, O. M. (1997). Molecularly imprinted polymers for the selective sequestering and sensing of ions. *John Hopknis APL Technical Digest, 18,* 464–472.
- 106. El Harrad, L., Bourais, I., Mohammadi, H., & Amine, A. (2018). Recent Advances in Electrochemical Biosensors Based on Enzyme Inhibition for Clinical and Pharmaceutical Applications. *Sensors*, *18*, 164.
- 107. Arduini, F., Cinti, S., Scognamiglio, V., Moscone, D., & Palleschi, G. (2017). How cutting-edge technologies impact the design of electrochemical (bio) sensors for environmental analysis: A review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 959, pp. 15–42.
- Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., de Alda, M. J., Marco, M. P., & Barceló, D. (2005). Biosensors for environmental monitoring: A global perspective. *Talanta*, 65, 291–297.
- Ronkainen, N. J., Halsall, H. B., & Heineman, W. R. (2010). Electrochemical biosensors. Chemical Society Reviews, 39, 1747–1763.
- 110. Su, S., He, Y., Zhang, M., Yang, K., Song, S., Zhang, X., et al. (2008). Applied Physics Letters, 93(2), 3113.
- 111. Liana, D. D., Raguse, B., Gooding, J. J., & Chow, E. (2012). Recent advances in paper-based sensors. Sensors, 12, 11505–11526.
- Cinti, S., Talarico, D., Palleschi, G., Moscone, D. & Arduini, F. (2016). Novel reagentless paper-based screen-printed electrochemical sensor to detect phosphate. *Anal chim Acta*, 919, 78–84.
- 113. Medina-Sanchez, M., Cadevall, M., Ros, J. & Merkoci A. (2015). Eco-friendly lab on-paper for heavy metal detection. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 407(28), 8445–8449.
- Apilux, A., Dungchai, W., Siangproh, W., Praphairaksit, N., henry, C.S. & Chailapakul, O. (2010). Lab-on-paper with dual electrochemical/colorimetric detection for simultaneous determination of gold and iron. *Anal chem*, 82(5), 1727–1732.
- 115. Shriver-Lake, L., Zabetakis, D., Dressick, W., Stenger, D. & Trammell , S. (2018). Based electrochemical detection of chlorates. *Sensors*, *18*(2), 328.
- Nie, Z., Nijhuis, C.A., Kumachev, A., Martinez, A.W., Narovlyansky, M. & Whitesides, G. M. (2010). Electrochemical sensing on paper based microfluidic devices. *Lab on a chip*, *10* (4), 477–483.
- 117. Zhang, M., Ge, L., Ge, S., Yan, M., Yu, J., Huang, J. & Liu, S. (2013). Three-dimensional paper-based electroluminescence device for simultaneous detection of Pb2+ and Hg2+ based on potential-control technique. *Biosens Bioelectron*, *41*, 544–550.
- Cinti, S., Basso, m., Moscone, D. & Arduini, F. (2017). A paper-based nanomodified electrochemical biosensor for ethanol detection in beers. *Anal Chim Acta*, 960, 123–130.
- 119. Opallo, M., & Lesniewski, A. (2011). A review on electrodes modified with ionic liquids. *Jour. of Electroana. Chem.*, 656(1–2), 2–16.
- Lu, D., Shomali, N., & Shen, A. (2010). Task specific ionic liquid for direct electrochemistry of metal oxides. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 12(9), 1214–1217.
- 121. Kim, K.-I., Kang, H.-Y., Lee, S. C., & Choi, S.-H. (2009). Fabrication of a multi-walled nanotube (MWNT) ionic liquid electrode and its application for sensing phenolics in red wines. *Sensors*, *9*, 6701–6714.

- 122. Nishi, N., Murakami, H., Yasui, Y., Kakiuchi, T. (2008). Use of highly hydrophobic ionic liquids for ion-selective electrodes of the liquid membrane type. *Analytical Sciences. The International Journal of the Japan Society for Analytical Chemistry*, 24(10), pp. 1315–1320.
- 123. Langmaier, J., & Samec, Z. (2009). Voltammetry of ion transfer across a polarized room-temperature ionic liquid membrane facilitated by Valinomycin: Theoretical aspects and application. *Analytical Chemistry*, *81*(15), 6382–6389.
- Chernyshov, D. V., Egorov, V. M., Shvedene, N. V., & Pletnev, I. V. (2009). Low-melting ionic solids: Versatile materials for ion-sensing devices. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 1(9), 2055–2059.
- 125. De Marco, R., Clarke, G., & Pejcic, B. (2007). Ion-selective electrode potentiometry in environmental analysis. *Electroanalysis*, 19, 1987–2001.

Materials in Bio-Sensing of Water Pollutants



Rupika Sinha, Shipra Dwivedi, Avishek Kumar and Pradeep Srivastava

Abstract The continual increase of harmful pollutants in water has posed severe threats to the different types of flora and fauna, either directly or through the food web. They have become a source of origin of various infectious diseases which deteriorates animal and human health. This serious issue has led to the emergence of various technologies for the detection of water-based pollutants so that their presence could be revealed as well as treated. Various chemical methods have been developed for this purpose. Still, there is scope for simple, robust, accurate and economical techniques for rapid identification of such pollutants. For this purpose, different types of biosensors have been designed which either serve as an alternative or support to chemical sensors. The biosensors are analytical devices made by integrating a biological material or biomimetic based on its biochemical role with a transducer. These biological materials could be biomolecules such as antibodies, enzymes, nucleic acids or other natural products. This chapter aims at providing an insight of such biosensing devices and their materials which are used for monitoring the water quality.

Keywords Water quality • Detection methods • Biosensors • Pollutants • Biomaterials

S. Dwivedi e-mail: dwivediship.19@gmail.com

A. Kumar

P. Srivastava (🖂)

187

R. Sinha · S. Dwivedi

Department of Biochemical Engineering, School of Chemical Technology, Harcourt Butler Technical University, Kanpur, UP, India e-mail: sinha.rupika@gmail.com

Department of Electrical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Patna, Patna, India e-mail: kumar.avishek07@gmail.com

School of Biochemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (Banaras Hindu University) Varanasi, Varanasi 221005, India e-mail: pksrivastava.bce@itbhu.ac.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_11

1 Introduction

The rise in pollutants in the water bodies poses health risks as well as other environmental problems which have become a global concern. This calls for simple, sensitive and efficient methods for detection of different types of pollutants present in water so that the remediation process becomes effective. Conventional methods of pollutants detection are less effective than biosensors in the detection of toxic components of wastewater due to their slow response, complex methodology and high cost. Thus, biosensors were conceptualized for real-time detection of analyte even at small concentrations. The application of biosensors in wastewater analysis and the materials used for their construction are discussed in this chapter. Cammann coined the term biosensor [1]. The IUPAC committee defined biosensor as "A biosensor is a self-contained integrated device, which is capable of providing specific quantitative or semi-quantitative analytical information using a biological recognition element (biochemical receptor), which is retained in direct spatial contact with a transduction element." [2]. Construction of biosensors requires a multi-disciplinary knowledge as the detection element is a biological material by which chemical conversion occurs, which is transduced with the help of an electronic component.

A biosensor is an integrated system consisting of (i) a biological detection element (ii) a transducer which translates the interaction between the analyte and biological element into an electrical signal. Figure 1 shows the simplified construction of a biosensor.

The advantages associated with the use of biosensors are their selective nature, reliability, high sensitivity, low cost, simplicity and real-time monitoring. History of biosensors can be traced back to 1962 when Leland C. Clark, Jr. invented a technique to determine the reduction in oxygen concentration using a platinum electrode. Due to his pioneering contribution, he was then known as 'Father of



Fig. 1 Construction of a biosensor

Year	Major milestones
1962	Lee Clark invented an oxygen sensing device based on enzymatic activity and termed it as 'enzyme electrode'
1969	George Guilbault gave the concept of potentiometric urea electrode which used immobilized urease
1973	Introduction of lactate sensor by Mindt and Racine
1974	The idea of thermal transducers by Klaus Mosbach and Bengt Daniellsson
1975	Yellow Springs Instruments (YSI) developed glucose analyzer
1977	Karl Cammann coined the term 'Biosensor'
1983– 85	Different workers studied a combination of biological recognition elements such as antibodies, enzymes, nucleic acids and cells with various transducers

 Table 1
 Major developments in the field of biosensors [2]

Biosensors'. Renneberg et al. reviewed the foundation laid by Clark and other workers in the area of biosensors [2]. Some of the major milestones in the process of development of biosensors have been summarized in the following Table 1.

2 Working of a Biosensor

The biosensor has an immobilized biological detection element which is in direct contact with the transducer. The analyte interacts with the detection element, which generates a biological response. The biological response is then converted into electrical signals by transducers which are then amplified and measured. The electrical signals generated by the transducer as a result of interaction are often low and are superimposed by the noise signal. These noise signals are generated by electrical interference or the instrument itself. Thus, the reference baseline (the signals from the same instrument without the detection element) is subtracted from the output. The signal so produced is then amplified and displayed. The output may be in the form of an analogue or digital signal. The later one is preferred, which is then sent to the microprocessor for data processing, manipulation, conversion to the desired unit and final display and storage [3].

An important aspect of biosensor working is the limitation posed by the mass transfer and kinetics of the analyte interaction with the recognition element. The working of the biosensors is affected by either of the two. When the mass transfer limitation occurs, the binding of the analyte to the receptor is at a high rate. On the other hand, when the kinetics-limited interaction occurs, the binding activity is at a low rate. Under optimized conditions, mass transfer is limited by the diffusion phenomena. Damkohler number (Da) is an index used to evaluate whether the limiting phenomena is mass transfer or kinetics based. It is defined as the ratio of the maximum reaction rate to the maximum mass transfer rate. If the Da is greater than one, it means that the interaction is mass transfer limited while if it is less than one, it signifies that it is kinetics-limited process [4].

3 Types of Biosensors

Thevenot et al. described the classification of biosensors as recommended by the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) in [5]. Table 2 summarizes some of the biosensors used for wastewater pollutants detection.

Biosensors have been classified based on:

- (i) Types of the biological detection element
- (ii) Type of transducer.

3.1 Different Types of Biological Sensing Elements

Based on the materials used for detection, the biological sensing elements are further categorized as:

- (i) Biocatalytic (e.g. Enzymes)
- (ii) Bioaffinity (e.g. Antibodies and nucleic acids)
- (iii) Whole cells (e.g. Different types of microorganisms.

Transducer	Biological Detection element	Water contaminant	References
Туре	_		
Electrochemical	Calf thymus DNA	Toxic components	[6]
Electrochemical	Urease enzyme from immobilized on non-woven cellulose swab	Chromium	[7]
Optical	The bioluminescent bacterium <i>Pseudomonas fluorecens</i> HK44	Naphthalene and salicylate	[8]
Conductometric	<i>Chlorella vulgaris</i> immobilized inside bovine serum albumin membranes	Cadmium	[9]
Microbial Fuel cell	Biofilm formed on anode	BOD	[10]
Electrical conductivity	Sulphur oxidizing bacteria	Potassium cyanide, lead, mercury, cadmium and zinc	[11]

Table 2 Biosensors used for wastewater detection

3.1.1 Biocatalytic Biosensors

The enzymes used as recognition element by immobilization on the surface of the electrode. When more than one enzyme is immobilized in the same layer, there are many advantages which can be achieved. These may include conversion of an analyte into the final product through several steps of enzymatic conversions. Thus, the range of biosensor analyte is increased. Wollenberger et al. described this functionality of the multi-enzyme system [12]. Another advantage associated with multiple enzyme systems is an enhancement of biosensor selectivity by reducing the local interference of electrochemical substances. Another approach for enhancing the efficiency of the enzyme-based biosensor is the use of an organic solvent, which provides a hydrophilic microenvironment for the partition between the enzyme active site and the matrix. Andreescu et al. studied the detection of endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs) by developing a tyrosinase based biosensor. Different polyphenol estrogens were studied such as resveratrol, quercetin and genistein and their structures were compared to the synthetic EDCs. Thus, a tyrosinase based biosensor was developed for the detection of many phyto and xenoestrogens having a polyphenolic structure in wastewater [13].

3.1.2 Bioaffinity Based Biosensors

The biosensor can also be fabricated by the use of bio-affinity agents. These are the macromolecules which are isolated from the biological sources and may or may not be engineered. When these components react with the analytes, equilibrium is reached after this, there is no further interaction with the analyte. The analyte-macromolecule complex so formed is measured by the integrated detector. A modification to this type of biosensor could be the measurement of the bio-complex reaction using another complementary biochemical reaction. The signals of these secondary reactions are then measured using a detector [5]. The bio-affinity reactions could be either an antigen-antibody reaction or receptor—ligand reaction.

Antigen-antibody reaction: The immunochemical reactions between the antigen and the antibody are utilized for the development of these types of biosensors. Antibodies (also known as immunoglobulins) are Y-shaped proteins produced by white blood cells and recognize a complementary macromolecule known as an antigen. This type of bio-complexing has been widely employed in the detection of pollutants in wastewater. Blake et al., in 1996, showed that 2A81G5 monoclonal antibodies could recognize 16 different types of metal—EDTA complexes. This study showed that equilibrium binding constants for cadmium and mercury were higher than other metal—EDTA complexes. It was suggested that histidine amino acid in the heavy chain of the antibody might assist in the binding of the cadmium-EDTA complex [14].

Similarly, antibodies ISB4 have been found to detect Cadmium [15]. Melton et al., in another study carried out to detect the presence of uranium in contaminated groundwater, developed two immunosensors. One was a portable field sensor, while the second was an inline sensor. Both of the sensors detected the complex formed by a 12F6 monoclonal antibody with U(VI)-dicarboxyphenanthroline complex [16].

The sensitivity of immunosensors could be enhanced by the use of enzyme labels, which are either coupled to the antibodies or the antigen. The enzyme coupled immunosensors operate under equilibrium condition. Kanso et al. developed an enzyme coupled immunosensor for the detection of estradiol and ethinylestradiol in wastewater. These endocrine disrupting chemicals are found in wastewater. The methodology adopted for the development of the biosensor was based on the competition between the free antigen and derivative of the antigen. The amine derivatives of estradiol and ethinylestradiol were immobilized on the surface of magnetic beads coated with a carboxylic acid. These immobilized magnetic beads were in turn fixed on the surface of the electrode. The fixation of the antigen derivative was followed by the addition of the free estrogen and anti-estrogen antibody. This step is followed by washing and addition of alkaline phosphatase labelled IgG antibody. The reaction involves the conversion of p-nitrophenyl phosphate by the enzyme into p-nitrophenol, which gives a yellow colour. This reaction gives the measurement of the endocrine disrupting chemicals present in the wastewater [17]. Another study was carried out by Merola et al., for the detection of β-lactam antibiotics using enzyme-conjugated immunosensor in water. The detection was carried out by using anti-penicillin G antibody and the response was measured by conjugated biotin extravidin peroxidase. Immobilization was carried out on Immobilon membrane, which was regenerated after the use. The antibody-antigen (B-lactam antibiotics) affinity was also determined and showed that this method of detection was sensitive and reproducible [18].

Receptor-ligand reaction: Many biosensors utilization channels, binding proteins and membrane receptors as molecular identification systems. An example of such a system is lactose permease as the sensing element. The transducer is covered by the planar lipid bilayer in which the protein is incorporated. The principle of detection is based on the co-transport property of the protein due to which when the concentration of lactose increases, the concentration of proton between the quartz surface and membrane also rises. This rise in proton concentration was detected by a fluorescence dye, which is pH-sensitive [19].

Another approach in this category is the use of aptamer-based biosensor for the detection of pollutants in water. Aptamers are single-stranded ribonucleic acids (RNA) or deoxyribonucleic acids (DNA). They can bind to different types of targets such as from ions, small molecules, cells and tissues. Their binding action is specific and based on electrostatic, van der Waals, molecular shape complementarities and hydrogen bonding. Aptamers are selected by a process known as Systematic Evolution of Ligands by EXponential enrichment (SELEX) including selection, separation and amplification. The selection is done by using

single-stranded DNA or RNA library. Aptamers are preferred over proteins for detection elements as they show higher stability and tolerance for temperature and pH. The application of aptamers based biosensor for determination of water contaminants can range from lake water, tap water, seawater and wastewater. They are widely used for detection of molecular toxins [20], heavy metals [21], drugs [22], pesticides [23] and EDCs [24].

A toxin known as microcystins is a toxin secreted by cyanobacteria found in the aquatic ecosystem was found to contaminate food products [25]. Zhao et al. developed an aptamer-based biosensor for the detection of microcystins. Surface Enhanced Raman Scattering (SERS) was used to activate a bi-metallic nanosystems consisting of gold nanoflower (Au-NF) and silver nanoparticle (Ag-NP). This coupling of SERS active nanosystem led to the enhancement of the electromagnetic field for identification of microcystins with high sensitivity in lake water. This type of device may be developed to become a choice for portable biosensors for both qualitative and quantitative detection [26].

A temperature-based aptamer sensor was developed by Gao et al., for the detection of heavy metals such as lead and mercury. In this technique, the sample enters the capillary channel of a chip and reaches an exothermic reservoir containing sodium hydroxide as the exothermic agent. The entrance to the reservoir is guided by a microvalve made of an aptamer coupled hydrogel. When the analyte interacts with the aptamer the hydrogel shrinks, this leads to enhanced flow, causing a rise in the temperature due to heat dissolution. A thermometer detects this increase in temperature leading to quantitative analysis of heavy metals [27].

Aptamer-based biosensor is also used for the detection of drugs and other pharmaceutical ingredients found as water contaminants. A biosensor using an aptamer which was obtained using Capture-SELEX procedure was developed by Nikolaus et al., for detection of kanamycin A. The specificity and affinity of the analyte for the aptamer were analysed. Beads and microplate-based assay were carried out, and the fluorescence was measured. The affinity results were confirmed using a surface plasmon resonance (SPR) system. Thus an aptamer-based biosensor was proposed for the detection of aminoglycoside antibiotics in water [28].

Bala et al. developed an aptamer-based biosensor for detection of organophosphorus pesticide known as malathion. This sensing device used a cationic polyelectrolyte known as Polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride (PDDA) and an unmodified gold nanoparticle for the detection of malathion.

In another study, aptamers sensor for specific Bisphenol A determination using AC electrokinetics (ACEK) capacitive detection method was proposed by Lin et al. In this method an AC signal is given to an array of microelectrodes fabricated on silicon wafers. This signal causes microflows for binding of the analyte to the aptamers. This binding causes interfacial capacitance change, which is measured. This sensor was able to sense the presence of Bisphenol A within 30 s and had a limit of detection as 1.0 femtomolar [29].

3.1.3 Cells Based Biosensors

Cell-based biosensors have been fabricated to study the level of water pollutants, which are genotoxic, cytotoxic, membrane or protein-damaging or causing oxidative stress. These microorganisms are genetically modified to exhibit measurable signals in the form of charge, light or colour as an indicator of water contaminants. The advantages associated with cell-based toxicity evaluation include low cost, high sensitivity, rapid response. A biosensor was developed for detection of non-ionic surfactant nonylphenolethoxylate with a lower detection limit of 0.25 mg/L. The biosensor was analyzed for its ability to detect many organic compounds, which include surfactants, carbohydrates, polyaromatic compounds etc. *Comamonas testosterone* was the microorganism used for detection [30].

The performance of such biosensors is affected by the parameters such as rate of gene transcription, metabolism, membrane permeability, and protein synthesis. Whole cell based biosensors can be assayed based on increase and decrease of the light intensity emitted due to metabolic changes in the microbes in the presence of specific contaminants. The cells are frequently immobilized on the surface electrode. The immobilization of the cells on the surface of electrodes are governed by conditions as (1) maintenance of the biological activity of the cells (2) the distance between the transducers and the biological detection element (3) the constancy and robustness of the microbial layer (4) the specificity of the detection element (5) possibility of reuse [31]. The most commonly used methods for immobilization include cross-linking, adsorption, covalent binding, self-aggregation and entrapment. The covalent binding involves the binding of the biological element to the transducer with the help of a functional group such as carboxyl, amino, hydroxyl, sulfhydryl, imidazole and indole.

Premkumar et al. developed a whole cell biosensor by immobilization of luminescent Escherichia coli strain on aminosylilated glass surface. The immobilization was carried out by aminosylilation of glass surface which was immersed in glutaraldehyde followed by antibody (Rabbit, Anti-E. coli) solution. The E. coli suspension was then added and washed with LB medium. E. coli cells were attached to the optical fibres similarly. A gold-coated glass slide was also prepared with the same method. The recombinant E. coli strain was prepared by fusion of the lux genes to a heat shock promoter. The biosensor was analyzed for the detection of pesticides such as malathion, aldicarb and DDT. The presence of pesticide was confirmed with the increase in luminescence by the transducer. The repeatability, reproducibility and stability of the biosensor were studied [32]. A quick and simple method for detection of lead was proposed, which employed a recombinant strain of E. coli DH5a containing a regulatory protein and a lead resistance promoter which also controlled the expression of green fluorescence protein (GFP) reporter gene [33]. Different types of microbial cell-based biosensors have been developed, such as optical biosensor having bioluminescence [34], fluorescence [35] or colorimetric [36] detectors.

Yeast biosensors have also been designed for the detection of water pollutants [37]. A luminescence-based biosensor was developed for the detection of EDCs, which employed yeast cells immobilized in calcium alginate or polyvinyl alcohol-based hydrogels. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was genetically engineered by incorporating luciferase reporter gene. The expression of this reporter gene was mediated by estrogen receptor alpha. Thus, the detection of estrogen disrupting chemicals such as 17- β -estradiol was possible. The system was stable as the luminescence-based detection was maintained after storage of the biosensor at -80 °C for one month [38].

3.2 Different Types of Transducers

Based on transducers used in the fabrication of biosensors, the biosensors may be classified into the following four categories:

- (1) Electrochemical
- (2) Thermal
- (3) Optical
- (4) Piezoelectric.

3.2.1 Electrochemical Biosensor

An electrochemical biosensor typically consists of a transducer, which functions electrochemically. A typical electrochemical measurement incorporates the use of a working electrode and a counter electrode through which a current flows due to the difference in the respective electrode potential. A reference electrode is also included, which is maintained at a stable potential and helps in the transduction of the electrochemical reaction [39, 40]. The electrical circuit of the transducer consists mainly of an analyte medium, present in liquid form, which is a key distinguishing feature as compared to an electrical transducer. The analyte takes part in the electrochemical reaction and works as a detector. Depending upon the response from the analyte, the sensor relays the measurement to an electronic system in terms of voltage, current or impedance.

The electrochemical transducers depending on the type of measurement are discussed below:

Potentiometric type transducer: This type of transducer involves the measurement of the voltage between the electrodes at the indicator and reference or between two reference electrodes parted by a membrane. The measurement of the ion activity or the gas concentration in the logarithmic scale is proportional to the difference of potentials at the indicator and the reference electrode.

Amperometric type transducer: This type of transducer involves the measurement of the resulting current in an electrochemical setup from an electroactive specimen as a result of oxidation or reduction. The measurement is usually carried out by maintaining a constant potential difference at the working electrode with respect to the reference electrode or the auxiliary electrode. The generated current is proportional to the bulk analyte concentration.

Conductometric type transducer: This type of transducer monitors enzyme reactions by utilizing ion conductometric or impedimetric devices. An alternative measurement involving differential measurement is also suggested and performed between the sensor with and without enzyme, respectively.

Ion charge or field effect type transducer: This type of transducer uses the ion-sensitive field-effect transistor for determining the ion concentration.

Various materials have been explored as a candidate for fabrication of electrochemical biosensors. The potentialities of gold nanoparticle-based ensemble electrode as an electrochemical sensor was found useful for simultaneous detection of arsenic, mercury and copper found in wastewater [41]. A hybrid of gold-platinum nanocomposite has been discussed for the detection of mercury. The sensor was evaluated by monitoring samples collected from the river and tap water [42]. Multiwall carbon nanotubes dispersed in Nafion solution in combination with bismuth was used for detection of lead and cadmium by differential pulse anodic stripping voltammetry. Carbon nanoparticles [43] and carbon nanotubes [44] are also an effective sensing material for the detection of heavy metals. Recently, Graphene has been proven a good sensing material for wastewater analysis [45]. In an electrochemical sensor, the size of the working surface area of an electrode is directly related to the efficiency of analytes. Materials at nanoscale effectively utilize the increased surface of electrodes [45-47]. Screen printing fabrication technique at nanoscale promises to employ a maximum of the contact surface area of electrodes leading to higher efficiency in the measurement of analytes in samples [48–50].

3.2.2 Thermal Biosensor

Biosensors are enzyme-driven. A specific enzyme suits the need for a specific substrate. Any biochemical reaction in a biosensor is accompanied by the generation of heat. In totality, there is a change of enthalpy, which is used in principle for the development of thermal biosensors. With proper calibration, a wide range of biomolecules present in wastewater may be detected. The core of the thermal biosensor lies in the development of the sensitive and efficient design of the transducer element [51].

Based on the operating principle, thermal transducers may be classified as thermomechanical, thermosensitive, thermocouple—based, etc. In practice, the

transducers commonly used in the fabrication of biosensors are thermistors and thermopiles and are discussed below-

Thermistors These types of transducers detect changes in resistance, which is proportional to a change in ambient temperature. Two types of thermistors exist, one that has a positive temperature coefficient and the other is a negative temperature coefficient. A key element of the thermistor is the enzyme, which serves as a bio-recognition element for the measurement. An important support material on which the enzyme is immobilized is also important for keeping the catalytic nature of the enzyme. Controlled pore glass works as a support material [52].

Thermopile These types of transducers work on the principle of Seebeck effect to detect changes in temperature. As per the Seebeck effect, two dissimilar metals in contact generate a potential difference at the junction. Thermocouples are fabricated based on the principle of the Seebeck effect. When several thermocouples are connected in series, the arrangement is called a thermopile. For example, an array of p-type silicon or aluminum thermocouple connected in series may serve as a thermopile. Thermopile serves as an amplifier of signals generated in a thermal process. The electrochemical activity of the enzyme immobilized on the thermopile results in an induced voltage over the thermopile. The induced voltage depends on the number of thermocouples used as they actively take part in the amplification of the induced voltage [53].

3.2.3 Optical Biosensors

An optical biosensor is a device containing a sensing element, which may be any biological material such as enzymes, antibodies, cells, tissues. The sensing element is conjoined with a transducer used for sensing purposes. A change in mass or concentration of the sensing element is observed when it comes in contact with the analyte. This change is sensed by the transducer unit in the form of change in light intensity. Optical biosensor finds application in the detection of organic materials, heavy metals in water-based solutions and is a good candidate for detecting the water pollutants. The transducer section of the biosensor generally comprise of a surface plasmon resonance based chip, interferometer, resonator, gratings or refractometers [54].

Depending upon the type of transducer element, some of the optical biosensors are discussed below-

Surface plasmon resonance based biosensor: Surface plasmon resonance phenomenon is observed on the surface of any conducting material such as the metal at the interface of two mediums having a difference in their refractive indices. The interface, when illuminated by a polarized light source, emits surface plasmons followed by a change in intensity of the reflected light at a specific angle known as the resonance angle. Interaction of an analyte with the bio-sensing element may then be directly correlated with the change in intensity of reflected light.

Bioluminescence-based biosensor Any biochemical reaction between the analyte and the bio sensing material is followed by the phenomenon of bioluminescence, which is transferred as a signal from the analyte to the optical fiber. The light output is thus helpful in the detection of harmful toxins present in wastewater.

Interferometry based biosensor: In interferometry, the difference between two light beams travelling along similar paths is compared. Planar waveguides are preferred for the development of interferometry-based biosensor. The sensing beam interacts with the bio-sensing element. The refractive index of the element comes into play and induces a change in the speed of sensing beam or a change in its phase. In order to measure this change, an interferogram is created with the help of a reference beam propagated adjacent to the sensing beam. A shift in the interference pattern is observed which is directly related to the chemical or physical changes associated with the sensing beam.

Refractive index based biosensor: In this type of biosensor, the change in refractive index is measured when the analyte comes in contact with the evanescent field emerging out as a result of total internal reflection of light interacting with the sensor surface. The change is refractive index is correlated with the chemical or physical changes associated with the analyte.

Optical biosensors are as a strong contender for bio sensing purposes. Varieties of elements were reported useful for the biosensor fabrication in terms of sensitivity and detection time. Gold nanoparticle-based optical biosensor has been used extensively for detection of lead [55] and mercury [56] in aqueous samples. The detection time averaged from six to ten minutes. A detection time around tens of seconds was reported in an optical biosensor with reduced graphene oxide as the primary sensing element for detecting mercury [57]. Carbon nanotubes were also found successful in detecting the concentration of cadmium in water-based samples with a detection time of 30 min [58]. Graphene also served as a good candidate for detecting *Escherichia coli* K12 bacteria found in water-based samples with a detection time of 30 min [59].

3.2.4 Piezoelectric Biosensors

A piezoelectric biosensor is a composition of materials, which generate a potential difference upon the application of mechanical stress. An analyte bound on the surface of a piezoelectric crystal when excited by an alternating voltage through electrodes attached to the surface, results in the change of oscillating frequency of the crystal. This change in frequency is correlated to the mass of the analyte bound on the surface of the crystal. Piezoelectric effect is found in organic, inorganic and some group of biomolecules as well. Quartz crystal is a commonly found inorganic material with piezoelectric effect. Other inorganic materials include zinc oxide, aluminum nitride, quartz SiO₂ [60]. Organic materials possessing piezoelectric effect include Rochelle salt, polyvinylidene fluoride, and polyamides [61, 62].

Antibodies and antigens are examples of biomolecules possessing piezoelectric effect. The biological sensing element experiences mechanical and electrical forces on application of acoustic wave. These acoustic waves are generated by applying alternating voltage to the electrodes attached to the surface of the piezoelectric substrate. A bio-sensing element interacting with the acoustic wave, results in a change in the viscosity, density, elasticity or the dielectric constant of the sensing element. This modifies the properties of the acoustic wave and results in the change of velocity or frequency of the propagating acoustic wave. Attenuation in the amplitude of the wave may also result. The piezoelectric element is responsible for relaying this change in the form of an electrical signal.

Based on the bio-sensing material, piezoelectric biosensor are further classified into following subtypes as discussed below:

Piezoelectric Immunosensors: The primary bio-sensing elements used in this type of piezoelectric sensor are antibodies. The detection of antibody is label-free, and these type of sensors are reusable. Successful detection of human cells like T-lymphocytes [63], bacteria such as *E.coli* [64] are noteworthy examples of piezoelectric immunosensors.

Piezoelectric DNA Sensors: DNA based piezoelectric sensors provide higher selectivity and reliability. However, the immobilization of DNA is a complex task. The identification of Genetic defects with a TSM biosensor [65] and enzymatic cleavage monitoring of nucleic acids in real time [66] are some examples of Piezoelectric DNA Sensors.

Piezoelectric Enzyme Sensors: The bio-catalytic activity of enzymes specifically in the bio-reactions is very well suited for a broad range of applications. Enzyme based piezoelectric sensor are found useful in detecting bio-catalytic activity. Enzymes are easily immobilized and are abundantly found. Piezoelectric glucose meter [67] is an important example in this category of the biosensor.

Piezoelectric cell-based Sensors. This type of sensor works in conjunction with living cells as the bio-sensing element. Cell-based piezoelectric sensors are useful in revealing functional information, for example, the effect of an analyte on a living cell. Other useful applications of this type of sensors lie in the area of environmental measurements, cell biology and toxicology [68].

4 Nanomaterials Based Biosensors

Different types of nanomaterials such as nanocube, nanoshell and nanorod have been used for analytical purposes [69]. The light scattering properties of various nanomaterials have been employed for the identification of various analytes. The scattering properties of nanomaterials are based on size, composition and shape of the nanoparticle. The efficiency of detection is comparable to the fluorescent label optical probes. The metal nanoparticles with a diameter greater than 30 nm have the strong light-scattering ability in the visible region. However, smaller nanoparticles do not exhibit scattering but can be used for detection of different types of chemical interactions such as avidin-biotin, antigen-antibody electrostatic attraction and DNA hybridization. These small size nanoparticles can assist in detection when they aggregate due to these interactions.

An application of nano-biosensors for identification of wastewater pollutants is urea detection. Nanosized porous alumina was used which was fabricated by the use of electrical anodization in acidic solution. Nano-alumina porous matrix was used as an immobilization system for bio-colloidal systems. The use of nanosized materials increases the surface area, which leads to enhanced sensitivity. Other workers have fabricated urea biosensor using lipid bilayer membranes [70], hydrogel membranes [71] and other inorganic matrices such as laponite and clays [69]. The interaction between the nanomaterials and proteins with opposite charges causes enhancement of light scattering signals. Thus the electrostatic attraction between the protein and metallic or non-metallic nanomaterials can increase the sensitivity to nanograms. Researchers have suggested the use of gold nanoparticles for the detection of heavy metals. The colorimetric based detection depends on the light scattering property of gold nanoparticles. Privadarshini et al. have studied the effect of gold nanoparticles in metal ions detector. This strategy is applicable for the identification of heavy metals such as arsenic, mercury, chromium, copper, cadmium, lead, alkaline earth metals and rare elements [72].

Cadmium contamination is found in wastewater, which poses health risks. Some researchers have co-functionalised the gold nanoparticles with L-Cysteine and 6-mercaptonicotinic acid to develop a biosensor with high sensitivity for cadmium detection [73]. Another colorimetric detection method of heavy metals using peptide-modified gold nanoparticles was developed. The functional peptide ligand was used for the sensitive detection of three heavy metals such as nickel, cadmium and cobalt. This biosensor had the provision of simultaneous detection of the three metals existing together in the sample. The detection of cadmium was carried out by the use of EDTA and imidazole for masking of cobalt and nickel. For nickel detection, EDTA and glutathione were applied to mask cobalt and cadmium whereas imidazole and glutathione were used for masking the effect of nickel and cadmium. Thus, water quality can be assessed with the help of this strategy without complex preparation [74].

5 Application of Biosensors in the Detection of Water Pollutants

The constituents of wastewater pollutants can be broadly classified into three types (i) inorganic chemicals (ii) organic chemicals and (iii) microorganisms. Due to the advantages associated with biosensors, they have been employed in the detection of

wastewater contaminants. The detection of pollutants is important for the design and scale of the treatment process. Thus, biosensors provide a robust alternative for identification and measurement of the pollutants with the least requirement of sample pre-treatment and frequent data sampling [75].

5.1 Biosensors for Organic Contaminants

Water pollution mainly caused by water release from domestic, industrial, and agricultural activities. Water pollution leads to the degradation of aquatic habitat and decline in the aquatic population [76]. Among all major water pollutant like organic materials, inorganic material and microbial contaminants, microbial contaminants majorly affect water quality and lead to many dreadful waterborne diseases [77, 78].

A wide range of organic contaminants are found in the wastewater are aromatic hydrocarbons, food and households related compound, organic solvents, herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, preservatives, washing and cleaning agents. The information regarding the composition of wastewater is essential for designing of the wastewater treatment system. The variation in the presence of pollutants in different areas leads to the discovery of new technologies for the treatment of wastewater [79].

Many techniques are used to measure physical, chemical and biological characteristics of wastewater but the problem associated with these techniques is that they are costly and time-consuming [80, 81]. Due to these problems, researchers are focussing for developing new technologies that are more efficient in determining and treatment of different kinds of pollutants present in wastewater [82, 83].

Among these new technologies biosensors have given a great success in determining very less amount of contaminants present in wastewater in any forms like organic pollutants, inorganic pollutants, microbial pollutants and heavy metals, electrochemical, optical and piezoelectric and thermal biosensors are used for these purposes [84]. The application of biosensors is increasing due to several advantages associated with it like low cost, small size, quick and easy use, as well as a sensitivity and selectivity greater than the current instruments.

Domestic wastewater discharge, hospitals and clinics effluent discharge, agriculture effluents discharge industrial wastewater discharge are the major sources of organic pollutants in wastewater. These organic contaminants present in wastewater have a very harmful effect on humans and the environment.

Domestic discharge water and industrial effluents contain organic contaminants in the form of surfactants and their by-products include (e.g. alkylphenol polyethoxylates, and linear alkylbenzene sulfonates, hydrocarbons, aromatic substances and chlorine compounds. Among these organic contaminants polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are mainly present in industrial waste effluents [85]. Various organic herbicides and pesticides are used to control the growth of insects and weeds which are harmful plant growth are the main organic contaminants of agriculture wastewater. [86]. The production and use of new and old medicines and Pharmaceuticals drugs and personal care products including fragrances and antimicrobial agents such as triclosan has been enhanced so it increases the organic concentration in wastewater [87].

These industrial, domestic, agricultural activities increase the organic contamination of water bodies like oceans, seas, river, lakes, and groundwater. These are the causes of severe threatening of environment and its degradation. Detecting the concentration and chemical analysis of these organic contaminants present in wastewater is an essential step in controlling water pollution and ensuring clean water supplies. The detection procedure and chemical analysis of these organic pollutants present in wastewater is a costly process. In this context development of biosensor makes the detection of organics present in wastewater an easy and efficient process [88]. Kiran et al. found that gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and Fourier Transform Infra Red spectroscopy (FTIR) techniques are useful in detecting the presence of organic compound such as alcohol, aromatic hydrocarbons such as phenols and amines [89].

Biological oxygen demand BOD and Chemical Oxygen demand COD and Total organic carbon TOC are important parameters of determining organic contents of wastewater. BOD is the amount of oxygen required by aerobic microorganisms to degrade organic matter present in wastewater, expressed in mg/l. BOD method requires incubation of sample for 5-days at 20 °C. The COD is a measurement of the oxygen required to oxidize all the organic matter present in a sample [90]. The measurement of TOC is an alternative method compared to BOD and COD. TOC is a quick online method and is most preferred then BOD and COD which oxidizes the entire organic content of the sample. These procedures are time consuming and difficult and required skill and expertise in handling these samples. Solutions of these difficulties are achieved by using BOD biosensors, which are fast and produces significant results [91].

Karube et al. discussed a microbial biosensors using immobilization of *Trichosporon cutaneum* on the oxygen electrode for BOD determination. These microbial film immobilize between cellulosic membranes and oxidizes organic contaminants present in wastewater [92].

Several other microorganisms like *Bacillus subtilis*, *Serratia marcescens* and yeast were used in microbial biosensor for detection of BOD [93–95].

Immobilization of single microorganism has certain limitations as it oxidizes limited range of organic pollutant present in wastewater so exact determination of BOD cannot be possible. In order to overcome this limitation an idea of mixed culture immobilization of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Trichosporon cutaneum* were introduced by Jia et al. in 2003 [96]. Immobilized *Bacillus licheniformis*on clark oxygen electrode based biosensor is capable of detecting even low concentration BOD in seawater. This biosensor is very much efficient in measuring BOD in high salinity condition with fast response [97, 98].

Another major organic contaminants of wastewater are pesticides. Nowicka et al. discussed in his paper that electrochemical DNA biosensors was developed for the detection of atrazine, 2,4-D, glufosinate ammonium, paraoxon-ethyl, carbofuran and difluorobenzuron pesticides. In DNA biosensors immobilized single stranded DNA on the surface binds with its complementary DNA. An example of such severe DNA damaging pesticide is atrazine [99].

Various amperometric microbial biosensors were developed for detection of organophosphate pesticides such as paraoxon methyl parathion, parathion, fenitrothion and ethyl pnitrophenol thiobenzenephosphonate (EPN) [100]. Su et al. and Lagarde et al. reported that some optical microbial biosensors are helpful in detection of pollutants such as phenols and heavy metals present in wastewater. Kumar et al. reported that for detection of parathion pesticide, colorimetric microbial biosensors are used. [101–103].

5.2 Biosensors for Microbial Contaminants

Microbial populations present in wastewater like bacteria, protozoa, viruses are the major contributor of water pollution. These microbial contaminants affects water quality and make water unfit for drinking as well as affect the quality of seafood. Presence of these pathogenic microorganisms in wastewater is the major causes of serious life threatening diseases. Presence of pathogenic and non-pathogenic microorganism in wastewater depends upon the type of effluents from different sources [104].

Some non-pathogenic microorganisms fecal bacteria (like *E. coli*, total coliforms, and RNA bacteriophagesare also present in wastewater but they are not harmful as other pathogenic microorganisms. Due to these harmful effects it becomes necessary to develop methods to treat microbial contaminated water before discharge. Conventional methods which are used for microbial detection have several disadvantages associated like low detection, less sensitivity towards detection, required more time in detection. In order to overcome above discussed disadvantages at present biosensors becomes an attractive approach for detection of microorganism present in wastewater [105–107]. Biosensors for microbe detection generally contain biological component like nucleic acid, antibodies, enzymes connected with transducer.

He et al. reported that poiezoelectric biosensors are very efficient, simple and cost effective in bacterial detection. Use of PZ biosensors in detection of wide spectrum microorganisms was reported by Plomer et al. and Le et al. . *Vibrio cholera* was detected by using PZ immunosensor [108–111].

Bao et al. reported the detection *Staphylococcus epidermidis* using quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) sensor. Quartz crystal microbalance is also used in detection of *Escherichia coli* [109] and *Salmonella* [112, 113]. Abbaspour et al. reported an electrochemical aptasensor used in *Staphylococcus aureus* detection in wastewater [114].

5.3 Biosensors for Inorganic Contaminants

Besides these organic and microbial contaminants present in wastewater, inorganic contaminants like heavy metals contributing major role in water pollution. Iron and steel and industries, metal industries, mining, are the sources of various heavy metals like chromium, nickel, zinc, cadmium, iron. Similarly other industries like aircraft plating and finishing industries releases harmful heavy metals like lead and mercury which are very harmful constituents of wastewater. Excessive accumulation of these heavy metals has very harmful and toxic effect on plant and animals [115, 116].

Ensafi et al. reported membrane-based 4-hydroxy salophen on tri-acetyl cellulose membrane optical sensor detect Cd (II) heavy metal present in wastewater. Limitations associated with this biosensor are that it has low time response and cannot detect Cd (II) if its concentration is less than 5 μ g/L [117]. Pourbasheer et al. reported a optical biosensor using 6-Bromo-3-(2-methyl-2,3-dihydrobenzo[d] thiazol-2-yl)-2H-chromen-2 immobilized on triacetyl cellulose membrane used for detection of Cu (II) in wastewater [118]. Saber and Piskin reported metallothionein linked quartz crystal, a type of piezoelectric biosensor used in the detection of Zn (II) and Cd(II) [119]. Detection of Hg(II) using quartz crystal microbalance biosensor was reported by Chen et al. [120].

6 Conclusion

This chapter summarizes materials used in different types of biosensors for wastewater detection. Constant efforts have been done in the improvement of performance of biosensor by incorporating materials with better detection and signal conversion property. Nanotechnology application in the design of transducers and the biological detection element has catered the improved sensing mechanism. Material like nano sized graphene has also exhibited enhanced sensitivity and specificity. This 2D nanomaterial exists in a thermodynamically stable form and provides superior electronics property due to its unique electronic band structure [121]. The different types of biosensors based on the biological detection elements and transducers used for detection of pollutants present in water have been detailed. Also the applications of these biosensors in the detection of inorganic, organic and microbial contaminants have been discussed. Some of the major challenges involved in the development of biosensors are difficulty in real time monitoring and cost of equipment. The development of biosensors involves researchers from multi-disciplinary background such as biology, electronics and chemistry. Other problems faced during the development of biosensors are difficulty in immobilization of biological detection elements such as aptamers and antibodies and their regeneration ability. Thus, all these aspects pose the scope of future development of biosensors for detection of wastewater pollutants with high sensitivity and reduced minimum detection limit.

References

- Mehrotra, P. (2016). Biosensors and their applications–A review. Journal of Oral Biology and Craniofacial Research, 6(2), 153–159.
- Renneberg, R., Pfeiffer, D., Lisdat, F., Wilson, G., Wollenberger, U., Ligler, F., & Turner, A. P. (2007). Frieder Scheller and the short history of biosensors. In *Biosensing for the 21st Century* (pp. 1–18). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- 3. Malhotra, S., Verma, A., Tyagi, N., & Kumar, V. (2017). BioSensors: Principle types and applications. *nternational Journal of Advance Research and Innovative Ideas in Education*, *3*(2), 3639–3644.
- Yildirim N (2016) Next generation biosensor systems for environmental water quality monitoring.
- Thevenot, D. R., Toth, K., Durst, R. A., & Wilson, G. S. (1999). Electrochemical biosensors: recommended definitions and classification. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 71(12), 2333– 2348.
- Drummond, T. G., Hill, M. G., & Barton, J. K. (2003). Electrochemical DNA sensors. *Nature Biotechnology*, 21(10), 1192.
- Nepomuscene, N., Daniel, D., & Krastanov, A. (2007). Biosensor to detect chromium in wastewater. *Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment*, 21(3), 377–381.
- Heitzer, A., Malachowsky, K., Thonnard, J. E., Bienkowski, P. R., White, D. C., & Sayler, G. S. (1994). Optical biosensor for environmental on-line monitoring of naphthalene and salicylate bioavailability with an immobilized bioluminescent catabolic reporter bacterium. *Applied and Environment Microbiology*, 60(5), 1487–1494.
- 9. Guedri, H., & Durrieu, C. (2008). A self-assembled monolayers based conductometric algal whole cell biosensor for water monitoring. *Microchimica Acta, 163*(3–4), 179–184.
- Peixoto, L., Min, B., Martins, G., Brito, A. G., Kroff, P., Parpot, P., et al. (2011). In situ microbial fuel cell-based biosensor for organic carbon. *Bioelectrochemistry*, 81(2), 99–103.
- Hassan, S. H., Van Ginkel, S. W., Kim, S.-M., Yoon, S.-H., Joo, J.-H., Shin, B.-S., et al. (2010). Isolation and characterization of Acidithiobacillus caldus from a sulfur-oxidizing bacterial biosensor and its role in detection of toxic chemicals. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 82(2), 151–155.
- Abdelmohsen, U. R., Grkovic, T., Balasubramanian, S., Kamel, M. S., Quinn, R. J., & Hentschel, U. (2015). Elicitation of secondary metabolism in actinomycetes. *Biotechnology Advances*, 33(6), 798–811.
- Andreescu, S., & Sadik, O. A. (2004). Correlation of analyte structures with biosensor responses using the detection of phenolic estrogens as a model. *Analytical Chemistry*, 76(3), 552–560.
- Blake, D. A., Chakrabarti, P., Khosraviani, M., Hatcher, F. M., Westhoff, C. M., Goebel, P., et al. (1996). Metal binding properties of a monoclonal antibody directed toward metal-chelate complexes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(44), 27677–27685.
- Blake, D. A., Jones, R. M., Blake, R. C., II, Pavlov, A. R., Darwish, I. A., & Yu, H. (2001). Antibody-based sensors for heavy metal ions. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 16(9–12), 799– 809.
- Melton, S. J., Yu, H., Williams, K. H., Morris, S. A., Long, P. E., & Blake, D. A. (2009). Field-based detection and monitoring of uranium in contaminated groundwater using two immunosensors. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 43(17), 6703–6709.
- Kanso, H., Barthelmebs, L., Inguimbert, N., & Noguer, T. (2013). Immunosensors for estradiol and ethinylestradiol based on new synthetic estrogen derivatives: application to wastewater analysis. *Analytical Chemistry*, 85(4), 2397–2404.
- Merola, G., Martini, E., Tomassetti, M., & Campanella, L. (2014). New immunosensor for β-lactam antibiotics determination in river waste waters. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 199, 301–313.

- Kiefer, H., Klee, B., John, E., Stierhof, Y.-D., & Jähnig, F. (1991). Biosensors based on membrane transport proteins. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 6(3), 233–237.
- Li, X., Cheng, R., Shi, H., Tang, B., Xiao, H., & Zhao, G. (2016). A simple highly sensitive and selective aptamer-based colorimetric sensor for environmental toxins microcystin-LR in water samples. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 304, 474–480.
- Wu, Y., Zhan, S., Wang, F., He, L., Zhi, W., & Zhou, P. (2012). Cationic polymers and aptamers mediated aggregation of gold nanoparticles for the colorimetric detection of arsenic (III) in aqueous solution. *Chemical Communications*, 48(37), 4459–4461.
- Song, K.-M., Jeong, E., Jeon, W., Jo, H., & Ban, C. (2012). A coordination polymer nanobelt (CPNB)-based aptasensor for sulfadimethoxine. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 33 (1), 113–119.
- Bai, W., Zhu, C., Liu, J., Yan, M., Yang, S., & Chen, A. (2015). Gold nanoparticle–based colorimetric aptasensor for rapid detection of six organophosphorous pesticides. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 34(10), 2244–2249.
- Chung, E., Jeon, J., Yu, J., Lee, C., & Choo, J. (2015). Surface-enhanced Raman scattering aptasensor for ultrasensitive trace analysis of bisphenol A. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 64, 560–565.
- Zhang, W., Liu, Q., Guo, Z., & Lin, J. (2018). Practical application of aptamer-based biosensors in detection of low molecular weight pollutants in water sources. *Molecules*, 23 (2), 344.
- Zhao, Y., Yang, X., Li, H., Luo, Y., Yu, R., Zhang, L., et al. (2015). Au nanoflower–Ag nanoparticle assembled SERS-active substrates for sensitive MC-LR detection. *Chemical Communications*, 51(95), 16908–16911.
- 27. Gao, B., Liu, H., & Gu, Z. (2016). An exothermic chip for point-of-care testing using a forehead thermometer as a readout. *Lab on a Chip*, *16*(3), 525–531.
- Nikolaus, N., & Strehlitz, B. (2014). DNA-aptamers binding aminoglycoside antibiotics. Sensors, 14(2), 3737–3755.
- 29. Lin, X., Cheng, C., Terry, P., Chen, J., Cui, H., & Wu, J. (2017). Rapid and sensitive detection of bisphenol a from serum matrix. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, *91*, 104–109.
- Taranova, L., Fesay, A., Ivashchenko, G., Reshetilov, A., Winther-Nielsen, M., & Emnéus, J. (2004). Comamonas testosteroni strain TI as a potential base for a microbial sensor detecting surfactants. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology*, 40(4), 404–408.
- Eltzov, E., & Marks, R. S. (2011). Whole-cell aquatic biosensors. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 400(4), 895–913.
- Premkumar, J. R., Lev, O., Marks, R. S., Polyak, B., Rosen, R., & Belkin, S. (2001). Antibody-based immobilization of bioluminescent bacterial sensor cells. *Talanta*, 55(5), 1029–1038.
- Chakraborty, T., Babu, P. G., Alam, A., & Chaudhari, A. (2008). GFP expressing bacterial biosensor to measure lead contamination in aquatic environment. *Current Science* (00113891), 94(6).
- Leth, S., Maltoni, S., Simkus, R., Mattiasson, B., Corbisier, P., Klimant, I., & Csöregi, E. (2002). Engineered bacteria based biosensors for monitoring bioavailable heavy metals. *Electroanalysis: An International Journal Devoted to Fundamental and Practical Aspects of Electroanalysis, 14*(1), 35–42.
- Theytaz, J., Braschler, T., Van Lintel, H., Renaud, P., Diesel, E., Merulla, D., & Van der Meer, J. (2009). Biochip with E. coli bacteria for detection of arsenic in drinking water. *Procedia Chemistry*, 1(1), 1003–1006.
- Yoshida, K., Inoue, K., Takahashi, Y., Ueda, S., Isoda, K., Yagi, K., et al. (2008). Novel carotenoid-based biosensor for simple visual detection of arsenite: characterization and preliminary evaluation for environmental application. *Applied and Environment Microbiology*, 74(21), 6730–6738.
- 37. García-Reyero, N., Grau, E., Castillo, M., De Alda, M. J. L., Barceló, D., & Piña, B. (2001). Monitoring of endocrine disruptors in surface waters by the yeast recombinant assay. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, 20(6), 1152–1158.

- Fine, T., Leskinen, P., Isobe, T., Shiraishi, H., Morita, M., Marks, R., et al. (2006). Luminescent yeast cells entrapped in hydrogels for estrogenic endocrine disrupting chemical biodetection. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 21(12), 2263–2269.
- 39. Durst, R. A., & Ba, A. J. (1997). umner, RW Murray, RP Buck and CP Andrieux. *Pure Appl. Chem*, 69, 1317–1323.
- Kutner, W., Wang, J., L'her, M., & Buck, R. P. (1998). Analytical aspects of chemically modified electrodes: Classification, critical evaluation and recommendations (IUPAC Recommendations 1998). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 70(6), 1301–1318.
- 41. Kumar Jena, B., & Retna Raj, C. (2008). Gold nanoelectrode ensembles for the simultaneous electrochemical detection of ultratrace arsenic, mercury, and copper. *Analytical Chemistry*, *80*(13), 4836–4844.
- Gong, J., Zhou, T., Song, D., Zhang, L., & Hu, X. (2009). Stripping voltammetric detection of mercury (II) based on a bimetallic Au – Pt inorganic – organic hybrid nanocomposite modified glassy carbon electrode. *Analytical Chemistry*, 82(2), 567–573.
- Aragay, G., Pons, J., & Merkoçi, A. (2011). Recent trends in macro-, micro-, and nanomaterial-based tools and strategies for heavy-metal detection. *Chemical Reviews*, 111 (5), 3433–3458.
- 44. Injang, U., Noyrod, P., Siangproh, W., Dungchai, W., Motomizu, S., & Chailapakul, O. (2010). Determination of trace heavy metals in herbs by sequential injection analysis-anodic stripping voltammetry using screen-printed carbon nanotubes electrodes. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 668(1), 54–60.
- 45. Zhu, H., Xu, Y., Liu, A., Kong, N., Shan, F., Yang, W., et al. (2015). Graphene nanodots-encaged porous gold electrode fabricated via ion beam sputtering deposition for electrochemical analysis of heavy metal ions. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 206, 592– 600.
- Apetrei, C., Apetrei, I. M., Saja, J. A. D., & Rodriguez-Mendez, M. L. (2011). Carbon paste electrodes made from different carbonaceous materials: application in the study of antioxidants. *Sensors*, 11(2), 1328–1344.
- 47. Güell, A. G., Meadows, K. E., Unwin, P. R., & Macpherson, J. V. (2010). Trace voltammetric detection of serotonin at carbon electrodes: comparison of glassy carbon, boron doped diamond and carbon nanotube network electrodes. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 12(34), 10108–10114.
- Li, M., Li, Y.-T., Li, D.-W., & Long, Y.-T. (2012). Recent developments and applications of screen-printed electrodes in environmental assays—A review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 734, 31–44.
- Martínez-García, G., Pérez-Julián, E., Agüí, L., Cabré, N., Joven, J., Yáñez-Sedeño, P., et al. (2017). An electrochemical enzyme biosensor for 3-hydroxybutyrate detection using screen-printed electrodes modified by reduced graphene oxide and thionine. *Biosensors*, 7 (4), 50.
- Raccichini, R., Varzi, A., Passerini, S., & Scrosati, B. (2015). The role of graphene for electrochemical energy storage. *Nature Materials*, 14(3), 271.
- 51. Yakovleva, M., Bhand, S., & Danielsson, B. (2013). The enzyme thermistor—A realistic biosensor concept. *A critical review. Analytica chimica acta*, 766, 1–12.
- Danielsson B, Mosbach K (1988) [16] Enzyme thermistors. In: Methods in enzymology, vol 137. Elsevier, pp 181–197
- Bataillard, P., Steffgen, E., Haemmerli, S., Manz, A., & Widmer, H. (1993). An integrated silicon thermopile as biosensor for the thermal monitoring of glucose, urea and penicillin. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 8(2), 89–98.
- Damborský, P., Švitel, J., & Katrlík, J. (2016). Optical biosensors. Essays in biochemistry, 60(1), 91–100.
- Wang, J., Myung, N. V., Yun, M., & Monbouquette, H. G. (2005). Glucose oxidase entrapped in polypyrrole on high-surface-area Pt electrodes: a model platform for sensitive electroenzymatic biosensors. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 575(1), 139–146.

- 56. Gao, L., Lian, C., Zhou, Y., Yan, L., Li, Q., Zhang, C., et al. (2014). Graphene oxide–DNA based sensors. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 60, 22–29.
- Sudibya, H. G., He, Q., Zhang, H., & Chen, P. (2011). Electrical detection of metal ions using field-effect transistors based on micropatterned reduced graphene oxide films. ACS Nano, 5(3), 1990–1994.
- Chouteau, C., Dzyadevych, S., Durrieu, C., & Chovelon, J.-M. (2005). A bi-enzymatic whole cell conductometric biosensor for heavy metal ions and pesticides detection in water samples. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 21(2), 273–281.
- Huang, Y., Dong, X., Liu, Y., Li, L.-J., & Chen, P. (2011). Graphene-based biosensors for detection of bacteria and their metabolic activities. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 21(33), 12358–12362.
- Zu, H., Wu, H., & Wang, Q.-M. (2016). High-temperature piezoelectric crystals for acoustic wave sensor applications. *IEEE Transactions on Ultrasonics, Ferroelectrics, and Frequency Control, 63*(3), 486–505.
- Levitskii, R., Zachek, I., Verkholyak, T., & Moina, A. (2003). Dielectric, piezoelectric, and elastic properties of the Rochelle salt NaKC 4 H 4 O 6· 4 H 2 O: A theory. *Physical Review B*, 67(17), 174112.
- 62. Fukada, E. (2000). History and recent progress in piezoelectric polymers. *IEEE Transactions* on Ultrasonics, Ferroelectrics, and Frequency Control, 47(6), 1277–1290.
- König, B., & Grätzel, M. (1993). Detection of human T-lymphocytes with a piezoelectric immunosensor. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 281(1), 13–18.
- Muramatsu, H., Watanabe, Y., Hikuma, M., Ataka, T., Kubo, I., Tamiya, E., et al. (1989). Piezoelectric crystal biosensor system for detection of Escherichia coli. *Analytical Letters*, 22(9), 2155–2166.
- Wittung-Stafshede, P., Rodahl, M., Kasemo, B., Nielsen, P., & Norden, B. (2000). Detection of point mutations in DNA by PNA-based quartz-crystal biosensor. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 174*(1–2), 269–273.
- 66. Tombelli, S., Mascini, M., Braccini, L., Anichini, M., & Turner, A. P. (2000). Coupling of a DNA piezoelectric biosensor and polymerase chain reaction to detect apolipoprotein E polymorphisms. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 15(7–8), 363–370.
- Chang, M.-S., & Shih, J.-S. (2000). Fullerene–cryptand-coated piezoelectric crystal membrane glucose enzyme sensor. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 67(3), 275–281.
- Pancrazio, J. J., Whelan, J., Borkholder, D. A., Ma, W., & Stenger, D. A. (1999). Development and application of cell-based biosensors. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 27(6), 697–711.
- 69. El-Ansary, A., & Faddah, L. M. (2010). Nanoparticles as biochemical sensors. *Nanotechnology, science and applications, 3,* 65.
- Nikolelis, D. P., & Siontorou, C. G. (1995). Bilayer lipid membranes for flow injection monitoring of acetylcholine, urea, and penicillin. *Analytical Chemistry*, 67(5), 936–944.
- Chen, J., & Chiu, S. (2000). Composite hydrogel membrane for urease immobilization to enhance urea hydrolysis rate. *Enyzme and Microbiology Technology*, 26, 359–367.
- 72. Priyadarshini, E., & Pradhan, N. (2017). Gold nanoparticles as efficient sensors in colorimetric detection of toxic metal ions: a review. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 238, 888–902.
- Xue, Y., Zhao, H., Wu, Z., Li, X., He, Y., & Yuan, Z. (2011). Colorimetric detection of Cd 2 + using gold nanoparticles cofunctionalized with 6-mercaptonicotinic acid and l-cysteine. *Analyst*, 136(18), 3725–3730.
- Zhang, M., Liu, Y.-Q., & Ye, B.-C. (2012). Colorimetric assay for parallel detection of Cd 2 +, Ni 2+ and Co 2+ using peptide-modified gold nanoparticles. *Analyst*, 137(3), 601–607.
- Ejeian, F., Etedali, P., Mansouri-Tehrani, H.-A., & Soozanipour, A., Low, Z.-X., Asadnia, M., Taheri-Kafrani, A., & Razmjou, A. (2018). Biosensors for wastewater monitoring: A review. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*

- 76. Cornish, G., Mensah, E., & Ghesquire, P. (1999). Water quality and peri-urban irrigation: An assessment of surface water quality for irrigation and its implications for human health in the peri-urban zone of Kumasi, Ghana.
- 77. Bartram, J. (2009). Water safety plan manual: step-by-step risk management for drinking-water suppliers. World Health Organization
- 78. Bates, B., Kundzewicz, Z., & Wu, S. (2008). Climate change and water. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Secretariat
- Michael-Kordatou, I., Michael, C., Duan, X., He, X., Dionysiou, D., Mills, M., et al. (2015). Dissolved effluent organic matter: characteristics and potential implications in wastewater treatment and reuse applications. *Water Research*, 77, 213–248.
- Chong, S., Aziz, A., & Harun, S. (2013). Fibre optic sensors for selected wastewater characteristics. *Sensors*, 13(7), 8640–8668.
- Yang, L., Han, D. H., Lee, B.-M., & Hur, J. (2015). Characterizing treated wastewaters of different industries using clustered fluorescence EEM–PARAFAC and FT-IR spectroscopy: implications for downstream impact and source identification. *Chemosphere*, 127, 222–228.
- Asadnia, M., Myers, M., Akhavan, N. D., O'Donnell, K., Umana-Membreno, G. A., Mishra, U., et al. (2016). Mercury (II) selective sensors based on AlGaN/GaN transistors. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 943, 1–7.
- Biswas, P., Karn, A. K., Balasubramanian, P., & Kale, P. G. (2017). Biosensor for detection of dissolved chromium in potable water: a review. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 94, 589– 604.
- 84. Turner, A. P. (2000). Biosensors-sense and sensitivity. Science, 290(5495), 1315-1317.
- 85. Weber, R., Watson, A., Forter, M., & Oliaei, F. (2011). Persistent organic pollutants and landfills-a review of past experiences and future challenges. *Waste Management and Research*, 29(1), 107–121.
- 86. Wauchope, R. (1978). The pesticide content of surface water draining from agricultural fields—a review 1. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 7(4), 459–472.
- Atar, N., Eren, T., Yola, M. L., & Wang, S. (2015). A sensitive molecular imprinted surface plasmon resonance nanosensor for selective determination of trace triclosan in wastewater. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 216, 638–644.
- 88. D'souza, S. (2001). Microbial biosensors. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 16(6),337-353
- Ladwani, K. D., Ladwani, K. D., Ramteke, D. S., & Deo, S. (2016). Journal of Advanced Chemical Sciences. *Journal of Advanced Chemical Sciences*, 2(2), 246–247.
- Verma, N., & Singh, A. K. (2012). Development of biological oxygen demand biosensor for monitoring the fermentation industry effluent. *ISRN Biotechnology 2013*
- Nomura, Y., Chee, G. J., & Karube, I. (1998). Biosensor technology for determination of BOD. *Field Analytical Chemistry and Technology.*, 2(6), 333–340.
- Karube, I., Matsunaga, T., & Mitsuda, S. (1977). Suzuki S (2009) Microbial Electrode BOD Sensors (Reprinted from Biotechnology and bioengineering, vol XIX, pg 1535-1547. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 102(3), 660–672.
- Riedel, K., Renneberg, R., Kühn, M., & Scheller, F. (1988). A fast estimation of biochemical oxygen demand using microbial sensors. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 28(3), 316–318.
- Kim, M.-N., & Kwon, H.-S. (1999). Biochemical oxygen demand sensor using Serratia marcescens LSY 4. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 14(1), 1–7.
- Hikuma, M., Suzuki, H., Yasuda, Y., Karube, I., & Suzuki, S. (1979). Amperometric estimation of BOD by using living immobilized yeasts. *European journal of applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 8(4), 289–297.
- Jia, J., Tang, M., Chen, X., Qi, L., & Dong, S. (2003). Co-immobilized microbial biosensor for BOD estimation based on sol-gel derived composite material. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 18(8), 1023–1029.
- Velling, S., & Tenno, T. (2009). Different calibration methods of a microbial BOD sensor for analysis of municipal wastewaters. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 141(1), 233– 238.

- Cui, J., Wang, X., Wang, G., Ma, L. (2009). A BOD biosensor using salt-tolerant bacillus licheniformis for sea water. In: 2009 3rd International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Engineering. IEEE, pp. 1–4
- Nowicka, A. M., Kowalczyk, A., Stojek, Z., & Hepel, M. (2010). Nanogravimetric and voltammetric DNA-hybridization biosensors for studies of DNA damage by common toxicants and pollutants. *Biophysical Chemistry*, 146(1), 42–53.
- 100. Lei Y, Mulchandani P, Chen W, Mulchandani A (2007) Biosensor for direct determination of fenitrothion and EPN using recombinant Pseudomonas putida JS444 with surface-expressed organophosphorous hydrolase. 2. Modified carbon paste electrode. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 136(3), 243–250
- 101. Dai, C., & Choi, S. (2013). Technology and applications of microbial biosensor. Open Journal of Applied Biosensor, 2(03), 83.
- 102. Kumar J, Jha SK, D'Souza S (2006) Optical microbial biosensor for detection of methyl parathion pesticide using Flavobacterium sp. whole cells adsorbed on glass fiber filters as disposable biocomponent. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 21(11), 2100–2105
- Lagarde, F., & Jaffrezic-Renault, N. (2011). Cell-based electrochemical biosensors for water quality assessment. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 400(4), 947.
- 104. Gerardi MH (2003) The microbiology of anaerobic digesters. Wiley
- Lee, D.-Y., Shannon, K., & Beaudette, L. A. (2006). Detection of bacterial pathogens in municipal wastewater using an oligonucleotide microarray and real-time quantitative PCR. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 65(3), 453–467.
- 106. Yu, D., Zhai, J., Liu, C., Zhang, X., Bai, L., Wang, Y., et al. (2017). Small microbial three-electrode cell based biosensor for online detection of acute water toxicity. ACS sensors, 2(11), 1637–1643.
- Ramírez-Castillo, F., Loera-Muro, A., Jacques, M., Garneau, P., Avelar-González, F., Harel, J., et al. (2015). Waterborne pathogens: detection methods and challenges. *Pathogens*, 4(2), 307–334.
- He, F., Geng, Q., Zhu, W., Nie, L., Yao, S., & Meifeng, C. (1994). Rapid detection of Escherichia coli using a separated electrode piezoelectric crystal sensor. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 289(3), 313–319.
- Plomer, M., Guilbault, G. G., & Hock, B. (1992). Development of a piezoelectric immunosensor for the detection of enterobacteria. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 14(3), 230–235.
- Le, D., He, F-j, Jiang, T. J., Nie, L., & Yao, S. (1995). A goat-anti-human IgG modified piezoimmunosensor for Staphylococcus aureus detection. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 23(2), 229–234.
- 111. Carter, R., Mekalanos, J., Jacobs, M., Lubrano, G., & Guilbault, G. (1995). Quartz crystal microbalance detection of Vibrio cholerae O139 serotype. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 187(1), 121–125.
- 112. Bao, L., Deng, L., Nie, L., Yao, S., & Wei, W. (1996). Determination of microorganisms with a quartz crystal microbalance sensor. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, *319*(1–2), 97–101.
- 113. König, B., & Grätzel, M. (1993). Detection of viruses and bacteria with piezoelectric immunosensors. *Analytical Letters*, 26(8), 1567–1585.
- Abbaspour, A., Norouz-Sarvestani, F., Noori, A., & Soltani, N. (2015). Aptamer-conjugated silver nanoparticles for electrochemical dual-aptamer-based sandwich detection of staphylococcus aureus. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 68, 149–155.
- 115. Srivastava, N., & Majumder, C. (2008). Novel biofiltration methods for the treatment of heavy metals from industrial wastewater. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 151(1), 1–8.
- Oehme, I., & Wolfbeis, O. S. (1997). Optical sensors for determination of heavy metal ions. *Microchimica Acta, 126*(3–4), 177–192.
- Ensafi, A. A., Meghdadi, S., & Fooladgar, E. (2008). Development of a new selective optical sensor for Cd (II) ions based on 4-hydroxy salophen. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 8(11), 1794– 1800.
- 118. Pourbasheer, E., Morsali, S., Banaei, A., Aghabalazadeh, S., Ganjali, M. R., & Norouzi, P. (2015). Design of a novel optical sensor for determination of trace amounts of copper by UV/vis spectrophotometry in the real samples. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, 26, 370–374.
- Saber, R., & Pişkin, E. (2003). Investigation of complexation of immobilized metallothionein with Zn (II) and Cd (II) ions using piezoelectric crystals. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 18(8), 1039–1046.
- Chen, Z., Li, L., Mu, X., Zhao, H., & Guo, L. (2011). Electrochemical aptasensor for detection of copper based on a reagent less signal-on architecture and amplification by gold nanoparticles. *Talanta*, 85(1), 730–735.
- 121. Suvarnaphaet, P., & Pechprasarn, S. (2017). Graphene-based materials for biosensors: a review. *Sensors*, 17(10), 2161.

Computational Design of Nucleic Acid-Based Bioreceptor for Contaminants of Emerging Concern



Patrizio Arrigo and Debora Baroni

Abstract Human activities have increased the variety chemical pollutants spread in air, water and soil. Every day new compounds potentially harmful or dangerous could contribute to increase the level of environmental pollution. These substances are known as Contaminant of Emerging Concern (CEC) because they have not previously detected or their toxicity is not yet clearly established. The capability to screen, almost prioritized CEC, requires new sensitive and rapid techniques capable to create an efficient monitoring network. In addition to traditional analytical a new class of monitoring systems is emerged: the biosensors. Their foremost characteristics is the use of a biological or biologically inspired receptor element, the bioreceptor, combined to a system capable to generate a physico-chemical signal. The sensor element, e.g. tissue, microorganisms, cell receptor, enzymes antibodies and nucleic acids, is biologically derived or inspire material. The detector transducer is the module which capture and transform the biological signal in a chemical-physics way: optical, piezoelectric, electro-chemical, electro-chemiluminescence etc., which can be easily measured and quantified. Nucleic acid-based technologies have been recently emerged as alternative to protein for bio-receptor design. The aim of this chapter is to offer, from a computational perspective, a framework of tools and challenge related to the selection of the most suitable bio-receptors to screen particular CEC chemicals: the pharmaceutical and personal care products (PCPPs).

Keywords Biosensors • PCPPs • Environmental monitoring • Nucleic acids • Bionanotechnology • Computational biology

P. Arrigo (🖂)

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

CNR Institute for Macromolecular Studies, Via de Marini 6, 16149 Genoa, Italy e-mail: arrigo@ge.ismac.cnr.it

D. Baroni CNR Institute of Biophysics, Via de Marini 6, 1649 Genoa, Italy e-mail: dbaroni@ge.ibf.cnr.it

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_12

1 Introduction

The combination of climate changes and human activities is very dangerous both for natural biodiversity conservation and human health. There are two main types of pollutants: contaminants originated from natural sources and from anthropic activities. Nevertheless the natural contribution cannot be ignored the human is more prominent [1] since technological advancement originates every day new chemical which are dispersed in environment. The exposure to pollutants impacts the survival of the different animal species and ecological biodiversity. Human health is under an increasing environmental stress due to a multiple sources of contaminants derived from working activities, life style and socio-economical living context, acting during all the lifespan of human being [2]. Multidisciplinary approaches are in development in order to enhance the capability to monitor and analyze the impact of pollution in the short term (acute exposure) and, most importantly, on long time scale (chronic exposure). The development of environmental screening methods requires a multiplicity of expertise chemistry, engineering geology and biology.

The improvement in instrument miniaturization (lab-on-chip) [3], remote sensing and ICT support (Wireless communication, Machine Learning, IoT) offer the possibility not only to provide an efficient effort to develop new monitoring systems, but also to implement a large network to track the time course of pollution in different sites [4]. Unfortunately the list of toxic compounds could be, in principle, limitless and without information about toxicity. The heterogeneous group of contaminants belonging to the Contaminants of Emerging Concerns (CEC) [5] has attracted the interest or researchers and regulatory agencies. The prediction of CEC risk assessment their monitoring, remediation and damage mitigation are actively studied. The detection of low concentration of specific CEC can be efficiently supported by a new generation of biosensors represented by nucleic acid-based biosensors.

The aim of this chapter is to offer an outline about the use of nucleic acids to design and implement a bio-receptor module to sense, in the environment, a specific class of CEC: the pharmaceutical and personal care product (PCPPs). This chapter is organized into different sections: (1) a brief survey about CEC; (2) a short outline about basic characteristics of biosensors; (3) a description of nucleic acid characteristics, functional elements and their role in nanotechnologies; (4) an overview about different type of software than can be utilized to design a nucleic-acid bioreceptor; (5) a survey about the environmental application of nucleic acid-based biosensors

1.1 Contaminants of Emerging Concern

The definition of "Contaminant of emerging concern" (CEC) considers three types of CEC [6]: (1) totally new chemical or material that have not been previously screened in the environment; (2) existing substance whose information about environmental impact and toxicity is lacking; (3) substances, with known environmental impact and toxicity, but with previously unidentified adverse effects. The CEC, as the other pollutants, can be analysed taking into account the exposure route, the fate of pollutant and the bio-monitoring capability. A recent survey (EUROSTAT) has highlighted that almost the half of chemical production is constituted by CEC, including different products ranging from pesticides to nanoparticles from pharmaceuticals to micro-plastics. They can originated by all human activities: industrial production, agriculture, health and life-styles. It is important to underline that CEC could be derived from transformation and degradation of other chemicals not only toxic. The capability to efficiently screening and remove CEC released in water, is important to guarantee a good quality of water for all human need [7]. Availability of drinking water is becoming a global concern both for quantity and quality. It is particularly sensitive to CEC and micro-contaminants. The adverse impact is not only on human health however also on the whole ecosystem. There are five basic qualitative characteristics that one have to consider; (1) persistence; (2) mobility; (3) bioavailability; (4) bioaccumulation; (5) bio-amplification. The monitoring and risk assessment for these compounds is complex because it is necessary to take into account different features such as chemical-physics properties of the compound and the geo-climatological characteristics of the environmental compartment in which the pollutant is release. The resistance (persistence) to degrading agents, abiotic or biotic, is a pivotal feature to consider; another characteristics is the capability of a pollutant to be vehiculate, far from its origin, with a low level of compound absorbed by solid particles. The monitoring of CEC in the water follow standard sampling protocols for the different water resources or for bottled beverages. The sludge, produced by wastewater treatment plants, could contain high levels of more persistent pollutants including CEC. The employ of these sludge, as fertilizer, in agriculture can have an impact also on soil quality altering, for instance, the microbial and fungal communities or increase the bioaccumulation of toxicants in vegetables. The personal care and pharmaceutical products (PCPPs) and pesticide are very particular CEC contaminants because they are designed to have a biological activity. The exposure to PCPPs is generally consists of low doses of pollutant, for this reason large fraction of them is lacking of sufficient toxicological data to formulate an appropriate regulation. PCPPs are characterised by wide heterogeneity of structures, chemical-physics and biological activities. Furthermore not only the original compound can exert a toxic effect but also its metabolite. Some studies carried out on ibuprofen [8] have underlined that abiotic and biotic degradation of ibuprofen originate a toxic metabolite (4-chlorphenol). The PCPPs seem to rather persistent in water and soil and their impact on ecosystems is not yet clearly established. These compounds have been identified in regions far from the highly populate regions such as Arctic regions [9]. These finding underlines once more that PPCPs are a real global concern.

Prioritization of PCPPs pollutants and development of specific water monitoring systems is mandatory to control the PCPP level in order to determine their effects due to long term exposure.

2 3-0 Biosensors: A Brief Outline

A detailed description of biosensor architecture can be easily found in literature [10]. It is important to recall some element of these analytical system in order to better understand the role of nucleic-acids. A biosensor is defined as an analytical system combining a biological or bio-inspired component and a physico-chemical detector. The standard architecture of a biosensor includes several specialized modules: (a) a bio-receptor element; (b) a transducer system (c) an electronic module to amplify, process and visualize the acquired signal. Two are the compulsory features of a biosensor: the recognition element must have a biological origin or must be biologically inspired and the transducer material which transform the signal coming from the sensing element into another on (optical, piezoelectric, electro-chemical, electro-chemiluminescence etc.). The bio-receptor is the responsible of analyte sensing by molecular recognition. Molecular recognition identifies the elementary processes that lead the specific binding that occur between two or more molecules by non-covalent bonds such in the case of protein-protein interaction or enzyme substrate binding [11].

The signal, resulting in the interaction between the analyte and the probe, is transformed into a standard signal that can be captured by standard analytical methods. A bio-receptor has to be linked to a transducer surface. The simple way is to immobilize the probe on a surface or particle. Immobilization can be achieve by different methods; (i) adsorption; (ii) covalent bonds, (iii) crosslinking; (iv) entrapment. The signal, coming from the receptor-ligand interaction, can be measured in a direct or indirect manner; the first method records data during the time course of binding kinetic, the latter record only the variations that occur at the end of the process. Bio-recognition elements are roughly grouped into three different set: natural, semi-synthetic and synthetic. Proteins, as well enzymes as antibodies, are the widely used as *natural* elements in biosensor development; they s how a very high steric selectivity and the binding can be determined using different type of transducers. The semi-synthetic receptors require a partial laboratory synthesis to obtain the optimal specificity for a particular ligand. Nucleic Acids are included in this group. Totally synthetic bio-receptors are usually produced using or not a biological template. Molecularly imprinted polymers (MIPs) belong to this class of synthetic receptors. The template of a MIP can be a biological macromolecule or other organic compounds. At the end of polymerization process the template is removed and the resulting polymeric structure is able to recognize specific ligands.

The main advantage of this methodology is the possibility to develop biosensor array capable to perform a multiple screening [12]. In this group could be also include the xeno nucleic acids (XNA). There are several limitations in development of biosensors which basically depend on the intrinsic characteristics of a biological element, the production cost, robustness and reusability. The great challenge in biosensor production is to obtain a system having the maximal sensitivity for a specific ligand. It is also mandatory to underline the need to optimize the combination between bioreceptor and the material of transducing system.

Biomedicine is one of the fields in which biosensors are widely applied either for diagnostic and therapy [13]. Defence (bioterrorism) and food security [14] are other important operational fields of these systems. The use of biosensors in environmental monitoring has been stimulated by the need to design and implement instrumentation having high efficiency, portability and a rapid response over the time. The advancement of analytical integrated instrumentation offer the possibility to develop high-throughput monitoring using platforms with interchangeable bio-recognition elements robust, easy to use and relatively cheap.

2.1 Overview of Nucleic Acid Characteristics

Previous paragraph has briefly outlined some fundamental elements of biosensor architecture: this section ids focused on the characteristics of nucleic acids valuable for a bio-receptor design. A simple survey on Pubmed has found, at the date of this chapter, 9931 papers. A similar search however using the query "RNA and Biosensors" has found 2231 papers. A similar survey, adding the term "pollutant (s)" has identified only 33 papers for RNA and 254 for DNA. In order to offer a parameter for comparison the query "enzyme and biosensors" has found 19,090 entry and the query with the ad joint of the term pollutant(s) has retrieved 482 entries. This rough empirical survey underlines how the use of nucleic acids for biosensors, if compared with protein based biosensors, looks to be in the initial phase. It is necessary to distinguish DNA-, RNA- and XNA-based bio-receptor because each class of nucleic acid has different biophysical properties that have to be considered in the biosensor element design. XNAs are completely synthetic nucleic acids initially developed for xenobiology [15] researches. These macromolecules can be formed by unnatural nucleobases and sugar backbone. The chemical modifications are designed to increase the stability and their scaffolding characteristics [16]. The thermodynamical difference, between DNA and RNA, is the first information to take into account in a bioreceptor design phase. For long time DNA has been considered more stable than RNA, however several studies [17] have demonstrated a comparable stability between the two types of nucleic acids. A drawback that must be considered in the design of RNA biosensors is its higher sensitivity to enzymatic degradation by RNAses.

Contrarily to DNA, which is less affected by the ionic environment, the RNA conformation is strongly dependent on the type and distribution of counter-ions

surrounding the molecule. Any variation in the ionic context could have a strong effect on RNA stability and consequently on its biological functionality. Differently from DNA, RNA molecules can have a natural catalytic activity, a valuable feature in the perspective to design a nucleic acid bioreceptor.

Another relevant characteristics of RNAs that should be considered is their higher sensitivity to chemical changes than DNA, actually hundred different RNA modifications are known [18]. This large number of variations gives strong indication that RNAs are highly configurable molecule. The design of biosensors based on functionalized nucleic acids have to take some key points into account.: (1) sequence heterogeneity; (2) hierarchical conformational organization; (3) component modularity; (4) selectivity stereochemical interactions; (5) cooperative effects (long range interactions) derived from folding [19]. The design of a RNA probe, taking its flexibility into account, have to minimize the number of metastable folded structures. The development of nucleic-acid based biosensor has been initially focused on the use of DNA. DNA can take different duplex conformations: A-DNA, B-DNA and Z-DNA; these conformation can be converted from one to by the effect of external factors [20, 21]. The identification of local structural elements is one of the reason for biosensor and nanotechnological application of Nucleic acids [22, 23]. Nucleic acids are, from a chemical-physics perspective, a class of natural foldamers. A foldamer is, from the chemical-physics point of view, a natural or synthetic polymer capable to originate, in solution, an ordered 3D structure [24] having well defined self-assembly, recognition and catalytic properties.

Among the different possible folding conformation originated by a nucleic acids [25] some of them have a relevance for biosensors applications: 3-way (3WJ) and 4-way (4WJ) junctions, G-quadruplex, hairpin, stem-loop, pseudoknot and triple helix (TFO). The junctions requires three o more DNA or RNA helices originating a branched conformations. The 3WJ requires three helices, linked together by a connection element, with one high flexibility helix. The 4-way junction (4WJ) (Hollyday-junction) is formed by four dsDNA joined together; these conformation are transient high order branched structure occurring during specific cellular processes. 3WJ and 4WJ structure have been also identified in RNAs [25] (Fig. 1).

Another important structural motif is the G-quadruplex, related with the presence of G-rich domains (Fig. 2) The G-quadruplex is the results of interaction between coplanar arrays of guanine called G-tetrads; they can occur on a single strand (intramolecular) or between two strands (intermolecular) DNA and RNA G-quadruplexes are capable to form, by charge transfer between donor and acceptor, an internal space [26, 27] in which ionic displacement depend on the specific ion affinity for the nucleic acid. The biological function of DNA and RNA G-quadruplexes is different; the DNA G-quadruplexes seem to be involved in maintenance of genomic integrity and transcriptional processes. RNA G-quadruplexes seem to be implied in several different biological activities. such as transcription termination, pre-mrna splicing and mRNA targeting [28] (Fig. 2).

High target specificity is the foremost feature of a nucleic acid-based biosensor; it is strongly correlate with the structure of sensing element that have to recognize the analyte.



Fig. 1 a DNA 4WJ (Hollyday Junction **PDB 1P54**); **b** RNA 3WJ (PDB 4JIY). The two images has been obtained using PDB structural visualization tools. The figure shows the biological assembly of two structure. This presentation gives a more intuitive view of the 3D structure



Fig. 2 Examples of G-quadruplex: a DNA G-quadruplex (PDB code 6GE1) The yellow residues are modified nucleobase and the green ball are potassium ions; b RNA telomeric G-quadruplex (PBD code 3MIJ) The yellow molecule is the ligand and the green ball mark the potassium ions The images have been obtained by UCSF CHIMERA visualization tool (https://www.cgl.ucsf.edu/ chimera/)

The more common structures used for biosensors: (1) Aptamers; (2) DNAzyme; (3) Riboswitch and Ribozymes; (4) XNA-based biosensors. **Aptamers** are single strand oligomers, both DNA and RNA that can maintain the natural conformation such as G-quadruplex or hairpin and stem-loop. The aptamer selection and production requires the application of the well established combinatorial SELEX procedure [29] to obtain nucleic acid probe for a specific ligand.

DNAzymes (Deoxyribonucleotide enzymes) are catalytic DNAs with activity comparable to Ribozyme [30]. The break of dsDNA generates ssDNA capable to fold itself in different conformations that can have catalytic activity. DNAzyme have been considered for biosensor development but they are not yet well characterized. **Ribozymes** are natural catalytic RNAs, known also as metalloenzymes [31]. RNAs are capable to catalyze different complex chemical reactions such as esterification, isomerization, etc. Ribozymes are roughly classified on the basis of their length. The short and medium length ribozymes, including hairpin, hammerhead and pistol, have been employed for bioreceptor development. The knowledge of natural ribozyme is an advantage for the design of artificial ribozymes sensing particular analytes. A ribozyme can be embedded in supramolecular structure; the aptazyme.

An aptazyme has different functional modules: (a) a sensing element committed to recognize the ligand; (b) an effector element, the true ribozyme, that perform the catalysis; (c) a connector element that bridge together sensor and effector. **Riboswitches** are natural regulatory elements, mostly recognized in bacteria, that control the gene expression sensing specific small molecules or ions. They are generally located in the 5' region of a bacterial mRNA and can activate or deactivate the gene expression. A riboswitch is a complex structure formed by an aptamer to sense the ligand and an expression platform in which there is the gene to be regulated. An example of riboswitch and ribozyme is shown in Fig. 3. These regulatory structures can be considered 'natural' biosensors. The nucleotide motif, committed to sense a specific metabolite, is rather evolutively conserved. This point is rather important to modify the nucleic acid to recognize a different substance or to enhance its affinity for its specific analyte. The design of an artificial riboswitch is a not easy task because it is rather hard to couple a modified aptamer with the expression platform order to originate a fluorescence signal.



Fig. 3 Ribozyme and riboswitch: a Hammerhead Ribozyme (PDB 1HMH); b THF Riboswitch (PDB 4VLL). The different colour label the nucleotides. The images have been obtained using UCSF CHIMERA visualization tool

The RNAs, unlike DNA, can be employed to model a scaffold. A scaffold is natural or synthetic functional RNA structure able to optimize a reaction, recognize a molecule or intervent in molecular interactions [32]. The RNA scaffolds are designed using different computational methods and, for instance, applied for CRISP-Cas9 transcriptional control [33]. The RNA scaffolds could be included among nucleic acids nanostructures. Today there is the knowledge and technology to engineer complex nucleic acids nanoparticles. They can be utilized to control cellular processes, as carrier for drug delivery and to screen specific substances. Even if the majority of applications are biomedical it is reasonable to apply DNA and RNA biosensors in different sectors such as for instance, environmental monitoring. The design of DNA based nanostructure could be carried out using different approaches: (1) tile self-assembly [34] utilizes basic structural elements to originate an intermediate structure (the tile) capable to be arranged in a more complex architecture; (2) Folding method is founded on the capability of a large DNA to fold itself (DNA origami); (3) Kinetic based method requires the direct control of dynamic parameters governing the self-assembly process. The folding method, often indicated as DNA origami, seems to be the widely used; it is necessary to underline that the selection can be made taking the application into account. The term "DNA origami" defines the operational protocol to generate a complete DNA nanostructure starting from a ssDNA [35] or dsDNA and short oligonucleotides utilized as connecting elements; Fig. 4 displays the 3D structure solve with Cryo-EM of a DNA origami object and an xeno nucleic acids (XNA).

The initial choice of DNA relies on the technological limit to pick up enough good quality RNA. The advance of molecular techniques (SELEX) have consented to bypass this constrain. RNA has focused the interest of its possibility to be employed in nanotechnological applications.

In order to design an efficient bio-receptor, it is essential to investigate RNA surrounding ionic environment [36]. It is a well established knowledge that some



Fig. 4 Example of nucleic acids nanostructures: \mathbf{a} cryo_EM image of a DNA origami supramolecular structure. \mathbf{b} Example of xeno nucleic acids. The images have been obtained using USF CHIMERA visualization tool

cations such Mg^{2+} are crucial for RNA conformational stability and functionality [37].

Except the well known compositional and structural differences, RNA is also capable, conversely to DNA, to have long range interaction such as the kissing-loop. The knowledge of these biophysical properties have to be considered in the of RNA origami technique.

The term "RNA tectonics" [38] indicates the modularity of RNA structure that can disassembled and then reorganized into new units called "tecto RNA". These new module are capable to assembly themselves into more complex nanoparticles. The shape and dimension of new RNA objects can be designed in advance. The tecto RNA is often the result of computational simulations. This procedure consent to allocate in precise way the fragments, estimate and correct the distances among the elements. It is possible to control the supramolecular assembly of tecto RNAs in order to minimize the set of alternatively folded structures. The nucleic acid based nanotechnology is a fast evolving research area, triggered by the synthetic biology requirements [39], now utilized in several different advanced applicative sectors.

2.2 A Survey of Computational Tools for Nucleic Acid Based Biosensor Development

The design of bio-receptor and its interaction with the transducer material is an ICT complex task because it need the employ of bioinformatics, chemo-informatics and nanoinformatics tools into a automated and reusable computational pipeline: the workflow. Workflow management systems, initially developed for different industrial applications, has been recently also applied to nanotechnology [40]. Good workflows have to include advance Machine Learning tools to optimize the quality of the biosensing module (bioreceptor and transducer system). Three workflow management systems that could be considered for the design biosensing module: (1) **KEPLER** that can work on biophysical and genomic data [41]; (2) **GALAXY** that can operate on molecular biology, image and nanostructures [42]; (3) KNIME that is a more flexible and general purpose system [43]. The design of a biosensor, for environmental monitoring, can starts from the available information about a specific chemical Specific data mining can also to be used to obtain the maximal amount of chemical, biological and toxicological. Conformational characteristics are the core theme for each possible application of nucleic acid-based biosensors. There are different tools to design simple nucleic acid structure or supramolecular complexes. The repository more helpful to design a bio-receptor are: (1) the Nucleic Acid database (NDB) containing nucleic acid experimentally solved structures [44, 45] and the collection of 3D structural motifs of RNA; (2) G4RNA that contain information about these structural motifs in RNA [46]; (3) G4IPDB a more general repository encompassing the solved structure of G-quadruplex [47]; (4) **MODOMICS** database includes information about modified ribonucleosides

and their biosynthetic pathways [48]. When possible and available, it is essential, for the design of a good bio-receptor, to acquire information about ligands to estimate both the sensitivity of the probe and the effects on receptor stability. The potential target can be easily extracted from chemical or toxicological databases.

There are other repositories, highly valuable for bioreceptor design, containing specific information about ligands (inorganic or organic) interacting with nucleic acids. Information can be also stored in generalist databases and even in small database such as the following: (1) MINAS that contains experimental data about metal ions interacting with nucleic acids [49]: (2) NPIDB that store data about protein-nucleic acid interactions [50]; (3) BioMe is repository of data about ionic binding site in protein and nucleic acids [51]; (4) SMMRNA consists of data concerning the small molecules modulating RNAs [52]. The selection and design of a biosensor depend on the ligand to be detected; it is different, for instance, to design a structure for molecular beacons [53] or for immobilization of the sensing element on a transducing surface or for a nanoparticle design. An initial 'in silico' structural analysis could consent to select the type of nucleic acid that better fit to sense a specific organic small molecule. The conformational characterization of a candidate probe can be performed using different bioinformatic tools. There is a large variety of available software to face the nucleic acid conformation. An outlook of the softwares used to predict 2D and 3D structures of nucleic acids is summarized in Table 1.

The quality control is committed to specific programs, as **Molprobity** [61], that one should apply before to proceed. The second phase of the 'in silico' design of a sensing element is focused on the simulation of the interactions between ligand and the nucleic acid model. Molecular mechanics (MM) or Quantum Mechanic (QM) can be used for any type of ligand (ionic, organic etc.), while docking methods are generally used for small organic ligands. MM/QM methods can work on different biomacromolecules (DNA, RNA, proteins. There are many different MM/QM programs, such as **AMBER** [62] **GROMACS** [63], that can efficiently applied to study the interaction between analyte and probe; particularly interesting, for the design **NAMD** [64] and **DELPHI** [65]. Molecular docking constitutes fast and less computationally heavy alternative to MM/QM. It is employed for different cheminformatic applications such as drug design. Not all available docking

Software name	DNA	RNA	Input	Type prediction	References
3DNA	Yes	No	Structure	3D	[54]
SimRNA	No	Yes	Structure	3D	[55]
NUPACK	Yes	Yes	Sequence	2D	[56]
MFOLD	Yes	Yes	Sequence	2D	[57]
Assemble2	No	Yes	Sequence	3D	[58]
Vienna package	No	Yes	Sequence	2D	[59]
COMPOSER	No	Yes	Sequence	3D	[60]

Table 1 Bioinformatic software for nucleic acid folding prediction

Name of software	Availability	Capability be applied to nucleic acids	References
LAMMP	Yes	Yes	[70]
MBN explorer	No	Yes	[71]
CaDNAno	Yes	DNA origami	[72]
CanDO	Yes	DNA origami	[73]
NanoTiler	Yes	RNA	[74]
MANIP	No	RNA	[75]

Table 2 Software for nanomaterial design that could be used for nucleic acids

programs are capable to process nucleic acid: **AUTODOCK** [66], **DOCK6** [67], **HADDOCK** [68] and **rDOCK** [69] are to perform a docking between ligand and nucleic acids. The refined results of interaction analysis nucleic acids-ligand are employed as starting point for supramolecular structure design (DNA and RNA origami). This phase is constrained by availability of specific design suites. Many of available tools are specifically developed for specific chemical materials. It is not rather clear if they can be easily utilized with nucleic acids. The software listed in Table 2 is valuable to design nucleic acid base nanostructures. We have mostly considered the open-source programs, however there are some commercial that perform very well. Open-source program and some commercial suite (i.e. Schroedingar's Material Suite) are also very useful.

The main challenge, from a informatic point of view, is the efficient integration of different type of programs into decision support system to optimize the choice of bio-receptor and its integration with transducing platform.

2.3 Nucleic Acid Based Biosensors for Environmental Monitoring

Biosensor with nucleic acid receptors can operate in wide range of different chemical-physics conditions. Biomedical field (diagnostic and theranostics) require to satisfy more stringent biocompatibility constrains (i.e. immunogenicity), other applications could require to satisfy other requires. Protein based receptors, enzymes and antibodies, are currently the favorite type of receptors for environmental biosensors [76]. The exploitation nucleic acid amplification technologies has encouraged the usage of DNA and RNA in biosensor development. The early application of nucleic acid-based biosensor was focused on pathogens genetic modified organisms detection. Heavy metal ions are another valuable field of application and stability indicate the possibility to develop specific monitor system for these chemicals. The list below exemplifies application for nucleic acid-based biosensor in environmental monitoring. It is interesting to underline that for Pb2 + a G-rich DNA coupled with Electrical Impedance Spectroscopy (EIS) is

Analyte	Sensor element	Type of signal	References
PCB77	DNA aptamer	Electrochemical	[77]
Pb ²⁺	DNA hairpin	Electrochemical	[78]
Melamine	DNA triplex	Electrochemical	[79]
Hg ²⁺	DNA aptamer	Fluorescence	[80]
Quinolone	DNA aptamer	Fluorescence	[81]
Ochratoxin A	DNA a	Voltammetry	[82]
Ricin A	RNA aptamer	Fluorescence	[83]
Pb ²⁺	G-quadruplex DNA	Fluorescence	[84]
Antibiotics	RNA aptamer	Electrochemical	[85]
Bisphenol A	DNA aptamer	Fluorescence	[86]
Phthalate	DNA aptamer	QD	[87]
Cocaine	DNA aptamer	Calorimetric	[88]

 Table 3
 An excerpt of environmental application of nucleic acid biosensors

more sensitive (0.5 nM) than a DNA-zyme coupled with electrochemical system (0.3 μ M) [77]. These examples underline that DNA is the favoured type of nucleic acids for bio-receptor design; RNA is used for antibiotics and toxin (Table 3).

3 Concluding Remarks

Published literature offer a large variety of results about environmental application of biosensors, this fact is a clue that this research field is in fast development. The availability of an efficient network to monitor microcontaminants as PCPPs is important to support the cumulative risk prediction due to PCPPs long-term exposure. Nucleic acids have some characteristics valuable to design sensitive and miniaturized environmental monitoring systems. The knowledge about chemical and biological functionality of nucleic acids is deeply changed in the last decade disclosing new perspective to employ these macromolecules as 'materials' in different technological field. The maximization of ligand specificity is a key element biosensor design, mostly for those are nucleic acid-based. The environmental complexity is the first element the have to be considered when is evaluated the possibility to use nucleic acids as receptor element. In the case of major applicative areas, such as biomedical food safety and biodefence, the external environmental conditions can be rather well characterized. In diagnostic implementation, for instance, the knowledge about characteristics of a body fluid are well determined and it possible to take them into account during the probe design phase. The need of ready to use method has privileged the methods based on nucleic acids hybridization (PCR, molecular beacons aptamers) rather than those operate by conformational changes. Further factors must to be more accurately evaluated in the design phase of nucleic acid-based sensing element capable to monitor and screen

CEC pollutants on field. It is necessary, for instance, to delineate the climatological and geological characteristics of the area to monitor. The knowledge of environmental temperature range is also important to develop and use thermal stable nucleic acid sensors (XNA). Temperature variations could have less influence on bio-receptor for water monitoring, however other chemical-physics features as ionic strength, conductivity and pH have to be considered. The application of a nucleic-based biosensor could have different performance if applied directly a water resource or on sampled water. The first case can necessitate the use of continuous "on field" screening systems (early warning) to fast detect a specific analyte; the latter application implies the use of a biosensor for the screening of a pollutant content on sampled water in a laboratory. The performance of on field real time systems could be influenced by the composition of the blend of organic and inorganic pollutants. It is reasonable that nucleic-acid bioreceptor, designed for a specific analyte could be also targeted by other compounds chemically similar to the analyte of interest. The seasonal variation of concentration of (micro)contaminant to sense could be another aspect that can deeply influence the performance. The development of a system for laboratory control is clearly less complicated because it is possible to have different analytical information to characterize the sample; in this case the main advantage of this class of biosensors is the high sensitivity. Taking the previous concerns into account, the monitoring of PCPPs, mostly the personal care, is rather complex because they are almost always present at low concentration in the environment, mostly in the water. Highly sensitive monitoring systems are necessary to control the environmental distribution of non-pharmaceutical chemicals. Nucleic based-biosensors are a promising alternative to other biological receptors to sense these microcontaminants.

The development of multianalyte methods is a great challenge. The employment of ad hoc nucleic acid nanoparticle (DNA, RNA origami) is one possibility, the alternative is the use of microfluidic or lab-on-a-chip architecture to build multisensing platforms for this purpose.

The sensitivity of bio-receptor element and its functional compatibility with a transducer surface is the first pivotal step for nucleic acid biosensor design. Here we would like to offer a general framework about the computational aspects that could efficiently support the design of a bio-receptor maximizing the specificity and sensitivity for microcontaminants such as PCPPs that are assuming a real relevance in water pollution.

References

- Hong, S., Candelone, J. P., Patterson, C. C., & Boutron, C. F. (1994). Greenland of hemispheric lead pollution two millennia ago by Greek and Roman civilization. *Science*, 265, 1841–1843.
- Escher, B. I., Hackermüller, J., Polte, T., Scholz, S., Aigner, A., Altenburger, R., et al. (2017). From the exposome to mechanistic understanding of chemical-induced adverse effects. *Environment International*, 99, 97–106.

- Lafleur, J. P., Jönsson, A., Senkbeil, S., & Kutter, J. P. (2016). Recent advances in lab-on-a-chip for biosensing applications. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 15(76), 213–233.
- Miles, A., Zavlasky, A., & Browne, C. (2018). IoT based decision support system for monitoring and mitigating air pollution in smart cities. *Journal of Decision Systems*, 27(51), 56–67.
- Pal, A., He, Y., Jekel, M., Reinhard, M., & Gin, K. Y. (2014). Emerging contaminants of public health significance as water quality indicator compounds in the urban water cycle. *Environment International*, 71, 46–62.
- 6. Sauvé, S., & Desrosiers, M. (2014). A review what is an emerging contaminant. *Chemical Central Journal*, 8.
- 7. Calvo-Flores, F. G., Dobado Jiménez, J. A., & Isac-García, J. (2018). *Emerging pollutants:* Origin, structure, and properties. Wiley.
- Maldonado-Torres, S., Gurung, R., Rijal, H., Chan, A., Acharya, S., Rogelj, S., et al. (2018). Fate, transformation, and toxicological impacts of pharmaceutical and personal care products in surface waters. *Environmental Health Insights*, 30(12), 1178630218795836.
- Kallenborn, R., Brostom-Lunden, E., Reiseren, L. O., & Wilson, S. (2018). Pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) in arctic environments: Indicator contaminants for assessing local and remote anthropogenic sources in a pristine ecosystem in change. *Envrionmental Science & Pollution Research*, 25, 33001–33013.
- Bhalla, N., Jolly, P., Formisano, N., & Estrela, P. (2016). Introduction to biosensors. *Essays in Biochemistry*, 60(1), 1–8.
- 11. Persch, E., Dumele, O., & Diederich, F. (2015). Molecular recognition in chemical and biological systems. *Angewandte Chemie (International ed. in English)*, 54(11), 3290–3327.
- Uzun, L., & Turner, A. P. (2016). Molecularly-imprinted polymer sensors: Realising their potential. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 15(76), 131–144.
- Reta, N., Saint, C. P., Michelmore, A., Prieto-Simon, B., & Voelcker, N. H. (2018). Nanostructured electrochemical biosensors for label-free detection of water- and food-borne pathogens. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10(7), 6055–6072.
- Walper, S. A., Lasarte Aragonés, G., Sapsford, K. E., Brown, C. W., 3rd, Rowland, C. E., Breger, J. C., et al. (2018). Detecting biothreat agents: From current diagnostics to developing sensor technologies. ACS Sensors, 3(10), 1894–2024.
- Schmidt, M. (2010). Xenobiology: A new form of life as the ultimate biosafety tool. BioEssays, 32(4), 322–331.
- Pinheiro, V. B., & Holliger, P. (2014). Towards XNA nanotechnology: New materials from synthetic genetic polymers. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 32(6), 321–328.
- Joachimi, Astrid, Benz, Armin, & Hartig, Jörg S. (2009). A comparison of DNA and RNA quadruplex structures and stabilities. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 17(19), 6811–6815.
- Boschi-Muller, S., & Motorin, Y. (2013). Chemistry enters nucleic acids biology: Enzymatic mechanisms of RNA modification. *Biochemistry (Mosc).*, 78(13), 1392–1404.
- 19. Ke, Y., & Wang, D. (2017). 3D DNA nanostructures methods and protocols. Springer.
- Waters, J. T., Lu, X. J., Galindo-Murillo, R., Gumbart, J. C., Kim, H. D., Cheatham, T. E., 3rd, et al. (2016). Transitions of double-stranded DNA between the A- and B-forms. *Journal* of *Physical Chemistry B*, 120(33), 8449–8456.
- Chakraborty, D., & Wales, D. J. (2016). Probing helical transitions in a DNA duplex. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics: PCCP*, 19(1), 878–892.
- 22. Seeman, N. C., & Sleiman, H. F. (2017). DNA nanotechnology. *Nature Reviews Materials*, *3*, 1–21.
- Jasinski, D., Haque, F., Binzel, D. W., & Guo, P. (2017). Advancement of the emerging field of RNA nanotechnology. ACS Nano, 11(2), 1142–1164.
- 24. Hecht, S., & Huc, I. (2007). Foldamers: Structure, properties and applications. New York: Wiley.
- Kaushik, M., Kaushik, S., Roy, K., Singh, A., Mahendru, S., Kumar, M., et al. (2016). A bouquet of DNA structures: Emerging diversity. *Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports*, 28 (5), 388–395.

- Lescoute, A., & Westhof, E. (2006). Topology of three-way junctions in folded RNAs. *RNA*, 12(1), 83–93.
- Zaccaria, F., & Fonseca, G. C. (2018). RNA versus DNA G-quadruplex: The origin of increased stability. *Chemistry*, 24(61), 16315–16322.
- Huppert, J. L., Bugaut, A., Kumari, S., & Balasubramanian, S. (2008). G-quadruplexes: The beginning and end of UTRs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 36(19), 6260–6268.
- Stoltenburg, R., Reinemann, C., & Strehlitz, B. (2007). SELEX–a (r)evolutionary method to generate high-affinity nucleic acid ligands. *Biomolecular Engineering*, 24(4), 381–403.
- Breaker, R. R. (1997). DNA aptamers and DNA enzymes. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology, 1(1), 26–31.
- Doherty, E. A., & Doudna, J. A. (2000). Ribozyme structures and mechanisms. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 69, 597–615.
- Ohno, H., Akamine, S., & Saito, H. (2018). RNA nanostructures and scaffolds for biotechnology applications. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 28(58), 53–61.
- Zalatan, J. G. (2017). CRISPR-Cas RNA scaffolds for transcriptional programming in yeast. Methods in Molecular Biology, 1632, 341–357.
- Jiang, S., Hong, F., Hu, H., Yan, H., & Liu, Y. (2017). Understanding the elementary steps in DNA tile-based self-assembly. ACS Nano, 11(9), 9370–9381.
- 35. Endo, M., & Sugiyama, H. (2018). DNA origami nanomachines. Molecules, 23(7), E1766.
- Auffinger, P., D'Ascenzo, L., & Ennifar, E. (2016). Sodium and potassium interactions with nucleic acids. *Metal Ions in Life Sciences*, 16, 167–201.
- Kolev, S. K., Petkov, P. S., Rangelov, M. A., Trifonov, D. V., Milenov, T. I., & Vayssilov, G. N. (2018). Interaction of Na(⁺), K(⁺), Mg(²⁺) and Ca(²⁺) counter cations with RNA. *Metallomics*, 10(5), 659–678.
- Westhof, E., Masquida, B., & Jaeger, L. (1996). RNA tectonics: Towards RNA design. Folding and Design, 1(4), R78–R88.
- Eremeeva, E., Abramov, M., Margamuljana, L., & Herdewijn, P. (2017). Base-modified nucleic acids as a powerful tool for synthetic biology and biotechnology. *Chemistry*, 23(40), 9560–9576.
- Karcher, S., Willighagen, E. L., Rumble, J., Ehrhart, F., Evelo, C. T., Fritts, M., et al. (2018). Integration among databases and data sets to support productive nanotechnology: Challenges and recommendations. *NanoImpact*, 9, 85–101.
- Purawat, S., Ieong, P. U., Malmstrom, R. D., Chan, G. J., Yeung, A. K., Walker, R. C., et al. (2017). A kepler workflow tool for reproducible AMBER GPU molecular dynamics. *Biophysical Journal*, 112(12), 2469–2474.
- 42. Walker, M. A., Madduri, R., Rodriguez, A., Greenstein, J. L., & Winslow, R. L. (2016). Models and simulations as a service: Exploring the use of galaxy for delivering computational models. *Biophysical Journal*, 110(5), 1038–1043.
- Fillbrunn, A., Dietz, C., Pfeuffer, J., Rahn, R., Landrum, G. A., & Berthold, M. R. (2017). KNIME for reproducible cross-domain analysis of life science data. *Journal of Biotechnology*, *10*(261), 149–156.
- Coimbatore Narayanan, B., Westbrook, J., Ghosh, S., Petrov, A. I., Sweeney, B., Zirbel, C. L., et al. (2014). The nucleic acid database: New features and capabilities. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(Database issue), D114–D122.
- Parlea, L. G., Sweeney, B. A., Hosseini-Asanjan, M., Zirbel, C. L., & Leontis, N. B. (2016). The RNA 3D motif atlas: Computational methods for extraction, organization and evaluation of RNA motifs. *Methods*, 1(103), 99–119.
- 46. Garant, J. M., Luce, M. J., Scott, M. S., & Perreault, J. P. (2015). G4RNA: An RNA G-quadruplex database. *Database (Oxford), 2015*, bav059.
- 47. Mishra, S. K., Tawani, A., Mishra, A., & Kumar, A. (2016). G4IPDB: A database for G-quadruplex structure forming nucleic acid interacting proteins. *Scientific Reports*, 1(6), 38144.

- Boccaletto, P., Machnicka, M. A., Purta, E., Piatkowski, P., Baginski, B., Wirecki, T. K., et al. (2018). MODOMICS: A database of RNA modification pathways. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(D1), D303–D307.
- 49. Schnabl, J., Suter, P., & Sigel, R. K. (2012). MINAS-a database of metal ions in nucleic acids. *Nucleic Acids Research, 40*(Database issue), D434–D438.
- Kirsanov, D. D., Zanegina, O. N., Aksianov, E. A., Spirin, S. A., Karyagina, A. S., & Alexeevski, A. V. (2013). NPIDB: Nucleic acid-protein interaction database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(Database issue), D517–D523.
- Tus, A., Rakipovic, A., Peretin, G., Tomic, S., & Sikic, M. (2012). BioMe: Biologically relevant metals. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(Web Server issue), W352–W357.
- Mehta, A., Sonam, S., Gouri, I., Loharch, S., Sharma, D. K., & Parkesh, R. (2014). SMMRNA: A database of small molecule modulators of RNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42 (Database issue), D132–D141.
- Tan, L., Li, Y., Drake, T. J., Moroz, L., Wang, K., Li, J., et al. (2005). Molecular beacons for bioanalytical applications. *Analyst*, 130(7), 1002–1005.
- Lu, X. J., & Olson, W. K. (2008). 3DNA: A versatile, integrated software system for the analysis, rebuilding and visualization of three-dimensional nucleic-acid structures. *Nature Protocols*, 3(7), 1213–1227.
- Magnus, M., Boniecki, M. J., Dawson, W., & Bujnicki, J. M. (2016). SimRNAweb: A web server for RNA 3D structure modeling with optional restraints. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44 (W1), W315–W319.
- Zadeh, J. N., Steenberg, C. D., Bois, J. S., Wolfe, B. R., Pierce, M. B., Khan, A. R., et al. (2011). NUPACK: Analysis and design of nucleic acid systems. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 32(1), 170–173.
- Zuker, M. (2003). Mfold web server for nucleic acid folding and hybridization prediction. Nucleic Acids Research, 31(13), 3406–3415.
- Westhof, E., Masquida, B., & Jossinet, F. (2011). Predicting and modeling RNA architecture. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 3(2), a003632.
- Hofacker, I. L. (2003). Vienna RNA secondary structure server. Nucleic Acids Research, 31 (13), 3429–3431.
- Popenda, M., Szachniuk, M., Antczak, M., Purzycka, K. J., Lukasiak, P., Bartol, N., et al. (2012). Automated 3D structure composition for large RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40 (14), e112.
- Chen, V. B., Arendall, W. B., 3rd, Headd, J. J., Keedy, D. A., Immormino, R. M., Kapral, G. J., et al. (2010). MolProbity: All-atom structure validation for macromolecular crystallography. *Acta Crystallographica. Section D, Biological Crystallography*, 66(Pt 1), 12–21.
- Case, D. A., Cheatham, T. E., 3rd, Darden, T., Gohlke, H., Luo, R., Merz, K. M., Jr., et al. (2005). The Amber biomolecular simulation programs. *Computers & Chemistry*, 26(16), 1668–1688.
- Van Der Spoel, D., Lindahl, E., Hess, B., Groenhof, G., Mark, A. E., & Berendsen, H. J. (2005). GROMACS: Fast, flexible, and free. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 26(16), 1701–1718.
- Phillips, J. C., Braun, R., Wang, W., Gumbart, J., Tajkhorshid, E., Villa, E., et al. (2005). Scalable molecular dynamics with NAMD. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 26(16), 1781–1802.
- 65. Li, L., Li, C., Sarkar, S., Zhang, J., Witham, S., Zhang, Z., et al. (2012). DelPhi: A comprehensive suite for DelPhi software and associated resources. *BMC Biophysics*, 14(5), 9.
- Morris, G. M., Huey, R., Lindstrom, W., Sanner, M. F., Belew, R. K., Goodsell, D. S., et al. (2009). AutoDock4 and AutoDockTools4: Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 30(16), 2785–2791 (Allen, W. J., Balius, T. E., Mukherjee, S., Brozell, S. R., Moustakas, D. T., Lang, P. T., Case, D. A.).
- 67. Kuntz, I. D., & Rizzo, R. C. (2015). DOCK 6: Impact of new features and current docking performance. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, *36*(15), 1132–1156.

- Dominguez, C., Boelens, R., & Bonvin, A. M. (2003). HADDOCK: A protein-protein docking approach based on biochemical or biophysical information. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 125(7), 1731–1737.
- Ruiz-Carmona, S., Alvarez-Garcia, D., Foloppe, N., Garmendia-Doval, A. B., Juhos, S., Schmidtke, P., et al. (2014). rDock: A fast, versatile and open source program for docking ligands to proteins and nucleic acids. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 10(4), e1003571.
- Ghobadi, A. F., & Jayaraman, A. (2016). Effects of polymer conjugation on hybridization thermodynamics of oligonucleic acids. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 120(36), 9788– 9799.
- Solov'yov, I. A., Yakubovich, A. V., Nikolaev, P. V., Volkovets, I., & Solov'yov, A. V. (2012). MesoBioNano Explorer–a universal program for multiscale computer simulations of complex molecular structure and dynamics. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 33(30), 2412–2439.
- Douglas, S. M., Marblestone, A. H., Teerapittayanon, S., Vazquez, A., Church, G. M., & Shih, W. M. (2009). Rapid prototyping of 3D DNA-origami shapes with caDNAno. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(15), 5001–5006.
- Castro, C. E., Kilchherr, F., Kim, D. N., Shiao, E. L., Wauer, T., Wortmann, P., et al. (2011). A primer to scaffolded DNA origami. *Nature Methods*, 8(3), 221–229.
- 74. Bindewald, E., Grunewald, C., Boyle, B., O'Connor, M., & Shapiro, B. A. (2008). Computational strategies for the automated design of RNA nanoscale structures from building blocks using NanoTiler. *Journal of Molecular Graphics and Modelling*, 27(3), 299–308.
- Massire, C., & Westhof, E. (1998). MANIP: An interactive tool for modelling RNA. Journal of Molecular Graphics and Modelling, 16(4–6), 197–205, 255–257.
- Justino, C. I. L., Duarte, A. C., & Rocha-Santos, T. A. P. (2017). Recent progress in biosensors for environmental monitoring: A review. *Sensors (Basel)*, 17(12).
- Wu, L., Qi, P., Fu, X., Liu, H., Li, J., Wang, Q., et al. (2016). A novel electrochemical PCB77-binding DNA aptamer biosensor for selective detection of PCB77. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 771, 45–49.
- Wang, X., Yang, C., Zhu, S., Yan, M., Ge, S., & Yu, J. (2017). 3D origami electrochemical device for sensitive Pb²⁺ testing based on DNA functionalized iron-porphyrinic metal-organic framework. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 87, 108–115.
- Liu, X., Song, M., & Li, F. (2017). Triplex DNA-based bioanalytical platform for highly sensitive homogeneous electrochemical detection of melamine. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 4490.
- Tortolini, C., Bollella, P., Antonelli, M. L., Antiochia, R., Mazzei, F., & Favero, G. (2015). DNA-based biosensors for Hg²⁺ determination by polythymine-methylene blue modified electrodes. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 67, 524–531.
- Reinemann, C., von Fritsch, U. F., Rudolph, S., & Strehlitz, B. (2016). Generation and characterization of quinolone-specific DNA aptamers suitable for water monitoring. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 77, 1039–1047.
- Wang, C., Dong, X., Liu, Q., & Wang, K. (2015). Label-free colorimetric aptasensor for sensitive detection of ochratoxin A utilizing hybridization chain reaction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 20(860), 83–88.
- Roday, S., Sturm, M. B., Blakaj, D., & Schramm, V. L. (2008). Detection of an abasic site in RNA with stem-loop DNA beacons: Application to an activity assay for Ricin Toxin A-Chain. *Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods*, 70(6), 945–953.
- Long, F., Zhu, A., & Wang, H. (2014). Optofluidics-based DNA structure-competitive aptasensor for rapid on-site detection of lead(II) in an aquatic environment. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 7(849), 43–49.
- Xing, Y. P., Liu, C., Zhou, X. H., & Shi, H. C. (2015). Label-free detection of kanamycin based on a G-quadruplex DNA aptamer-based fluorescent intercalator displacement assay. *Scientific Reports*, 30(5), 8125.

- Lim, H. J., Chua, B., & Son, A. (2017). Detection of bisphenol A using palm-size NanoAptamer analyzer. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 15(94), 10–18.
- Lim H. J., Kim A. R., Yoon M. Y., You Y., Chua B., & Son A. (2018). Development of quantum dot aptasensor and its portable analyzer for the detection of di-2-ethylhexylphthalate. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 121, 1–9.
- Neves, M. A. D., Shoara, A. A., Reinstein, O., Abbasi Borhani, O., Martin, T. R., & Johnson, P. E. (2017). Optimizing stem length to improve ligand selectivity in a structure-switching cocaine-binding aptamer. ACS Sensors, 2(10), 1539–1545.

Immunochromatographic Strip Based Sensor for the Detection of Water Pollutants



Megha Pant, Deepika Pancholi, Veena Pande and Anirban Dandapat

Abstract The ever-increasing demand for the clean and fresh water with the rapid population growth has been emerged as one of the major issues now. The widespread problem of water pollution is not just jeopardizing our health but is equally damaging to the aquatic environment. There are several techniques available for detection of various kinds of water pollutants but most of them either utilize sophisticated instruments and are expensive or time consuming. Therefore, a portable, sensitive, stable, low cost and rapid strategy is highly essential. In this area, the use of lateral flow immunochromatographic strip based portable sensor appears to be an effective approach for the detection of water pollutants. Immunochromatographic strip combines the use of specific antigen-antibody (Ag-Ab) immunoreactions. This chapter will describe how coloured (e.g. colloidal gold, silver nanoparticles) and luminescent (e.g. quantum dots, up-converting phosphorus NPs) nanoparticles are modified with the Ag/Ab and integrated into paper-based sensors for the detection of target pollutants. Advancements in the technology will further improve the limit of detection which validates its superiority over existing conventional strategies for the detection of water pollutants.

Keywords Immunochromatography · Portable sensor · Water pollutants

M. Pant · D. Pancholi · V. Pande · A. Dandapat (🖂)

Department of Biotechnology, Kumaun University, Bhimtal Campus, Bhimtal 263136, Uttarakhand, India

e-mail: dranirbandandapat@kunainital.ac.in

A. Dandapat Department of Chemistry, Kumaun University, DSB Campus, Nainital 263002, Uttarakhand, India

233

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_13

1 Introduction

Water pollution refers to the deterioration of water quality due to the presence of toxic components present in water. It has become a major widespread problem that has affected everyone globally. The problem of water pollution has been faced by both the developed and developing nations where the mortality rate caused due to water pollution appears to be quite high [1]. There are numerous factors which are affecting the water quality, for example climate change, pesticides and fungicides used in vegetation, industrial waste dumping/leaching in waterbodies, mining activities [2]. Nonetheless several techniques like gas chromatography, high performance liquid chromatography, spectrofluorometry, cyclicvoltametry, enzyme linked immunosorbent assays are available for detecting the water pollutants but a portable, cheaper, and rapid technique is needed for the detection of the pollutants. The immunochromatographic strip (ICS) based assay also known as lateral flow assays (LFA) is a paper-based platform appears to be cheap, rapid and portable tool for both qualitative and quantitative detection of the pollutants. Earlier ICS based sensors are mainly used for the detection of specific antigens [3] and antibodies [4], thereafter a diverse kind of biological samples are being tested using lateral flow strip, such as urine [5] saliva [6] sweat [7, 8], serum [9] plasma [10] whole blood [11, 10], and other fluids. Very recently, ICS based sensors are also used in the environmental monitoring including the detection of different water pollutants, such as, heavy metals, different organic pollutants, pathogens etc.

1.1 Principle of Immunochromatographic Strip Based Assay (ICA)

ICA is based on the simple principle that the analyte, which is to be detected, moves through capillary action along the strip having different zones where various molecules are attached to interact with the analyte molecules in higher or lower specificity. Finally, the result will appear as visual observation at the control or test lines. Intensity of the lines appears on the test line is directly proportional to the concentration of the analyte [12–14]. Different zones or components of the ICS are described below.

1.2 Components of Immunochromatographic Strip (ICS)

ICS mainly consist of four components as shown in Fig. 1.

Sample Pad. The sample pad is generally composed of cellulose, glass fiber, rayon etc. The sample/analyte is first drop casted on this zone of the ICS and then



Fig. 1 Components of a immunochromatographic strip (ISC)

transferred to the conjugated pad in smooth and continuous manner. Sometimes, pre-treatments like the separation of the components of the sample, adjustment of pH are also necessary before the transport of the sample [15]. To increase the sensitivity of these pads they should be well treated with appropriate buffers, blocking agents and other reagents.

Conjugate Pad. The conjugate pad is composed of cellulose, Polyesters etc. Biorecognition molecules i.e. antibodies are modified at the conjugated pad zone. When sample is transported from sample pad to conjugated pad, these antibodies are released upon contact with the sample. To maintain homogeneity of the pad pre-treatment is required, where the conjugated pad needs to be properly dispensed and hydrophilic materials used in these pads give better flow rates.

Nitrocellulose membrane. Nitrocellulose membrane is a porous membrane with pore size ranges from 0.05 to 12 μ m. It is also known as reaction membrane which carries the test and control lines. These lines are modified with specific biological components (usually antibodies or antigen) to detect the target analyte. The sample is wicked through the membrane and responses appear at the control and test lines. Substances bind to the membrane through hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions. The sensitivity of lateral flow assay is highly based on the suitable modifications at the nitrocellulose membrane. There are other important factors which further affect the sensitivity of nitrocellulose membrane. For example, proper dispensing and drying of the membrane is crucial. In addition, non-specific adsorption and humidity are other vital factors, which need to be controlled.

Adsorbent pad. It is present at the end of the strip and basically prevents the backflow of the sample. The result assay is largely affected by the properties of the adsorbent pad as false positive result can be obtained if there is a backflow of the fluid. High-density cellulose is preferred for the wicking material [16]. Proper assembling of all these components is done over a backing card. It provides support so that the strip could be easily handled.

1.3 How Does ICS Work?

- The sample to be detected is first applied on the adsorbent sample pad which is used to wick the excess reagent and prevent backflow.
- Then the sample will flow through the conjugate release pad where the analyte will interact with the conjugated antibodies that are specific to the analyte.
- The whole sample will then migrate to the porous nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane is immobilized with mostly antibodies or antigens. The sample will then move through the capillary action towards the end of the strip. Nonspecific interactions will be blocked by chemicals. Recognition of the analyte will show different responses as the control and test lines [17, 18].

For the test to become valid a visible line will appear at control line. If any color line appears at the test line, the result is considered to be positive and the absence of any line at the test line indicates the negative result, as shown in Fig. 2. For simultaneous detection of the multiple analytes, different antibodies can be immobilized in multiple test lines [19, 20].



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the assay's mechanism. The sample is deposited on the sample pad and migrates towards the conjugate pad where the conjugated antibodies bind with the target analyte. Then it is migrated towards the test line and captured to produce a positive result. Reproduced from Ref. [21]

1.4 Factors for Developing ICS

Performance of ICS depends on the following factors:

- Reaction time—rapid reaction time is better than slower reaction time.
- Flow rate—reaction rate and flow rate are inversely proportional to each other.
- Pore size—when pore size of membrane increases there appears to be a decrease in the amount of bounded protein.

These factors should be optimized for the development of ICS with desired performance. In addition, color intensity at the control and test line, better sensitivity towards the analyte and low consumption of immunoreagent are also very important for the development of ICS [22].

2 Format of ICA

Various formats used in ICA are briefly described below.

2.1 Sandwich ICA

Earlier, it was mainly used for testing HIV, luteinizing hormone and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) hormone. However recently, water pollutants are also being detected by this assay. A general structure of sandwich ICS is shown in Fig. 3. Three types of antibodies are being used in this assay: (i) Antibody 1, also known as reaction antibody, will migrate to test and control lines. (ii) Antibody 2, also known as detection antibody or primary antibody, is highly specific for antigen immobilized on the test line. (iii) Antibody 3 is the specific anti-immunoglobulin



Fig. 3 Format of antibody based sandwich ICS. Reproduced from Ref. [23], copyright 2015, Elsevier

antibody which is known as secondary antibody immobilized at control line. Further steps involved in Sandwich ICA are as follows:

- At the beginning, analyte is applied to the sample pad where it migrates through conjugate pad.
- Then the analyte present at the conjugate pad is captured by labelled antibody and an analyte-antibody complex is formed.
- Next, the complex migrates towards nitrocellulose membrane where it binds with primary antibody present on the test line and thus a sandwich is formed.
- Remaining labelled antibody conjugate will be bounded by secondary antibody present on the control line.

Occurrence of test line confirms presence of the analyte and the color intensity of the line determines the concentration of the analyte. A portable strip reader can quantitatively measure this intensity.

2.2 Competitive ICA

It is also known as inhibition immunoassays. These kinds of assays are mostly suitable for detection of low molecular weight compounds but can also be applied to large molecular weight compounds. Steps involved in competitive ICA are:

- First the analyte to be detected is applied on the sample pad which will be then migrated to the conjugate pad.
- Then the prefixed antibody present at the conjugated pad will be hydrated and start flowing with the moving sample.
- After that the sample reaches at the nitrocellulose membrane and migrate through the membrane towards the zone of control and test lines. The test line contains pre-immobilized antigen which will bind specifically to labelled conjugate and control line contain pre-immobilized secondary antibody which also have the affinity for labelled conjugate. If the target analyte is present in sample solution, there will be a competition between the antigen to be detected and the one which is already immobilized at test line of strip to bind with labelled conjugate [24]. However, in absence of any analyte, labelled conjugate will form a complex with the secondary antibody present at the control line and will show visual line at the control line only as shown in Fig. 4.

2.3 Multiplex ICA

This type of immunoassay is mainly used to detect multiple analytes present in the sample. Multiple test lines appear in this type of format as shown in Figs. 5 and 6.



Aptamer: GAT CGG GTG TGG GTG GCG TAA AGG GAG CAT CGG ACA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA

```
Probe 1: CTA GCC CAC ACC CAC CGC ATT TCC CTC GTA GCC TGT
```

Probe 2: TTT TTT TTT TTT TTT TTT



Fig. 4 Competitive ICA based sensor for ochratoxin A (OTA) detection (reproduced with permission from [25], copyright 2015, Elsevier)



Fig. 5 Multicolor test strip. Reproduced with permission from [26], Copyright 2018 Elsevier

Multiplex ICA has several advantages over other immunoassays, since in this assay multiple analytes can be detected by maintaining same set of conditions in the strip, so a lesser amount of test reagents and sample volume is required for the detection, and multiple analyte can be detected in very short time [27]. Multiplex immunoassays are mainly used in the clinical diagnosis [28] of different diseases. For example, four different kinds of human papilloma viruses (HPV) can be detected by using a series of test lines immobilized with probes. Although it is not popularized yet in the detection of water pollutants, further advancements in this area of research will certainly help to use the multiplex ICA in the detection of different pollutants. The use of microarrays will further improve its sensitivity of the detection method [29].

3 Biorecognition Molecules

These displays the heart of immunochromatographic assays. Mainly antibodies and aptamers are being used as biorecognition molecules.

Antibodies: Two types of antibodies are used; primary antibody which binds to a certain antigen and secondary antibody which binds to antigen containing antibody. Antibodies present on the test and control lines will bind to the analyte which contain these primary and secondary antibodies. These primary and secondary antibodies are first raised in mice and then used for the detection of analytes. Generation of these antibodies is a temperature sensitive process [30]. Nanomolar to picomolar limit of detection range could be achieved by using these antibodies and by adjusting various physical parameters [31, 32].

Aptamers: These are known to be short, single stranded DNA or RNA those tend to bind with specific target molecules. These are generated through a process



Fig. 6 Schematic representation of multiplex ICA. **a** The NC membrane, absorbent pad, and sample pad were assembled sequentially onto a plastic backing sheet. The NC membrane was modified with the goat anti-mouse IgG antibody and five kinds of antigens to form one control line and five test lines, respectively. **b** In absence of any analyte, mAb–AuNP conjugates would bind to the five test lines and the control line, forming red bands at all the lines. However, in presence of the analytes, the mAb–AuNP conjugates would be formed. Those complexes would not bind to the hapten–protein conjugates or aggregate on the five test lines and thus no red bands would be formed when they passed through the test lines. However, they reacted with the goat-mouse IgG antibody at the control line, and gathered there forming deep red bands (reproduced with permission from [33], copyright 2015, Elsevier

known as SELEX (systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment) [34, 35]. Aptamers possess high association constants which helped them to bind to target molecule with high affinity and specificity. Aptamers can be easily synthesized, simply amplified and also the process is easily reproducible. Initially, aptamers are used in the field of oncology, biosensing, cell imaging, drug delivery etc. [36–39], however, recently those are also used in the detection of different metal ions (e.g. Cd^{2+} , Hg^{2+} etc.).

4 Labels

Labels are the molecules conjugated with the biorecognition molecules to generate a signal. They play important roles in maintaining the sensitivity of the strip. Different types of labels are used in immunochromatographic assay as given below.

- Colloidal gold nanoparticles
- · Silver nanoparticles
- Quantum dots
- · Carbon nanotubes
- · Upconverting phosphor nanoparticles
- Liposomes
- Enzymes etc.

However, gold NPs, semiconductor QDs and carbon-based nanoparticles are mostly used in the ICS-based sensors.

4.1 Colloidal Gold Nanoparticles

These are the most widely used nanoparticles in ICS for signal visualization. Colloidal gold NPs are chemically stable, easy to synthesize and take short time to analyze [40–43]. Au NPs can be easily functionalized with different proteins and oligonucleotides by ionic and covalent interactions. In case of ionic interactions, the stability of NPs depends on surface charge of the functionalized NPs where electrostatic repulsion force exists among the similarly charged NPs. However, electrostatic attraction force results in aggregation of the AuNPs turning the color from red to blue [44, 45]. Shape, size and stability of gold nanoparticles affect the performance of ICS. During the synthesis of Au NPs, size and shape of the particles can be controlled by the amounts of the reagents i.e. reducing agent, stabilizing agents, gold-precursors etc. [46]. Gold nanoparticles of size 20–30 nm with strong absorbance at around 520 nm [46, 47] are generally used as labels here, however,

Analyte	Biorecognition element	ICA type	Linear range	Detection limit	Reference
Hg ²⁺	Antibody	Sandwich	0.1– 1000 ppb	0.1 ppb	[48]
Hg ²⁺	Antibody	Competitive	8–14.8 nM	5.2 nM	[49]
Cd ²⁺	Antibody	Competitive	6–11.5 nM	4.4 nM	
Pb ²⁺	Antibody	Competitive	6–11.5 nM	4.4 nM	
Influenza A virus	Antibody	Sandwich	102–107 copies	102 copies	[50]
<i>E. coli</i> O157: H7	Aptamer	Sandwich	0–108 cfu/ mL	10 cfu/mL	[51]
Ochratoxin A	Aptamer	Sandwich	0.18 ng/mL	0–25 ng/ mL	[52]
Brevetoxins	Antibody	Sandwich	10-4000 ng/ mL	20 ng/mL	[53]
Streptococcus suis	Antibody	Sandwich	103– 106 cfu/mL	104 cfu/mL	[54]
Clenbuterol	Antibody	Competitive	0-10 ng/mL	0.08 ng/mL	[55]
Triazophos	Antibody	Competitive	-	4 ng/mL	[56]
Vibrio cholerae O1	Antibody	Sandwich		108 cfu/mL 107 cfu/mL	[57]

Table 1 Gold NPs based ICA

larger particles with diameter i.e. 60–70 nm [58] are usually unstable therefore have limited applications.

In current literature, gold NPs have been extensively used for detection of water pollutants, especially, toxic metal ions and pathogenic micro-organisms in contaminated water as given in Table 1. ICS based nanosensors utilizing DNA probes and gold NPs are developed for the detection of mercuric ions [59–64]. In the working principle of this nanosensor, DNA was designed in such a way that initially thymine-thymine base mismatch were there, and due to the specific interactions of mercury with the thymine bases, mercury stabilize these mismatches and thus mercury-thymine complex is formed [65].

4.2 Quantum Dots (QDs)

These are semiconductor nanocrystals having size in the ranges of 2–10 nm. They are used as fluorescent labels for performing better sensitivity of lateral flow assays. QDs possess properties such as broad UV excitation band, high quantum yield,

Analyte	Biorecognition element	ICA type	Linear range	Detection limit	Analysis time (min)	Reference
Hepatitis B virus	Antibody	Sandwich	-	75 pg/mL	15	[<mark>66</mark>]
AFP	Antibody	Sandwich	1.56– 150 ng/ mL	1 ng/mL	10	[67]
Avian influenza virus (AIV)	Antibody	Sandwich	0.2– 6.25 μM	68 nM	30	[68]
Streptomycin	Antibody	Sandwich	0.3- 500 ng/ mL	0.2 ng/mL	-	[69]
Chloramphenicol	Antibody	Sandwich	0.14– 10 ng/ mL	0.1 ng/mL	-	
Ofloxacin	Antibody	Sandwich	1.5- 200 ng/ mL	0.3 ng/mL	-	
Zearalenone	Antibody	Competitive	0.125- 10 ng/ mL	0.0625 ng/ mL	10	[70]

 Table 2
 Quantum dots based ICA

large absorption coefficients, photostability, which make them a great asset in distinguish fields like water pollutant detection cell labelling, cell imaging, DNA hybridization, drug delivery etc.

Proteins can be conjugated with water soluble quantum dots and make them more specific as labels. Proteins can be conjugated through their carboxyl and amine groups. EDC (1-ethyl-3-3-dimethylaminopropyl) and NHS (-N-hydroxy succinimide) activates the carboxyl group in the QDs which further reacts with the amine groups present in antibodies and makes them specific towards the analyte [69, 71]. Based on this principle, QDs based ICS are used the detection of different analytes (Table 2).

4.3 Carbon and Carbon-Based Nanoparticles

Carbon- and carbon-based nanoparticles like carbon nanotubes [72] carbon nano strings [73, 74] carbon quantum are mostly preferred in lateral flow assays as they possess properties to conjugate with the antibodies present in the immunochromatographic membrane. Mostly used carbon-based nanoparticles are the carbon nanotubes (CNTs) as they have different physical, chemical and electrical properties including very large surface area and good optical properties which help CNTs to generate a good signal and thus be used as excellent labels in the field of sensing and immunochromatography (Table 3).

4.4 Upconverting Phosphor

Up-converting phosphor (UCP) is basically lanthanide-containing, ceramic sub micro sized particles, and its composition and structure provide brilliant optical features which emit visible light during excitation with infrared light. UCP based ICAs have various applications those are currently limited by assay sensitivity, however, it can increase the probability of a diagnosis by verifying the presence of several analytes in the same sample. UCP particle is used as label to increase the sensitivity of ICA and is also used to detect various water pollutants and diseases like hepatitis B [75], Brucella [76], Schistosoma circulating anodic antigen [77], interferon- γ (IFN- χ) [78], clenbuterol [11] and target-DNA molecule [79].

5 Advantages and Disadvantages of ICA

Advantages	Disadvantages
Naked eye detection	Pre-treatment required
Rapid qualitative detection	Normally semi-quantitative
Cost effective	Cross reactivity
Longer shelf life	Unspecific adsorption
User friendly	Difficult to control capillary action
Easy to operate	Analysis time relies on surface tension, viscosity etc.

6 Application Strategies

Although a major part of the ICA based sensors used in clinical analysis, it is now spread over the other applications, which include food analysis, detection of pharmaceuticals, pesticides, pathogens, toxic metal ions etc. Representative examples are given in Table 4. Different nanomaterials (e.g. AuNPs, quantum dots, carbon-based nanoparticles, up-converting phosphors, magnetic NPs etc.) could be used for the development of ICS, however, AuNPs are the most commonly used nanoparticles reported in ICS devices due to its unique optical properties, very high stability, and ease of modification and functionalization.

Table 3 Carbon material basec	1 ICA					
Analyte	Biorecognition element	ICA type	Linear range	Detection limit	Analysis time (min)	Reference
DNA sequence	Aptamer	Sandwich	0.1–20 nM	0.04 nM	20	[72]
Phytoregulator for chlorfenuron	Antibody	Competitive	89 ± 9–916 ± 22 ng/L	$45 \pm 9 \text{ ng/L}$	30	[80]
Methiocarb	Antibody	Competitive	0-1000 ng/mL	0.5 ng/mL	10	[22]
Thiabendazole	Antibody	Competitive	0.11-4.13 ng/mL	0.08 ± 0.03 ng/ mL	10	[81]
α-amylase	Antibody	Sandwich	1-10 ng/mL	I	10	[82]
Influenza A	Antibody	Sandwich	I	I	15	[74]
Erythropoietin	Antibody	Sandwich	1.7–51 ng/mL	1.2 fM	15	[73]

ICA
based
material
Carbon
ŝ
able

I able 4 Applications of		2				
Application area	Analyte	Label	Sample type	Detection limit	Time of detection (min)	Reference
Pesticides	Carbofuran	Gold NPs	Water	32 μg/L	8-10	[83]
	Triazophos	Gold NPs	Water	4 μg/L	8-10	[83]
	Atrazine	Gold NPs	Water	1.0 ppb	5	[24]
	Paraoxon Methyl	Magnetic Fe ₃ O ₄	1	1.7 ng/mL	1	[24]
		aggregate				
	Carbaryl	Gold NPs	Agricultural products	100 µg/L	1	[84]
Metal ions	Hg ²⁺	Gold NPs	Water	1.1 nM	1	[85]
	Cr ³⁺	Gold NPs	Water and serum	5 ng/mL	5	
	Hg ²⁺	Gold NPs	Water	6 nM	5	
	Cd ²⁺	Gold NPs	Drinking and Tap	0.4 ppb	1	[86]
			water			
_	Cu ²⁺	Gold NPs	Water	10 nM	1	[87]
Toxins	Clenbuterol	Fluorescent Nano silica	Urine	0.037 ng/L	1	[88]
	Clenbuterol	Gold NPs	Urine	0.1 ng/mL	10	[84]
Pathogens	Escherichia coli mRNA	Liposome	Drinking water	5 fM	15–20	[89]
Pharmaceuticals and	Enrofloxacin	Gold NPs	Chicken muscles	0.138 µg/kg	5-10	[00]
drugs	Sulphonamide	Gold NPs	Egg and chicken muscles	10 ng/mL	15	[91]
	Morphine	Gold NPs	Urine	2.5 ng/mL	1	[92]
	Chloramphenicol	Gold NPs	Milk	10 ng/mL	10	[93]

Table 4 Applications of the ICAs in various fields

7 Advancements

There are some foremost advancements in lateral flow assay in recent years. These are as follows:

- Better and improved systems for quantification of analyte have been developed.
- Techniques and strategies to enhance the signal in which silver is used have been adopted [48]. Other nanoparticles like colloidal gold nanoparticles are also used to enhance the signal and this could be achieved by using light emitting diodes, laser where the contrast signal can be enhanced up to 1000-fold [94].
- By using several kinds of magnetic, microspheres and immune based nanoparticles sensitivity and range of detection of immunoassay has been reduced to 0.1 ng/ml.
- Simultaneous detection techniques have also been emerged in past few years. These include simultaneous detection of two proteins by using two conjugated pads where antibodies and antigens are detected simultaneously using colloidal gold NPs. Computational methods have been developed for sensing in which 'OR' and 'AND' logic gates are employed.

8 Conclusion

ICS based sensors have demonstrated to be rapid, cheap and portable tools to detect various water pollutants including toxic metal ions, pesticides, other organic and inorganic pollutants, pathogenic microorganisms. Although earlier it was mainly used for the detection of different bio-molecules, however its simplicity, quick response time and ease of operation trigger its applicability in other areas including the environment monitoring. The use of ICS based sensing does not require any sophisticated instrument and can be visualized even with naked eye, thus does not require any trained personnel. To increase the sensitivity of the ICS based sensing, it is coupled with different nanomaterials, such as, gold NP, carbon QDs, fluorescent materials etc. Besides, the sensitivity of the ICS can also be increased by tuning the microfluidics within the ICS. With the developing technology, new materials and strategies will be provided for further development of ICS-based sensing. Although there are only few studies for the simultaneous detection of multiple analytes, we believe new technologies will emerge in near future to develop multiparameter ICS for environmental monitoring. Further improvement in this area of research along with the integration of ICS with smart phones for quantitative detection will certainly direct the presence of ICS based sensors at every home in future for onsite detection of pollutants and environment monitoring.

Acknowledgements DST, Govt. of India is acknowledged for financial assistance through INSPIRE Faculty Award (DST/INSPIRE/04/2016/000293).
References

- 1. Chaudhry, F., & Malik, M. (2017). Factors affecting water pollution: A review. *Journal of Ecosystem & Ecography*, 7, 2.
- Voica, C., Dehelean, A., Iordache, A., et al. (2012). Method validation for determination of metals in soils by ICP-MS. *Roman Reports in Physics*, 64, 221–231.
- Boisen, M. L., Consortium, V. H. F., Oottamasathien, D., et al. (2015). Development of prototype filovirus recombinant antigen immunoassays. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 212, S359–S367.
- Nielsen, K., Yu, W., Kelly, L., et al. (2007). Development of a lateral flow assay for rapid detection of bovine antibody to Anaplasma marginale. *Journal of Immunoassay & Immunochemistry*, 29, 10–18.
- de Lourdes, Moreno M., Cebolla, Á., Muñoz-Suano, A., et al. (2017). Detection of gluten immunogenic peptides in the urine of patients with coeliac disease reveals transgressions in the gluten-free diet and incomplete mucosal healing. *Gut*, 66, 250–257.
- Carrio, A., Sampedro, C., Sanchez-Lopez, J., et al. (2015). Automated low-cost smartphone-based lateral flow saliva test reader for drugs-of-abuse detection. *Sensors*, 15, 29569–29593.
- De Giovanni, N., & Fucci, N. (2013). The current status of sweat testing for drugs of abuse: A review. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 20, 545–561.
- 8. Pacifici, R., Farré, M., Pichini, S., et al. (2001). Sweat testing of MDMA with the Drugwipe[®] analytical device: A controlled study with two volunteers. *Journal of Analytical Toxicology*, 25, 144–146.
- Magambo, K. A., Kalluvya, S. E., Kapoor, S. W., et al. (2014). Utility of urine and serum lateral flow assays to determine the prevalence and predictors of cryptococcal antigenemia in HIV-positive outpatients beginning antiretroviral therapy in Mwanza, Tanzania. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 17, 19040.
- Schramm, E. C., Staten, N. R., Zhang, Z., et al. (2015). A quantitative lateral flow assay to detect complement activation in blood. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 477, 78–85.
- Ang, S. H., Rambeli, M., Thevarajah, T. M., et al. (2016). Quantitative, single-step dual measurement of hemoglobin A1c and total hemoglobin in human whole blood using a gold sandwich immunochromatographic assay for personalized medicine. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 78, 187–193.
- Fang, C., Chen, Z., Li, L., et al. (2011). Barcode lateral flow immunochromatographic strip for prostate acid phosphatase determination. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 56, 1035–1040.
- Fung, K.-K., Chan, C. P.-Y., & Renneberg, R. (2009). Development of enzyme-based bar code-style lateral-flow assay for hydrogen peroxide determination. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 634, 89–95.
- Leung, W., Chan, C. P., Rainer, T. H., et al. (2008). InfectCheck CRP barcode-style lateral flow assay for semi-quantitative detection of C-reactive protein in distinguishing between bacterial and viral infections. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 336, 30–36.
- Koivunen, M. E., & Krogsrud, R. L. (2006). Principles of immunochemical techniques used in clinical laboratories. *Laboratory Medicine*, 37, 490–497.
- Lou, S. C., Patel, C., Ching, S., et al. (1993). One-step competitive immunochromatographic assay for semiquantitative determination of lipoprotein (a) in plasma. *Clinical Chemistry*, 39, 619–624.
- 17. Chiao, D.-J., Shyu, R.-H., Hu, C.-S., et al. (2004). Colloidal gold-based immunochromatographic assay for detection of botulinum neurotoxin type B. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 809, 37–41.
- 18. Rong-Hwa, S., Shiao-Shek, T., Der-Jiang, C., et al. (2010). Gold nanoparticle-based lateral flow assay for detection of staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Food Chemistry*, *118*, 462–466.

- 19. Xu, Y., Liu, Y., Wu, Y., et al. (2014). Fluorescent probe-based lateral flow assay for multiplex nucleic acid detection. *Analytical Chemistry*, *86*, 5611–5614.
- Yen, C.-W., de Puig, H., Tam, J. O., et al. (2015). Multicolored silver nanoparticles for multiplexed disease diagnostics: Distinguishing dengue, yellow fever, and Ebola viruses. *Lab* on a Chip, 15, 1638–1641.
- Liu, X., Xiang, J. J., Tang, Y., Zhang, X. L., Fu, Q. Q., Zou, J. H., et al. (2012). Colloidal gold nanoparticle probe-based immunochromatographic assay for the rapid detection of chromium ions in water and serum samples. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 745, 99–105.
- Blažková, M., Mičková-Holubová, B., Rauch, P., et al. (2009). Immunochromatographic colloidal carbon-based assay for detection of methiocarb in surface water. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 25, 753–758.
- Singh, J., Sharma, S., & Nara, S. (2015). Evaluation of gold nanoparticle based lateral flow assays for diagnosis of Enterobacteriaceae members in food and water. *Food Chemistry*, 170, 470–483.
- Liu, C., Jia, Q., Yang, C., et al. (2011). Lateral flow immunochromatographic assay for sensitive pesticide detection by using Fe₃O₄ nanoparticle aggregates as color reagents. *Analytical Chemistry*, 83, 6778–6784.
- 25. Chen, A., & Yang, S. (2015). Replacing antibodies with aptamers in lateral flow immunoassay. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 71, 230–242
- Amerongen, A., Veen, J., Arends, H. A., & Koets, M. (2018). Lateral flow immunoassays. In Handbook of Immunoassay Technologies (pp. 157–182). Academic Press.
- Panhotra, B., Hassan, Z., Joshi, C., et al. (2005). Visual detection of multiple viral amplicons by dipstick assay: Its application in screening of blood donors a welcome tool for the limited resource settings. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 43, 6218–6219.
- Corstjens, P. L., Claudia, J., van der Ploeg-van, J. J., et al. (2011). Lateral flow assay for simultaneous detection of cellular-and humoral immune responses. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 44, 1241–1246.
- 29. Carter, D. J., & Cary, R. B. (2007). Lateral flow microarrays: A novel platform for rapid nucleic acid detection based on miniaturized lateral flow chromatography. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *35*, e74.
- Jayasena, S. D. (1999). Aptamers: An emerging class of molecules that rival antibodies in diagnostics. *Clinical Chemistry*, 45, 1628–1650.
- Jackson, T., & Ekins, R. (1986). Theoretical limitations on immunoassay sensitivity: Current practice and potential advantages of fluorescent Eu³⁺ chelates as non-radioisotopic tracers. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 87, 13–20.
- Shyu, R.-H., Shyu, H.-F., Liu, H.-W., et al. (2002). Colloidal gold-based immunochromatographic assay for detection of ricin. *Toxicon*, 40, 255–258.
- Xing, C., Liu, L., Song, S., Feng, M., Kuang, H., & Xu, C. (2015). Ultrasensitive immunochromatographic assay for the simultaneous detection of five chemicals in drinking water. *Biosens and Bioelectron*, 66, 445–453.
- Ellington, A. D., & Szostak, J. W. (1990). In vitro selection of RNA molecules that bind specific ligands. *Nature*, 346, 818.
- 35. Tuerk, C., & Gold, L. (1990). Systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment: RNA ligands to bacteriophage T4 DNA polymerase. *Science*, *249*, 505–510.
- Famulok, M., Mayer, G., & Blind, M. (2000). Nucleic acid aptamers from selection in vitro to applications in vivo. Accounts of Chemical Research, 33, 591–599.
- Iliuk, A. B., Hu, L., & Tao, W. A. (2011). Aptamer in bioanalytical applications. *Analytical Chemistry*, 83, 4440–4452.
- Navani, N. K., & Li, Y. (2006). Nucleic acid aptamers and enzymes as sensors. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*, 10, 272–281.
- Phillips, J. A., Lopez-Colon, D., Zhu, Z., et al. (2008). Applications of aptamers in cancer cell biology. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 621, 101–108.

- Goudarzi, S., Ahmadi, A., Farhadi, M., et al. (2015). Development of a new immunochromatographic assay using gold nanoparticles for screening of IgA deficiency. *Iranian Journal* of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, 105–112.
- 41. Hua, X., Qian, G., Yang, J., et al. (2010). Development of an immunochromatographic assay for the rapid detection of chlorpyrifos-methyl in water samples. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 26, 189–194.
- 42. Nara, S., Tripathi, V., Singh, H., et al. (2010). Colloidal gold probe based rapid immunochromatographic strip assay for cortisol. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 682, 66–71.
- 43. Pattarawarapan, M., Nangola, S., Cressey, T. R., et al. (2007). Development of a one-step immunochromatographic strip test for the rapid detection of nevirapine (NVP), a commonly used antiretroviral drug for the treatment of HIV/AIDS. *Talanta*, *71*, 462–470.
- 44. Jiang, T., Liang, Z., Ren, W., et al. (2011). Development and validation of a lateral flow immunoassay using colloidal gold for the identification of serotype-specific foot-and-mouth disease virus O, A and Asia 1. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 171, 74–80.
- Yin, H.-Y., Chu, P.-T., Tsai, W.-C., et al. (2016). Development of a barcode-style lateral flow immunoassay for the rapid semi-quantification of gliadin in foods. *Food Chemistry*, 192, 934– 942.
- 46. Kumar, R., Singh, C. K., Kamle, S., et al. (2010). Development of nanocolloidal gold based immunochromatographic assay for rapid detection of transgenic vegetative insecticidal protein in genetically modified crops. *Food Chemistry*, 122, 1298–1303.
- Zhang, L., Li, D., Liu, L., et al. (2015). Development of a colloidal gold immunochromatographic strip for the rapid detection of soft-shelled turtle systemic septicemia spherical virus. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 221, 39–45.
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, Y., Pan, F., et al. (2010). A competitive immunochromatographic assay based on a novel probe for the detection of mercury (II) ions in water samples. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 25, 2534–2538.
- Zhou, Y., Li, Y.-S., Meng, X.-Y., et al. (2013). Development of an immunochromatographic strip and its application in the simultaneous determination of Hg (II), Cd (II) and Pb (II). *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 183,* 303–309.
- Kim, Y. T., Jung, J. H., Choi, Y. K., et al. (2014). A packaged paper fluidic-based microdevice for detecting gene expression of influenza A virus. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 61, 485–490.
- Wu, W., Zhao, S., Mao, Y., et al. (2015). A sensitive lateral flow biosensor for *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 detection based on aptamer mediated strand displacement amplification. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 861, 62–68.
- Wang, L., Ma, W., Chen, W., et al. (2011). An aptamer-based chromatographic strip assay for sensitive toxin semi-quantitative detection. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 26, 3059–3062.
- Wang, Z., Zhi, D., Zhao, Y., et al. (2014). Lateral flow test strip based on colloidal selenium immunoassay for rapid detection of melamine in milk, milk powder, and animal feed. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, *9*, 1699.
- Nakayama, T., Zhao, J., Takeuchi, D., et al. (2014). Colloidal gold-based immunochromatographic strip test compromising optimised combinations of anti-S. suis capsular polysaccharide polyclonal antibodies for detection of *Streptococcus suis*. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 60, 175–179.
- Fu, Q., Liang, J., Lan, C., et al. (2014). Development of a novel dual-functional lateral-flow sensor for on-site detection of small molecule analytes. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 203, 683–689.
- Gui, W.-J., Wang, S.-T., Guo, Y.-R., et al. (2008). Development of a one-step strip for the detection of triazophos residues in environmental samples. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 377, 202–208.
- Yu, C. Y., Ang, G. Y., Chua, A. L., et al. (2011). Dry-reagent gold nanoparticle-based lateral flow biosensor for the simultaneous detection of *Vibrio cholerae* serogroups O1 and O139. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 86, 277–282.

- Parolo, C., de la Escosura-Muñiz, A., & Merkoçi, A. (2013). Enhanced lateral flow immunoassay using gold nanoparticles loaded with enzymes. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 40, 412–416.
- Gao, Z. F., Song, W. W., Luo, H. Q., et al. (2015). Detection of mercury ions (II) based on non-cross-linking aggregation of double-stranded DNA modified gold nanoparticles by resonance Rayleigh scattering method. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 65, 360–365.
- Li, M., Wang, Q., Shi, X., et al. (2011). Detection of mercury (II) by quantum dot/DNA/gold nanoparticle ensemble based nanosensor via nanometal surface energy transfer. *Analytical Chemistry*, 83, 7061–7065.
- 61. Li, T., Li, B., Wang, E., et al. (2009b). G-quadruplex-based DNAzyme for sensitive mercury detection with the naked eye. *Chemical Communications*, 3551–3553.
- 62. Long, F., Zhu, A., Shi, H., et al. (2013). Rapid on-site/in-situ detection of heavy metal ions in environmental water using a structure-switching DNA optical biosensor. *Scientific Reports, 3*, 2308.
- 63. Miyake, Y., Togashi, H., Tashiro, M., et al. (2006). MercuryII-mediated formation of thymine–HgII–thymine base pairs in DNA duplexes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *128*, 2172–2173.
- 64. Ono, A., & Togashi, H. (2004). Highly selective oligonucleotide-based sensor for mercury (II) in aqueous solutions. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, *43*, 4300–4302.
- 65. Clever, G. H., Kaul, C., & Carell, T. (2007). DNA-metal base pairs. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 46, 6226–6236.
- 66. Shen, J., Zhou, Y., Fu, F., et al. (2015). Immunochromatographic assay for quantitative and sensitive detection of hepatitis B virus surface antigen using highly luminescent quantum dot-beads. *Talanta*, *142*, 145–149.
- 67. Yang, Q., Gong, X., Song, T., et al. (2011). Quantum dot-based immunochromatography test strip for rapid, quantitative and sensitive detection of alpha fetoprotein. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, *30*, 145–150.
- Li, X., Lu, D., Sheng, Z., et al. (2012). A fast and sensitive immunoassay of avian influenza virus based on label-free quantum dot probe and lateral flow test strip. *Talanta*, 100, 1–6.
- 69. Beloglazova, N., Speranskaya, E., Wu, A., et al. (2014). Novel multiplex fluorescent immunoassays based on quantum dot nanolabels for mycotoxins determination. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 62, 59–65.
- Duan, H., Chen, X., Xu, W., et al. (2015). Quantum-dot submicrobead-based immunochromatographic assay for quantitative and sensitive detection of zearalenone. *Talanta*, 132, 126– 131.
- Taranova, N., Berlina, A., Zherdev, A., et al. (2015). 'Traffic light'immunochromatographic test based on multicolor quantum dots for the simultaneous detection of several antibiotics in milk. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 63, 255–261.
- Qiu, W., Xu, H., Takalkar, S., et al. (2015). Carbon nanotube-based lateral flow biosensor for sensitive and rapid detection of DNA sequence. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 64, 367–372.
- Lönnberg, M., Drevin, M., & Carlsson, J. (2008). Ultra-sensitive immunochromatographic assay for quantitative determination of erythropoietin. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 339, 236–244.
- 74. Wiriyachaiporn, N., Sirikett, H., & Dharakul, T. (2013). Rapid influenza a antigen detection using carbon nanostrings as label for lateral flow immunochromatographic assay. In 2013 13th IEEE International Conference on Nanotechnology (IEEE-NANO 2013) (pp. 166–169). IEEE.
- 75. Li, L., Zhou, L., Yu, Y., et al. (2009a). Development of up-converting phosphor technology-based lateral-flow assay for rapidly quantitative detection of hepatitis B surface antibody. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 63, 165–172.
- Qu, Q., Zhu, Z., Wang, Y., et al. (2009). Rapid and quantitative detection of Brucella by up-converting phosphor technology-based lateral-flow assay. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 79, 121–123.

- Corstjens, P. L., van Lieshout, L., Zuiderwijk, M., et al. (2008). Up-converting phosphor technology-based lateral flow assay for detection of Schistosoma circulating anodic antigen in serum. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 46, 171–176.
- 78. Corstjens, P. L., Zuiderwijk, M., Tanke, H. J., et al. (2008). A user-friendly, highly sensitive assay to detect the IFN-γ secretion by T cells. *Clinical Biochemistry*, *41*, 440–444.
- Corstjens, P. L., Zuiderwijk, M., Nilsson, M., et al. (2003). Lateral-flow and up-converting phosphor reporters to detect single-stranded nucleic acids in a sandwich-hybridization assay. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 312, 191–200.
- Suárez-Pantaleón, C., Wichers, J., Abad-Somovilla, A., et al. (2013). Development of an immunochromatographic assay based on carbon nanoparticles for the determination of the phytoregulator forchlorfenuron. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 42, 170–176.
- Blažková, M., Rauch, P., & Fukal, L. (2010). Strip-based immunoassay for rapid detection of thiabendazole. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 25, 2122–2128.
- Bogdanovic, J., Koets, M., Sander, I., et al. (2006). Rapid detection of fungal α-amylase in the work environment with a lateral flow immunoassay. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 118, 1157–1163.
- Kaur, J., Singh, K. V., Boro, R., et al. (2007). Immunochromatographic dipstick assay format using gold nanoparticles labeled protein-hapten conjugate for the detection of atrazine. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *41*, 5028–5036.
- Zhang, C., Zhang, Y., & Wang, S. (2006). Development of multianalyte flow-through and lateral-flow assays using gold particles and horseradish peroxidase as tracers for the rapid determination of carbaryl and endosulfan in agricultural products. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54, 2502–2507.
- He, Y., Zhang, X., Zeng, K., et al. (2011). Visual detection of Hg²⁺ in aqueous solution using gold nanoparticles and thymine-rich hairpin DNA probes. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics, 26*, 4464–4470.
- López_Marzo, A. M., Pons, J., Blake, D. A., et al. (2013). High sensitive gold-nanoparticle based lateral flow immunodevice for Cd²⁺ detection in drinking waters. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 47, 190–198.
- Fang, Z., Huang, J., Lie, P., et al. (2010). Lateral flow nucleic acid biosensor for Cu²⁺ detection in aqueous solution with high sensitivity and selectivity. *Chemical Communications*, 46, 9043–9045.
- Song, C., Zhi, A., Liu, Q., et al. (2013). Rapid and sensitive detection of β-agonists using a portable fluorescence biosensor based on fluorescent nanosilica and a lateral flow test strip. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 50, 62–65.
- Baeumner, A. J. (2003). Biosensors for environmental pollutants and food contaminants. Analy Bioanalytical Chem, 377(33), 434–444.
- Zhao, Y., Zhang, G., Liu, Q., et al. (2008). Development of a lateral flow colloidal gold immunoassay strip for the rapid detection of enrofloxacin residues. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 56, 12138–12142.
- Wang, X., Li, K., Shi, D., et al. (2007). Development of an immunochromatographic lateral-flow test strip for rapid detection of sulfonamides in eggs and chicken muscles. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55, 2072–2078.
- Gandhi, S., Caplash, N., Sharma, P., et al. (2009). Strip-based immunochromatographic assay using specific egg yolk antibodies for rapid detection of morphine in urine samples. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 25, 502–505.
- Byzova, N., Zvereva, E., Zherdev, A., et al. (2010). Rapid pretreatment-free immunochromatographic assay of chloramphenicol in milk. *Talanta*, 81, 843–848.
- 94. Qin, Z., Chan, W. C., Boulware, D. R., et al. (2012). Significantly improved analytical sensitivity of lateral flow immunoassays by using thermal contrast. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 51, 4358–4361.

Materials in Emerging Water Pollutants Detection



Razia Khan, Vipul Patel and Zeenat Khan

Abstract Contamination of water bodies is a global concern. Water quality monitoring has been carried out using different techniques and materials, in different parts of the world using a different kind of strategies. Investigating a wide range of potential organic pollutants that may be present in the aquatic environment is a huge challenge faced by environmental scientists. A wide-scope "universal" screening methods have been required for the detection and identification of a broad range of water pollutants, offering a piece of more realistic and complete information on undesirable compounds present in water samples. Most analytical techniques developed recently involve the application of chromatographic techniques coupled to mass spectrometry. Full spectrum acquisition methods such as high-resolution mass spectrometry offer the possibility for screening a huge number of pollutants. Biosensors have been well studied and emerged as sensitive and high specific tools for the detection of pollutants. Bio-monitoring has also emerged as effective techniques in environmental analysis.

Keywords Environmental monitoring • Techniques • Spectrometry • Biosensors • Nanoparticles • Bio-monitoring

R. Khan (🖂)

Department of Microbiology, Girish Raval College of Science, Gujarat University, Mota Chiloda, Gandhinagar, Gujarat, India e-mail: razia.cug@gmail.com

V. Patel

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

Environment Management Group, Center for Environment Education, Thaltej Tekra, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India

Z. Khan

Environmental Genomics and Proteomics Lab, BRD School of Biosciences, Sardar Patel University, Vadtal Road, Vallabh Vidyanagar, Gujarat, India

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_14

1 Introduction

Development of human civilization and resulting industrialization has given rise to environmental pollution. Environmental pollution is a major issue since it has its influence on human health and is linked with the sustainable development of both society and economy. It has become a matter of increasing concern due to the exceeding limits of both regulated and unregulated organic contaminants present in the aquatic ecosystem. These pollutants are mainly chemicals which are used in industries and agriculture. A large portion of such pollutants are recalcitrant and persist in the ecosystem for a longer duration. These toxic compounds possess the ability to enter the food chain and pose threatening effect to the receiving ecosystem and also to human health (Radovic et al. 2015) [36, 73, 85]. Environmental monitoring comprises the measurement of selected physical, chemical and biological environmental variables over a time period. The intent is to accomplish assessments on the quality of environment of a selected area.

Regardless of progress and advances in analytic techniques, the determination of organic pollutants present in water is still challenging in the current scenario [72]. The major hurdle behind this failure is complexity, high concentration and number of pollutants that might be present in the water sample. This fact, along with distinct chemical characteristics of analytes, makes the application of a single analytical technique, inappropriate for all potential pollutant present. In the current scenario, various common techniques have been applied in environmental monitoring which includes atomic absorption method, thin layer chromatography, UV-Vis spectroscopy, high-pressure liquid chromatography, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, ion chromatography, immunoassay and other advanced instrumentations. Because of their promising characteristics including simplicity, cost-effectiveness, high sensitivity these techniques are widely accepted. TLC (Thin layer chromatography) is a comparatively cost-effective technique for environmental monitoring, with less reliability on higher instrumentation, but possesses low sensitivity. Generally adapted instrumental approaches such as HPLC (High performance liquid chromatography), GC-MS (Gas chromatography-Mass spectroscopy), and LC-MS (Liquid chromatography-Mass spectroscopy) are widely accepted as official methods for the determination of environmental pollutant [42]. But, they offer certain disadvantages of being time-consuming due to complicated sample preparation and expensive. In current scenario, most of the analytical approaches have coupled chromatographic techniques to mass spectroscopy, as single quarupole or ion trap and more recently triple quadrupole. In these approaches, number of analytes hardly exceeds 200-300 compounds and pollutants other than target pollutant that possibly is present in the environmental samples are generally ignored. Hence, there is urgent requirement for the development of broad range "universal" detection techniques possessing the ability to detect and identify a large number of pollutants. In this way, a more realistic and complete knowledge on pollutants present in environmental samples is obtained. High-resolution mass spectroscopy is a full spectrum acquisition techniques, which offer the possibility for screening of a large number of pollutants in post-target driven approaches without the requirement of pre-selection of analytes for the development of technique.

Environmental sensor research generates considerable interest and activity nowadays. Research studies involving biosensor design and development for environmental monitoring in terms of toxic elements, organic pollutants and pathogens contribute to the betterment of the health of the ecosystem. As compared to traditional methods, biosensors are more sensitive, cost-effective, rapid, easy to operate and portable equipment. They are helpful and reliable for the in situ measurements of water pollutants, where they provide rapid and miniaturized services [38, 94]. Nanoparticles have applications in various fields, such as pharmaceuticals, energy, environment, electronic, catalytic and material applications [7]. Nanoparticles are traditionally defined as particles having a size range between 1 and 100 nm, displaying unique properties different from bulk-sized materials. They also have potential application in environmental monitoring. Nanoparticles as nanosensors offer advantages of rapid and high output detection of pollutants present in aqueous environments. Surface modified nanoparticles such as gold nanoparticles, magnetic nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes and quantum dots possess specific target binding characteristics [34]. Their nanoscale scale and exceptional properties make them useful for modern age environmental monitoring. Different nanoparticles possess specific magnetic, surface, optical and fluorescence properties and interaction between these properties makes these nanoparticles potential candidate for environmental monitoring. Nanoparticles based approaches have application for the improvement of water and soil quality.

Environmental biotechnology-based tools aid in the protection of the natural ecosystem, on the basis of which marine-related social and economic activities relies on. These approaches including biosensors play a vital role in addressing marine environmental issues. Whole cell biosensor is monitoring tool based on living bacteria possessing ability in signal sensing a delivering an output response that can be detected and quantified using a suitable detector device. Biosensors find application in fast and cost-effective screening of pollutants present in aqueous systems [84, 90] (Diplock et al. 2010). Although not aimed for substitution of analytical techniques, biosensors are attractive tools for the in situ determination of pollutants in a cheap and flexible way without needing heavy equipment. Biosensors respond to the amount of pollutant that is bioavailable, while chemical and traditional techniques determine the total concentration of pollutant present in the sample, which may overestimate the real risk in terms of toxicity [47].

In this chapter, we summarized recent progress in emerging techniques and materials for water pollutants detection. This chapter includes chromatographic techniques and other advanced methods for environmental monitoring. Role and advances of biosensors in the sensing of water pollutant is briefly discussed. With a controllable structure and interface interaction properties, nanoparticles and nanocomposites exhibit novel physical and chemical features that will be essential for widespread sensor applications. Biotechnological approaches involving microbial biosensors play a vital role in the monitoring of pollutant present in an aqueous system.

2 Chromatography Based Techniques for Pollutants Detection

Chromatographic methods are reference analytical techniques for environmental monitoring. Universal detectors such as UV or mass spectroscopy are applied which possess the ability to detect multiple compounds simultaneously, providing high sensitive and accurate measurements in the range of ng L^{-1} . Numerous multiresidue techniques for the analysis of a wide range of contaminants in environmental samples have been reported in the last decade being most of these examples based on the use of high resolution chromatographical techniques such as gas chromatography [11], liquid chromatography [2], high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) [16] or ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) [65]. Gas phase chromatography with fluorescence detection allows the selective determination of hydrocarbon-based microplastics pollutants sampled from marine and freshwater coastal sediments [10]. A novel Liquid chromatography-Mass spectroscopy based technique was developed by Peng et al. [63] and authenticated for the determination and detection of twenty drugs of abuse and pharmaceuticals from potable water. The developed method was based on the application of solid-phase extraction followed by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Five drugs of abuse and two pharmaceuticals were detected at the range of 0.14-2.81 ng/L, including cocaine, ketamine, mephedrone, methamphetamine, methylone, citalopram and fluoxetine. In a study reported in Canada, in potable water ketamine has also been reported at a higher concentration of 15.0 ng/L [74]. A series of novel cationic gemini surfactants with pyrrolidinium groups, 1,1-(butane-1,s-alkyl) bis (1-alkylpyrrolidinium), were employed as carriers in sweeping-micellar electrokinetic chromatography for simultaneous detection of nine organic water pollutants, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, sulfonamides and steroids [82].

Kim et al. [50] developed a quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged, and safe (QuEChERS) extraction method for pesticide analysis which has substituted less efficient traditional extraction methods due to its numerous advantages. In addition to pesticide analysis, this method has been widely used for the detection and analysis of pharmaceuticals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and several persistent organic pollutants, including polychlorinated biphenyls, dioxins, perfluoroalkyl substances, and brominated flame retardants in food, biological, and environmental samples. These approaches include dispersive solid phase extraction and have generally been pooled with either gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) or liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) analysis.

3 Advanced Methods for Detection of Contaminants in Environmental Samples

Most of the emerging contaminants possess high water solubility due to their chemical configuration and thus pose a potential risk for the aquatic ecosystem and humans being through the water cycle [58]. A continuous increase in the concentration of xenobiotic and recalcitrant compounds has been observed in various water bodies such as groundwater and surface water [1, 71]. The assessment of such emerging pollutants in the aqueous system has turned into a key scientific task, which demands highly sensitive analytical approaches for determination at nanograms per litre scales [81]. Different analytical techniques have been developed among which, major techniques are comprised of gas/liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectroscopy. The mass spectroscopy approaches have exhibited better outcomes in the precise determination of contaminants present in the complex composition of effluent or surface water currently, because of its sensitivity and specificity [1]. Advanced mass spectroscopic techniques including ion trap and triple quadrupole are applied for the determination of contaminants in the ng L^{-1} scale, whereas for the structural interpretation of transformed intermediates, more advanced techniques such as triple quadrupole, linear ion traps quadrupole, triple quadrupole and quadrupole-linear ion trap are applied [58].

Other advanced techniques reported for the determination of emerging pollutants present in water include microbiological assay, capillary electrophoresis and immunoanalytical techniques. Capillary electrophoresis possesses disadvantage for being less sensitive as compared to liquid chromatography, whereas immunoanalytical based approach relies more on antibody involved and has limitations for the determination of various analytes simultaneously and in the case of microbiological assays a large amount of samples are required [12]. Nowadays a significant improvement has been achieved in the field of advanced analytical techniques. But there is still a need for more sensitive techniques for the determination of unknown and more complex compounds. There is a high need for the development of novel identification techniques for the low cost and accurate determination of unknown emerging contaminants. For the precise and accurate detection of pollutants in environmental samples, prior treatment of the samples requires significant consideration for an analytical method. Liquid-liquid extraction has been used largely in previous studies. However, the use of solid phase extraction has been increased in recent times owing to its several benefits over liquid-liquid phase extraction, such as reproducibility, applicability, and simplicity. Prior concentration of aqueous environmental samples is also considered exercise before the final determination of lower detection limits and low quantification limits and is supporting in declining of both the values.

A wide range of toxic pollutants when present in the environment even at low concentrations pose a threat to human health [4, 14]. This increases the demand for the development of a sensitive analytical technique for the determination and identification of trace and ultra-trace micropollutants in water. Recently, an increase had been

observed in the number of emerging pollutants such as pharmaceuticals and persistent organic pollutants present in water and other ecosystems. Thus, it is highly urgent to develop corresponding specific and sensitive analytical techniques [28].

Traditional analytical approaches, including high-performance liquid chromatography and liquid/gas chromatography-mass spectrometry, have gradually been evolving to improve their detection capabilities [9]. Simultaneously, novel techniques with ultra-high sensitivity, simple operations and portability have also emerged for the determination of pollutants in environmental samples [3, 95, 97]. Among these technologies, surface-enhanced Raman scattering appears to be one of the most suitable methods for detecting environmental pollutants.

Raman scattering spectroscopy was discovered in 1928 [69]. Due to containing abundant structural information of analytes, Raman scattering spectroscopy has been considered as a ubiquitous tool in analytical science. Surface-enhanced Raman scattering, exhibiting a significant enhancement of Raman scattering from a rough metal surface, has greatly promoted the development of Raman technology towards the practical applications [8, 22]. Recently, this approach has become a powerful analytical technique for the detection of environmental pollutants because of its outstanding advantages, such as "fingerprint" information, ultrahigh sensitivity, and rapidity [62, 80].

4 Advances in Biosensors for Environmental Monitoring

Biosensors are analytical devices that can identify and detect a signal within a cell or tissue. These are composed of bio-recognition elements and different kinds of physicochemical transducers [27, 57]. Biosensors deliver the required portable analytical tools and early warning systems owing to their specificity, sensitivity, reusability, speed along with their ability for permanent and unattended operation in the field. Enzyme-based biosensor is most commonly used for the determination of heavy metals in the aqueous system. For serving this purpose, a wide variety of enzymes such as glucose oxidase, urease, tyrosinase, peroxidase, etc. have been reported [30, 70] (Maleki et al. 2017). Also, electrochemical sensors have been proved to be a promising approach in heavy metal monitoring, due to their stable and strong interaction with ultra-low levels of metal ions present in the system [40, 96]. A highly sensitive microfluidic Pb^{2+} biosensor was designed by immobilization of a lead-specific catalytic DNA on the polymethylmethacrylate microchannel [25]. With the covalent attachment of metallothionein onto a guartz crystal, a piezoelectric biosensor was designed to monitor Zn²⁺ and Cd²⁺ in the aqueous system [75]. Chen et al. developed a piezoelectric nano-biosensor for accurate determination of Hg²⁺, using quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation monitoring technology [19].

Recently, ion sensors based on Aluminium gallium nitride/Gallium nitride high electron mobility transistors have been developed to monitor various ions. These devices are sensitive towards charge characteristics at the surface and have the distinct advantage that a reference electrode is not required for operation, unlike many other types of ion sensors. Asadnia et al. showed that such devices coated with plasticised poly(vinyl chloride) based membranes containing an ionophore can be used to detect Hg²⁺ [5] and Ca²⁺ [6] ions in water.

5 Nanoparticles in Environmental Monitoring

Owing to their unique physicochemical characteristics and vast applications, currently, metal nanoparticles have attracted a great deal of attention. Metal nanoparticles exhibit properties such as ultra-small size, strong fluorescence and low toxicity. These are considered as a kind of novel fluorescence probe for the development of optical sensors. Nanoparticles possess a broad range of application in the field of environmental, pharmaceutical, cosmetics, energy, optoelectronic and catalytic. Recently, in the field of environmental monitoring nanoparticles have been widely applied for the analysis of toxins, metal ions, and organic pollutants. Water and wastewater treatment approach using nanoparticles have gained increasing attention owing to their specific properties such as large surface area, antimicrobial activity [31], photocatalytic activity [35], and chemical stability [96]. In addition to this, they also possess potential application in environmental monitoring. Nanoparticles provide with advantages as nanosensors in rapid and high-output detection technique. Extremely small size and exceptional nanoscale properties make nanoparticles useful for the new-generation environmental monitoring. The recent progress in their applications in environmental monitoring, involves pH sensing, the detection of heavy metals and inorganic anions.

The main reason behind the pH sensing ability of metal nanoparticle is its response characteristics towards pH. It was recently reported by Wang et al. [87, 88] and Chen et al. [18] that copper and gold/copper nanoparticles could be effectively used as reversible fluorescence indicators for pH sensing The response behaviours for the pH change were opposite to that of reported by Qu et al. [67]. Results showed that the fluorescence signal was gradually declined with the increase in pH value.

Ecological pollution by heavy metal is a great matter of concern worldwide. Heavy metals when present in high concentration can pose adverse effects on the receiving ecosystem as well as on human health. This highlights the importance of heavy metal ion monitoring of the environment. For serving this purpose a large number of selective heavy metal ion sensors have been developed from nanoparticles. Darbha et al. [26] reported a gold nanoparticles-based sensor for the easy, rapid and reliable screening of Hg²⁺ ions in aqueous solutions, with a sensitivity of 5 ng/ml (ppb). Yang et al. [92] demonstrated visual detection of Cu²⁺ by L-cysteine-functionalized gold nanoparticles in aqueous solution. In the presence of Cu²⁺, the gold nanoparticles solution changed from red to blue. This colorimetric nanosensor allows rapid, quantitative detection of Cu²⁺ with a sensitivity of 105 M. Peng et al. [64] developed a fluorescent-based microfluidic chip using magnetic

multi-walled carbon nanotubes for tracing small amounts of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) in various water samples, with a detection limit of 0.094 nM. An in situ preparation technique was reported by Chen et al. (2004) for gold nanoparticles in poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) gels. The thus obtained gold nanoparticles/poly(N-isopropylacrylamide gels offered similar optical properties as of the bare gold nanoparticles. Only 9% increase in its fluorescence intensity was observed in the presence of 500 mM NaCl, supporting its characteristics of good salinity resistance. For the detection of Hg^{2+} in samples, the sensing approach was successfully applied. The developed gold nanoparticles/poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) gels was observed to possess good thermosensitive properties and showed possibility to be also applied and designed as a temperature sensor relied on the change in the fluorescence intensity. Xie et al. [89] reported a selective and sensitive approach for Hg²⁺ sensing using Bovine serum albumin (BSA) templated gold nanoparticles. There was about 17% gold on the surface of BSA-Au, the red fluorescence of Bovine serum albumin (BSA) templated gold nanoparticles was guenched by the unique metal affinity between Hg²⁺ and Au⁺ in a few seconds. A method for in situ synthesis of fluorescent gold nanoparticles on bovine serum albumin/poly(ethyleneoxide) (PEO) electrospun membrane was reported by Cai et al. [13], and it was applied in the detection of Hg²⁺. On the surface of BSA/PEO fibrous membrane nanoparticles were immobilized and emitted bright red fluorescence under visible light irradiation. A rapid quenching of the red fluorescence signal was carried out by Hg²⁺ due to the relatively large specific surface of nanofibers and strong affinity between Hg²⁺ and Au⁺. Guo et al. [39] reported that denatured bovine serum albumin-Ag nanocatalyst could be assembled as a chemical sensing material for the detection of Hg²⁺. Recently, Wang et al. [87, 88] demonstrated a novel fluorescence enhancement technique for the determination of Hg²⁺ using carbon nanotubes and DNA-Ag nanocatalysts. For the determination of copper ions, an electrochemical sensor possessing a limit of detection below 1 pM was developed. Modification of electrodes were first carried out using gold nanoparticles, followed by modification of gold colloid surface with cysteine for the detection of copper. For the detection of Hg^{2+} and Ag^{+} , Freeman et al. [33] developed and reported a multiplex assay using an electron-transfer-quenching route. Modifications of quantum dots of different sizes were carried out with thymine or cytosine bases. The formation of T-T and C-C base pairs was induced by Hg²⁺/Ag⁺ ions. Development of several optical sensors has been carried out based on photoluminescent-quenching principles. A gold nanoparticle-rhodamine 6G-based fluorescent sensor ave been reported by Chen et al. [20, 21] for the detection of Hg^{2+} in aqueous solution with a lower detection limit of 0.012 ppb. Similar assays involved monitoring photoluminescent intensity before and after Hg²⁺ addition, with photoluminescence increasing with increasing Hg²⁺. However, this assay was sensitive only to 2.0 ppb [43]. He et al. [41] also demonstrated a homogeneous assay to detect Cu^{2+} , based on modulating photoluminescent-quenching efficiency between a perylene bisimide chromophore and gold nanoparticles in the presence of Cu^{2+} .

Cyanide, a highly toxic ion, inhibits the cytochrome C oxidase activity in mitochondria and obstructs respiration in cells. Recently, gold nanoparticles have

been applied for the determination of cyanide. In the presence of oxygen, generally, cyanide can transform gold atom into water soluble $Au(CN)^{2-}$ ion and results in the gold nanoparticles fluorescence quenching. Keeping this principle in mind, Liu et al. (2010) developed BSA-Au nanoparticles for the determination of cyanide. In a study conducted by Faghiri and Ghorbani [32], a new composite nanosensor of sodium alginate-silver nanoparticles was synthesized in order to solve the issue of low sustainability of sensors by solvent casting technique and was applied in naked eye and colorimetric detection of ultra-low concentration of Hg²⁺ ions in aqueous environmental samples.

The developed nanosensor was characterized for the determination of structural features by using instrumental techniques. The synthesis of silver nanoparticles was confirmed with the help of obtained results showing an average size of 13.34 nm. Under specific environments, the colorimetric sensing of Hg²⁺ was carried out (6pH and reaction time of 7 min) with a linear correlation obtained between the absorbance at 402 nm and different Hg^{2+} ion concentrations within the 0.025 μ M– 60 μ M range. For the detection of Hg²⁺ ions in the aqueous environmental samples, the developed sensor was successfully employed for the detection of Hg²⁺ ions with recoveries ranging between 81.58 and 114.73%. The developed nanosensor exhibited good selectivity toward Hg²⁺ ions in the presence of several competing ions. Maleki et al. [54, 55] studied the synthesis of second-generation polyamidoamine dendrimer functionalized with magnetic nanoparticles (Fe₃O₄/G2-PAD) and its application in the determination of Pb^{2+} and Cd^{2+} ions in aqueous environment. The performance of the modified magnetic electrode by recording the impact of changing experimental variables was determined and optimized. Under optimized environment, the developed sensor showed a linear response to lead and cadmium ions over a concentration range from 0.5 to 80 ng mL⁻¹. The developed sensor was successfully employed for the determination of Pb^{2+} and Cd^{2+} in the presence of some potentially interfering ions.

Some accomplishments are also there in using carbon nanoparticles to characterize the biological variable of the environmental sample. The work by Mandal and Parvin [56] has verified the application of carbon nanoparticles for rapid determination and enumeration of bacterial cell from a water sample collected from the contaminated environment. For the sensing/detection of bacterial cells gold nanorods can be applied as optical sensor. The presence of *Escherichia coli* in the drinking water as well as in aqueous environmental is an ongoing serious, worldwide health concern. Singh et al. (2009) demonstrated a sensitive assay for *E. coli* using a gold nanorod-based antibody-conjugated two-photon scattering system, with lower detection limit up to 50 colonies forming unit (cfu)/mL.

6 Biotechnological Approaches for Pollutant Detection

In recent years, environmental pollution detection and monitoring are being done by approaches involving bio-systems. For this, purpose, several groups of plants, animals and microorganisms are utilized. The environmental protection agencies consider bio-monitoring of pollution as a useful device to monitor environmental pollution from the point of diagnostic, preventive and remedial measures.

The biotechnological methods adopted for pollution measurement can be briefly described in the following: (a) General bioassays; (b) Cell biological assays; (c) Molecular biological assays; (d) Biosensors.

(a) General bioassay

In the early years, conventional physical and chemical methods were used for the detection of environmental pollution. Bioassays are preferred these days since the biological responses that reflect the damages to the living organisms are very crucial for the actual assessment of pollution. Certain algae, bacteria, lichens, mosses and vascular macrophytes are commonly used in bioassays.

Among the plant systems, algal bioassays are the most commonly used. Algae are considered to be reliable indicators of pollution due to their high sensitivity and easy availability, besides simple culturing techniques. The criteria adopted for algal bioassays are the growth rate, biomass accumulation and photosynthetic efficiency. The algae used in the test assays include Chlorella, Microcystis, Spirulina, Navicula, Scenedesmus, Anabaena, Ulva, Codium, Fucus and Laminaria. In water, organic pollution can be detected by using the blue-green algae, Microcystis, while metal pollution can be measured by Navicula.

Lund Yi et al. (1984) reported a sensitive, simple and rapid bioassay involving two-species of marine algae for the determination of the toxicity of chemical contaminants. The bioassay employs the marine diatoms *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* and *Cyclotella cryptica*. After screening 40 clones of 32 species, an optimum pair i.e. *P. tricornutum* and *C. cryptica* were selected. These algal species are easily cultivated in the laboratory environment, and the algal cells can be differentiated and enumerated with the help of electronic particle counter. For the sake of toxicity determination alteration of species ratio and total biomass were applied. Polychlorinated biphenyls at 10 parts per thousand million (10^9 ; ptm) considerably transformed species ratio in the favour of *P. tricornutum*, and 10 ptm of DDT (l, l,1-trichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)ethane) and 20 ptm of dieldrin produced a significant species alteration in contrast to that created by polychlorinated biphenyls.

Bacterial bioassays are commonly used for the detection of faecal pollution in potable water, the most widely employed test being the coliform test. Ames test that detects mutagenic pollutants is carried out by the bacterium Salmonella. Bacterial bioluminescence is a recent technique used for the measurement of gaseous pollutants and other compounds e.g. sulfur dioxide, formaldehyde, ethyl acetate. Photobacterium phosphoreum is the organism of choice for bacterial bioluminescence. Environmental metal pollution can be detected by using the certain forest and aquatic mosses e.g. Stereophyllum, Sphagnum, Brynus. Capozzi et al. [15] reported the application of moss *Sphagnum palustre* to immobilize polystyrene nanoparticles for the first time in an aqueous environment; these research observations opened novel applicative perceptions to biological monitoring approach. It encouraged the application of mosses for the determination of microplastics in fresh-water ecosystems. Experiments of Hg bioaccumulation was carried out by Cesa-Bianchi et al. [17] using aquatic moss *Rhynchostegium riparioides* with the aim of (1) measuring the metal uptake at increasing water concentrations, and increasing exposure time, (2) studying the influence of pH and water concentration of Na, Ca and Mg on the metal uptake, (3) achieving a database for mathematical and statistical elaborations, and, (4) producing an equation modelling the uptake.

(b) Cell biological assays

Methods based on cell biology are chiefly targeted to trace the detrimental effects of contaminants on various cellular components for example, mitochondria, chloroplast, cellular membranes and chromosomes. In addition to this, nucleic acids and proteins are also used. Also, these techniques aids in determination of mechanism of toxicity of pollutant compounds. Extensive studies have been carried out on the presence and formation of DNA adducts [59, 61]. The detection of these DNA adducts in aquatic fauna is used as exposure indicators since last twenty years [52]. Stein et al. [78, 79] reported some of the pioneer work on the kinetics of formation of adduct and removal in fish liver, where the persistence of DNA adducts followed by exposure to benzo[a]pyrene and 7H-dibenzo[c,g] carbazole was observed.

(c) Molecular biological assays

The use of molecular probes and immunoassays in the monitoring of environmental pollution is gaining importance in recent years. Molecular biological bioassays are particularly useful for the detection of bacteria, viruses and other pathogenic organisms that cause diseases. DNA probes and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) can be effectively used for water quality monitoring, particularly potable water. However, these techniques are expensive and not practical in all places. Immunological based techniques are prove to be beneficial for the monitoring of environmental pollutants (such as pesticides and herbicides) and identification of pathogens that show immunological characteristics. Immuno based assays are in use for the measurement of several pesticides for e.g. aldrin, triazines DDT, glyphosate.

(d) Microbial biosensors

Various biological tools for the rapid screening of vast number of chemicals present in environment that could pose hazard have been developed by scientists. Living cells have evolved to sense numerous environmental stimuli, thereby presenting a completely unique platform to engineer bio-sensing devices. Because of simplicity in genetic modification and preservation, microorganisms have established

Sr. No.	Microbial biosensor	Advantages	Disadvantages
1	Bacteria-based	 Easy and cost-effective Results obtained in short time duration (hours or day) High-throughput formats scalable Portable device adapted 	 Lower significance for eukaryotic organisms Involves genetic engineering and thus there is possibility of ethical issues Requires aseptic environment
2	Yeast-based	 Eukaryotic microorganism Easy and cost-effective Transfection process with entirely functioning vertebrate genes possible Results obtained in short time duration (hours or day) High-throughput formats scalable Portable device adapted 	 Unicellular organism Involves genetic engineering and thus there is possibility of ethical issues Requires aseptic environment
3	Algae-based	 Easy and cost-effective Results obtained in short time duration (hours or day) High-throughput formats scalable 	 Require specificity in light conditions Nutrients present in complex samples may cover the toxic pollutants effect

Table 1 Advantages and disadvantages of microbial biosensors [44]

themselves as ideal host candidates. Moreover, microbially derived biosensors are comfortable to use, compact, cheap and easy to relocate.

Biosensor constitutes of bacteria, yeast and algae, possessing a unique advantages and disadvantages (Table 1). The exceptional structural and functional characteristics of biosensors facilitate monitoring of wide range of environmental pollutants. Wide array and unique characteristics of a biosensor such as selectivity, sensitivity and range of target compound (Fig. 1) could be figured out by regulatory genes manipulation. Currently application of such genetically modified microbial origin biosensors show unprecedented capabilities for monitoring environmental contamination.

Genetically modified yeast is currently used in biosensors as in vitro model due of its time and cost-effectiveness, sensitivity, reproducibility and scalability to high-throughput formats. Vopálenská et al. [86] reported a new copper biosensor



Fig. 1 Components of biosensor

based on specifically modified *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain immobilized in alginate beads. This biosensor was capable of detecting copper ions at concentrations of $1-100 \ \mu\text{M}$. The biosensor beads change color to white, when copper is present in concentrations below the detection limit, while increase in copper concentration is determined by pink or red color. The biosensor was successfully tested to determine copper concentrations in copper contaminated water samples. When compared to other fluorescent protein based biosensors or analytical methods, the developed biosensor did not required specific equipment and facilitated rapid detection of copper in parallel samples.

In their research, Ponamoreva et al. [66], used methylotrophic *Pichia angusta* and oleaginous *Cryptococcus curvatus* yeast cells immobilized in a bimodal silica-organic sol–gel matrix with tetraethoxysilane (TEOS), methyltriethoxysilane (MTES) as hydrophobic additive and polyethylene glycol (PEG) as the porogen for pollutant monitoring. Under controlled experimental conditions and catalysts, yeast cells formed nucleation centers for a silica-organic capsule fabricated over cells. Effect of MTES composition on the nature of encapsulated yeast cells together with the architecture of the three-dimensional sol-gel biomatrix formation during the encapsulation was well demonstrated. Each yeast cell was examined and detected as to be encapsulated by silica when 85 vol.% MTES was used. These silica capsules were found to protect microorganisms from harmful exposure of heavy metal and UV radiation. *P. angusta* cells were used in biosensors for the detection of methanol.

Microbial cultures were mixed and co-cultures were created to develop the receptor element of a biosensor for assessment of biological oxygen demand (BOD). These co-cultures had broad substrate specificities and enabled water and fermentation product assays within a broad BOD range (2.4-80 mg/dm³). Use of the co-cultures constituting yeasts Pichia angusta, Arxula adeninivorans and Debaryomyces hansenii immobilized in N-vinylpyrrolidone-modified poly (vinyl alcohol) resulted in a BOD biosensor possessing the characteristics not inferior to those in the known biosensors. The results indicated potential use of these co-cultures as the receptor element base for broad application in prototype instruments [93]. Kim et al. [48, 49] designed a whole cell array biosensor for the effective detection and monitoring of neurotoxic organophosphate compounds. In 2012, Jouanneau et al. [45, 46] skillfully demonstrated use of two varieties of biosensors (Lumisens III and Lumisens IV) for on-line detection of heavy metals in environmental samples, based on different storage modes of luminescent bacteria. Bacterial suspension was staged in a micro-well driven by continuous flow with 4% agarose solution in Lumisens III system having a higher biological activity. Freeze dried bacteria in 96-well microplates were used in Lumisens IV system having relatively low biological activity. Both systems were enclosed in the dark chamber, and the light signals emitted by bacteria were captured and recorded by CCD camera. In 10 days, the two biosensors were used to continuously detect mercury (Hg) in distilled water and environmental samples. Kolahchi et al. [51] developed a fast and sensitive conductometric biosensor for direct detection of phenol and phenolic compounds using immobilized *Pseudomonas sp.* on the surface of gold interdigitated microelectrodes by glutaraldehyde cross-linking in the presence of bovine serum albumin. Cui et al. [23, 24] determined the cytotoxicity of heavy metal-polluted seawater samples by constructing a toxicity biosensor *Acinetobacter baylyi* Tox2 with a luminescent bacterium *A. baylyi* harboring a medium-copynumber plasmid. Yagur-Kroll et al. [91] proposed four methods to enhance the performance of luminescent bacterial biosensors via promoter manipulation by: (1) modifying the length of DNA fragments containing promoter regions; (2) introducing a random gene mutant through directed evolution; (3) introducing more specific site mutants into promoter sequences and (4) replicating promoter sequences to increase binding sites of RNA polymerase. Through these four methods, the sensitivity, response time and emission intensity of biosensors would be significantly improved.

A wide range of algal bio-mediators based optical biosensor has been reported to monitor significant pollutant compound in marine samples. A prior study was conducted to determine the most appropriate biomediator for the determination of pesticides in marine samples. The ability of Chlorella vulgaris-Tetrahymena pyriformis symbiotic association as a sensitive biological mediator for the development of biosensor was determined [83]. In a study carried out by Gosset et al. [37], a self-driven portable fluorimeter was reported to determine the A-chlorophyll microalgal fluorescence, introduced by capillarity into disposable and low-cost microfluidic chips based on xurography. Three microalgal cultures: Chlorella vulgaris, Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata, and Chlamydomonas reinhardtii were used for the development of the biosensor. A prior optimization of feasibility and sensitivity parameters of biosensor, such as concentration of algal cells and intensity of light, were carried out to calibrate the biosensor sensitivity with Diuron (a toxic pesticide for microalgae). After that, the biosensor was engaged in monitoring of ten aqueous urban polluted samples to prove its consistency, reproducibility and performance for the determination of toxic discharges in the soil ecosystem. Scognamiglio et al. [76] developed a paper and algae based biosensor for the optical determination of nano encapsulated-atrazine, a well-known herbicide with a highly effective post-emergence herbicidal activity. In this study, immobilization of the photosynthetic green microalgae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii was carried out on a paper based substrate soaked with an agar thin-film and positioned in a glass optical measurement cell, resulting in a totally eco-friendly technique. An encapsulated atrazine was determined by varying parameter such as fluorescence, which inversely proportional declined to the concentration of herbicide, in a range of 0.5-200 nM. In order to determine storage stability, studies were conducted and good results were obtained for up to 3 weeks. These results showed the applicability of the reported paper-based optical biosensor in smart agriculture for in situ, eco-friendly, cheap and sensitive atrazine analysis.

7 Future Challenges

The development of novel approaches for environmental monitoring should focus on the sensitivity and selectivity features, along with equal focusing on the disposal aspect after the environmental analysis is over. It will be completely futile to have the ultra-sensitive performance of an analytical probe, but the probe itself is made of toxic materials that can be harmful to human beings and the environment. For the aspect of future development, the application of synergistic approach could be a remarkable solution to define and design standalone strategies to remediate emerging macro and micropollutants of great concern. Several critical issues of the traditional approaches applied for the nanoparticle synthesis can be solved by coupling the whole synthesis procedure with modification strategies involving surfaces. In order to achieve a deeper insight in this context, the influential and important aspects of numerous surface modification strategies should be included in future studies. For the elimination of emerging and priority contaminants, another interesting possible research alternative is the look-out for unique and new materials and bio-nanocatalysts following green approach to achieve highly effective and ecological friendly remediation procedures.

8 Conclusion

The presence of a vast group of emerging contaminants in the natural environment is of continuous threat for the safety and health of human being along with the ecosystem. Extensive research work is required specifically dedicated for the development of treatment technologies in recent years for the elimination of recalcitrant pollutants in water. In current situations, owing to recent improvements in analytical instrumentation techniques, it is possible to achieve the desired "universal screening" of environmental pollutant. In terms of analytical probe for environmental monitoring, the options available are diverse and it will be the choice of the analyst to make the decision on which system to be employed. Economic, sustainability and robustness are the major parameters which should be considered. As compared to traditional chemically-based sensors, biosensors could detect a wide range of water pollutants or xenobiotic compounds in a unique way with high sensitivity and selectivity. It can be said that with the progress in the field, metal nanoparticles will support many novel analytical techniques in the near future, for the sake of environmental monitoring, and carry out research in new fields for solving issues related to environmental pollution. From the field application point of view, the most attractive approach/technique while performing environmental monitoring is the application of wide-scope screening methodologies, able to screen and identify as many water contaminants as possible, in order to obtain wide and realistic information on the actual water quality.

References

- Agüera, A., Bueno, M. J. M., & Fernández-Alba, A. R. (2013). New trends in the analytical determination of emerging contaminants and their transformation products in environmental waters. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20(6), 3496–3515.
- Al-Qaim, F. F., Abdullah, M. P., Othman, M. R., Latip, J., & Zakaria, Z. (2014). Multi-residue analytical methodology-based liquid chromatography-time-of-flight-mass spectrometry for the analysis of pharmaceutical residues in surface water and effluents from sewage treatment plants and hospitals. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1345, 139–153.
- Alvarez-Puebla, R. A., & Liz-Marzán, L. M. (2012). SERS detection of small inorganic molecules and ions. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 51(45), 11214–11223.
- 4. Arisido, M. W. (2015). Functional data analysis for environmental pollutants and health.
- Asadnia, M., Kottapalli, A. G. P., Karavitaki, K. D., Warkiani, M. E., Miao, J., Corey, D. P., et al. (2016). From biological cilia to artificial flow sensors: Biomimetic soft polymer nanosensors with high sensing performance. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 32955.
- Asadnia, M., Myers, M., Umana-Membreno, G. A., Sanders, T. M., Mishra, U. K., Nener, B. D., et al. (2017). Ca²⁺ detection utilising AlGaN/GaN transistors with ion-selective polymer membranes. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 987, 105–110.
- Auffan, M., Rose, J., Bottero, J. Y., Lowry, G. V., Jolivet, J. P., & Wiesner, M. R. (2009). Towards a definition of inorganic nanoparticles from an environmental, health and safety perspective. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 4(10), 634.
- Bantz, K. C., Meyer, A. F., Wittenberg, N. J., Im, H., Kurtuluş, Ö., Lee, S. H., et al. (2011). Recent progress in SERS biosensing. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 13(24), 11551–11567.
- Berlioz-Barbier, A., Vauchez, A., Wiest, L., Baudot, R., Vulliet, E., & Cren-Olivé, C. (2014). Multi-residue analysis of emerging pollutants in sediment using QuEChERS-based extraction followed by LC-MS/MS analysis. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 406(4), 1259–1266.
- Biver, E., Durosier-Izart, C., Chevalley, T., van Rietbergen, B., Rizzoli, R., & Ferrari, S. (2018). Evaluation of radius microstructure and areal bone mineral density improves fracture prediction in postmenopausal women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 33(2), 328–337.
- Bizkarguenaga, E., Ros, O., Iparraguirre, A., Navarro, P., Vallejo, A., Usobiaga, A., et al. (2012). Solid-phase extraction combined with large volume injection-programmable temperature vaporization–gas chromatography–mass spectrometry for the multiresidue determination of priority and emerging organic pollutants in wastewater. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1247*, 104–117.
- Buchberger, W. W. (2011). Current approaches to trace analysis of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1218(4), 603–618.
- Cai, X., Gao, X., Wang, L., Wu, Q., & Lin, X. (2013). A layer-by-layer assembled and carbon nanotubes/gold nanoparticles-based bienzyme biosensor for cholesterol detection. *Sensors* and Actuators B: Chemical, 181, 575–583.
- 14. Cao, S., Sun, G., Zhang, Z., Chen, L., Feng, Q., Fu, B., et al. (2011). Greening China naturally. *Ambio*, 40(7), 828–831.
- Capozzi, M. E., DiMarchi, R. D., Tschöp, M. H., Finan, B., & Campbell, J. E. (2018). Targeting the incretin/glucagon system with triagonists to treat diabetes. *Endocrine Reviews*, 39(5), 719–738.
- Cavaliere, C., Capriotti, A. L., Ferraris, F., Foglia, P., Samperi, R., Ventura, S., et al. (2016). Multiresidue analysis of endocrine-disrupting compounds and perfluorinated sulfates and carboxylic acids in sediments by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1438, 133–142.

- Cesa-Bianchi, N., Gentile, C., & Orabona, F. (2009, June). Robust bounds for classification via selective sampling. In *Proceedings of the 26th Annual International Conference on Machine Learning* (pp. 121–128). ACM.
- Chen, F., Ehlerding, E. B., & Cai, W. (2014). Theranostic nanoparticles. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 55(12), 1919–1922.
- Chen, H., Brayman, A. A., Kreider, W., Bailey, M. R., & Matula, T. J. (2011). Observations of translation and jetting of ultrasound-activated microbubbles in mesenteric microvessels. *Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology*, 37(12), 2139–2148.
- Chen, J., Zheng, A., Chen, A., Gao, Y., He, C., Kai, X., et al. (2007). A functionalized gold nanoparticles and Rhodamine 6G based fluorescent sensor for high sensitive and selective detection of mercury (II) in environmental water samples. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 599(1), 134–142.
- Chen, S., Yuan, R., Chai, Y., Zhang, L., Wang, N., & Li, X. (2007). Amperometric third-generation hydrogen peroxide biosensor based on the immobilization of hemoglobin on multiwall carbon nanotubes and gold colloidal nanoparticles. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 22 (7), 1268–1274.
- Cialla, D., März, A., Böhme, R., Theil, F., Weber, K., Schmitt, M., et al. (2012). Surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS): Progress and trends. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 403(1), 27–54.
- Cui, X., Zhu, G., Pan, Y., Shao, Q., Dong, M., Zhang, Y., et al. (2018). Polydimethylsiloxane-titania nanocomposite coating: Fabrication and corrosion resistance. *Polymer, 138,* 203–210.
- 24. Cui, Z., Luan, X., Jiang, H., Li, Q., Xu, G., Sun, C., et al. (2018). Application of a bacterial whole cell biosensor for the rapid detection of cytotoxicity in heavy metal contaminated seawater. *Chemosphere*, 200, 322–329.
- Dalavoy, T. S., Wernette, D. P., Gong, M., Sweedler, J. V., Lu, Y., Flachsbart, B. R., et al. (2008). Immobilization of DNAzyme catalytic beacons on PMMA for Pb²⁺ detection. *Lab on a Chip*, 8(5), 786–793.
- Darbha, G. K., Singh, A. K., Rai, U. S., Yu, E., Yu, H., & Chandra Ray, P. (2008). Selective detection of mercury (II) ion using nonlinear optical properties of gold nanoparticles. *Journal* of the American Chemical Society, 130(25), 8038–8043.
- Daunert, S., Barrett, G., Feliciano, J. S., Shetty, R. S., Shrestha, S., & Smith-Spencer, W. (2000). Genetically engineered whole-cell sensing systems: Coupling biological recognition with reporter genes. *Chemical Reviews*, 100(7), 2705–2738.
- 28. Del Carmen Hurtado-Sánchez, M., Espinosa-Mansilla, A., & Durán-Merás, I. (2015). Influence of the presence of natural monosaccharides in the quantification of α-dicarbonyl compounds in high content sugar samples. A comparative study by ultra-high performance liquid chromatography–single quadrupole mass spectrometry using different derivatization reactions. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1422, 117–127.
- Diplock, E. E., Alhadrami, H. A., & Paton, G. I. (2009). Application of microbial bioreporters in environmental microbiology and bioremediation. In *Whole cell sensing system II* (pp. 189– 209). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Dong, Z., Sinha, R., & Richie, J. P., Jr. (2018). Disease prevention and delayed aging by dietary sulfur amino acid restriction: Translational implications. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1418(1), 44–55.
- Durán, N., Marcato, P. D., De Souza, G. I., Alves, O. L., & Esposito, E. (2007). Antibacterial effect of silver nanoparticles produced by fungal process on textile fabrics and their effluent treatment. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 3(2), 203–208.
- 32. Faghiri, F., & Ghorbani, F. (2019). Colorimetric and naked eye detection of trace Hg²⁺ ions in the environmental water samples based on plasmonic response of sodium alginate impregnated by silver nanoparticles. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 374, 329–340.
- 33. Freeman, R., Finder, T., & Willner, I. (2009). Multiplexed analysis of Hg²⁺ and Ag⁺ ions by nucleic acid functionalized CdSe/ZnS quantum dots and their use for logic gate operations. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 48(42), 7818–7821.

- Gao, J., Gu, H., & Xu, B. (2009). Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles: Design, synthesis, and biomedical applications. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 42(8), 1097–1107.
- 35. Ghosh, D., & Das, C. K. (2015). Hydrothermal growth of hierarchical Ni₃S₂ and Co₃S₄ on a reduced graphene oxide hydrogel@ Ni foam: A high-energy-density aqueous asymmetric supercapacitor. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 7(2), 1122–1131.
- Gorito, A. M., Ribeiro, A. R., Almeida, C. M. R., & Silva, A. M. (2017). A review on the application of constructed wetlands for the removal of priority substances and contaminants of emerging concern listed in recently launched EU legislation. *Environmental Pollution*, 227, 428–443.
- Gosset, A., Durrieu, C., Renaud, L., Deman, A. L., Barbe, P., Bayard, R., et al. (2018). Xurography-based microfluidic algal biosensor and dedicated portable measurement station for online monitoring of urban polluted samples. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 117, 669–677.
- Guo, L., Li, Z., Chen, H., Wu, Y., Chen, L., Song, Z., et al. (2017). Colorimetric biosensor for the assay of paraoxon in environmental water samples based on the iodine-starch color reaction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 967, 59–63.
- Guo, X. J., Hao, A. J., Han, X. W., Kang, P. L., Jiang, Y. C., & Zhang, X. J. (2011). The investigation of the interaction between ribavirin and bovine serum albumin by spectroscopic methods. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 38(6), 4185–4192.
- Hayat, A., & Marty, J. (2014). Disposable screen printed electrochemical sensors: Tools for environmental monitoring. *Sensors*, 14(6), 10432–10453.
- He, X., Liu, H. U. I. B. I. A. O., Li, Y., Wang, S., Li, Y., Wang, N., et al. (2005). Gold nanoparticle-based fluorometric and colorimetric sensing of copper (II) ions. *Advanced Materials*, 17(23), 2811–2815.
- Hennion, M. (2000). Sample handling strategies for the analysis of organic compounds in environmental water samples. In D. Barceló (Ed.), *Techniques and instrumentation in analytical chemistry* (pp. 3–71), Elsevier, 2017.
- Huang, C. C., & Chang, H. T. (2006). Selective gold-nanoparticle-based "turn-on" fluorescent sensors for detection of mercury (II) in aqueous solution. *Analytical Chemistry*, 78(24), 8332– 8338.
- Jarque, S., Bittner, M., Blaha, L., & Hilscherova, K. (2016). Yeast biosensors for detection of environmental pollutants: Current state and limitations. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 34(5), 408– 419.
- Jouanneau, E., Wierinckx, A., Ducray, F., Favrel, V., Borson-Chazot, F., Honnorat, J., et al. (2012). New targeted therapies in pituitary carcinoma resistant to temozolomide. *Pituitary*, 15 (1), 37–43.
- 46. Jouanneau, S., Durand, M. J., & Thouand, G. (2012). Online detection of metals in environmental samples: Comparing two concepts of bioluminescent bacterial biosensors. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 46(21), 11979–11987.
- Kalogerakis, N., Arff, J., Banat, I. M., Broch, O. J., Daffonchio, D., Edvardsen, T., et al. (2015). The role of environmental biotechnology in exploring, exploiting, monitoring, preserving, protecting and decontaminating the marine environment. *New Biotechnology*, 32 (1), 157–167.
- Kim, C. S., Choi, B. H., Seo, J. H., Lim, G., & Cha, H. J. (2013). Mussel adhesive protein-based whole cell array biosensor for detection of organophosphorus compounds. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 41, 199–204.
- Kim, D., Pertea, G., Trapnell, C., Pimentel, H., Kelley, R., & Salzberg, S. L. (2013). TopHat2: Accurate alignment of transcriptomes in the presence of insertions, deletions and gene fusions. *Genome Biology*, 14(4), R36.
- Kim, L., Lee, D., Cho, H. K., & Choi, S. D. (2019). Review of the QuEChERS method for the analysis of organic pollutants: Persistent organic pollutants, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and pharmaceuticals. *Trends in Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, p.e00063.
- Kolahchi, N., Braiek, M., Ebrahimipour, G., Ranaei-Siadat, S. O., Lagarde, F., & Jaffrezic-Renault, N. (2018). Direct detection of phenol using a new bacterial strain-based conductometric biosensor. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 6(1), 478–484.

- Kurelec, B., & Gupta, R. C. (1993). Biomonitoring of aquatic systems. *IARC Scientific Publications*, 124, 365–372.
- 53. Maleki, A. (2018). Green oxidation protocol: Selective conversions of alcohols and alkenes to aldehydes, ketones and epoxides by using a new multiwall carbon nanotube-based hybrid nanocatalyst via ultrasound irradiation. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 40, 460–464.
- Maleki, A., Eskandarpour, V., Rahimi, J., & Hamidi, N. (2019). Cellulose matrix embedded copper decorated magnetic bionanocomposite as a green catalyst in the synthesis of dihydropyridines and polyhydroquinolines. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 208, 251–260.
- 55. Maleki, B., Baghayeri, M., Ghanei-Motlagh, M., Zonoz, F. M., Amiri, A., Hajizadeh, F., et al. (2019). Polyamidoamine dendrimer functionalized iron oxide nanoparticles for simultaneous electrochemical detection of Pb²⁺ and Cd²⁺ ions in environmental waters. *Measurement, 140,* 81–88.
- Mandal, T. K., & Parvin, N. (2011). Rapid detection of bacteria by carbon quantum dots. Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology, 7(6), 846–848.
- 57. Neethirajan, S., Ragavan, V., Weng, X., & Chand, R. (2018). Biosensors for sustainable food engineering: Challenges and perspectives. *Biosensors*, *8*(1), 23.
- 58. Nikolaou, A. (2013). Pharmaceuticals and related compounds as emerging pollutants in water: Analytical aspects. *Global NEST Journal*, *15*(1), 1–12.
- Pampanin, D. M., & Sydnes, M. O. (2013). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons a constituent of petroleum: presence and influence in the aquatic environment. In *Hydrocarbon*. IntechOpen.
- Pampanin, D. M., Larssen, E., Øysæd, K. B., Sundt, R. C., & Sydnes, M. O. (2014). Study of the bile proteome of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): Multi-biological markers of exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Marine Environmental Research*, 101, 161–168.
- 61. Pampanin, D. M., Le Goff, J., & Grøsvik, B. E. (2013). DNA adducts in haddock and cod exposed to produced water (WCM 2011-laboratory exposure). *IRIS Report*, p. 111.
- 62. Pang, Q., Liang, X., Kwok, C. Y., & Nazar, L. F. (2016). Advances in lithium–sulfur batteries based on multifunctional cathodes and electrolytes. *Nature Energy*, 1(9), 16132.
- 63. Peng, Y., Gautam, L., & Hall, S. W. (2019). The detection of drugs of abuse and pharmaceuticals in drinking water using solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Chemosphere*, 223, 438–447.
- 64. Peng, Z., Xiong, C., Wang, W., Tan, F., Xu, Y., Wang, X., et al. (2017). Facile modification of nanoscale zero-valent iron with high stability for Cr (VI) remediation. *Science of the Total Environment*, *596*, 266–273.
- 65. Petrie, B., Youdan, J., Barden, R., & Kasprzyk-Hordern, B. (2016). Multi-residue analysis of 90 emerging contaminants in liquid and solid environmental matrices by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1431, 64–78.
- 66. Ponamoreva, O. N., Kamanina, O. A., Alferov, V. A., Machulin, A. V., Rogova, T. V., Arlyapov, V. A., et al. (2015). Yeast-based self-organized hybrid bio-silica sol–gels for the design of biosensors. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 67, 321–326.
- 67. Qu, X., Alvarez, P. J., & Li, Q. (2013). Applications of nanotechnology in water and wastewater treatment. *Water Research*, 47(12), 3931–3946.
- Radović, T., Grujić, S., Petković, A., Dimkić, M., & Laušević, M. (2015). Determination of pharmaceuticals and pesticides in river sediments and corresponding surface and ground water in the Danube River and tributaries in Serbia. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 187*(1), 4092.
- Raman, C. V., & Krishnan, K. S. (1928). The optical analogue of the compton effect. *Nature*, 121(3053), 711.
- 70. Rao, K. R., & Yip, P. (2014). Discrete cosine transform: Algorithms, advantages, applications. Academic Press.
- Rasheed, T., Bilal, M., Nabeel, F., Iqbal, H. M., Li, C., & Zhou, Y. (2018). Fluorescent sensor based models for the detection of environmentally-related toxic heavy metals. *Science of the Total Environment*, 615, 476–485.

- Ribeiro, A. R., Pedrosa, M., Moreira, N. F., Pereira, M. F., & Silva, A. M. (2015). Environmental friendly method for urban wastewater monitoring of micropollutants defined in the directive 2013/39/EU and Decision 2015/495/EU. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1418, 140–149.
- 73. Ribeiro, C., Ribeiro, A. R., & Tiritan, M. E. (2016). Occurrence of persistent organic pollutants in sediments and biota from Portugal versus European incidence: A critical overview. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B*, *51*(3), 143–153.
- Rodayan, A., Afana, S., Segura, P. A., Sultana, T., Metcalfe, C. D., & Yargeau, V. (2016). Linking drugs of abuse in wastewater to contamination of surface and drinking water. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 35(4), 843–849.
- Saber, R., & Pişkin, E. (2003). Investigation of complexation of immobilized metallothionein with Zn (II) and Cd (II) ions using piezoelectric crystals. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 18(8), 1039–1046.
- Scognamiglio, V., Antonacci, A., Arduini, F., Moscone, D., Campos, E. V., Fraceto, L. F., et al. (2019). An eco-designed paper-based algal biosensor for nanoformulated herbicide optical detection. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*.
- Singh, A., Arya, S. K., Glass, N., Hanifi-Moghaddam, P., Naidoo, R., Szymanski, C. M., et al. (2010). Bacteriophage tailspike proteins as molecular probes for sensitive and selective bacterial detection. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 26(1), 131–138.
- Stein, B., Baldwin, A. S., Jr., Ballard, D. W., Greene, W. C., Angel, P., & Herrlich, P. (1993). Cross-coupling of the NF-kappa B p65 and Fos/Jun transcription factors produces potentiated biological function. *The EMBO Journal*, *12*(10), 3879–3891.
- Stein, J. E., Reichert, W. L., French, B., & Varanasi, U. (1993). 32P-postlabeling analysis of DNA adduct formation and persistence in English sole (Pleuronectes vetulus) exposed to benzo [a] pyrene and 7H-dibenzo [c, g] carbazole. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 88(1), 55–69.
- Sundaram, R. S., Engel, M., Lombardo, A., Krupke, R., Ferrari, A. C., Avouris, P., et al. (2013). Electroluminescence in single layer MoS₂. *Nano Letters*, 13(4), 1416–1421.
- Thomaidis, N. S., Asimakopoulos, A. G., & Bletsou, A. A. (2012). Emerging contaminants: A tutorial mini-review. *Global NEST Journal*, 14(1), 72–79.
- Tian, Y., Wei, R., Cai, B., Dong, J., Deng, B., & Xiao, Y. (2016). Cationic gemini pyrrolidinium surfactants based sweeping-micellar electrokinetic chromatography for simultaneous detection of nine organic pollutants in environmental water. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1475, 95–101.
- Turemis, M., Silletti, S., Pezzotti, G., Sanchís, J., Farré, M., & Giardi, M. T. (2018). Optical biosensor based on the microalga-paramecium symbiosis for improved marine monitoring. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 270, 424–432.
- Van Der Meer, J. R., & Belkin, S. (2010). Where microbiology meets microengineering: Design and applications of reporter bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 8(7), 511.
- Vasquez, M. I., Lambrianides, A., Schneider, M., Kümmerer, K., & Fatta-Kassinos, D. (2014). Environmental side effects of pharmaceutical cocktails: What we know and what we should know. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 279, 169–189.
- Vopálenská, I., Váchová, L., & Palková, Z. (2015). New biosensor for detection of copper ions in water based on immobilized genetically modified yeast cells. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 72, 160–167.
- Wang, G., Xu, G., Zhu, Y., & Zhang, X. (2014). A "turn-on" carbon nanotube–Ag nanoclusters fluorescent sensor for sensitive and selective detection of Hg²⁺ with cyclic amplification of exonuclease III activity. *Chemical Communications*, 50(6), 747–750.
- Wang, Y., Jodoin, P. M., Porikli, F., Konrad, J., Benezeth, Y., & Ishwar, P. (2014). CDnet 2014: An expanded change detection benchmark dataset. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops* (pp. 387–394).
- Xie, J., Zheng, Y., & Ying, J. Y. (2009). Protein-directed synthesis of highly fluorescent gold nanoclusters. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 131(3), 888–889.

- 90. Xu, T., Close, D. M., Sayler, G. S., & Ripp, S. (2013). Genetically modified whole-cell bioreporters for environmental assessment. *Ecological Indicators*, 28, 125–141.
- Yagur-Kroll, S., Bilic, B., & Belkin, S. (2010). Strategies for enhancing bioluminescent bacterial sensor performance by promoter region manipulation. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 3 (3), 300–310.
- Yang, W., Gooding, J. J., He, Z., Li, Q., & Chen, G. (2007). Fast colorimetric detection of copper ions using L-cysteine functionalized gold nanoparticles. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 7(2), 712–716.
- Yudina, N. Y., Arlyapov, V. A., Chepurnova, M. A., Alferov, S. V., & Reshetilov, A. N. (2015). A yeast co-culture-based biosensor for determination of waste water contamination levels. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 78, 46–53.
- Zhang, W., Asiri, A. M., Liu, D., Du, D., & Lin, Y. (2014). Nanomaterial-based biosensors for environmental and biological monitoring of organophosphorus pesticides and nerve agents. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 54, 1–10.
- Zhang, X., Wang, H., He, L., Lu, K., Sarmah, A., Li, J., et al. (2013). Using biochar for remediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals and organic pollutants. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20(12), 8472–8483.
- Zhang, Y., Wang, F., Liu, C., Wang, Z., Kang, L., Huang, Y., et al. (2018). Nanozyme decorated metal–organic frameworks for enhanced photodynamic therapy. ACS Nano, 12(1), 651–661.
- Zhou, Y., Wang, J., Gu, Z., Wang, S., Zhu, W., Aceña, J. L., et al. (2016). Next generation of fluorine-containing pharmaceuticals, compounds currently in phase II–III clinical trials of major pharmaceutical companies: New structural trends and therapeutic areas. *Chemical Reviews*, 116(2), 422–518.

Emerging Techniques and Materials for Water Pollutants Detection



Richa Soni, Mahesh Soni and Dericks Praise Shukla

Abstract Rapid industrialization and population boom have led to deterioration of water quality, rising health issues and environmental damage, which made it imperative to monitor and regulate the water pollutants. Earlier, water samples were monitored using grab sampling method and then analysis was performed in the laboratory. This process is arduous and time consuming; also, there are poor chances of detecting a periodic pollution. For a proactive response sensor technology is popular these days for pollutant monitoring. A variety of sensing techniques and materials are available. But recently nanomaterials have absorbed attention for fabricating sensors owing to their high surface to volume ratio, ease of functionalization which enable them to have high specificity and sensitivity. This chapter intends to review the emerging materials used for making water pollutant sensors and gives an insight into the emerging techniques like microfluidic sensors, biosensors, wireless sensor network and smart sensors.

Keywords Biosensors • Microfluidic • Nanomaterials • Wireless network • Water pollutants

1 Introduction

The problem of clean water availability is worsening day by day owing to the rapid industrialization and population boom. Clean water is crucial in sustaining life, and has a major role in health of living beings. Water contamination can occur due to several factors like biological, chemical or anthropogenic posing health hazards.

R. Soni (🖂) · M. Soni · D. P. Shukla

Indian Institute of Technology, Mandi 175005, Himachal Pradesh, India e-mail: richamnit10@gmail.com

M. Soni e-mail: maheshbe2007@gmail.com

D. P. Shukla e-mail: dericks@iitmandi.ac.in

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_15

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors,

The contamination broadly includes organic, inorganic and microbial pollution. With increasing industrialization, new contaminants are introduced each day. Water-quality monitoring is challenging due to the unpredictability and complexity of various pollutants and their concentrations that need to be detected [1]. Thus, monitoring of water quality used for consumption is important. Water quality issue can happen broadly in two ways, either the source of water supply is contaminated or there is some intermittent issue which took place due to some accidental contamination. Proper monitoring of such issues can't be done by conventional sampling, methods of grab sampling and laboratory testing, instead a regular monitoring with quick analysis is required [2].

Earlier, manual detection of water contaminants was done in the laboratories, which required skilled manpower and specific instrumentation. A number of traditional approaches were available to detect contaminants like; multiple fermentation tube technique [3], filtration method [4], DNA amplification [5], fluorescence in-situ hybridization (FISH) techniques [6], capillary electrophoresis, field-flow fractionation [7], chromatography [8] and mass spectrometry [9]. Since a long time, these methods were used and are still used but they proved to be inefficient for on-site monitoring of contaminants. Traditional approaches of water pollution detection are cumbersome and time consuming.

Effective water quality monitoring is the need of the hour which includes the data collection at several locations, at regular intervals to procure data for establishing trends and assessing the current water quality [10–12]. Water quality monitoring is required to provide timely warning or identification of any potential hazard to be caused. The current demand for monitoring tools includes: disposable systems, biocompatible, monitoring multiple analytes, high sensitivity, low cost and on-site monitoring [13].

With the rising demand for techniques of water pollution detection, a lot of progressive research is being done in this area to meet the needs. A wide variety of water quality sensors are available in the literature to detect various contaminants. Water quality sensors have their origin from late 1990s and from then till date a lot of technological and material-based advancement has been done. This chapter gives an overview on recent advancements in techniques like microfluidics, biosensors and wireless sensor networks for water contaminant (biological and non-biological) detection. Figure 1 presents the data obtained from Web of Science which informs about the number of publications over years for water pollutants (the keywords used for search are the same as presented). It can be observed from Fig. 1 that maximum research in past five years is done on biosensors for water pollutants followed by wireless sensor networks. To add to this, after analysing the information, it was observed that most of the sensors irrespective of the type of sensor, uses nanomaterials in their fabrication to enhance the sensitivity and reliability. This chapter also discusses the significant limitations of the techniques and provides suggestions for future development in the water quality monitoring. Also, on the material front, nanomaterial enabled sensors have received increasing attention from the researchers owing to their novel properties and promising performance of rapid detection and reduced analysis time. Therefore, this chapter also summarizes the



Fig. 1 Data obtained from web of science to give a projection of research publications over years for water pollutants. The different keywords used for the search of water pollutants are the same as presented

recent developments in the nanotechnology-based sensors for water quality monitoring.

2 Microfluidic Sensors

Development of portable sensing devices for field use is trending now-a-days, thus small devices are gaining popularity having low cost, high sensitivity, specific and easy to use. Microfluidic sensors were earlier used for mostly detecting non-biological contaminant in water like pesticides, mercury, arsenic, phosphate. But with the progress, microfluidic devices have found their way in detecting biological contaminants too [14, 15]. Microliters of samples in micron length of reaction chambers can be used by Microfluidic devices [16]. Microfluidic devices are capable of providing biological assays and on-chip chemical assays with lesser quantity of reagent and consumption of sample, controlled manner of handling the sample and reaction, well-controlled microenvironments, high-throughput experimentation [17]. A variety of materials like silicon, glass, PDMS have been utilized for fabricating microfluidic sensors. Timeline for substrates used for making microfluidic based devices has been shown in Fig. 2. But recently paper based microfluidic sensors have received attention from researchers [18–20] for water monitoring. The paper based microfluidic devices were first reported in 2007, and later on a lot of advancements were done in them like use of new printing techniques, integrating the devices with cameras/smartphones, use of nanomaterials in the devices. In 2018, a new substrate thread, was reported for microfluidic devices



Fig. 2 Timeline for development of substrates used for microfluidic devices

but it was used for therapeutic purposes so not discussed here. Using paper as a substrate for microfluidic sensors has many advantages: ease of availability, cost effective, disposable, biodegradable, light-weight, ease in printing and patterning to make channels for samples, self-capillary action [21]. But, paper made devices has its own limitations, it lacks the resolution and sensitivity when compared to the silicon and glass devices.

2.1 Fabrication and Detection Methods of Paper Based Microfluidic Devices

The fabrication of paper based microfluidic devices is based on creation of hydrophilic zones on paper which are patterned using physical barriers, various cutting procedures or hydrophobic agents [22]. Depending on the user application, the paper type is selected. The type of paper used has an impact on the performance and fluidic transport. Paper substrates that have been used for making microfluidic devices are Whatman chromatography paper 3 MM Chr [23], Whatman filter paper grade 4 [24], Millipore MCE membrane filter [25], Canson paper [26], JProLab JP 40 filter paper [27], and Advantec 51B chromatography paper [28]. Fabrication usually involves the paper type selection and then applying it to various fabrication techniques such as cutting, photolithography, inkjet printing, wax printing, screen printing, wax patterning, wax pencil drawing and contact stamping [21]. Details of fabrication techniques can be read in the work of [19, 21]. Fabrication methods

involves both two-dimensional (2D) or three-dimensional (3D) flow-systems. Various techniques are used for making 3D systems like sticking various patterned layers together or folding a single patterned layer. 3D devices are getting popular as they have increased functionality without increasing the size of device [29].

2.2 Recent Studies Based on Paper Based Microfluidic Sensors

The common detection techniques used by the paper based microfluidic devices are namely colorimetric, luminescence, electrochemical, and photoelectrochemical detection [21]. For on-site analysis, it is important that the detection method used is portable and user friendly. Khanna et al. [30] reported the estimation of Bisphenol-A concentration in ethanol. They used nanostructured manganese dioxide as a receptor. Meelapsom et al. [31] developed a microfluidic Paper-based Analytical Device by using alkyl ketene dimer-inkjet printing. They used unmodified silver nanoparticles which disintegrated on exposure to mercury (II). Several options are available for onsite analysis like use of smartphones [32–34], portable scanners [35] or purpose built-in detector [36, 37]. Recently, smartphones have gained attention from researchers as they are more advantageous than use of a simple camera. While using smartphones applications can be developed for internal monitoring as done by Sicard et al. [33], which helps easy collection, storage and real time sharing of data. Care must be taken for uniform light exposure when the cameras of mobile phones are used. Ortiz-Gomez et al. [32] kept phone with flash off condition in a box having LED to control light exposure. Smartphones can be used both with [38] or without flash [33] with the use of forming a control zone when taking the picture. Santhiago et al. [34] demonstrated the use of mobile phone for detection with incorporation of a Quick Response (QR) code reader which reads the information from the microfluidic device.

2.3 Future Trends and Recommendations

Paper based microfluidic devices are developed to be portable, but a few have been used for the field tests. Wax printing/paper cutting is the commonly used fabrication methods used for the development of paper based microfluidic devices. Fabrication methods selected should be simple and low cost and must be suitable for scaling up of devices. It has been reported that smart phones and tablets with dedicated applications are fit for image capture, real time processing, storing and sharing of data. Use of such tools helps to make the device user friendly and portable. Smartphones connected to the microfluidic devices are also beneficial to areas

having low resources, where wireless transmission is an issue due to network limitations. In such cases smartphones may be able to store the data locally and then transmit it when the network connection is available. Alternative power sources like solar power is also useful for such areas. Main issues that needs attention in paper based devices are proper validation, ability for long term storage of devices without hampering its features and enhanced sensitivity.

3 Biosensors

A biosensor is an independent device, which provides specific quantitative or semi-quantitative analytical information using a biochemical receptor [13]. As shown in Fig. 3, a biological component act as a receptor for a specific analyte, this interaction results in a signal is transformed using a transducer into a quantitative signal which can be detected. The main advantages of biosensors are, miniatured device, ability to perform in complex solutions, easy sample preparation and on-site usage. But several of such devices are not able to compete with the conventional sensors with respect to accuracy and reproducibility. A variety of biorecognition methods like, molecularly imprinted polymer, immunochemical, whole-cell and DNA elements, enzymatic, non-enzymatic receptor, are available, owing to which biosensors can be classified into types: electrochemical, optical, piezoelectric and thermal biosensors, based on their transducing mechanism [39]. Biochemical specificity of bioreceptor defines the function of biosensor or DNA biosensors, or tissue-based biosensors depending on the type of bioreceptor [40].

3.1 Recent Studies on Biosensors

Few latest developed biosensors for detecting water contaminants are listed here. Zeng et al. [41] developed a portable and quantitative biosensor for detection of cadmium using glucometer as the point-of-use device. We et al. [42] reported



Fig. 3 Basic working of a biosensor

detection of phenols using Tyrosinase-immobilized carbon nanotube. Yu et al. [43] developed a Dandelion-like copper oxide microspheres decorated with gold nanoparticle modified biosensor on the specific thymine-Hg²⁺-thymine base pair for the highly sensitive detection of mercury ions. Atar et al. [44] designed molecular imprinted nanosensors for detecting organic matters such as triclosan, by simulating their biological receptors. Nomngongo et al. [45] made a sensor having a bioreceptor of horseradish peroxidase to detect persistent organic pollutants in wastewater samples. Yamashita et al. [46] studied an electrochemical biosensor for the in-situ monitoring of Biological oxygen demand in the wastewater. Biswas et al. [47] developed an enzyme based biosensor to detect chromium in water. Verma et al. [48] integrated microfluidics and optical transduction system to develop a biosensor to monitor lead concentration. Several optical techniques like surface plasmon resonance [49, 50] and resonant mirror [51] have been used to detect pathogens. Yildirim et al. [52] developed a portable optical fibre biosensor using a fluorescently-labeled specific aptamer to detect E-coli O157: an H7 strain in wastewater samples.

3.2 Microbial Fuel Cell (MFC) as Biosensors

Recently, microbial fuel cell (MFC) has been found to show promising results as a tool for water quality monitoring [53]. MFC biosensor is an electrochemical microbial biosensor; it consists of an electrochemical cell with electrodes usually separated by a membrane [54]. The MFC utilizes microorganisms as a bio-catalyst for oxidation of organic matter and generate current at the anode, which produces electrical power, when coupled to the reduction of oxygen occurring at the cathode [55]. Microorganisms are present on the anodic surface and their metabolic activities are converted into electricity [56].

Zhou et al. [57] have reviewed several MFC based biosensors for water quality testing. MFC based biosensors have found there use not only for checking dissolved oxygen, biological oxygen demand and chemical oxygen demand but also considered for identifying and analyzing different organic pollutants in water samples [57, 58]. Real time chromium monitoring has been demonstrated by [59] based on the variations in voltage signal via the activity of immobilized electrogenic bacteria. Chouler et al. [60] developed a paper based microbial fuel cell for detecting bioactive compounds in water.

To be approved as a standard analytical method, more research is required in this area. Discovery of new microbial consortia with superior electrogenic potential which enables fast metabolization of wide range of organic materials is required [58]. Moreover, the integration between microbial electrochemistry and nanotechnology could result in super conductive electrodes which possess improved efficiency; this area has a lot of potential and is yet to be extensively explored. The researchers should focus on low cost fabrication and simple designs of MFC-based sensor devices by using inexpensive and reliable electrode and membrane materials.

3.3 Future Trends and Recommendations

A lot of attention is given to biosensors for detecting water pollutants; still finding an appropriate biorecognition element for a particular pollutant remains a challenge; which in turn limits the scope of biosensors. When whole-cell based biosensors are used, production of secondary metabolites results into anomalous readings of target organic pollutant in water; and hence in such cases a precise correction method is required. For development of efficient and commercial applicable biosensors, it is imperative to design a sensor which can simultaneously detect several pollutants and can detect low concentrations of specific pollutant. One of the main aspects to be considered for biosensors is stability of the bioreceptor through shipment, storage and application condition. To overcome the limitations, research is to be progressed in the area of producing recombinant target specific bioreceptor and integrating biosensors with nanomaterials to improve the detection limit and sensitivity of biosensors.

4 Wireless Sensor Networks

Evolution of water quality monitoring systems have taken place from manual lab-based to manual in-situ monitoring to modern Wireless Sensor Network (WSN) based approaches. The traditional approach was collecting the samples manually and transporting to laboratories for analysis of contaminants. But, this approach required trained personnels, special instruments and equipments, is time consuming, costly and does not provide real time monitoring to judge a change in water quality. To overcome the problems mentioned above in-situ sensors were developed for real time monitoring of water quality in field. This approach developed hand held devices which can monitor water quality and store the data, but was unable to send the data automatically to users for processing further.

WSN is gaining attention of researchers and end users for monitoring the water quality. The gaining popularity is owing to as mentioned reasons; on-site fixing of sensor to collect real time data, adjustment of sampling frequency to user's wish without investment of any additional money and time, anytime visualization and processing of data by end users, configuration and control of sensor unit using a remote [61]. A basic architecture of WSN constitutes of isolated sensor nodes for sensing, processing of signal, embedded computing, and connectivity [62], which enables the communication between persons/computers and the surrounding environment via wireless link [63]. WSN working steps include acquisition of data, transmission of data, storage of data and redistribution of data. The transmission of data of such water quality monitoring systems is usually built on cellular network (GSM/GPRS) [64, 65] or satellite data link [66]. New network protocols such as WAVENIS, Z-WAVE, LoWPAN, INSTEON, NB-IoT, ZigBee, LoRaWAN, etc. have been developed [61]. Data can be stored in local server or cloud and thereafter

can be redistributed to the end users using email, text messages, web page, mobile app etc. A basic architecture of wireless sensor network is presented in Fig. 4. Wireless sensor is a device having a sensing element, signal amplifier, filtering system attached to a software for data processing. These sensors are also attached with wireless transmission element. Wireless sensors are positioned in the water to be tested; sensors convert the physical parameter to be detected to measurable electrical quantity. The electrical signal is transferred to the controller via wireless device. Thereafter, the controller reads the data and send it to the communication module. The advantages of WSN are low consumption of power, redundant data procurement, remote monitoring, wide coverage area, fast network establishment, low duty cycle and high monitoring precision [62].



Fig. 4 A basic architecture of wireless sensor network (WSN)

4.1 Recent Studies Done on Wireless Sensor Network

Now-a-days research is progressing on combining robotics and WSN for water quality monitoring [67]. Ma et al. [68] provided a scalable total solution, investigating a distributed localization method in wireless sensor networks equipped with mobile ultraviolet-visible spectrometer probes. Eichhorn et al. [69] and Vasilijević et al. [70] designed an autonomous underwater vehicle (AUV) for analysis of water quality parameters. Jadaliha and Choi [71] developed robotic sensors for monitoring temperature of swimming pool and gave a concept of Autonomous Surface Vehicles (ASVs). Ferri et al. [72] also designed and developed ASV for monitoring the coastal water quality. Liu et al. and Wu et al. [73, 74] designed a novel design and multimodal locomotion control, prepared with many onboard sensors, which permit it to be a self-propelled and self-contained system for a biomimetic robotic dolphin capable of water quality monitoring. Robotic systems for water monitoring, provide better spatial coverage for data collection using built-in GPS or sonar positioning system as compared to fixed sensors. Ravalli et al. [75] studied a bio-inspired artificial fish unit capable of changing its swimming patterns according to the directives sent in form of chemical messengers from PANI-modified sensors. The researchers [75] introduced the proof-of-concept for developing multi-sensors fish robot as future core technology in aquaculture farm management. Zhang et al. [76] proposed a novel scheme for autonomously sampling multiple water columns using gliding robotic fish. The energy harvesting, wireless data transmission, harsh aquatic environment is still a problem area when robots are to be deployed for longer durations [77].

4.2 Smart Sensors

Smart sensors are intelligent devices which takes input from the environmental factors and has built-in resources to detect and process the data. Smart sensors differ from integrated sensors as they have built in programmable microprocessors. Technically, a smart sensor has a sensing element, signal amplification and filtering system in combination with a software for data processing and compensation [78]. Cloete et al. [10] reported an inexpensive, wireless, multi-sensor network for measurement of physico-chemical water parameters with real-time monitoring. Data from all the sensors is processed, analysed and then transmitted wirelessly to a notification node which further informs the end user about the water quality. Yifan and Peng [79] developed a wireless sensor network for water quality parameters (temperature, turbidity, pH, dissolved oxygen and conductivity). Data is transferred from monitoring nodes and data video base station to remote monitoring centre via ZigBee and CDMA (code division multiple access) technology. Jiang et al. [80] analysed water quality parameters (pH, conductivity, dissolved oxygen and temperature), an alarm was heard in the presence of a water contamination and data is
sent to a base station via GPRS (general packet radio service). Parra et al. [81] developed a turbidity sensor which can differentiate between turbidity types which is based on the Beer-Lambert law and the absorption of light.

4.3 Future Trends and Recommendations

Wireless sensor networks have enormous potential in water pollution detection and monitoring, as they help us to monitor and interact remotely and collect huge amount of data. Lifetime of a sensor is dependent on the battery life, which has to be replaced or recharged when depleted. Managing power requirements of a sensor is a challenge. Harvesting of energy has been suggested to manage wireless-based sensor power supply, though most energy harvesting systems depends on solar cells [82]. Several self-powered mobile sensors were used in water distribution pipelines [83]. Deployment of sensor nodes at various locations need special techniques which needs to be ad dressed. The primary goal of wireless sensor design is to create miniature, efficient and low-cost devices. Security of sensor nodes and their information also needs attention of researchers as the remote and unattended operation of sensor nodes increases the chances of malicious invasions. The security requirements in WSNs comprises authentication of nodes and confidentiality of data. For the development of multiparameter, high performance sensor, it will be important if different sensors like biosensor, nanosensor, smart sensors can be incorporated in a programmable microprocessor.

5 Nanomaterials: Emerging Materials for Sensors

Nanomaterials are extensively researched for detection of water contaminants owing to their unique structures and excellent catalytic and electrical properties [84]. Advancements in design of the sensors such as small size, portability, and fast signal response times have been enabled using nanomaterials [85]. Nanomaterials have high surface to volume ratio and it is easy to functionalize nanomaterials for enhanced sensitivity. In few cases increased sensitivity of nanomaterial used sensor is owing to the fact that nanomaterials have size similar to that of analyte and therefore are capable of interrogating previously unreachable matrices [86]. In general, nanomaterials can be differentiated into three classes quantum dots, metal based nanomaterials, carbon based nanomaterials.

5.1 Quantum Dots

Quantum dots are nanometer-sized semiconductor crystals possessing exclusive chemical and physical properties which is due to their highly compact structure. Quantum dots possess narrow fluorescence emission bands with broad absorption bands; making them excellent choice as optical transducers [85].

5.2 Metal and Metal Oxide Nanoparticles

Metal and metal oxide nanoparticles can be produced in various sizes and can be easily functionalized to serve as a good sensor [87]. Colloidal solutions of gold and silver nanoparticles, show unique colors based on the size of the colloidal nanomaterial; are stable biocompatible and extensively used in sensing applications [88]. Nano based metal oxides include oxides of iron, titanium, zirconium, cerium, zinc and tin. Magnetic nanometal oxides of iron are popular owing to low toxicity, economic, facile functionalization and easier separation process [89].

5.3 Carbon Based Nanomaterials

Recently, One and two dimensional materials, for instance Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and graphene its derivatives (graphene oxide, reduced graphene oxide) are frequently employed for the fabrication of nano-based sensors owing to their high surface area, mechanical strength, excellent electrical conductivity, and high thermal conductivity [90]. Graphene and derivatives are studied widely for fabrication of sensors due to its high sensitivity to electronic perturbations on introduction of any foreign molecule [84, 91].

5.4 Recent Studies Performed on Nanomaterials Based Sensors

Xie et al. [92] developed a voltammetric sensor for dichlorophenol based on beta-cyclodextrin functionalized boron-doped graphene composite aerogels. Rapid mass transfer is ensured by high specific area, large pore volume and conductivity; also uneven charge distribution is introduced by boron doping on graphene enabling several active sites for catalytic oxidation of dichlorophenol. Liu et al. [93] detected mercury (II) ions using high-fluorescent carbon dots originated from China grass carp scales. The obtained carbon dots has large amount of cysteine-containing sulfhydryl groups which enables to be used as specific fluorescence probe for detecting mercury (II) ions and has low toxicity too. Li et al. [94] monitored cerium (III) using a color-evolution based paper sensor by incorporating fluorescent nanoprobe (carbon dots) onto the cellulose paper substrate. Ramírez et al. [95] quantified lead (II) by developing an electrochemical affinity biosensor that combines glassy carbon electrodes and an aqueous dispersion of single-walled carbon nanotubes covalently modified with cysteine residues. The sensor demonstrated high selectivity for lead in complex solutions. Dong et al. [96] reported a simple and green sensing system for the detection of free residual chlorine in water based on fluoroscence quenching of Graphene quantum dots. In the work done by [97] an "on-off" fluorescence phosphorus/nitrogen dual-doped carbon quantum dots probe was developed for the determination of Chromium (VI). Liu et al. [98] reported a simple and effective way to fabricate a ratiometric fluorescence sensor based on dual-emission carbon dots-gold nanoclusters functionalized with dithiothreitol for detecting mercury ions in water samples. Tang et al. [99] developed an electrochemical sensor by combining DNAzyme with quantum dots to detect lead with a limit of detection of 7.8 pM. Yang et al. [100] combined reduced graphene oxide and gold nanoparticles for detection of organophosphate paraoxon-ethyl with a detection limit of 0.5 nM. Cui et al. [101] developed electrochemical acetylcholinesterase biosensor for detection of organophosphorus based pesticides by using adsorption properties of titanium oxide sol-gel, chitosan and reduced graphene oxide based multi-layered immobilization matrix. Nie et al. [102] proposed label-free aptamer surface-enhanced Raman scattering sensor for detection of trace malathion residue; silver nanoparticles were modified with positively charged spermine which served as capture reagents for the aptamer. Yang et al. [103] labelled a specific antibody against E. coli O157: H7 using carboxyl functionalized graphene quantum dots and generated a strong fluorescent signal with the detection limit of 100 cfu/mL as minimum. Parimaladevi et al. [104] designed a sensor using a graphene boosted silver nanoparticles platform through surface enhanced Raman scattering technique which was able to detect the toxic components in real textile effluent. Parvathi et al. [105] reported another sensor for textile effluents based on graphene oxide mediated surface enhanced Raman scattering on gold/reduced-graphene oxide nanocomposites. Chen et al. [106] developed reduced graphene oxide-modified electrodes toward electroanalytical determination of sulfamethoxazole in aqueous environments. Wong et al. [107] simultaneously determined three drugs: terbutaline, nimesulide, and methocarbamol by designing a composite electrode based on graphite oxide-polyurethane modified with beta-cyclodextrin.

5.5 Future Trends and Recommendations

Research shows that nanomaterials-based sensors have shown promising results with enhanced sensitivity and response time. Unique properties of nanomaterials like size-tunable and shape-dependent physicochemical properties, allow them to find way for numerous sensor applications. Combining nanomaterials with functional probes can help achieve a reduced detection limit for water pollutants. Nanomaterial based sensors show enhanced sensitivity, quick response, small size, facile sample preparation and detection, and are cost effective. Recent advances in nanomaterial engineering have opened up new opportunities for development of sensors having multifunctions or sensor arrays which can detect multiple analytes. For testing bacteria, differentiation between live and dead bacteria is also a challenge as dead bacteria also give a signal if the cell structure is intact. Although a lot of efforts have been put to commercialize the nanomaterial based sensors but still there is no breakthrough due to challenges at the technical and fabrication fronts. There is still a need of progressive research to improve performance, lower the cost, more facile fabrication methods for better implementation.

6 Conclusions

Sustainability of water quality is becoming more and more challenging because of which it is imperative to find a pollutant detection technique which has an early warning detection, is quick, sensitive reliable, cost effective and can continuously detect contaminants. Though continuous and real time monitoring of water contaminants is hard, remarkable achievements have been made in this area. The use of wireless networks in monitoring system is being introduced but they have their own shortcomings and are in developing stage for water contaminants. Nanomaterial based sensing has gained popularity due to various merits like high sensitivity and miniaturization of device but health/environmental implications of nanomaterials has to be taken care of. Also, hybrid technologies are more appreciated as they are more advantageous than their single counterpart. Recent trend is to integrate the sensing device to smart phones/other portable electronic devices and convert the signals to useful information using embedded system app. A plethora of literature is available for techniques on water contaminant detection but commercialization of the techniques is still a challenge due to instrumental complexity, storage capability and stability of sensing devices. For a successful design of sensor fundamental understanding of sensing mechanism and sensor components is required as degradation, variation in sensor performance and reliable calibration process is a common issue which needs to be addressed.

References

- 1. Vikesland, P. J. (2018). Nanosensors for water quality monitoring. *Nature Nanotechnology*, *13*(8), 651.
- 2. Banna, M. H., Imran, S., Francisque, A., Najjaran, H., Sadiq, R., Rodriguez, M., et al. (2014). Online drinking water quality monitoring: Review on available and emerging

technologies. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 44(12), 1370–1421. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2013.781936.

- 3. Hoskins, J. (1934). Most probable numbers for evaluation of coliaerogenes tests by fermentation tube method. *Public Health Reports*, 1896–1970, 393–405.
- 4. Slanetz, L., Bent, D., & Bartley, C. H. (1955). Use of the membrane filter technique to enumerate enterococci in water. *Public Health Reports*, 70(1), 67.
- Bej, A. K., Steffan, R. J., DiCesare, J., Haff, L., & Atlas, R. M. (1990). Detection of coliform bacteria in water by polymerase chain reaction and gene probes. *Applied and Environment Microbiology*, 56(2), 307–314.
- Glöckner, F. O., Babenzien, H.-D., & Amann, R. (1998). Phylogeny and identification in situ of Nevskia ramosa. *Applied and Environment Microbiology*, 64(5), 1895–1901.
- Giddings, J., Karaiskakis, G., & Caldwell, K. (1981). Concentration and analysis of dilute colloidal samples by sedimentation field-flow fractionation. *Separation Science and Technology*, 16(6), 725–744. https://doi.org/10.1080/01496398108058124.
- Joyce, R. J., & Dhillon, H. S. (1994). Trace level determination of bromate in ozonated drinking water using ion chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 671(1–2), 165– 171. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9673(94)80235-1.
- Kolpin, D. W., Furlong, E. T., Meyer, M. T., Thurman, E. M., Zaugg, S. D., Barber, L. B., et al. (2002). Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in US streams, 1999–2000: A national reconnaissance. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 36 (6), 1202–1211. https://doi.org/10.1021/es011055j.
- Cloete, N. A., Malekian, R., & Nair, L. (2016). Design of smart sensors for real-time water quality monitoring. *IEEE Access*, 4, 3975–3990. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2016. 2592958.
- Dong, J., Wang, G., Yan, H., Xu, J., & Zhang, X. (2015). A survey of smart water quality monitoring system. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22(7), 4893–4906.
- Geetha, S., & Gouthami, S. (2016). Internet of things enabled real time water quality monitoring system. *Smart Water*, 2(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40713-017-0005-y.
- Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., de Alda, M. J. L., & Barcelo, D. (2006). Biosensors as useful tools for environmental analysis and monitoring. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 386(4), 1025–1041. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-0574-3.
- Bisha, B., Adkins, J. A., Jokerst, J. C., Chandler, J. C., Pérez-Méndez, A., Coleman, S.M., et al. (2014). Colorimetric paper-based detection of *Escherichia coli*, Salmonella spp., and Listeria monocytogenes from large volumes of agricultural water. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*, 88, e51414. https://doi.org/10.3791/51414.
- Kim, J.-Y., & Yeo, M.-K. (2016). A fabricated microfluidic paper-based analytical device (μPAD) for in situ rapid colorimetric detection of microorganisms in environmental water samples. *Molecular & Cellular Toxicology*, *12*(1), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13273-016-0013-2.
- Yang, K., Peretz-Soroka, H., Liu, Y., & Lin, F. (2016). Novel developments in mobile sensing based on the integration of microfluidic devices and smartphones. *Lab on a Chip*, *16* (6), 943–958.
- 17. Mao, X., & Huang, T. J. (2012). Microfluidic diagnostics for the developing world. *Lab on a Chip*, *12*(8), 1412–1416. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2lc90022j.
- Martinez, A. W., Phillips, S. T., Butte, M. J., & Whitesides, G. M. (2007). Patterned paper as a platform for inexpensive, low-volume, portable bioassays. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 46(8), 1318–1320. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200603817.
- Cate, D. M., Adkins, J. A., Mettakoonpitak, J., & Henry, C. S. (2014). Recent developments in paper-based microfluidic devices. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87(1), 19–41. https://doi.org/10. 1021/ac503968p.
- Li, M., Cao, R., Nilghaz, A., Guan, L., Zhang, X., & Shen, W. (2015). "Periodic-table-style" paper device for monitoring heavy metals in water. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87(5), 2555–2559. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.5b00040.

- Almeida, M. I. G., Jayawardane, B. M., Kolev, S. D., & McKelvie, I. D. (2018). Developments of microfluidic paper-based analytical devices (μPADs) for water analysis: A review. *Talanta*, 177, 176–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2017.08.072.
- Xu, Y., Liu, M., Kong, N., & Liu, J. (2016). Lab-on-paper micro-and nano-analytical devices: fabrication, modification, detection and emerging applications. *Microchimica Acta*, 183(5), 1521–1542.
- Liu, W., Guo, Y., Luo, J., Kou, J., Zheng, H., Li, B., et al. (2015). A molecularly imprinted polymer based a lab-on-paper chemiluminescence device for the detection of dichlorvos. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 141, 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2015.01.020.
- Nouanthavong, S., Nacapricha, D., Henry, C. S., & Sameenoi, Y. (2016). Pesticide analysis using nanoceria-coated paper-based devices as a detection platform. *Analyst*, 141(5), 1837– 1846. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5AN02403J.
- Burnham, S., Hu, J., Anany, H., Brovko, L., Deiss, F., Derda, R., et al. (2014). Towards rapid on-site phage-mediated detection of generic *Escherichia coli* in water using luminescent and visual readout. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 406(23), 5685– 5693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-014-7985-3.
- Badawy, M. E., & El-Aswad, A. F. (2014). Bioactive paper sensor based on the acetylcholinesterase for the rapid detection of organophosphate and carbamate pesticides. *International Journal of Analytical Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/536823.
- Cardoso, T. M., Garcia, P. T., & Coltro, W. K. (2015). Colorimetric determination of nitrite in clinical, food and environmental samples using microfluidic devices stamped in paper platforms. *Analytical Methods*, 7(17), 7311–7317.
- Asano, H., & Shiraishi, Y. (2015). Development of paper-based microfluidic analytical device for iron assay using photomask printed with 3D printer for fabrication of hydrophilic and hydrophobic zones on paper by photolithography. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 883, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2015.04.014.
- Jiang, X., & Fan, Z. H. (2016). Fabrication and operation of paper-based analytical devices. *Annual Review of Analytical Chemistry*, 9, 203–222. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevanchem-071015-041714.
- Khanna, M., Roy, S., Kumar, R., Wadhwa, S., Mathur, A., & Dubey, A. K. (2018). MnO₂ based Bisphenol-A electrochemical sensor using micro-fluidic platform. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 18(6), 2206–2210. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSEN.2018.2792476.
- Meelapsom, R., Jarujamrus, P., Amatatongchai, M., Chairam, S., Kulsing, C., & Shen, W. (2016). Chromatic analysis by monitoring unmodified silver nanoparticles reduction on double layer microfluidic paper-based analytical devices for selective and sensitive determination of mercury (II). *Talanta*, 155, 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta. 2016.04.037.
- Ortiz-Gomez, I., Ortega-Muñoz, M., Salinas-Castillo, A., Álvarez-Bermejo, J. A., Ariza-Avidad, M., de Orbe-Payá, I., et al. (2016). Tetrazine-based chemistry for nitrite determination in a paper microfluidic device. *Talanta*, *160*, 721–728.
- Sicard, C., Glen, C., Aubie, B., Wallace, D., Jahanshahi-Anbuhi, S., Pennings, K., et al. (2015). Tools for water quality monitoring and mapping using paper-based sensors and cell phones. *Water Research*, *70*, 360–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.12.005.
- Santhiago, M., Henry, C. S., & Kubota, L. T. (2014). Low cost, simple three dimensional electrochemical paper-based analytical device for determination of p-nitrophenol. *Electrochimica Acta, 130*, 771–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2014.03.109.
- Martinez, A. W., Phillips, S. T., Carrilho, E., Thomas, S. W., III, Sindi, H., & Whitesides, G. M. (2008). Simple telemedicine for developing regions: Camera phones and paper-based microfluidic devices for real-time, off-site diagnosis. *Analytical Chemistry*, 80(10), 3699– 3707.
- Loh, L. J., Bandara, G. C., Weber, G. L., & Remcho, V. T. (2015). Detection of water contamination from hydraulic fracturing wastewater: A μPAD for bromide analysis in natural waters. *Analyst*, 140(16), 5501–5507. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5AN00807G.

- Jayawardane, B. M., McKelvie, I. D., & Kolev, S. D. (2015). Development of a gas-diffusion microfluidic paper-based analytical device (μPAD) for the determination of ammonia in wastewater samples. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87(9), 4621–4626.
- Lopez-Ruiz, N., Curto, V. F., Erenas, M. M., Benito-Lopez, F., Diamond, D., Palma, A. J., et al. (2014). Smartphone-based simultaneous pH and nitrite colorimetric determination for paper microfluidic devices. *Analytical Chemistry*, 86(19), 9554–9562. https://doi.org/10. 1021/ac5019205.
- 39. Turner, A. P. (2000). Biosensors-sense and sensitivity. Science, 290(5495), 1315-1317.
- Ivars-Barceló, F., Zuliani, A., Fallah, M., Mashkour, M., Rahimnejad, M., & Luque, R. (2018). Novel applications of microbial fuel cells in sensors and biosensors. *Applied Sciences*, 8(7), 1184. https://doi.org/10.3390/app8071184.
- Zeng, L., Gong, J., Rong, P., Liu, C., & Chen, J. (2019). A portable and quantitative biosensor for cadmium detection using glucometer as the point-of-use device. *Talanta*, 198, 412–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2019.02.045.
- Wee, Y., Park, S., Kwon, Y. H., Ju, Y., Yeon, K. M., & Kim, J. (2019). Tyrosinase-immobilized CNT based biosensor for highly-sensitive detection of phenolic compounds. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2019.03.008.
- 43. Yu, Y., Yu, C., Gao, R., Chen, J., Zhong, H., Wen, Y., et al. (2019). Dandelion-like CuO microspheres decorated with Au nanoparticle modified biosensor for Hg²⁺ detection using a T-Hg²⁺-T triggered hybridization chain reaction amplification strategy. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 131, 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2019.01.063.
- Atar, N., Eren, T., Yola, M. L., & Wang, S. (2015). A sensitive molecular imprinted surface plasmon resonance nanosensor for selective determination of trace triclosan in wastewater. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 216, 638–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2015.04. 076.
- 45. Nomngongo, P. N., Ngila, J. C., Msagati, T. A., Gumbi, B. P., & Iwuoha, E. I. (2012). Determination of selected persistent organic pollutants in wastewater from landfill leachates, using an amperometric biosensor. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 50*, 252–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2012.08.001.
- 46. Yamashita, T., Ookawa, N., Ishida, M., Kanamori, H., Sasaki, H., Katayose, Y., et al. (2016). A novel open-type biosensor for the in-situ monitoring of biochemical oxygen demand in an aerobic environment. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 38552.
- Biswas, P., Karn, A. K., Balasubramanian, P., & Kale, P. G. (2017). Biosensor for detection of dissolved chromium in potable water: A review. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 94, 589– 604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017.03.043.
- Verma, N., Sharma, R., & Kumar, S. (2016). Advancement towards microfluidic approach to develop economical disposable optical biosensor for lead detection. *Austin Journal of Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 2(2), 1021.
- Qiu, G., Ng, S. P., & Wu, C.-M. L. (2018). Bimetallic Au-Ag alloy nanoislands for highly sensitive localized surface plasmon resonance biosensing. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 265, 459–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2018.03.066.
- Guo, B., Wen, B., Cheng, W., Zhou, X., Duan, X., Zhao, M., et al. (2018). An enzyme-free and label-free surface plasmon resonance biosensor for ultrasensitive detection of fusion gene based on DNA self-assembly hydrogel with streptavidin encapsulation. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 112, 120–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2018.04.027.
- Kassal, P., Steinberg, M. D., & Steinberg, I. M. (2018). Wireless chemical sensors and biosensors: A review. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 266, 228–245. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.snb.2018.03.074.
- Yildirim, N., Long, F., & Gu, A. Z. (2014). Aptamer based *E-coli* detection in waste waters by portable optical biosensor system. In: 2014 40th Annual Northeast Bioengineering Conference (NEBEC) 2014 (pp. 1–3). IEEE.
- Chouler, J., & Di Lorenzo, M. (2015). Water quality monitoring in developing countries; Can microbial fuel cells be the answer? *Biosensors*, 5(3), 450–470. https://doi.org/10.3390/ bios5030450.

- Jiang, Y., Yang, X., Liang, P., Liu, P., & Huang, X. (2018). Microbial fuel cell sensors for water quality early warning systems: Fundamentals, signal resolution, optimization and future challenges. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 81, 292–305. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rser.2017.06.099.
- Modin, O., & Aulenta, F. (2017). Three promising applications of microbial electrochemistry for the water sector. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 3(3), 391– 402. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6EW00325G.
- Di Lorenzo, M., Thomson, A. R., Schneider, K., Cameron, P. J., & Ieropoulos, I. (2014). A small-scale air-cathode microbial fuel cell for on-line monitoring of water quality. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 62, 182–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2014.06.050.
- Zhou, T., Han, H., Liu, P., Xiong, J., Tian, F., & Li, X. (2017). Microbial fuels cell-based biosensor for toxicity detection: A review. *Sensors*, 17(10), 2230. https://doi.org/10.3390/ s17102230.
- ElMekawy, A., Hegab, H., Pant, D., & Saint, C. (2018). Bio-analytical applications of microbial fuel cell-based biosensors for onsite water quality monitoring. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 124(1), 302–313. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13631.
- Zhao, S., Liu, P., Niu, Y., Chen, Z., Khan, A., Zhang, P., et al. (2018). A novel early warning system based on a sediment microbial fuel cell for in situ and real time hexavalent chromium detection in industrial wastewater. *Sensors*, 18(2), 642. https://doi.org/10.3390/ s18020642.
- Chouler, J., Cruz-Izquierdo, Á., Rengaraj, S., Scott, J. L., & Di Lorenzo, M. (2018). A screen-printed paper microbial fuel cell biosensor for detection of toxic compounds in water. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 102, 49–56.
- Chen, Y., & Han, D. (2018). Water quality monitoring in smart city: A pilot project. *Automation in Construction*, 89, 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2018.02.008.
- Myint, C. Z., Gopal, L., & Aung, Y. L. (2017). Reconfigurable smart water quality monitoring system in IoT environment. In: 2017 IEEE/ACIS 16th International Conference on Computer and Information Science (ICIS) 2017 (pp. 435–440). IEEE.
- Bröring, A., Echterhoff, J., Jirka, S., Simonis, I., Everding, T., Stasch, C., et al. (2011). New generation sensor web enablement. *Sensors*, 11(3), 2652–2699. https://doi.org/10.3390/ s110302652.
- 64. Zhu, X., Li, D., He, D., Wang, J., Ma, D., & Li, F. (2010). A remote wireless system for water quality online monitoring in intensive fish culture. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 71, S3–S9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2009.10.004.
- O'Flynn, B., Regan, F., Lawlor, A., Wallace, J., Torres, J., & O'Mathuna, C. (2010). Experiences and recommendations in deploying a real-time, water quality monitoring system. *Measurement Science & Technology*, 21(12), 124004.
- Gallah, N., Bahri, O., Lazreg, N., Chaouch, A., & Besbes, K. (2017). Water quality monitoring based on small satellite technology. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 8(3), 357–362.
- Dunbabin, M., & Marques, L. (2012). Robots for environmental monitoring: Significant advancements and applications. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Magazine*, 19(1), 24–39. https://doi.org/10.1109/MRA.2011.2181683.
- Ma, J., Meng, F., Zhou, Y., Wang, Y., & Shi, P. (2018). Distributed water pollution source localization with mobile UV-visible spectrometer probes in wireless sensor networks. *Sensors*, 18(2), 606. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18020606.
- Eichhorn, M., Taubert, R., Ament, C., Jacobi, M., & Pfuetzenreuter, T. (2013). Modular AUV system for sea water quality monitoring and management. In: 2013 MTS/ IEEE OCEANS-Bergen 2013 (pp. 1–7). IEEE.
- Vasilijević, A., Nađ, Đ., Mandić, F., Mišković, N., & Vukić, Z. (2017). Coordinated navigation of surface and underwater marine robotic vehicles for ocean sampling and environmental monitoring. *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, 22(3), 1174–1184. https://doi.org/10.1109/TMECH.2017.2684423.

- Jadaliha, M., & Choi, J. (2013). Environmental monitoring using autonomous aquatic robots: Sampling algorithms and experiments. *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, 21(3), 899–905. https://doi.org/10.1109/TCST.2012.2190070.
- Ferri, G., Manzi, A., Fornai, F., Ciuchi, F., & Laschi, C. (2015). The HydroNet ASV, a small-sized autonomous catamaran for real-time monitoring of water quality: From design to missions at sea. *IEEE Journal of Oceanic Engineering*, 40(3), 710–726. https://doi.org/10. 1109/JOE.2014.2359361.
- Liu, J., Wu, Z., & Yu, J. (2016). Design and implementation of a robotic dolphin for water quality monitoring. In: 2016 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Biomimetics (ROBIO) 2016 (pp. 835–840). IEEE.
- Wu, Z., Liu, J., Yu, J., & Fang, H. (2017). Development of a novel robotic dolphin and its application to water quality monitoring. *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, 22(5), 2130–2140. https://doi.org/10.1109/TMECH.2017.2722009.
- Ravalli, A., Rossi, C., & Marrazza, G. (2017). Bio-inspired fish robot based on chemical sensors. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 239, 325–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb. 2016.08.030.
- Zhang, F., Ennasr, O., Litchman, E., & Tan, X. (2016). Autonomous sampling of water columns using gliding robotic fish: Algorithms and harmful-algae-sampling experiments. *IEEE Systems Journal*, 10(3), 1271–1281. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSYST.2015.2458173.
- 77. Felemban, E., Shaikh, F. K., Qureshi, U. M., Sheikh, A. A., & Qaisar, S. B. (2015). Underwater sensor network applications: A comprehensive survey. *International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks*, 11(11), 896832. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/896832.
- Charef, A., Ghauch, A., Baussand, P., & Martin-Bouyer, M. (2000). Water quality monitoring using a smart sensing system. *Measurement*, 28(3), 219–224. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0263-2241(00)00015-4.
- Yifan, K., & Peng, J. (2008). Development of data video base station in water environment monitoring oriented wireless sensor networks. In: 2008 International Conference on Embedded Software and Systems Symposia 2008 (pp. 281–286). IEEE.
- Jiang, P., Xia, H., He, Z., & Wang, Z. (2009). Design of a water environment monitoring system based on wireless sensor networks. *Sensors*, 9(8), 6411–6434. https://doi.org/10. 3390/s90806411.
- Parra, L., Rocher, J., Escrivá, J., & Lloret, J. (2018). Design and development of low cost smart turbidity sensor for water quality monitoring in fish farms. *Aquacultural Engineering*, *81*, 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2018.01.004.
- Dunkels, A., Osterlind, F., Tsiftes, N., & He, Z. (2007). Software-based on-line energy estimation for sensor nodes. In: *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Embedded Networked Sensors 2007* (pp. 28–32). ACM.
- Wu, R., Salim, W. W., Malhotra, S., Brovont, A., Park, J., Pekarek, S., et al. (2013). Self-powered mobile sensor for in-pipe potable water quality monitoring. In: *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Miniaturized Systems for Chemistry and Life Sciences* (pp. 14–16).
- Mao, S., Chang, J., Zhou, G., & Chen, J. (2015). Nanomaterial-enabled rapid detection of water contaminants. *Small (Weinheim an der Bergstrasse, Germany), 11*(40), 5336–5359. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201500831.
- Willner, M. R., & Vikesland, P. J. (2018). Nanomaterial enabled sensors for environmental contaminants. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 16(1), 95.
- Grieshaber, D., MacKenzie, R., Voeroes, J., & Reimhult, E. (2008). Electrochemical biosensors-sensor principles and architectures. *Sensors*, 8(3), 1400–1458. https://doi.org/10. 3390/s80314000.
- Link, S., & El-Sayed, M. A. (1999). Spectral properties and relaxation dynamics of surface plasmon electronic oscillations in gold and silver nanodots and nanorods. ACS Publications.

- Saha, K., Agasti, S. S., Kim, C., Li, X., & Rotello, V. M. (2012). Gold nanoparticles in chemical and biological sensing. *Chemical Reviews*, 112(5), 2739–2779. https://doi.org/10. 1021/cr2001178.
- Hnaiein, M., Hassen, W., Abdelghani, A., Fournier-Wirth, C., Coste, J., Bessueille, F., et al. (2008). A conductometric immunosensor based on functionalized magnetite nanoparticles for *E. coli* detection. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 10(8), 1152–1154. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.elecom.2008.04.009.
- Yang, W., Ratinac, K. R., Ringer, S. P., Thordarson, P., Gooding, J. J., & Braet, F. (2010). Carbon nanomaterials in biosensors: Should you use nanotubes or graphene? *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 49(12), 2114–2138. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200903463.
- Zhan, B., Li, C., Yang, J., Jenkins, G., Huang, W., & Dong, X. (2014). Graphene field-effect transistor and its application for electronic sensing. *Small (Weinheim an der Bergstrasse, Germany)*, 10(20), 4042–4065. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201400463.
- 92. Xie, Y., Tu, X., Ma, X., Fang, Q., Lu, L., Yu, Y., et al. (2019). High-performance voltammetric sensor for dichlorophenol based on β-cyclodextrin functionalized boron-doped graphene composite aerogels. *Nanotechnology*.
- Liu, G., Jia, H., Li, N., Li, X., Yu, Z., Wang, J., et al. (2019). High-fluorescent carbon dots (CDs) originated from China grass carp scales (CGCS) for effective detection of Hg (II) ions. *Microchemical Journal*, 145, 718–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2018.11.044.
- 94. Li, X., Zheng, Y., Tang, Y., Chen, Q., Gao, J., Luo, Q., et al. (2019). Efficient and visual monitoring of cerium (III) ions by green-fluorescent carbon dots and paper-based sensing. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 206, 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2018.08.021.
- Ramírez, M. L., Tettamanti, C. S., Gutierrez, F. A., Gonzalez-Domínguez, J. M., Ansón-Casaos, A., Hernández-Ferrer, J., et al. (2018). Cysteine functionalized bio-nanomaterial for the affinity sensing of Pb (II) as an indicator of environmental damage. *Microchemical Journal*, 141, 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2018.05.007.
- Dong, Y., Li, G., Zhou, N., Wang, R., Chi, Y., & Chen, G. (2012). Graphene quantum dot as a green and facile sensor for free chlorine in drinking water. *Analytical Chemistry*, 84(19), 8378–8382. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac301945z.
- Gong, X., Liu, Y., Yang, Z., Shuang, S., Zhang, Z., & Dong, C. (2017). An "on-off-on" fluorescent nanoprobe for recognition of chromium (VI) and ascorbic acid based on phosphorus/nitrogen dual-doped carbon quantum dot. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 968, 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2017.02.038.
- Liu, W., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Li, J., Shen, D., Kang, Q., et al. (2018). Ratiometric fluorescence sensor based on dithiothreitol modified carbon dots-gold nanoclusters for the sensitive detection of mercury ions in water samples. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 262, 810–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2018.01.222.
- Tang, S., Tong, P., Li, H., Tang, J., & Zhang, L. (2013). Ultrasensitive electrochemical detection of Pb²⁺ based on rolling circle amplification and quantum dotstagging. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 42, 608–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2012.10.073.
- Yang, Y., Asiri, A. M., Du, D., & Lin, Y. (2014). Acetylcholinesterase biosensor based on a gold nanoparticle–polypyrrole–reduced graphene oxide nanocomposite modified electrode for the amperometric detection of organophosphorus pesticides. *Analyst, 139*(12), 3055– 3060. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4AN00068D.
- 101. Cui, H.-F., Wu, W.-W., Li, M.-M., Song, X., Lv, Y., & Zhang, T.-T. (2018). A highly stable acetylcholinesterase biosensor based on chitosan-TiO₂-graphene nanocomposites for detection of organophosphate pesticides. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 99, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017.07.068.
- 102. Nie, Y., Teng, Y., Li, P., Liu, W., Shi, Q., & Zhang, Y. (2018). Label-free aptamer-based sensor for specific detection of malathion residues by surface-enhanced Raman scattering. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 191, 271–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2017.10.030.

- Yang, X., Feng, L., & Qin, X. (2018). Preparation of the Cf-GQDs-*Escherichia coli* O157: H7 bioprobe and its application in optical imaging and sensing of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7. *Food Analytical Methods*, 11(8), 2280–2286.
- 104. Parimaladevi, R., Sathe, V., & Mahalingam, U. (2019). Graphene boosted silver nanoparticles as surface enhanced Raman spectroscopic sensors and photocatalysts for removal of standard and industrial dye contaminants. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 281, 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2018.11.007.
- Parvathi, V. P., Parimaladevi, R., Sathe, V., & Umadevi, M. (2019). Application of G-SERS for the efficient detection of toxic dye contaminants in textile effluents using gold/graphene oxide substrates. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 273, 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molliq.2018.10.027.
- Chen, C., Chen, Y.-C., Hong, Y.-T., Lee, T.-W., & Huang, J.-F. (2018). Facile fabrication of ascorbic acid reduced graphene oxide-modified electrodes toward electroanalytical determination of sulfamethoxazole in aqueous environments. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 352, 188–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.06.110.
- 107. Wong, A., Santos, A. M., Baccarin, M., Cavalheiro, É. T. G., & Fatibello-Filho, O. (2019). Simultaneous determination of environmental contaminants using a graphite oxide– Polyurethane composite electrode modified with cyclodextrin. *Materials Science and Engineering C*, 99, 1415–1423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.02.093.

Nanofiber Based Sensors for Water Pollution Monitoring



Alok Kumar Srivastava^(b), Pragati Bajpai^(b), Punam Awasthi, Alok Kumar^(b) and Namburi Eswara Prasad

Abstract Monitoring of water contaminants is essentially required in order to ensure a continuous supply of potable water, as well as, for ensuring protection of aquatic and marine environment. Numerous sensing techniques have been developed, though the key aspect of all of them is the material used for detection. Nanomaterials, and in particular the nanofibers have an edge over other available alternatives owing to the fact that they offer higher sensitivity, ease of design, faster response and recovery as well as high specificity. In the present chapter, we summarize the recent progress in Nanofiber based Sensors for water pollutant identification and monitoring. It reviews the different available nanofiber chemistry and a comparison vis-à-vis their sensing characteristics is presented. The chapter also reviews the fabrication methodology of the various different types of available sensors based on nanofibers for water monitoring. The role of nanofibers for water contaminant monitoring is discussed and its efficiency presented.

Keywords Nanofiber • Sensor • Heavy metal ions • Biological contaminants • Water pollutants monitoring

1 Introduction

Ecosystem balance is a prerequisite for the survival of humankind on earth. There are a variety of ways in which we have been disturbing this balance for our vested interests in a bid to bring about the industrial and economic growth. Water is the lifeline of our society and also a major driving force for maintaining the balance in

Defence Materials and Stores Research and Development Establishment, Kanpur, UP 208004, India e-mail: aksrivastava@dmsrde.drdo.in

P. Bajpai · A. Kumar Uttar Pradesh Textile Technology Institute, Kanpur, UP 208001, India e-mail: aloks.iitk@gmail.com

A. K. Srivastava (🖂) · P. Awasthi · N. E. Prasad

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

D. Pooja et al. (eds.), *Sensors in Water Pollutants Monitoring: Role of Material*, Advanced Functional Materials and Sensors, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0671-0_16

the ecosystem. Beyond doubt, the reason of existence of life on earth is the presence of water and in fact some theories even suggest that the life originated in water [1, 2]. Water happens to be the key necessity for us, as well as, for the marine and aquatic life and hence any non-natural additives to it leads to the disturbance in the ecosystem balance. Therefore, it is vital to protect the water from being polluted and contaminated for the survival of the human race. In order to achieve this, the first and foremost step is to identify or *sense* the existence of the contaminants or pollutants in water, followed by taking remedial action for its rectification and purification. Hefty amounts of money are being spent on water remediation around the globe and still a lot needs to be done.

Water can become contaminated through multiple sources of impurities. These can be of industrial origin, agricultural or due to human interventions. Some of the common impurities are heavy metals ions (lead, arsenic, chromium, mercury and cadmium), hydrocarbons, organic compounds (volatile organic compounds, phenols and dioxins), dissolved toxic gases like sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, particulates, organophosphorus (OP) compounds (pesticides and insecticides), and biological impurities like pathogens [3-5]. All of these ultimately can damage the ecosystem and are unfavorable for the human health and environmental security. Long term exposure to heavy metal and particulate matter is a significant leading factor in causing health problems in the form of various diseases, while on other hand it can cause many disorders in ecological environments (including plant and animal life) and tend to affect the food chains [5, 6]. The heavy-metal accumulates slowly in human bodies and causes various chronic diseases. Therefore, it is imperative to develop economical, sensitive, selective, and simple detection methods to monitor and ultimately remediate these toxic substances from water. Organic pollutants and biological impurities in water also needs to be regulated. The effect of presence of coliforms and pathogens in water leads to many disease like diaorrhea, urinary tract infections and respiratory disorders [7–9]. Organic pollutants on the other hand are more dangerous to aquatic life but can enter human body through these sources. They can lead to cancer risk, reproductive and immunological disorders, neuro-impairment, genotoxicity and increased birth defects. World Health Organization(WHO) has laid down specific guidelines for the control of all water specific pollutants and contaminants [10].

There are a variety of techniques available for identification of water pollutants, such as surface plasmon resonance (SPR) [11, 12], gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) [13, 14], high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) [15, 16], inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) [17]. However, many of these are either expensive or time-consuming and require complicated sample preparation. For optimal utilization, the sensing methodology needs to be extremely specific, and suitable for day to day or even field monitoring of water pollutants. We can increase the incidences of contaminant monitoring and process control only if the available detection technology is sensitive, selective and less expensive. In recent years, many different kinds of sensors have been developed for chemical and biological water pollutant detection. The target is to achieve ease of fabrication, low-cost, high sensitivity and selectivity for sensors. The role of

materials is extremely important when it comes to sensor fabrication and detection of water pollutants. The choice is extremely varied due to the advancement in the material synthesis techniques though it is often dependent on the type of contaminant whose presence needs to be ascertained. Amongst the available alternatives, nanomaterials, owing to their high surface to volume ratio, are one of the most viable candidate for sensor fabrication [18, 19]. Due to large number of exposed surface atoms, the sensitivity of nanomaterials is far superior than other materials. Despite these advantages, most nanomaterials have a drawback of not being easily addressable as far as device fabrication is concerned. Nanofiber, as a sensor material, have the advantage that they can be easily manipulated and fabricated in the form of sensors [20–22]. In addition, the use of these sensors is also inexpensive (cost-effective) because they are prepared with conventional microelectronics manufacturing equipment and mostly non expensive instrumentation is required for its fabrication.

Herein, we review the role of the nanofiber as a sensor material for water pollutant monitoring and contaminant detection. Nanofibers of various shapes, size, and compositions often exhibit unique and exquisite physico-chemical, optical, catalytic and electronic properties, which are immensely useful for sensor research. A brief introduction on the synthesis of nanofibers is presented followed by the recent developments in the application of nanofiber as a sensor material. Though the list of contaminants as well as materials for their detection is large, the present chapter reviews the application of nanofibers for the detection of following categories of pollutants: (1) Heavy metals, (2) Organic compounds, and (3) biological contaminants. These Nanofiber-based sensing techniques have great impact in the field of environmental monitoring water pollution detection.

2 Nanofiber: An Appropriate Sensing Material

The role of materials in fabrication of sensors is extremely important. Nanomaterials, as mentioned above, are a material of choice for most sensing applications [4]. Nanofibers are 1-D nanostructures, which implies that their two dimensions are in the Nano range (<100 nm) while the third dimension is in the micro/macro range [23, 24]. This provides a unique benefit as compared to their other counterparts in the family of nanomaterials. We all know that it is much easier to control and manipulate micro/macro materials as compared to nanomaterials thus leading to ease in the device fabrication and material integration. Since nanofibers have one dimension in the micro/macro range, it is easier to control them and fabricate sensors using them. They are also an excellent tool for water remediation from different type of industrial and biological pollutants [25].

In the field of environmental monitoring, nanofiber-based sensors offer great potentials in trace contaminants detection due to their large surface area, high surface reactivity and catalytic efficiency, strong adsorption characteristics, readily functionalized, and can be easily fabricated in the form of a nanosensor or nanodevice for ultrasensitive pollutant detection [26]. The type of sensors which can be fabricated with nanofibers as the active/passive material are electrochemical, optical, spectroscopic, thermal, piezoelectric and other detection principles [18, 20–22, 26].

2.1 Synthesis Techniques

There are a variety of ways of synthesizing nanofibers which can be broadly categorized into electro and non-electro spinning techniques [27, 28]. Though the conventional jet spinning techniques combine well with the current fabrication techniques, yet in order to achieve the nanorange fibers with controlled morphology, electrospinning based techniques are more preferred [23]. In this technique, a polymer solution is electrically driven into a fiber structure and collected in a non-woven matrix or aligned fiber sheet as shown in Fig. 1 [24, 29]. The technique is extremely versatile and a wide variety of nanofibers can be synthesized using this technique with excellent control over the shape size and morphology of the nanofibers. In order to enhance the sensing capabilities of the fiber, it is often doped with different additives depending on the technique involved to do the analysis. The electrospinning synthesis technique is extremely versatile as it offers great ease of introducing dopant which can be easily fed in the polymer solution to be used for electrospinning. Other synthesis techniques include melt-blowing, bi-component spinning, force-spinning and flash-spinning for the fabrication of polymeric nanofibers [29, 30].



Fig. 1 Schematic of fabricating **a** Non-woven(mat) and **b** Oriented nanofibers by electrospinning. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [29]. Copyright license © under CC BY-4.0

3 Role of Nanofiber in Sensing Water Pollutants

In this section, we will discuss the role of different available nanofiber materials for detection of various water pollutants categorically depending on the pollutants. We have limited this review for the detection of three categories of pollutants, with nanofiber as the sensing material, irrespective of the detection methodology. The selected pollutant categories are heavy metals, organic impurities and biological contaminants.

3.1 Heavy Metal Ions Detection

Due to heavy industrialization and increased usage of electronic goods, heavy metal ions (HMI) induced pollution has reached a grave level. HMIs are one of the micro pollutants that can cause immense environmental problems [17]. Water pollution by heavy metal ions is significant issue also because long-term exposure to these metal ions can result in critical or chronic damage to the brain and the central nervous system, immune system, reproductive and gastrointestinal systems [31]. Major sources of these heavy metal ions are fertilizers and other chemicals produced from industrial or household electronic waste. These HMIs do not decay or degrade with time and have a tendency to accumulate in living organisms. Among different heavy metals, lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), mercury (Hg), chromium (Cr) and arsenic (As) are considered extremely toxic [32–36]. Even small doses of these highly toxic metals can lead to severe problems on environment and on human health.

Human beings are mainly exposed to these metal ions from air, water and food. For example, the major source of mercury contamination in humans is due to infected fish consumption. Due to the severity of the consequences, it is of utmost importance to detect these heavy metal ions in natural and drinking water and to determine their quantities. It is also important to remediate the water after detection which can be dictated based on the analysis and type and range of contamination. Several international organizations like World Health Organization (WHO), the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the European Union have enlisted HMIs as the priority substances to be monitored and have set certain permissible limits for their concentrations in water. The permissible limits of contaminants in different water categories as per the Environmental protection agency (EPA), USA and World Health Organization (WHO) are given in Table 1.

The detection of HMIs in water is possible through various different techniques which include the spectroscopic techniques like atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS), inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy (ICP-MS), X-ray Fluorescence Spectrometry (XRF) and others [38, 39]. These techniques are extremely sensitive and can detect very low concentrations(femtomolar) of metal ions also. However, they are very expensive and require high end instrumentation and thus are expensive to manage. Other relatively less intensive techniques include

Heavy metal	Drinking water (µg/l)		Aquatic fresh water (µg/l) EPA
	EPA	WHO	
Lead (Pb)	15	10	82
Mercury (Hg)	2	6	1.4
Cadmium (Cd)	5	3	1.8
Arsenic (As)	10	10	-
Chromium (Cr)	100	50	570

Table 1 Permissible limits of heavy metal contaminants in drinking and marine water [10, 37]

the electrochemical sensing, Surface enhanced Raman spectroscopy, colorimetry and optical methods [35]. The role of nanofibers for sensor application using different techniques is shown in a generalized form in Fig. 2. Mostly nanofibers are used as carriers of sensing materials and in some cases as the sensor itself. Depending on the material the it can be a colorimetric or a florescence sensor. The scheme shown here is generalized and is extended for other types of sensors also.

In the following paragraphs, we will review the available nanofiber-based detection methodologies for different heavy metal ions. The role of nanofiber and



Fig. 2 Scheme of methodology of nanofibers for utilization as Fluorescent and colorimetric sensor for HMIs. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [40] Copyright license © under CC BY-4.0

the sensing material is discussed for detection and the methodology of fabrication of sensor. The level of detection is the key aspect of any developed sensor for heavy metals since they can be harmful even at extreme low concentrations. We have included lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), mercury (Hg), chromium (Cr) and arsenic (As) for the current discussion since they happen to be most important among all HMIs.

3.2 Detection of Lead

Lead is one of the most common HMI contaminants due to its widespread utilization as battery electrodes and water pipelines. It is non-biodegradable and can continue to accumulate inside the body leading to disturbed immune, reproductive and neurosystem [31]. It is an essential pollutant to be monitored specially for drinking water. Some excellent review exist for detection of lead ions in water [36, 41–44]. There are a variety of ways in which it can be detected include colorimeter, electrochemical sensing, fluorescence spectroscopy and others [40, 42–44]. Some of them are detailed in the following paragraphs.

Colorimetric sensors for Pb detection are most useful due their applicability in field operations. Kim et al. [42] and Terra et al. [40] have provided a good review of different available techniques for fluorescent and colorimetric sensors. Nanofibers based colorimetric sensors have been reported by many researchers. One of the most commonly used material for colorimetric sensor is polydiacetylene owing to its unique optical property resulting from the delocalized π -electrons and the restricted conformational movements along the backbone [45, 46]. Since the biocompatibility of the nanofiber too plays a role during the detection process, Raj et al. [47] have reported a biocompatible curcumin based colorimetric sensor for lead detection. Electrospinning was utilized to fabricate Curcumin loaded cellulose acetate nanofiber membrane and a visual detection limit of 20 μ M is reported with color changing from yellow to orange. The advantage of this method is the usage of a biocompatible material thus reducing the chance of secondary contamination of water.

Li et al. [48] prepared a sensor strip utilizing electrospun polyamide-6/ nitrocellulose nanofiber nets as membrane to assemble bovine serum albumin decorated Au nanoparticle (BAu probe) for colorimetric detection of Pb^{2+} . It was possible to have a naked eye detection of Pb^{2+} even at a concentration of 0.20 μ M. Pb^{2+} could accelerate the specific leaching reaction, thus causing a color change from pink to white (fading gradually with the increasing concentration of Pb^{2+}) which could be observed by the naked eye. In another work, Li et al. [49] have also developed pink to purple chromatic strips wherein they have utilized electrospun nylon-6/polyvinylene fluoride nanofiber nets with l-glutathione-conjugated Au nanoparticle based probes. The sensor strips showed a response time of 10 min and detection range 10–500 μ g/dL. In both these works, the large surface area provided by the nanofiber nets, high porosity and tree network structure of sensing material aided in better sensitivity and detection limits.

Zhang et al. [50] have reported amplified detection of picomolar concentration of metal ions by Plasmon-enhanced fluorescence. Similar to SERS, the substrate of polyacrylonitrile/noble metal/SiO₂ nanofiber mats were prepared. This enhanced the fluorescence intensity of conjugated polyelectrolytes which was further dramatically quenched in presence of the picomolar concentration of heavy metal ions including Pb²⁺. Electrochemistry based approaches also find nanofiber as a suitable material for electrode fabrication/modification. Rafols et al. [51] have used Glutathione as a modifier for screen printed carbon nanofiber electrode for determining the heavy metal ion concentration using voltammetry (see Fig. 3). Glutathione immobilization on carbon nanofiber was achieved through aryl diazonium electografting. It was observed that the carbon nanofiber modified electrodes gave better level of detection as compared to normal screen-printed electrodes with LOD of 3.0 μ g L⁻¹ and 3.2 μ g L⁻¹ for Pb (II) and Cd (II), respectively.

3.3 Detection of Mercury

Mercury ions are more toxic than other elements and are non-biodegradable. The classic example of the havoc that can be caused by Hg^{2+} ions is the outbreak of the Minamata disease in Japan. The fish contaminated due to high amount of mercury in sea water was consumed by the locals and resulted in severe neurological and other disorders [52]. Its detection is extremely important for aquatic life as well as



Fig. 3 Schematic of the voltammetric detection of modified screen-printed electrodes with carbon nanofibers. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [51] Copyright © Elsevier Publications

for our well-being. Trace level detection of mercury is reported by various different methodologies including Electrochemical, Florescence spectroscopy, Colorimetry, SERS, ICP-MS and others [38, 53–55]. Some excellent reviews exist in the field of detection of trace level mercury [53, 56]. As per the theme of this chapter, we will limit our discussion to nanofiber related sensors only.

A very interesting article by Senthamizhan et al. [57] offers real time selective visual monitoring of Hg²⁺ ions utilizing fluorescent gold nanoclusters decorated over polycaprolactone nanofibers. For immobilization, the nanofibers were kept immersed in a solution of bovine serum albumin (BSA) coated gold nanocluster for different time periods. The detection was extremely selective towards Hg²⁺ and exhibits stability of over four months. The nanofiber helped in avoiding Au nanoparticle aggregation and was used as a support matrix. Another article by Yu et al. [58] utilizes BSA nanofibers coated with gold nanoclusters and graphene oxide for fluorescence based detection of mercury. The LOD reported was 0.0238 nM. Ma et al. [59] have also reported a highly selective and sensitive fluorescent nanofibrous membrane for Hg²⁺ ions. The process followed was similar to others viz. preparation of electrospun nanofibers of PAN, and then introducing a fluorescent chemosensor dithioacetal-modified perylenediimide on its surface. The reported sensitivity was up to a concentration of 1 ppb of Hg^{2+} ions with excellent selectivity over other heavy metal ions. In general, the methodology followed by most Fluorescent based sensor with nanofibers is similar and is elucidated in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4 Generalized Scheme of fabrication of fluorescent sensor for heavy metal ion detection. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [59] Copyright © Elsevier Publications

Another much explored category of sensors for heavy metal ion detection are the electrochemical sensors. Tang et al. [60] reported a reusable electrochemical biosensor based on a platform of ordered mesoporous carbon and self-doped polyaniline nanofibers. DNA was immobilized on these platforms and in the presence of Hg²⁺ ions, the folding was induced which resulted in the increased electrical signal. The conductive nanofibers efficiently transmit these signals resulting in a highly sensitive detection with an LOD of 0.6 fM of Hg²⁺. Ghosh et al. [61] have demonstrated a highly sensitive precise detector fabricated using Au@BSA coated on Nylon-6 nanofibers which were already precoated with a green emitting fluorophore fluorescein isothiocyanate. The Hg²⁺ ions quench the red emission completely and the same was observed as a signal in the sensor. The authors claim that the sensor can sense as low as 80 counts of ions of mercury. Kacmaz et al. [62] reported an optical chemical sensor device for Hg²⁺ ion detection using ethyl cellulose nanofibers. The nanofibers were fabricated with an azomethine flouroionophore as an additive dye. In the presence of the heavy metal ions the optical absorption spectrum of the fiber changes much more as compared to thin films and it has been demonstrated to detect Hg^{2+} ion concentration as low as 0.07 nM. Another novel approach by Parsaee [63] was to use bio-ultrasound assisted fabrication of Au-NPs using algae and immobilized over PAN nanofibers. The detection was based on colorimetry and fluorescence in presence of the dye Rhodamine-B(RhB). The catalytic reduction of RhB by Au-amalgam causes a color change which could be mapped to the amount of Hg^{2+} present in the solution. The LOD of this method was reported to be 1.10 nM of metal ion concentration. Another interesting work by Sanchez-Calvo et al. [64], reports fabrication of paper based electrochemical sensor for Hg²⁺ detection. The electrode was modified by AuNPs-carbon nanofibers and rGO-AuNPs which increased their selectivity and sensitivity. While nanofibers provided larger surface area, the AuNPs with their affinity towards Hg²⁺ helped in more sensitive recordings. The sensor was able to detect up to 30 nM with CNFs/AuNPs chemistry.

3.4 Detection of Cadmium

Cadmium is another heavy metal which has serious human health hazards and it badly affects renal function and the respiratory tracts [65]. It is present not only in industrial effluents, but also in the electronic wastes like mobile phones and their batteries, computer circuit boards etc. [66]. Many researchers have reviewed the detection of Cadmium using different techniques like SERS, colorimetry, Fluorescence etc. [38, 39, 67].

Promphet et al. [68] have utilized graphene/polyaniline/polystyrene electrospun nanoporous fibers modified electrode and a voltammetry study for simultaneous determination of lead and cadmium. The developed electrochemical sensor reported a detection limit of 3.30 μ g/l and 4.43 μ g L⁻¹ for Lead and Cadmium, respectively. They also reported reusage of the electrode after simple washing up to ten times.

Migliorini et al. [69] have also studied the effect of polyamide-6/chitosan nanofibers and AuNPs modification of fluorine doped tin oxide electrodes for Cd^{2+} detection. The voltammetry study revealed a linear response in 25–75 µg L⁻¹ concentration of Cd^{2+} and a detection limit of 0.88 µg L⁻¹. One dimensional phytic acid doped polyaniline nanofibers were utilized as a modifier for glassy carbon electrode for simultaneous detection of Cd^{2+} and Pb²⁺ using differential pulse anodic stripping voltammetry by Huang et al. [70] group. The reported detection limits were 0.02 and 0.05 µg L⁻¹ for Cd and Pb, respectively.

Zhang et al. [71] have reported a green synthesis scheme for the fabrication of AuNPs/CNFs over glassy carbon electrodes by electrospinning for detecting Cd^{2+} , Pb²⁺ and Cu²⁺ metal ions. Square wave anodic stripping voltammetry was used and detection limits reaching up to 0.1 μ M. Mishra et al. [72] have deposited graphene oxide nanofibers on screen printed carbon electrodes for the fabrication of HMI sensor. The GO dispersed in PVA was electrospun over SPCE followed by alkaline phosphatase immobilization over these composite fibers. There was an inhibition of ALP activity in presence of HMIs which was used as a scale for monitoring the level of pollutants in water. The detection limit reported was 0.0075, 0.015 and 0.0312 ppb for detecting Hg²⁺, Pb²⁺ and Cd²⁺ metal ions. CNFs in three dimensional networks were used as a voltammetric sensors by Qin et al. [73]. CNFs were prepared from bacterial cellulose by carbonization at 800 °C, wrapped with Nafion polymer and cast on GCE for trace level determination of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ metal ions. The detection limits are 0.38 and 0.33 μ g L⁻¹ for Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺, respectively.

Microfluidic based sensors are also reported for cadmium detection. Shen et al. [74] have reported a low-cost microfluidic electrochemical carbon based sensor without any modifier and a novel design for heavy metal ion detection. The miniaturized design has a paper flow channel with all three electrodes (working, reference and counter) arranged over it as shown in Fig. 5. The analyte flows through a capillary action and is detected as soon as it comes in contact with the



Fig. 5 Schematics of a microfluidic sensor device for heavy metal ion detection. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [74]. Copyright © American Chemical Society

electrodes. The device is quite robust and demonstrates up to 10 repetitive measurements stably. The detection limits achieved were as low as 1.2 μ g L⁻¹ and 1.8 μ g L⁻¹ for Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ ions, respectively.

3.5 Detection of Arsenic

Measuring arsenic in the aquatic and drinking water is imperative for protecting human health. Drinking water and wastewater treatment facilities are already subject to arsenic regulations to protect human exposure and environmental contamination. There are different methods of determining the arsenic mostly common with the above mentioned heavy metal ions like Colorimetry, Fluorescent spectroscopy etc. [38, 75–78] Some notable ones wherein nanofibers were used are detailed below.

Nellaiappan et al. [79] fabricated AuNPs decorated carbon nanofiber-chitosan modified electrodes for flow injection analysis of As(III) species. The electrochemical detector showed excellent stability, reproducibility and workability with a limit of detection value of 38.3 33 μ g L⁻¹. Saikia et al. [80] have reported the use of PANI nanofiber with carbon dot derived from green synthesis route for fluorimetric detection of As³⁺ in water with a detection limit of up to 0.001 ppb. Kempahanumakkagari et al. [81] have provided a review of nanomaterials based electrochemical sensors for arsenic.

3.6 Detection of Chromium

Chromium is another element which can be very harmful for human and aquatic health. It is considered a carcinogen and causes genotoxic effects. It can cause maturity onset, cardiovascular disease and inhibit DNA replication [82]. Its infection in water is mainly due to anthropogenic activities and industrial effluents [83]. It occurs most stably in trivalent and hexavalent states. Many researchers have detected its presence using variety of techniques, most of which has already been detailed above.

Electrospun PVA nanofiber membranes modified with spirolactum-rhodaminene derivatives exhibited high selectivity and sensitivity towards Cr^{3+} ions as demonstrated by Wei et al. [84]. The membrane showed a detection limit of 1 μ M for Cr^{3+} in aqueous solutions with excellent adsorption capacity. Wang et al. [85] have utilized a fluorophore, 1,4-Dihydroxyanthraquinone doped cellulose nanofiber film fabricated by electrospinning and deacetylating for Cu^{2+} and Cr^{3+} detection. Interestingly, once utilized for Cu^{2+} sensing the Chromium ion reverses the phenolate- Cu^{2+} reaction thus leading to recovered fluorescence which is proportional to Cr^{3+} ion concentration. The detection range for Cr^{3+} ion reported is 2.5×10^{-9} to 2.5×10^{-8} M in aqueous solution.

3.7 Organic Contaminants

Organic contaminants are released in the water resources mainly from industries. Gasoline and aromatic hydrocarbon solvents are produced and used in large quantities. Many incidents of oil spillage in ocean have been reported. The environmental impact of these spillage often results in loss of aquatic life as well as ground water contamination [86]. To ensure remediation, there is a need for monitoring of these toxic compounds. The common organic contaminants as per the EPA include volatile organic compounds (VOC), pesticides, insecticides, aromatic and chlorinated hydrocarbons [87–89]. Almost all the chlorinated hydrocarbons like chloroethylene pose severe kidney and liver problems while aromatics can harm our nervous system [3].

Surface enhanced Raman spectroscopy-based sensors for organics monitoring has been studied by many researchers. These sensors have the advantage of being extremely specific and sensitive to the analyte being monitored. Wei et al. [90] provide an extremely exhaustive review of the application of SERS sensing technique for environmental monitoring. Though SERS phenomena is observed in many nanomaterials, this section will limit its discussion on role of nanofibers in SERS sensors for organic contaminants. Nanofibers offer the optimum size for the surface plasmon resonance to occur and the SERS sensor to be effective. Chamuah et al. [91] have demonstrated the application of this technique with nanofibers in a simple way by coating PVA fibers with gold and utilizing it as a substrate for SERS sensor (see Fig. 6). They were able to detect the presence of three different pesticides using this platform namely deltamethrin, quinalphos and thiacloprid. Doping is also used by some groups to increase the sensitivity of nanofibers towards SERS. Singh et al. [92] report Ta doped TiO₂ nanofibers with enhanced SERS activity for organics detection.



Fig. 6 Schematics of a typical method of utilizing Nanofibers for SERS applications. Reprinted with permission from Ref [91]. Copyright © Elsevier Publications

Gas chromatography is also used for organochlorinated pesticide detection. Vojtech et al. [93] have used polyetherimide nanofibers as sorbents or solid phase microextraction tool and these fibers were then tested in gas chromatograph. They claim that fast sorption and ease of production along with their ability to be utilized for detection of organochlorinated pesticide make these nanofibers a choice material for SPMEs.

Electrochemical sensors also see great potential in nanofibers due to their shape and size. An amperometric biosensor for determining the organophosphate pesticides(parathion) in aqueous system was developed by Bao et al. [94] The biosensor utilizes TiO₂ nanofibers and multiwalled carbon nanotubes along with other entities as sensing platform and is able to detect organophosphate pesticides with a wide linear range, less than 5 s response time and detection limit as low as 10 nM for parathion. Dai et al. [95] have also used the electrochemical technique for determining methyl parathion concentration using electrospun zirconia-embedded carbon nanofiber. The reported detection limit is 3.4 g L^{-1} , which is much lower than many other reported non-nanofiber-based electrodes [95]. Another example of utilizing nanofiber as template for active material is the work of Oliveira et al. They have modified nylon nanofibers with layer-by-layer deposition of polypyrrole and poly(o-ethoxyaniline) and assembled it over the graphite interdigitated electrode. A flow analysis system was developed and it was able to distinguish between contaminated and clear water. The electronic tongue apparatus, as they call it, was able to detect paraoxon, a pesticide in water up to 2.5 ppb concentration. Malathion is another organophosphorus pesticide which can be detected using a polyaniline nanofiber and single carbon nanotube composite modification of graphite interdigitated electrodes. The reported minimum detection limit is 2×10^{-7} M [89]. We can see that Carbon nanotubes have been extensively used as a modifier for the nanofibers and the fabrication of electrode for pesticide sensing using electrochemical sensors [89].

3.8 Biological Contaminants

The microbial world consists of a plethora of different types or classes of microbial agents which can be potentially present in water [96]. The biological contaminants like virus, bacteria, protozoans, fungi, and algae are widespread in the environment around us and are harmless until they get access to the internal sites in a body in sufficiently high concentrations. This access is often through drinking contaminated water and those with immunodeficiency due to some reason are more susceptible to it. Therefore, recognition and identification of a possible waterborne pathogen is extremely important and there are a variety of ways to achieve this [8]. As mentioned earlier, the microbes present in the environment are fully capable of infecting, colonizing, and initiating illness in humans, provided they are able to enter our body and multiply within it. As per the EPA standards, total coliforms should be less than 5% in drinking water. There are a variety of techniques

available for the detection of harmful pathogens like Fluorescence detection, Polymer chain reaction(PCR), Electrochemical method, Raman based and micro-fluidic sensors [9, 97–101]. Nanofibers are an important class of material and can be utilized for not only detection but also for water remediation from pathogens.

The most classical approach of utilizing nanofibers for pathogen detection is the florescence spectroscopy. Most commonly, the fluorescent markers are either grafted in the nanofibers or doped in the polymer solution before fiber spinning. The nanofiber morphology provides the added advantage of trapping the bacteria as well as provide large surface area for the interaction of bacterial cells with the sensing molecules. Zhao et al. [102] have utilized electrospun nanofibers mats of polystyrene-co-maleic anhydride with conjugated mannose and tetraphenylethylene as a fluorescent sensor for Escherichia Coli (E. Coli). The sensor, in the test strip format, was able to provide visual sensitivity for concentration as low as 100 CFU/ml of the bacteria. Another recent report by Yu et al. [103], demonstrates an ultrafast and sensitive platform for bacterial concentration detection. They utilize a novel fluorescent molecule with a dynamic layer by layer film on nanofibers of polyvinyl alcohol-co-polyethylene as the platform for immobilizing the bacteria. The bacteria concentration showed a linear relationship with surface fluorescence and detection time as low as 5 min. There are other reports also which use Boronic acid, as dopant for fluorescence based detection of biological contaminants [104].

Luo et al. [105] have demonstrated a nanofiber biosensor based on conductometric immunoassay. The fabricated sensor demonstrated a detection time of 8 min and a limit of 61 CFU/ml and 10^3 CCID/ml for bacterial and viral cells, respectively. Colorimetry is another method wherein the pathogen detection is achieved by color changes when exposed to the bacteria. Yapor et al. [101] have utilized



Fig. 7 Colorimetric response of PDA nanofibers in presence of E. Coli bacteria. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [101]. Copyright © American Chemical Society

Polydiacetylene mixed poly(ethylene oxide) and polyurethane nanofibers in mat form to fabricate a colorimetric sensor for E. Coli Bacteria. The detailed schematics is shown in Fig. 7. The color of the nanofiber mat changed from blue to red immediately on exposure to bacteria.

4 Conclusion

Water is of utmost importance for the existence of our ecosystem on earth and hence it is of utmost importance to monitor its purity and save it from being contaminated. In order to enact efficient remediation technique, it is imperative to assess or diagnose the pollutant concentration in water as well as the type of pollutant. The role of material is extremely important for water pollutant monitoring. Amongst multiple available alternatives, nanomaterials offer greater potential to be applied as a sensor material. In the present chapter, we have reviewed the application of Nanofibers as a sensing material for water contamination. Nanofibers have been utilized for fabricating different kinds of sensor like electrochemical, fluorescent, colorimetry, SERS etc. Different aspects and variety of nanofibers have been presented vis-à-vis the type of contaminant which they can detect in water. The nanofibers provide advantage in the form of a high surface area and surface-active material, easier and economical fabrication, as well as field utilization of sensors. They are an attractive and viable material for the fabrication of futuristic sensing devices for water pollutant monitoring.

References

- 1. Nathan, S. (2008). Life on earth. Engineer, 293, 26-27.
- 2. Hazen, R. M. (2001). LIFE'S ROCKY START. Scientific American, 284, 76-85.
- 3. US-EPA. National primary drinking water regulations. Federal register EPA 846-F-, 1–6 (2009).
- 4. Vikesland, P. J. (2018). Nanosensors for water quality monitoring. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 13, 651–660.
- Patnaik, P. Handbook of Environmental Analysis. Handbook of Environmental Analysis (CRC Press, 2010). https://doi.org/10.1201/b10505.
- 6. Richardson, S. D., & Ternes, T. A. (2018). Water analysis: Emerging contaminants and current issues. *Analytical Chemistry*, 90, 398–428.
- 7. Vikesland, P. J., & Wigginton, K. R. (2010). Nanomaterial enabled biosensors for pathogen monitoring—A review. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *44*, 3656–3669.
- van den Hurk, R., & Evoy, S. (2015). A review of membrane-based biosensors for pathogen detection. *Sensors (Switzerland)*, 15, 14045–14078.
- 9. Nurliyana, M. R. et al. (2018). The detection method of Escherichia coli in water resources: A review. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, *995*, 012065 (IOP Publishing, 2018).
- 10. WHO Edition, F. WHO Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 4th edition, incorporating the 1st addendum. *WHO* 631 (2018).

- 11. Shankaran, D. R., Gobi, K. V., & Miura, N. (2007). Recent advancements in surface plasmon resonance immunosensors for detection of small molecules of biomedical, food and environmental interest. *Sensors Actuators, B Chemical, 121,* 158–177.
- Lin, T. J., Huang, K. T., & Liu, C. Y. (2006). Determination of organophosphorous pesticides by a novel biosensor based on localized surface plasmon resonance. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 22, 513–518.
- Santos, F. J., & Galceran, M. T. (2003). Modern developments in gas chromatography-mass spectrometry-based environmental analysis. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1000, 125–51.
- Thurman, E. M., Goolsby, D. A., Meyer, M. T., Mills, M. S., Pomes, M. L., & Kolpin, D. W. (1992). A reconnaissance study of herbicides and their metabolites in surface water of the midwestern United States using immunoassay and gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 26(12), 2440–2447.
- 15. Junker-Buchheit, A., & Witzenbacher, M. (1996). Pesticide monitoring of drinking water with the help of solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 737(1), 67–74.
- 16. Di Corcia, A., & Marchettl, M. (1992). Method development for monitoring pesticides in environmental waters: Liquid-solid extraction followed by liquid chromatography. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *26*, 66–74.
- Shum, S. C. K., Pang, H. M., & Houk, R. S. (1992). Speciation of mercury and lead compounds by microbore column liquid chromatography-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry with direct injection nebulization. *Analytical Chemistry*, 64, 2444–2450.
- 18. Mauter, M. S., & Elimelech, M. (2008). Environmental applications of carbon-based nanomaterials. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 42, 5843–5859.
- Ullah, N., Mansha, M., Khan, I., & Qurashi, A. (2018). Nanomaterial-based optical chemical sensors for the detection of heavy metals in water: Recent advances and challenges. *TrAC— Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 100, 155–166.
- Wang, J., & Lin, Y. (2008). Functionalized carbon nanotubes and nanofibers for biosensing applications. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 27, 619–626.
- Matlock-Colangelo, L., & Baeumner, A. J. (2012). Recent progress in the design of nanofiber-based biosensing devices. *Lab on a Chip*, 12, 2612.
- Zhang, M., Zhao, X., Zhang, G., Wei, G., & Su, Z. (2017). Electrospinning design of functional nanostructures for biosensor applications. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 5, 1699–1711.
- Teo, W. E., & Ramakrishna, S. (2006). A review on electrospinning design and nanofibre assemblies. *Nanotechnology*, 17, R89–R106.
- Li, D., & Xia, Y. (2004). Electrospinning of nanofibers: Reinventing the wheel? Advanced Materials, 16, 1151–1170.
- Srivastava, A. K., Mondal, K., Mukhopadhyay, K., Prasad, N. E., & Sharma, A. (2016). Facile reduction of para-nitrophenols: Catalytic efficiency of silver nanoferns in batch and continuous flow reactors. *RSC Adv.*, *6*, 113981–113990.
- Li, Y., Abedalwafa, M. A., Tang, L., Li, D. & Wang, L. Electrospun nanofibers for sensors. *Electrospinning: Nanofabrication and Applications*, 571–601 (William Andrew Publishing, 2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-323-51270-1.00018-2
- Schiffman, J. D., & Schauer, C. L. (2008). A review: Electrospinning of biopolymer nanofibers and their applications. *Polymer Reviews*, 48, 317–352.
- Stojanovska, E., et al. (2016). A review on non-electro nanofibre spinning techniques. RSC Advances, 6, 83783–83801.
- 29. Esfahani, H., Jose, R., & Ramakrishna, S. (2017). Electrospun ceramic nanofiber mats today: Synthesis, properties, and applications. *Materials*, *10*, 1238.
- Nayak, R., Padhye, R., Kyratzis, I. L., Truong, Y. B., & Arnold, L. (2012). Recent advances in nanofibre fabrication techniques. *Textile Research Journal*, 82, 129–147.
- Richards, A., van den Maagdenberg, A. M., Jen, J. C., Kavanagh, D., Bertram, P., Spitzer, D., & McLellan, M. (2007). C-terminal truncations in human 3'-5' DNA exonuclease

TREX1 cause autosomal dominant retinal vasculopathy with cerebral leukodystrophy. *Nature Genetics*, 39(9), 1068.

- 32. Cui, L., Wu, J., & Ju, H. (2015). Electrochemical sensing of heavy metal ions with inorganic, organic and bio-materials. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 63, 276–286.
- 33. Barton, J., et al. (2016). Screen-printed electrodes for environmental monitoring of heavy metal ions: a review. *Microchimica Acta, 183,* 503–517.
- Quang, D. T., & Kim, J. S. (2010). Fluoro- and Chromogenic Chemodosimeters for heavy metal ion detection in solution and biospecimens. *Chemical Reviews*, 110, 6280–6301.
- Gumpu, M. B., Sethuraman, S., Krishnan, U. M., & Rayappan, J. B. B. (2015). A review on detection of heavy metal ions in water—An electrochemical approach. *Sensors Actuators, B Chemical*, 213, 515–533.
- 36. Lu, Y., et al. (2018). A review of the identification and detection of heavy metal ions in the environment by voltammetry. *Talanta*, *178*, 324–338.
- 37. Weiner, E. National recommended water quality criteria. *Applications of Environmental Chemistry* (2010). https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420032963.axb
- Bansod, B. K., Kumar, T., Thakur, R., Rana, S., & Singh, I. (2017). A review on various electrochemical techniques for heavy metal ions detection with different sensing platforms. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 94, 443–455.
- Verma, R., & Gupta, B. D. (2015). Detection of heavy metal ions in contaminated water by surface plasmon resonance based optical fibre sensor using conducting polymer and chitosan. *Food Chemistry*, *166*, 568–575.
- 40. Terra, I. A. A., Mercante, L. A., Andre, R. S., & Correa, D. S. (2017). Fluorescent and colorimetric electrospun nanofibers for heavy-metal sensing. *Biosensors*, 7, 61.
- 41. Li, M., Gou, H., Al-Ogaidi, I., & Wu, N. (2013). Nanostructured sensors for detection of heavy metals: A review. ACS Sustainable Chemical Engineering, 1, 713–723.
- Kim, H. N., Ren, W. X., Kim, J. S., & Yoon, J. (2012). Fluorescent and colorimetric sensors for detection of lead, cadmium, and mercury ions. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 41, 3210– 3244.
- Chang, J., Zhou, G., Christensen, E. R., Heideman, R., & Chen, J. (2014). Graphene-based sensors for detection of heavy metals in water: a review. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 406, 3957–3975.
- 44. Yang, D., et al. (2017). Aptamer-based biosensors for detection of lead(ii) ion: a review. *Analytical Methods*, *9*, 1976–1990.
- 45. Li, Y., Chen, Y., Yu, H., Tian, L., & Wang, Z. (2018). Portable and smart devices for monitoring heavy metal ions integrated with nanomaterials. *TrAC—Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, *98*, 190–200.
- 46. Qian, X., & Städler, B. (2019). Recent developments in polydiacetylene-based sensors. *Chemistry of Materials*, *31*, 1196–1222.
- 47. Raj, S., & Shankaran, D. R. (2016). Curcumin based biocompatible nanofibers for lead ion detection. *Sensors Actuators, B Chem.*, 226, 318–325.
- Li, Y., et al. (2013). Colorimetric sensor strips for lead (II) assay utilizing nanogold probes immobilized polyamide-6/nitrocellulose nano-fibers/nets. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 48, 244–250.
- 49. Li, Y., et al. (2014). Solid-phase pink-to-purple chromatic strips utilizing gold probes and nanofibrous membranes combined system for lead (II) assaying. *Sensors Actuators, B Chem., 204,* 673–681.
- Zhang, H., et al. (2015). Polyacrylonitrile/noble metal/SiO <inf> 2</inf> nanofibers as substrates for the amplified detection of picomolar amounts of metal ions through plasmon-enhanced fluorescence. *Nanoscale*, 7, 1374–1382.
- Pérez-Ràfols, C., Serrano, N., Díaz-Cruz, J. M., Ariño, C., & Esteban, M. (2016). Glutathione modified screen-printed carbon nanofiber electrode for the voltammetric determination of metal ions in natural samples. *Talanta*, 155, 8–13.

- Ekino, S., Susa, M., Ninomiya, T., Imamura, K., & Kitamura, T. (2007). Minamata disease revisited: An update on the acute and chronic manifestations of methyl mercury poisoning. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 262, 131–144.
- Kallithrakas-Kontos, N., & Foteinis, S. (2015). Recent advances in the analysis of mercury in water—review. *Current Analytical Chemistry*, 12, 22–36.
- Chen, G. Y. (2014). A review of microfiber and nanofiber based optical sensors. *The Open Optics Journal*, 7, 32–57.
- 55. Chen, G., Guo, Z., Zeng, G., & Tang, L. (2015). Fluorescent and colorimetric sensors for environmental mercury detection. *Analyst, 140,* 5400–5443.
- Saleem, M., Rafiq, M., & Hanif, M. (2017). Organic material based fluorescent sensor for Hg 2+ : A brief review on recent development. *Journal of Fluorescence*, 27, 31–58.
- Senthamizhan, A., Celebioglu, A., & Uyar, T. (2015). Real-time selective visual monitoring of Hg2 + detection at ppt level: An approach to lighting electrospun nanofibers using gold nanoclusters. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 10403.
- Yu, X., Liu, W., Deng, X., Yan, S., & Su, Z. (2018). Gold nanocluster embedded bovine serum albumin nanofibers-graphene hybrid membranes for the efficient detection and separation of mercury ion. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 335, 176–184.
- 59. Ma, L., et al. (2017). Fluorescent nanofibrous membrane (FNFM) for the detection of mercuric ion (II) with high sensitivity and selectivity. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 238, 120–127.
- 60. Tang, L., et al. (2017). A reusable electrochemical biosensor for highly sensitive detection of mercury ions with an anionic intercalator supported on ordered mesoporous carbon/ self-doped polyaniline nanofibers platform. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 117, 7–14.
- 61. Ghosh, A., et al. (2014). Approaching sensitivity of tens of ions using atomically precise cluster-nanofiber composites. *Analytical Chemistry*, *86*, 10996–11001.
- 62. Kacmaz, S., et al. (2012). Sub-nanomolar sensing of ionic mercury with polymeric electrospun nanofibers. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 133, 547–552.
- 63. Parsaee, Z. (2018). Electrospun nanofibers decorated with bio-sonochemically synthesized gold nanoparticles as an ultrasensitive probe in amalgam-based mercury (II) detection system. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 44, 24–35.
- Sánchez-Calvo, A., Fernández-Abedul, M. T., Blanco-López, M. C., & Costa-García, A. (2019). Paper-based electrochemical transducer modified with nanomaterials for mercury determination in environmental waters. *Sensors Actuators, B Chem., 290,* 87–92.
- 65. Nordberg, G. F., et al. (2018). Risk assessment of effects of cadmium on human health (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, *90*, 755–808.
- 66. Johri, N., Jacquillet, G., & Unwin, R. (2010). Heavy metal poisoning: The effects of cadmium on the kidney. *BioMetals*, 23, 783–792.
- 67. Yin, J., et al. (2011). SERS-active nanoparticles for sensitive and selective detection of cadmium ion (Cd 2+). *Chemistry of Materials*, 23, 4756–4764.
- Promphet, N., Rattanarat, P., Rangkupan, R., Chailapakul, O., & Rodthongkum, N. (2015). An electrochemical sensor based on graphene/polyaniline/polystyrene nanoporous fibers modified electrode for simultaneous determination of lead and cadmium. *Sensors Actuators B Chem.*, 207, 526–534.
- Migliorini, F. L., et al. (2017). Voltammetric cadmium(II) sensor based on a fluorine doped tin oxide electrode modified with polyamide 6/chitosan electrospun nanofibers and gold nanoparticles. *Microchimica Acta*, 184, 1077–1084.
- Huang, H., Zhu, W., Gao, X., Liu, X., & Ma, H. (2016). Synthesis of a novel electrode material containing phytic acid-polyaniline nanofibers for simultaneous determination of cadmium and lead ions. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 947, 32–41.
- Zhang, B., et al. (2016). Facile and green fabrication of size-controlled AuNPs/CNFs hybrids for the highly sensitive simultaneous detection of heavy metal ions. *Electrochimica Acta*, *196*, 422–430.
- 72. Mishra, R. K., et al. (2017). Electrospinning of graphene-oxide onto screen printed electrodes for heavy metal biosensor. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 247, 366–373.

- 73. Qin, D., et al. (2017). Three-dimensional carbon nanofiber derived from bacterial cellulose for use in a Nafion matrix on a glassy carbon electrode for simultaneous voltammetric determination of trace levels of Cd(II) and Pb(II). *Microchimica Acta*, 184, 2759–2766.
- Shen, L. L., Zhang, G. R., Li, W., Biesalski, M., & Etzold, B. J. M. (2017). Modifier-Free microfluidic electrochemical sensor for heavy-metal detection. ACS Omega, 2, 4593–4603.
- 75. Hung, D. Q., Nekrassova, O., & Compton, R. G. (2004). Analytical methods for inorganic arsenic in water: A review. *Talanta*, 64, 269–277.
- Blair, D. S., Burgess, L. W., & Brodsky, A. M. (1997). Evanescent fiber-optic chemical sensor for monitoring volatile organic compounds in water. *Analytical Chemistry*, 69, 2238– 2246.
- Kempahanumakkagari, S., Deep, A., Kim, K. H., Kailasa, S. K., & Yoon, H. O. (2017). Nanomaterial-based electrochemical sensors for arsenic—A review. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 95, 106–116.
- Toor, S. K., Devi, P., & Bansod, B. K. S. (2015). Electrochemical detection of trace amount of arsenic (III) at glassy carbon electrode modified with Au/Fe3O4 nanocomposites. *Aquatic Procedia*, *4*, 1107–1113.
- Nellaiappan, S., Pillai, K. C., & Kumar, A. S. (2018). Flow-injection analysis coupled with electrochemical detection of poisonous inorganic arsenic(III) species using a gold nanoparticle/carbon nanofiber/chitosan chemically modified carbon screen printed electrode in neutral pH solution. *Analytical Methods*, 10, 799–808.
- Saikia, A., & Karak, N. (2018). Polyaniline nanofiber/carbon dot nanohybrid as an efficient fluorimetric sensor for As (III) in water and effective antioxidant. *Materials Today Communications*, 14, 82–89.
- Kempahanumakkagari, S., Deep, A., Kim, K. H., Kailasa, S. K., & Yoon, H. O. (2017). Nanomaterial-based electrochemical sensors for arsenic-A review. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 95, 106–116.
- Wu, J., Jiang, W., Xu, S., Wang, Y., & Tian, R. (2015). Synthesis of highly selective and sensitive magnetic targeted nanoprobe for Cr3+ detection in aqueous solution and its application in living cell imaging. *Sensors Actuators, B Chemistry*, 211, 33–41.
- Costa, M., & Klein, C. B. (2006). Toxicity and carcinogenicity of chromium compounds in humans. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, 36, 155–63.
- Wei, Z., et al. (2014). Poly(vinyl alcohol) electrospun nanofibrous membrane modified with spirolactam-rhodamine derivatives for visible detection and removal of metal ions. *RSC Adv.*, *4*, 51381–51388.
- Wang, M., Meng, G., Huang, Q., & Qian, Y. (2012). Electrospun 1,4-DHAQ-doped cellulose nanofiber films for reusable fluorescence detection of trace Cu 2+ and further for Cr 3+. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 46, 367–373.
- Sousa, J. C. G., Ribeiro, A. R., Barbosa, M. O., Pereira, M. F. R., & Silva, A. M. T. (2018). A review on environmental monitoring of water organic pollutants identified by EU guidelines. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 344, 146–162.
- Squillace, P. J., Scott, J. C., Moran, M. J., Nolan, B. T., & Kolpin, D. W. (2002). VOCs, pesticides, nitrate, and their mixtures in groundwater used for drinking water in the United States. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *36*, 1923–1930.
- Sassolas, A., Prieto-Simón, B., & Marty, J.-L. (2012). Biosensors for pesticide detection: New trends. *American Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 03, 210–232.
- Wu, Y., et al. (2019). Polydopamine-Capped bimetallic AuPt Hydrogels enable robust biosensor for organophosphorus pesticide detection. *Small (Weinheim an der Bergstrasse, Germany)*, 15, 1900632.
- Wei, H., Abtahi, S. M. H., & Vikesland, P. J. (2015). Plasmonic colorimetric and SERS sensors for environmental analysis. *Environmental Science: Nano*, 2(2), 120–135.
- Chamuah, N., et al. (2018). Gold-coated electrospun PVA nanofibers as SERS substrate for detection of pesticides. *Sensors Actuators, B Chem.*, 273, 710–717.

- 92. Singh, N., Prakash, J., Misra, M., Sharma, A., & Gupta, R. K. (2017). Dual Functional Ta-Doped Electrospun TiO 2 Nanofibers with Enhanced Photocatalysis and SERS Detection for Organic Compounds. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9, 28495–28507.
- Vojtěch, A., Pavel, H., Michal, K., & Martin, S. (2016). Polyetherimide Nanofibres as Sorbents for Organochlorinated Pesticides Determination. J. Nanomater., 2016, 1–7.
- Bao, J., et al. (2016). ELP-OPH/BSA/TiO2 nanofibers/c-MWCNTs based biosensor for sensitive and selective determination of p-nitrophenyl substituted organophosphate pesticides in aqueous system. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics*, 85, 935–942.
- 95. Dai, Y., et al. (2017). Electrospun zirconia-embedded carbon nanofibre for high-sensitive determination of methyl parathion. *Electrochemistry Communications*, *81*, 14–17.
- Zulkifli, S. N., Rahim, H. A., & Lau, W. J. (2018). Detection of contaminants in water supply: A review on state-of-the-art monitoring technologies and their applications. *Sensors Actuators, B Chem.*, 255, 2657–2689.
- Wibowo, K. M., Sahdan, M. Z., Ramli, N. I., Muslihati, A., Rosni, N., Tsen, V. H., & Mansor, Z. (2018, April). Detection of Escherichia coli bacteria in wastewater by using graphene as a sensing material. In *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* (Vol. 995, No. 1, p. 012063). IOP Publishing.
- Shaibani, P. M., Jiang, K., Haghighat, G., Hassanpourfard, M., Etayash, H., Naicker, S., & Thundat, T. (2016). The detection of Escherichia coli (E. coli) with the pH sensitive hydrogel nanofiber-light addressable potentiometric sensor (NF-LAPS). Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 226, 176–183.
- Wang, Z., Han, T., Jeon, T. J., Park, S., & Kim, S. M. (2013). Rapid detection and quantification of bacteria using an integrated micro/nanofluidic device. *Sensors Actuators, B Chem.*, 178, 683–688.
- 100. Uria, N., Abramova, N., Bratov, A., Muñoz-Pascual, F.-X., & Baldrich, E. (2016). Miniaturized metal oxide pH sensors for bacteria detection. *Talanta*, 147, 364–369.
- 101. Yapor, J. P., et al. (2017). Polydiacetylene nanofiber composites as a colorimetric sensor responding to escherichia coli and pH. ACS Omega, 2, 7334–7342.
- 102. Zhao, L., et al. (2015). Electrospun fibrous mats with conjugated tetraphenylethylene and mannose for sensitive turn-on fluorescent sensing of Escherichia coli. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 7, 5177–5186.
- Yu, Z., et al. (2018). Dynamic layer-by-layer films on nanofiber membrane: A platform for ultra-sensitive bacterial concentration detection. *Chemical Communications*, 54, 7920–7923.
- 104. Quirós, J., Amaral, A. J. R., Pasparakis, G., Williams, G. R., & Rosal, R. (2017). Electrospun boronic acid-containing polymer membranes as fluorescent sensors for bacteria detection. *Reactive & Functional Polymers*, 121, 23–31.
- Luo, Y., Nartker, S., Miller, H., Hochhalter, D., Wiederoder, M., Wiederoder, S., & Alocilja, E. C. (2010). Surface functionalization of electrospun nanofibers for detecting E. coli O157: H7 and BVDV cells in a direct-charge transfer biosensor. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 26 (4), 1612–1617.